JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technologies

Development and Evaluation of Rehabilitation, Physiotherapy and Assistive Technologies, Robotics, Prosthetics and Implants, Mobility and Communication Tools, Home Automation and Telerehabilitation Volume 9 (2022), Issue 1 ISSN 2369-2529 Editor in Chief: Sarah Munce, MS, PhD

Contents

Original Papers

| The Effect of Mobile Care Delivery on Clinically Meaningful Outcomes, Satisfaction, and Engagement Among Physical Therapy Patients: Observational Retrospective Study (e31349) | |
|---|-----|
| Lauren Beresford, Todd Norwood. | 3 |
| Smart Assistive Technology for Cooking for People With Cognitive Impairments Following a Traumatic Brain Injury: User Experience Study (e28701) | |
| Mireille Gagnon-Roy, Stéphanie Pinard, Carolina Bottari, Fanny Le Morellec, Catherine Laliberté, Rym Ben Lagha, Amel Yaddaden, Hélène Pigot, Sylvain Giroux, Nathalie Bier. | 20 |
| The Association Between Actigraphy-Derived Behavioral Clusters and Self-Reported Fatigue in Persons With Multiple Sclerosis: Cross-sectional Study (e31164) | |
| Philipp Gulde, Peter Rieckmann. | 36 |
| A Novel Body Weight–Supported Postural Perturbation Module for Gait and Balance Rehabilitation After Stroke: Preliminary Evaluation Study (e31504) | |
| Amanda Meyer, Henry Hrdlicka, Erica Cutler, Jill Hellstrand, Emily Meise, Kaitlyn Rudolf, Pete Grevelding, Matthew Nankin. | 45 |
| Patient Outcomes and Lessons Learned From Treating Patients With Severe COVID-19 at a Long-term Acute Care Hospital: Single-Center Retrospective Study (e31502) | |
| Pete Grevelding, Henry Hrdlicka, Steve Holland, Lorraine Cullen, Amanda Meyer, Catherine Connors, Darielle Cooper, Allison Greco. | 95 |
| Comparison of the Impact of Conventional and Web-Based Pulmonary Rehabilitation on Physical Activity in Patients With Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: Exploratory Feasibility Study (e28875) | |
| Emma Chaplin, Amy Barnes, Chris Newby, Linzy Houchen-Wolloff, Sally Singh. | 112 |
| Accuracy of Heart Rate Measurement by the Fitbit Charge 2 During Wheelchair Activities in People With Spinal Cord Injury: Instrument Validation Study (e27637) | |
| Dirk Hoevenaars, Iris Yocarini, Stylianos Paraschiakos, Jasmijn Holla, Sonja de Groot, Wessel Kraaij, Thomas Janssen. | 124 |
| Occupational and Physical Therapy Strategies for the Rehabilitation of COVID-19-Related Guillain-Barré Syndrome in the Long-term Acute Care Hospital Setting: Case Report (e30794) | |
| Catherine Connors, Stephanie McNeill, Henry Hrdlicka | 139 |

| Speech and Language Practitioners' Experiences of Commercially Available Voice-Assisted Technology: Web-Based Survey Study (e29249) | |
|--|-----|
| Pranav Kulkarni, Orla Duffy, Jonathan Synnott, W Kernohan, Roisin McNaney. | 151 |
| | |
| Reviews | |
| Remote Assessments of Hand Function in Neurological Disorders: Systematic Review (e33157) | |
| Arpita Gopal, Wan-Yu Hsu, Diane Allen, Riley Bove. | 59 |
| An Investigation Into the Use of mHealth in Musculoskeletal Physiotherapy: Scoping Review (e33609) | |
| Jonathon Agnew, Catherine Hanratty, Joseph McVeigh, Chris Nugent, Daniel Kerr. | 75 |



Original Paper

The Effect of Mobile Care Delivery on Clinically Meaningful Outcomes, Satisfaction, and Engagement Among Physical Therapy Patients: Observational Retrospective Study

Lauren Beresford¹, PhD; Todd Norwood¹, DPT, PT

Omada Health Inc, San Francisco, CA, United States

Corresponding Author: Lauren Beresford, PhD Omada Health Inc 500 Sansome Street Suite 200 San Francisco, CA, 94111 United States Phone: 1 6197642287 Email: lauren.beresford@omadahealth.com

Abstract

Background: Musculoskeletal care is now delivered via mobile apps as a health care benefit. Although preliminary evidence shows that the clinical outcomes of mobile musculoskeletal care are comparable with those of in-person care, no research has examined the features of app-based care that secure these outcomes.

Objective: Drawing on the literature around in-person physical therapy, this study examines how patient-provider relationships and program engagement in app-based physical therapy affect clinically meaningful improvements in pain, function, and patient satisfaction. It then evaluates the effects of patient-provider relationships forged through in-app messages or video visits and timely, direct access to care on patients' engagement in their recovery.

Methods: We conducted an observational, retrospective study of 814 pre- and postsurveyed participants enrolled in a mobile app physical therapy program where physical therapists prescribed workouts, education, and therapeutic activities after a video evaluation from February 2019 to December 2020. We estimated generalized linear models with logit functions to evaluate the effect of program engagement on clinical outcomes, minimal clinically important differences (MCIDs) in pain (Δ Visual Analogue Scale \leq -1.5) and function (Δ Patient Specific Functional Scale \geq 1.3), and the effects of patient-provider relationships and clinical outcomes on patient satisfaction—participant reported likelihood to recommend the program (Net Promoter Scores of 9-10). We estimated Poisson generalized linear models to evaluate the effects of stronger patient-provider relationships and timely access to physical therapy within 24 hours on engagement including the number of weekly workouts and weeks in the program.

Results: The odds that participants (N=814) had a pain MCID increased by 13% (odds ratio [OR] 1.13, 95% CI 1.04-1.23; P=.003) with each weekly workout and the odds of a function MCID by 4% (OR 1.04, 95% CI 1.00-1.08; P=.03) with each week in the program. Participants with MCIDs in function and large changes in pain (Δ Visual Analogue Scale \leq -3.5) were 1.85 (95% CI 1.17-2.93; P=.01) and 2.84 times (95% CI 1.68-4.78; P<.001) more satisfied, respectively. Those with video follow-up visits were 2 to 3 times (P=.01) more satisfied. Each physical therapist's message increased weekly workouts by 11% (OR 1.11, 95% CI 1.07-1.16; P<.001). Video follow-up visits increased weekly workouts by at least 16% (OR 1.16, 95% CI 1.04-1.29; P=.01) and weeks in the program at least 8% (OR 1.08, 95% CI 1.01-1.14; P=.02). Access was associated with a 14% increase (OR 1.14, 95% CI 1.05-1.24; P=.003) in weekly workouts.

Conclusions: Similar to in-person care, program engagement positively affects clinical outcomes, and strong patient-provider relationships positively affect satisfaction. In app-based physical therapy, clinical outcomes positively affect patient satisfaction. Timely access to care and strong patient-provider relationships, particularly those forged through video visits, affect engagement.

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e31349) doi:10.2196/31349

KEYWORDS

RenderX

physical therapy; mobile apps; engagement; health care delivery

Introduction

Background

Physical therapists, providers with highly specialized knowledge in managing musculoskeletal conditions [1-3], now deliver care directly through mobile apps. In a digital environment, physical therapists evaluate and diagnose patients on demand to ensure they receive appropriate care. Rather than prescribing opioids [4-7] or administering unnecessary imaging [8-19], physical therapists can prescribe exercise and education, which are key components of evidence-based care in physical therapy, as a first line of defense [11-13].

Increasing evidence supports that physical therapy via a mobile app delivers pain and functional outcomes comparable with those of in-person care [14-16]. However, this literature does not explore what drives clinically meaningful outcomes in pain, function, and patient satisfaction—the foundational measures of evidence-based physical therapy— in a digital setting [17].

In brick-and-mortar physical therapy clinics, "adherence" to a course of provider-prescribed care drives clinical outcomes [18]. Consistent at-home exercise, which is among the most supported physical therapy interventions, as well as completion of prescribed or insurance-allowed visits are assessed by physical therapists to measure adherence [17,19,20].

Physical therapy delivered through a mobile app may not be structured similarly to in-person physical therapy with a specific number of weekly visits. In the program examined in this paper, care delivery focused on immediate access to care, ad hoc follow-up video visits, and direct, asynchronous communication between patients and their designated therapists. After an initial synchronous video evaluation, physical therapists designed recovery programs to accord with patients' goals and altered these programs in response to synchronous and asynchronous feedback from patients. Physical therapists guided their patients through phases of their recovery in real time based on their activity levels, feedback to exercises, and changes in pain and function levels throughout an episode of care.

Owing to the real-time nature of physical therapy in this setting, we take a broader view of adherence and measure it as program engagement defined by 2 measures: the number of patient-recorded in-app-prescribed therapeutic weekly workouts and the number of weeks participants are active in the program. We first tested the hypothesis that clinical outcomes (clinically meaningful pain reduction and functional improvement) were positively associated with program engagement.

In concert with driving clinical outcomes by leveraging the best available evidence, evidence-based care is patient-centered, which is measured by patient satisfaction [21]. Some evidence indicates that patient satisfaction with in-person physical therapy is based on office experiences such as wait times and friendly exchanges between patients, physical therapists, and office staff [22-24], whereas digital care removes such experiences. However, care delivered through an app can nurture relationships between physical therapists and patients through in-app chat and face-to-face video visits. We tested the hypothesis that the strength of patient-provider relationships

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31349
```

[25,26] measured by the frequency of digital communication with providers (number of days providers send weekly in-app chat messages and number of synchronous follow-up video visits) is positively associated with patient satisfaction.

There is inconsistent evidence in the literature about how patients' clinical outcomes affect patient satisfaction with physical therapy [27]. By removing some of the subjective aspects of care (eg, appointment wait times, office cleanliness, friendliness of staff), clinical outcomes may take on new significance for patient satisfaction in a digital setting. Therefore, we also tested the hypothesis that patient satisfaction is associated with the clinical outcomes of the program itself.

There are explicit trade-offs between care delivered through a mobile app versus in-person office visits. On the one hand, regular face-to-face visits may better strengthen patient-provider relationships than app-based video visits and chats. On the other hand, patients who arrive at in-person physical therapy only after referral, ineffective self-management, or alternative therapies (eg, acupuncture and massage), may be less motivated to engage in their treatment than those who can directly access care the same day via an app. Although we cannot interrogate these trade-offs in this paper, our secondary purpose is to understand if the strength of digital patient-provider relationships and immediate access to care via a mobile physical therapy program affects how readily participants engage in their own recovery.

In traditional clinical settings, provider communication with patients affects their adherence to treatment [28], which, in turn, affects whether patients experience meaningful clinical outcomes. Interpersonal connections with providers often motivate patients to adhere to prescribed care [24,29]. Patients' relationships with their providers are strengthened the more they interact [25,26]. The content of communication also matters; positive feedback from providers is associated with exercise adherence [20]. The providers in this study were trained to positively reinforce exercise adherence via in-app chat and video visits. We hypothesize that the frequency of patient-provider digital communication is associated with physical therapy program engagement as measured by longer episodes of care and more weekly workouts.

There is also evidence that early, direct access to physical therapy can affect clinical outcomes by treating conditions before they become more chronic and difficult to treat [30-32]. This effect may be behavioral in the sense that patients who are motivated and able to expediently address an issue are more likely to engage and do the hard work to get better, that is, to exercise [33]. By reducing barriers to access physical therapy, patients, regardless of their chronicity, who are motivated to initiate physical therapy can promptly do so, and this motivation may express itself in better engagement than those who wait longer for initial video evaluations [34]. We tested the hypothesis that access to initial evaluations with physical therapists within 24 hours is associated with greater program engagement.

XSL•FO RenderX

Objective

Our goal in this study is to examine the aspects of patient-provider relationships and program engagement that are associated with clinically important differences in pain and function along with patient satisfaction in physical therapy delivered via a mobile app. The secondary purpose of this study is to understand how 2 aspects of mobile app–based care delivery—relationships built on in-app interactions and immediate access to care—affect patient behaviors that are clinically meaningful: consistently working out and sticking with the program.

Methods

Study Design

We conducted an observational, longitudinal, retrospective study using data collected from commercial users of a physical therapy program delivered via a mobile app offered as a health benefit with no cost or copay to privately insured employees by their employers [35]. The study used health care operations data, not originally collected for research purposes, which were deidentified for analysis. Participants registered and checked for program eligibility through a landing page created specifically for their employer and accessible through employers' benefits portals. Once eligibility was verified, participants were given a passphrase to download the app, read and accept in-app informed consent, and complete a mandatory in-app baseline survey. Each survey response was associated with an individual participant's account. The Western Institutional Review Board granted an exemption from human subject research for the study's protocol.

We used established patient-reported outcome measures, including the Patient Specific Functional Scale (PSFS), Visual Analogue Scale (VAS), and Global Rate of Change (GROC), which were delivered asynchronously [36]. Our internal user experience team developed the layout and functionality of the surveys. Both the baseline and final surveys surfaced questions in the same order for all participants. Before launching the program on February 15, 2019, we deployed the surveys to other populations of patients treated in the program. The survey results from this trial period demonstrated that they consistently agreed with the patients' subjective reports.

The baseline survey had an average of 4 questions across 5 screens. All the questions in the baseline survey were required to be answered. The final survey had an average of 4.5 questions across 4 screens, with responses to all but one open-ended question required. Participants could go back during their surveys and edit responses on previous pages, but they could not review their responses as a summary or alter their surveys after submission.

Intervention

To enroll in the program, participants created an account in a mobile app and entered demographic information (age and gender), their chief complaint, and provided pain and function ratings in an in-app baseline survey. The participants were matched with a therapist licensed in their state to schedule an initial video evaluation visit. The program's therapists were

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31349
```

trained in evidence-based approaches to evaluate, diagnose, and treat patients on demand via a mobile app.

During the evaluation, physical therapists conducted an in-depth interview and performed a physical exam over secure in-app video to establish a functional baseline and arrive at a diagnosis. On the basis of the participant's diagnosis and treatment goals, physical therapists then prescribed a course of care accessible through the app. Therapists also assigned educational content specific to patients' conditions, therapeutic activities (eg, icing or going for a walk), and asynchronous digital physical assessments. Physical therapists modified their patients' care plans in response to direct feedback from patients via in-app chat, regular pain and function surveys, or follow-up video visits.

All activities in the program were collected and quantified, including completion of prescribed in-app exercises and therapeutic activities, in-app chats with physical therapists, and subsequent video visits. At the end of the program, participants were asked to complete a final survey, which included final measures of pain and function.

Participants

We included participants in the study who enrolled after the launch of the program on February 15, 2019, and completed the program by December 31, 2020, if they were (1) aged ≥ 18 years; and (2) presented with a musculoskeletal condition such as low back pain, neck pain, arthritis, sprains, strains, or similar overuse injuries that would benefit from physical therapy or presented for postoperative rehabilitation; and (3) completed a participant survey of clinical outcomes at the end of their episode of care or reported reliable pain and function metrics toward the end of care in weekly surveys. We excluded participants if they (1) did not meet the inclusion criteria and (2) endorsed symptoms or multiple conditions during the initial video evaluation that physical therapists determined would preclude the use of app-based physical therapy as a first line of treatment and required referral for an in-person physical exam (eg, fractures, cervical central cord lesion, subarachnoid hemorrhage or ischemic stroke, unexplained weight gain or loss, fatigue and malaise, among other conditions).

Participants in our sample were not automatically excluded if they endorsed symptoms found on the Optimal Screening for Prediction of Referral and Outcome-Review of Systems (OSPRO-ROS) tool [37]. Rather, physical therapists assessed the appropriateness of app-based physical therapy given patients' explanations of their symptoms and the ongoing management of those conditions by a physician.

During the study period, 945 participants completed the program and a final outcome survey. Participants typically completed the voluntary final survey within 2 weeks of finishing the program and were neither incentivized nor reminded to do so. We carried forward 33 pain and function observations that participants reported in weekly in-app pain and function surveys if participants reported them less than 3 weeks before completing the program and more than 2 weeks after starting the program. Weekly pain and function surveys were not implemented until September 23, 2020, and participants responded more readily

XSL•FO RenderX

excluded. This procedure eliminated 128 outliers. Most of these

outliers (all but 29) had inconsistent data where participants reported improvement on the GROC final survey question

(GROC>0) but reported that either their pain or function

A total of 36 participants had too little activity to make reliable

conclusions about the program's outcomes (no workouts and

<2 weeks in the program) and were excluded from the analysis.

This left a total of 814 eligible participants included in the study

(Figure 1). We estimated models with and without outlier

removal, with 2.5% outlier elimination, as well as with and

without carrying forward the final pain and function

worsened and were moving in opposing directions.

observations and obtained similar results.

to these earlier in their recovery, resulting in few responses to carry forward. We also imputed 32 values for missing satisfaction scores using the modal responses of similar participants with similar earlier in-episode satisfaction scores. The average time between baseline and outcome responses collected during either the final survey or last weekly pain and function surveys was approximately 44 days.

To eliminate outliers, we calculated the standardized individual difference by dividing participant-level pre-post outcome differences by the SD of those differences and eliminating observations above and below 1% of the distribution for both clinical outcomes [38]. If participants reported differences in pain or functional scores outside of these thresholds, they were

Figure 1. Study participation flow diagram.



Measurements

Clinical Outcomes

In the baseline and end-of-program surveys, participants rated their maximum pain levels over the last 24 hours using the VAS [39] on a scale from 0 ("no pain") to 10 ("worst pain imaginable"). Participants rated their level of functional impairment on a scale from 0 ("completely unable to perform") to 10 ("able to perform normally") for up to 3 different self-identified activities impacted by their condition using the PSFS [36,39,40]. We used the functional measure for the activity participants mentioned first because this is likely the daily activity that they struggle with most. We also modeled the average score across the PSFS activities, which yielded similar results, but resulted in a greater number of outliers. In the app, participants saw these scales as a slider that ranged continuously from 0 to 10.

We created 2 binary variables for minimal clinically important differences (MCID) in pain (VAS) and function (PSFS): a value of 1 was assigned to participants' episodes with changes in their pain \leq -1.5 points and \geq 1.3 points in their functional ability [36]. Otherwise, a value of 0 was assigned.

We also created binary variables equal to 1 for large changes in pain ($\Delta VAS \le -3.5$) and function ($\Delta PSFS \ge 2.7$) and 0 otherwise

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31349
```

based on thresholds identified in the literature [36]. We did this because, at the outset of the study, we did not know if different thresholds of change in clinical outcomes might affect satisfaction because clinical outcomes are not observed to affect satisfaction in the literature evaluating in-person physical therapy. We found that thresholds for moderate changes in pain ($-3<\Delta VAS \le -3$) or function ($2.7<\Delta PSFS \ge 2.3$) contained relatively few observations (61 observations for those with moderate pain changes and 36 for those with moderate function changes) and did not affect satisfaction; therefore, we decided to test the effects of MCIDs on pain and function and large changes in these clinical outcomes, retaining the smallest change necessary to affect satisfaction [36].

Satisfaction

Satisfaction with the program was measured by a final survey question that was used to calculate the Net Promoter Score (NPS) by asking participants to answer: "How likely is it that you will recommend the program to a friend or colleague?" on a scale from 0 "Not at all Likely" to 10 "Extremely Likely." NPS defines categories of respondents as "Detractors" (0-6), "Passives" (7-8), and "Promoters" (9-10) [41,42]. Owing to the lack of variation in this variable, we chose to investigate the correlates of being a promoter. We created a binary variable equal to 1 if participants scored the NPS question with a score of 9 or 10 and 0 otherwise.

XSL•FO RenderX

Program Engagement

Two variables measured program engagement: (1) the number of in-app workouts per week and (2) the duration of the program in weeks. The duration of the program was calculated as the difference between the time participants started the program after their initial evaluation to the end of the program, which was defined as the time when patients were either discharged directly by their provider or were inactive for 2 weeks, whichever came first.

Patient-Provider Relationships

During the program, physical therapists communicated asynchronously with participants through in-app chat to assess their progress and provide guidance. Physical therapists and participants also scheduled synchronous follow-up video visits. Patient-provider communications are used to measure the strength of these relationships and are captured by (1) the number of unique days a provider sends a message to participants through in-app chat per week and (2) a categorical variable for the number of video follow-up visits after participants' initial video evaluations. The categories for follow-up visits included (1) no visits, (2) 1 to 2 visits, (3) 3 to 4 visits, and (4) 5 or more visits. The category for "no visits" was omitted from our models to serve as a comparator.

Access

Prompt access to care was measured in days to the initial video evaluation after enrolling in the program. A binary variable was created with 1 assigned to those who accessed care within 24 hours, and 0 assigned to those who accessed care after 24 hours.

Controls

Chronicity, baseline pain and function levels, comorbid conditions, and adverse symptoms can affect participants' recovery [14]. We controlled for comorbid conditions including hypertension, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, a family or personal history of cancer, or other conditions, including behavioral health conditions. We also controlled for adverse symptoms found on the OSPRO-ROS [37], such as night sweats, headaches, lightheadedness, or abnormal sensations.

We controlled for baseline pain and function. Baseline pain was categorized as little to no pain (VAS \leq 1), mild pain (3.4 \leq VAS>1), moderate pain (7.4 \leq VAS>3.4), and severe pain (VAS>7.4) based on cut points identified in the literature [43]. Severe baseline pain (other categories were omitted) as well as continuous baseline pain and function scores served as controls in our models because, in our clinical practice, we observed that patients with poorer scores on baseline pain and function face larger physical and behavioral health obstacles to recovery than patients with better scores, who also have less room to improve [44,45]. We present controls in the results when they are statistically significant (P<.05).

Statistical Analysis Plan

To test our hypotheses, we estimated generalized linear models (GLMs). GLMs for MCIDs in pain, function, and satisfaction were estimated using the binomial family of exponential dispersion models and a logit link function, which is equivalent to a logistic regression model fit by maximum likelihood estimation. GLMs for the number of workouts per week and number of weeks in the program were estimated using the Poisson family of exponential dispersion models and a log link function. We interpreted our results by evaluating changes in the odds of an outcome, which were calculated by exponentiating the coefficients from the model, and by subtracting 1 from the odds to better interpret odds that were less than one (negative coefficients).

Results

Overview

Table 1 presents the demographic and clinical profiles of the participants in the sample at baseline. Nearly half (387/814, 47.5%) of the participants were female and aged approximately 41 years, on average. Furthermore, 26.2% (214/814) were aged \geq 50 years when musculoskeletal symptoms present with greater frequency, limiting productivity while working [46]. The participants were treated for various musculoskeletal conditions. No single anatomical region captured most of the participants' diagnosed conditions.

Table 2 presents descriptive statistics for outcomes and predictors in the analysis. Mean VAS was 1.7 (SD 1.9) at program completion compared with 4.4 (SD 2.2) at baseline (Table 1). Approximately 66.8% (544/814) experienced an MCID in pain (VAS $\Delta \leq -1.5$) with 35.5% (289/814) experiencing a large pain change (VAS $\Delta \leq -3.5$) [36]. Mean PSFS was 7.8 (SD 2.4) post treatment, compared with 5.2 (SD 3) at baseline (Table 1), with nearly 63.7% (519/814) reporting an MCID in function (PSFS $\Delta \geq 1.3$) and 51.7% (421/814) a large change (PSFS $\Delta \geq 2.7$) [36]. Participants were highly satisfied with an average 9.3 on the NPS question. The average participant logged 2.8 workouts per week over an average duration of 9.1 weeks in the program.

On average, providers frequently communicated with the participants. About one-third (257/814, 31.6%) of the participants completed 3 or more additional video visits beyond the initial evaluation. In between visits, physical therapists checked in with participants about 1.8 days per week via in-app chat. Provider chat messages consisted of single messages or in-depth live chat conversations with participants. Approximately 52.8% (430/814) of the participants completed their initial video consultation within 24 hours of registering for the program. Multimedia Appendix 1 provides a heatmap of significant Pearson correlations between the variables included in the analysis.



 Table 1. Baseline participant characteristics (N=814).

| Characteristics | Values |
|---|--------------|
| Demographics | |
| Female, n (%) | 387 (47.5) |
| Age (years) | |
| Value, mean (SD) | 40.85 (11.9) |
| ≥50, n (%) | 214 (26.3) |
| Anatomical region, n (%) | |
| Low back pain | 172 (21.1) |
| Shoulder | 132 (16.2) |
| Knee | 118 (14.5) |
| Neck | 104 (12.8) |
| Upper body, elbow, wrist, hand, or arm | 84 (10.2) |
| Lower body, ankle, foot or leg | 83 (10.3) |
| Нір | 70 (8.6) |
| Back or spine | 46 (5.7) |
| Other | 5 (0.6) |
| Clinical baseline, mean (SD) | |
| Pain baseline (VAS ^a) | 4.4 (2.2) |
| Function baseline (PSFS ^b) | 5.2 (3.0) |
| Baseline pain level categories, n (%) | |
| Little to no pain (VAS≤1) | 61 (7.5) |
| Mild pain (3.4≤VAS>1) | 218 (26.8) |
| Moderate $(7.4 \le VAS > 3.4)$ | 475 (58.4) |
| Severe pain (VAS>7.4) | 60 (7.4) |
| Chronicity, n (%) | |
| Chronic (>3 months) | 497 (61.1) |
| Subacute (1-3 months) | 128 (15.7) |
| Acute (<1 month) | 189 (23.2) |
| Comorbid conditions and adverse symptoms, n (%) | |
| Reported comorbid conditions | 383 (47.1) |
| Reported adverse symptoms | 281 (34.5) |

^aVAS: Visual Analogue Scale.

^bPSFS: Patient Specific Functional Scale.



Table 2. Descriptive statistics for outcomes and predictors (N=814).

| Variables | Values |
|---|-------------|
| Clinical outcomes | |
| Pain outcome (VAS ^a), mean (SD) | 1.7 (1.9) |
| Pain changes, n (%) | |
| Pain MCID ^b ($\Delta VAS \leq -1.5$) | 544 (66.8) |
| Large pain MCID (ΔVAS≤−3.5) | 289 (35.5) |
| Function Outcome (PSFS ^c), mean (SD) | 7.8 (2.365) |
| Function changes, n (%) | |
| Function MCID (△PSFS≥1.3) | 519 (63.8) |
| Large function MCID ($\Delta PSFS \ge 2.7$) | 421 (51.7) |
| Satisfaction | |
| Likelihood to recommend, mean (SD) | 9.3 (1.5) |
| Promoters, n (%) | 674 (82.8) |
| Program engagement, mean (SD) | |
| Number of workouts per week | 2.8 (2.2) |
| Weeks in program | 9.1 (5.4) |
| Patient-provider communication | |
| Days messaged by physical therapist per week, mean (SD) | 1.8 (1.1) |
| Follow-up visits, n (%) | |
| None | 232 (28.5) |
| 1-2 | 325 (39.9) |
| 3-4 | 180 (22.1) |
| ≥5 | 77 (9.5) |
| Access, n (%) | |
| 24 hours to first visit | 430 (52.8) |

^aVAS: Visual Analogue Scale.

^bMCID: minimal clinically important difference.

^cPSFS: Patient Specific Functional Scale.

Clinical Outcomes

Figure 2 demonstrates that as weekly workouts increased, pain decreased. In Table 3, we see that after controlling for significant baseline characteristics, the odds of having an MCID in pain increased by 1.13 (P=.003) times for each additional weekly workout a participant completed. There were no significant direct effects of access or the strength of patient-provider relationships as proxied by patient-provider communication on MCIDs in pain or function.

Participants' baseline chronicity and pain affected the odds of having an MCID in pain. We observed a 46% (P<.001) reduction in the odds of having an MCID in pain among participants with chronic conditions compared to those with conditions that troubled them for less than 3 months. Those with severe pain saw a 70% (P=.01) reduction in the odds of having an MCID in pain compared to those with less severe pain levels. However, the odds of having an MCID in pain increased by 80% (P<.001) for each additional unit in reported

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31349
```

RenderX

baseline pain; those with higher pain, all else being equal, had more room to improve their pain.

Figure 3 illustrates the positive relationship between functional improvements and weeks in the program. Table 3 further shows that program engagement also increased the odds of having an MCID in function, but only as measured by weeks in the program and not the number of workouts per week. We observed a 4% (P=.03) increase in the odds of having an MCID in function with each additional week a participant spent in the program.

Participants' age, chronicity, and baseline pain severity and function affected the odds that the participants saw an MCID in function. The odds of completing the program with an MCID in function were 53% (*P*<.001) lower for participants aged \geq 50 years than those of younger participants. Similar to the results for pain, the odds of having an MCID in function were 50% (*P*<.001) lower for participants with chronic conditions compared to their counterparts with acute and subacute

conditions. The odds of having an MCID in function were also 71% (*P*<.001) lower for participants with severe pain compared to those with moderate, mild, or little to no pain. With each

additional unit of reported baseline function, the odds of having an MCID in function decreased by 42% (P<.001); better functioning patients had less room for improvement.





Table 3. Odds ratios (ORs) for generalized linear models of program engagement and baseline controls on clinical outcomes (814 observations)^a.

| Variables | OR (95% CI) | <i>P</i> value |
|-----------------------------|----------------------|----------------|
| Pain MCID ^b | · | |
| Intercept | 0.13 (0.07-0.24) | <.001 |
| Program engagement | | |
| Number of workouts per week | 1.13 (1.04-1.23) | .003 |
| Controls | | |
| Age ≥50 years | 0.56 (0.38-0.83) | .003 |
| Chronic condition | 0.54 (0.38-0.77) | <.001 |
| Severe pain | 0.30 (0.12-0.74) | .01 |
| Baseline pain | 1.80 (1.63-2.00) | <.001 |
| Function MCID | | |
| Intercept | 89.24 (43.52-182.98) | <.001 |
| Program engagement | | |
| Number of weeks in program | 1.04 (1.00-1.08) | .03 |
| Controls | | |
| Age ≥50 years | 0.47 (0.31-0.72) | <.001 |
| Chronic condition | 0.50 (0.35-0.74) | <.001 |
| Severe pain | 0.29 (0.14-0.57) | <.001 |
| Baseline function | 0.58 (0.54-0.63) | <.001 |

^aComorbid conditions, adverse symptoms, and access were not significant, and there was no direct relationship between provider communication and outcomes.

^bMCID: minimal clinically important difference.



Figure 3. Distribution of functional change by weeks in program. PSFS: Patient Specific Functional Scale.



Satisfaction

Table 4 presents the results of our GLM for satisfaction, which was measured using a binary variable for whether a participant was a "promoter" of the program. Satisfaction was positively related to video follow-up visits by providers (increasing odds of being a promoter 2 to 3 times). The odds of being a promoter

were 85% (P<.001) higher if participants had an MCID in function. However, improvements in pain only significantly affected the odds of being a promoter if participants experienced large pain changes. Participants with large changes in pain had nearly 3 times the odds (odds ratio 2.84, 95% CI 1.68-4.78; P<.001) of being a promoter of the program compared to those with smaller or no pain changes.

Table 4. Odds ratios (ORs) for generalized linear models of strength of patient–provider relationships, clinical outcomes, and baseline controls on satisfaction (814 observations)^a.

| Variable | 28 | OR (95% CI) | <i>P</i> value |
|----------|---------------------------------|------------------|----------------|
| Promot | er (likelihood to recommend ≥9) | | |
| Inte | ercept | 1.47 (0.56-3.84) | .43 |
| Pat | ient–provider communication | | |
| | 1-2 follow-up visits | 2.06 (1.33-3.20) | <.001 |
| | 3-4 follow-up visits | 2.17 (1.27-3.70) | .01 |
| | ≥5 follow-up visits | 3.32 (1.42-7.79) | .01 |
| Pai | n and function changes | | |
| | Function MCID ^b | 1.85 (1.17-2.93) | .01 |
| | Large pain MCID | 2.84 (1.68-4.78) | <.001 |
| Сог | ntrols | | |
| | Female | 2.23 (1.48-3.34) | <.001 |
| | Baseline function | 1.09 (1.01-1.17) | .03 |
| | Baseline pain | 0.85 (0.22-0.95) | .004 |

^aA total of 32 imputed values (782 original).

^bMCID: minimal clinically important difference.

Program Engagement

Patient-Provider Relationships

Table 5 presents results for program engagement measured by number of workouts per week and weeks in the program. Each additional weekly message a physical therapist sent to participants increased the number of workouts per week by 11% (P<.001). Follow-up visits also directly affected the number of weekly workouts that participants completed. In Figure 4, we

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31349
```

RenderX

demonstrate the relationship between the frequency of video follow-up visits and number of weekly workouts.

The results in Table 5 show that, compared with participants who did not have follow-up visits, those with 1 to 2 follow-up video visits had 16% (P=.01) more workouts per week and those with 3 to 4 follow-up visits had 32% (P<.001) more workouts per week. This effect tapered off and was no longer significant for participants with 5 or more follow-up visits. These results indicate that there may be a sweet spot for on-screen facetime

between patients and providers to build a strong, motivating relationship.

Table 5. Odds ratios (ORs) for generalized linear models of strength of patient-provider relationships, access, and baseline controls on program engagement (814 observations).

| Variables | OR (95% CI) | P value |
|--|---------------------|---------|
| Number of workouts per week | | |
| Intercept | 2.04 (1.68-2.47) | <.001 |
| Patient-provider communication | | |
| 1-2 follow-up visits | 1.16 (1.04-1.29) | .01 |
| 3-4 follow-up visits | 1.32 (1.17-1.49) | <.001 |
| ≥5 follow-up visits | 1.06 (0.90 to 1.25) | .49 |
| Days messaged by physical therapist per week | 1.11 (1.07-1.16) | <.001 |
| Access | | |
| 24 h to first visit | 1.14 (1.05-1.24) | .003 |
| Controls | | |
| Age ≥50 years | 1.25 (1.14-1.37) | <.001 |
| Adverse symptoms | 0.87 (0.79-0.95) | .002 |
| Severe pain (VAS ^a >7.4) | 0.76 (0.63-0.92) | .01 |
| Baseline pain (VAS) | 1.02 (1.00-1.05) | .049 |
| Baseline function (PSFS ^b) | 0.96 (0.95-0.98) | <.001 |
| Number of weeks in program | | |
| Intercept | 9.57 (8.80-10.40) | <.001 |
| Patient-provider communication | | |
| 1-2 follow-up visits | 1.08 (1.01-1.14) | .02 |
| 3-4 follow-up visits | 1.28 (1.19-1.36) | <.001 |
| ≥5 follow-up visits | 1.91 (1.77-2.05) | <.001 |
| Days messaged by physical therapist per week | 0.85 (0.83-0.87) | <.001 |
| Controls | | |
| Age ≥50 years | 1.11 (1.05-1.16) | <.001 |
| Chronic Condition (>3 months) | 1.13 (1.08-1.18) | <.001 |
| Adverse symptoms | 1.11 (1.06-1.17) | <.001 |
| Baseline function (PSFS) | 0.99 (0.98-0.99) | <.001 |

^aVAS: Visual Analogue Scale.

^bPSFS: Patient Specific Functional Scale.



Figure 4. Distribution of number of workouts per week by number of follow-up visits.



Access

Table 5 also shows that participants had greater odds of completing more workouts per week if they accessed physical therapy quickly through an initial video evaluation within 24 hours. Participants who saw their physical therapist within 24 hours finished 14% (P=.003) more weekly workouts than those who waited longer for visits.

We included significant controls for age, adverse symptoms, pain severity, and baseline pain and function scores. Interestingly, participants aged ≥ 50 years had about 25% (*P*<.001) more weekly workouts than their younger counterparts. These participants may have had more time to work out (eg, fewer small children at home) or they may have been more motivated to work out to ease persistent conditions.

Participants who concurrently experienced adverse symptoms found on the OSPRO-ROS did approximately 13% (*P*=.002) fewer weekly workouts compared with those who did not present with these symptoms. Those with severe pain also had fewer weekly workouts, despite an inverse relationship between worse baseline pain and function scores and program engagement via working out.

Table 5 additionally shows the effect of patient–provider relationships on the number of weeks participants remained in the program. Although program duration is not the ideal measurement of engagement, it further validates our findings on how patient–provider communication may strengthen

relationships and its association with program engagement and meaningful functional outcomes.

Table 5 shows a negative association between the number of weekly physical therapists' messages and weeks in the program. Each additional weekly message sent by a physical therapist to the participants was associated with a 15% decrease in the number of weeks in the program (P<.001). As depicted in Figure 5, this may be because of unsuccessful attempts to reach out to participants who achieved their program goals, but had not communicated with their physical therapists who, therefore, delayed formal discharge.

Additional video follow-up visits were positively associated with program duration. Compared with participants who did not have follow-up visits, Table 5 shows that those with 1 to 2 follow-up video visits had 8% (*P*=.02) more weeks in their episodes, those with 3 to 4 follow-up visits had 28% (*P*<.001) more weeks, and those with \geq 5 follow-up visits spent 91% (*P*<.001) more weeks in the program. Program access within 24 hours was not significantly correlated with the program duration.

Participants who were aged ≥ 50 years (*P*<.001) with chronic conditions (*P*<.001) and adverse symptoms (*P*<.001) all had greater odds of having longer episodes than their younger counterparts without chronic conditions or adverse symptoms. Those with higher functionality at baseline had shorter episodes (*P*<.001). Multimedia Appendix 2 illustrates all models with the main effects only.



Figure 5. Mean physical therapist messages per week by distribution of program durations in weeks.



Discussion

Principal Findings

This study builds on prior studies that show that mobile app–based physical therapy delivers similar outcomes to in-person care [16,47,48]. Similar to in-person physical therapy, clinical outcomes for physical therapy delivered via a mobile app were positively associated with program engagement [17-20]. Meaningful changes in pain were positively correlated with participants performing the most clinically relevant activity: consistently exercising.

However, the mechanism driving clinically meaningful changes in function requires a different form of engagement: time in the program. Exercise-induced analgesia is well documented in the literature, although the mechanism remains unclear [49,50]. We speculate that patients may associate exercise with pain reduction because they perceive a change in tissue status after stretching and movement. They may report they feel "looser" or "more flexible" immediately after exercise and associate that as a positive result. Changes in function may occur gradually, with incremental improvements not perceived until they hit a specific functional threshold, resulting in a change in task performance, such as more easily picking up their child or walking down the stairs. As changes in function are likely grounded in changes in strength, range of motion, motor planning, or motor control, several weeks of consistent exercise

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31349
```

RenderX

may be required to achieve meaningful functional improvement. Future research should explore the causal mechanisms underlying functional improvement versus pain reduction.

Unlike traditional physical therapy, we observed that clinical outcomes were more closely associated with satisfaction. A minimal amount of functional change had a large effect on participants' willingness to recommend the program under study. However, it took large changes in pain to influence participants to recommend the program to their friends and family.

Perceptions of functional changes may differ from perceptions of pain change. In our clinical practice, most patients during intake come to us "because they don't want to hurt anymore" and expect pain to be eliminated. Patients may have more relative, vague expectations around functional recovery unless they cannot perform activities required for their livelihood. Patients often struggle to pinpoint goals for functional improvement. Pain alone may not be enough for patients to stop doing something altogether or they may not have a requisite daily task that they can no longer perform (eg, they must be able to lift 50 pounds for their job; they cannot pick up their child). This means that the elimination of pain (a hard outcome to achieve) must be met to be satisfied, but a lower level of functional improvement may yield satisfaction. Future research should unpack perceptions around changes in pain and function throughout recovery.

Physical therapy delivered via a mobile app resembles in-person physical therapy in that it depends on strong relationships between patients and providers to be successful. Frequent, albeit not weekly, video follow-up visits were positively associated with satisfaction, the completion of more weekly workouts, and persistence in the program, which were the key ingredients for recovery. Asynchronous messaging may also help strengthen patient–provider relationships because weekly workouts increased with each day per week that providers messaged participants. However, provider messaging may have a negative effect if used to chase unresponsive participants later in the program. Provider messages also did not have a significant effect on satisfaction, whereas video visits did.

Frequent, face-to-face interactions between providers and participants may keep participants motivated and remain active in the program until they see significant improvements. Future research should further explore how digital communication can build stronger therapeutic alliances between physical therapists and patients in a digital setting [22,29].

Unlike traditional in-person physical therapy, mobile physical therapy has the potential to reduce time to care [51,52], with significant effects on program engagement (number of weekly workouts). Patients who seek care can access it immediately, which may have a motivating effect to help them initiate behavioral changes that alleviate pain and restore functionality [34,53]. Direct access removes a barrier to traditional physical therapy, which is often delayed while patients traverse a costly referral process or receive inappropriate care from other providers who do not practice evidence-based care [54]. The experience of being passed from one provider to another is time consuming, frustrating, and may negatively impact patients' motivation toward recovery. Given the evidence that mobile apps can provide prompt access to care that yields results comparable with in-person care, apps may also deliver better and more cost-effective results than the typical care pathway that begins with a physician [1-3,47,54]. Care delivered via mobile apps also removes barriers to recovery that can make initiating traditional physical therapy inconvenient, including appointment scheduling and travel [55].

We cannot eliminate the possibility that participants who access care sooner are more intrinsically motivated or have fewer barriers to exercising than those who delay their appointments. The delivery of care in a digital environment is a promising area for future research to understand how providers can optimize care to ensure better clinical outcomes and patient satisfaction.

Limitations

We did not find any direct relationship between clinical outcomes and access to care or patient-provider communication that indicates strong ties. Rather, access and relationships between physical therapists and patients that were strengthened by digital communication were associated with patient behaviors that were then followed by significant recovery outcomes. Future work should aim to understand the causal relationships between the design of mobile app physical therapy programs in terms of access, indicators of different qualities of patient-provider relationships, and the recovery behavior of participants.

This study is inherently limited as an observational study of an employer-based population. The voluntary nature of, and lack of compensation for, completing the final survey meant that our sample size was reduced, potentially biasing our results. The results may not be generalizable to a broader population of employees, retirees, or children. Our study also lacked a control group. Future research should compare meaningful clinical outcomes, satisfaction, and program engagement of mobile app–based physical therapy to in-person physical therapy in a controlled clinical trial. Randomized control trials or other suitable experimental methods should be used to unpack causality around patient-provider communication and relational indicators, access to care, and program engagement.

Conclusions

Physical therapy delivered via a mobile app may be more likely to result in clinically important changes in pain and function if it engages patients by directly connecting them with physical therapists and by facilitating strong relationships with their providers. Synchronous communication, in particular video visits, may help physical therapists foster strong relationships that personalize app-based care and build in accountability and encouragement so that patients engage in recovery and, concomitantly, enjoy clinically important improvements in pain and function. In app-based physical therapy, clinical outcomes may be more closely associated with patient satisfaction, independent of patients' relationships with their providers, than what is observed in studies evaluating in-person physical therapy.

Acknowledgments

The authors are indebted to Julie Mulcahy, Steve Bayer, Ryan Quan, Anna DeLaRosby, and Melissa Leebove for their insightful comments, edits, and support in crafting this paper. We are also grateful for Dan Rubinstein and Cameron Marlow, whose vision and desire to improve health care, led to the creation of Physera.

Conflicts of Interest

LB and TN are both employed shareholders of Omada Health Inc.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Heatmap of significant Pearson correlations (*P*<.05). [PNG File, 218 KB - rehab_v9i1e31349_app1.png]

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31349
```



Multimedia Appendix 2 Models with main effects only. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 62 KB - rehab_v9i1e31349_app2.pdf]

References

- Childs JD, Whitman JM, Sizer PS, Pugia ML, Flynn TW, Delitto A. A description of physical therapists' knowledge in managing musculoskeletal conditions. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2005 Jun 17;6:32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-6-32] [Medline: 15963232]
- Grona SL, Bath B, Busch A, Rotter T, Trask C, Harrison E. Use of videoconferencing for physical therapy in people with musculoskeletal conditions: a systematic review. J Telemed Telecare 2018 Jun;24(5):341-355. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X17700781] [Medline: 28403669]
- 3. Horsley S, Schock G, Grona SL, Montieth K, Mowat B, Stasiuk K, et al. Use of real-time videoconferencing to deliver physical therapy services: a scoping review of published and emerging evidence. J Telemed Telecare 2020 Dec;26(10):581-589. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X19854647] [Medline: 31213166]
- 4. Babatunde OO, Jordan JL, Van der Windt DA, Hill JC, Foster NE, Protheroe J. Effective treatment options for musculoskeletal pain in primary care: a systematic overview of current evidence. PLoS One 2017;12(6):e0178621 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0178621] [Medline: 28640822]
- Larochelle MR, Zhang F, Ross-Degnan D, Wharam JF. Trends in opioid prescribing and co-prescribing of sedative hypnotics for acute and chronic musculoskeletal pain: 2001-2010. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2015 Aug;24(8):885-892. [doi: 10.1002/pds.3776] [Medline: 25906971]
- Kidner CL, Mayer TG, Gatchel RJ. Higher opioid doses predict poorer functional outcome in patients with chronic disabling occupational musculoskeletal disorders. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2009 Apr;91(4):919-927 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2106/JBJS.H.00286] [Medline: 19339577]
- George SZ, Goode AP. Physical therapy and opioid use for musculoskeletal pain management: competitors or companions? Pain Rep 2020;5(5):e827 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/PR9.00000000000827] [Medline: 33490834]
- Chou R, Qaseem A, Owens DK, Shekelle P, Clinical Guidelines Committee of the American College of Physicians. Diagnostic imaging for low back pain: advice for high-value health care from the American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med 2011 Feb 01;154(3):181-189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-154-3-201102010-00008] [Medline: 21282698]
- Modic MT, Obuchowski NA, Ross JS, Brant-Zawadzki MN, Grooff PN, Mazanec DJ, et al. Acute low back pain and radiculopathy: MR imaging findings and their prognostic role and effect on outcome. Radiology 2005 Nov;237(2):597-604. [doi: <u>10.1148/radiol.2372041509</u>] [Medline: <u>16244269</u>]
- Paxton BE, Lungren MP, Srinivasan RC, Jung S, Yu M, Eastwood JD, et al. Physician self-referral of lumbar spine MRI with comparative analysis of negative study rates as a marker of utilization appropriateness. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2012 Jun;198(6):1375-1379. [doi: 10.2214/AJR.11.7730] [Medline: 22623551]
- Denninger TR, Cook CE, Chapman CG, McHenry T, Thigpen CA. The influence of patient choice of first provider on costs and outcomes: analysis from a physical therapy patient registry. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2018 Feb;48(2):63-71. [doi: <u>10.2519/jospt.2018.7423</u>] [Medline: <u>29073842</u>]
- 12. Horn ME, George SZ, Fritz JM. Influence of initial provider on health care utilization in patients seeking care for neck pain. Mayo Clin Proc Innov Qual Outcomes 2017 Dec;1(3):226-233 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.mayocpiqo.2017.09.001] [Medline: 30225421]
- van de Graaf VA, Noorduyn JC, Willigenburg NW, Butter IK, de Gast A, Mol BW, ESCAPE Research Group. Effect of early surgery vs physical therapy on knee function among patients with nonobstructive meniscal tears: the ESCAPE randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2018 Oct 02;320(13):1328-1337 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.13308] [Medline: 30285177]
- 14. Beresford L, Norwood T. Clinically meaningful improvement in pain and function from digital physical therapy. Archives Physical Med Rehab 2021 Oct;102(10):e87-e88. [doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2021.07.733]
- Bini SA, Mahajan J. Clinical outcomes of remote asynchronous telerehabilitation are equivalent to traditional therapy following total knee arthroplasty: a randomized control study. J Telemed Telecare 2017 Feb;23(2):239-247. [doi: <u>10.1177/1357633X16634518</u>] [Medline: <u>26940798</u>]
- Cottrell MA, Galea OA, O'Leary SP, Hill AJ, Russell TG. Real-time telerehabilitation for the treatment of musculoskeletal conditions is effective and comparable to standard practice: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Rehabil 2017 May;31(5):625-638. [doi: 10.1177/0269215516645148] [Medline: 27141087]
- Childs JD, Fritz JM, Wu SS, Flynn TW, Wainner RS, Robertson EK, et al. Implications of early and guideline adherent physical therapy for low back pain on utilization and costs. BMC Health Serv Res 2015 Apr 09;15:150 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-015-0830-3] [Medline: 25880898]
- Martin LR, Williams SL, Haskard KB, Dimatteo MR. The challenge of patient adherence. Ther Clin Risk Manag 2005 Sep;1(3):189-199 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 18360559]

- Lin I, Wiles L, Waller R, Goucke R, Nagree Y, Gibberd M, et al. What does best practice care for musculoskeletal pain look like? Eleven consistent recommendations from high-quality clinical practice guidelines: systematic review. Br J Sports Med 2020 Jan;54(2):79-86. [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2018-099878] [Medline: 30826805]
- 20. Sluijs EM, Kok GJ, van der Zee J. Correlates of exercise compliance in physical therapy. Phys Ther 1993 Nov;73(11):771-82; discussion 783. [doi: 10.1093/ptj/73.11.771] [Medline: 8234458]
- 21. Fetters L, Tilson J. Evidence Based Physical Therapy. Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, United States: F.A. Davis Company; 2012.
- 22. Paterno MV, Schmitt LC, Thomas S, Duke N, Russo R, Quatman-Yates CC. Patient and parent perceptions of rehabilitation factors that influence outcomes after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction and clearance to return to sport in adolescents and young adults. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2019 Aug;49(8):576-583. [doi: 10.2519/jospt.2019.8608] [Medline: 30759359]
- 23. Kidd MO, Bond CH, Bell ML. Patients' perspectives of patient-centredness as important in musculoskeletal physiotherapy interactions: a qualitative study. Physiotherapy 2011 Jun;97(2):154-162. [doi: 10.1016/j.physio.2010.08.002] [Medline: 21497250]
- 24. Waters S, Edmondston SJ, Yates PJ, Gucciardi DF. Identification of factors influencing patient satisfaction with orthopaedic outpatient clinic consultation: a qualitative study. Man Ther 2016 Sep;25:48-55. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.math.2016.05.334</u>] [Medline: <u>27422597</u>]
- 25. Dissing AS, Lakon CM, Gerds TA, Rod NH, Lund R. Measuring social integration and tie strength with smartphone and survey data. PLoS One 2018;13(8):e0200678 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0200678] [Medline: 30138354]
- 26. Granovetter MS. The Strength of Weak Ties. Am J Sociol 1973 May;78(6):1360-1380. [doi: 10.1086/225469]
- 27. Hush JM, Cameron K, Mackey M. Patient satisfaction with musculoskeletal physical therapy care: a systematic review. Phys Ther 2011 Jan;91(1):25-36. [doi: 10.2522/ptj.20100061] [Medline: 21071504]
- 28. Zolnierek KB, Dimatteo MR. Physician communication and patient adherence to treatment: a meta-analysis. Med Care 2009 Aug;47(8):826-834 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e31819a5acc] [Medline: 19584762]
- 29. Argent R, Daly A, Caulfield B. Patient involvement with home-based exercise programs: can connected health interventions influence adherence? JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Mar 01;6(3):e47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8518] [Medline: 29496655]
- Horn ME, Fritz JM. Timing of physical therapy consultation on 1-year healthcare utilization and costs in patients seeking care for neck pain: a retrospective cohort. BMC Health Serv Res 2018 Nov 26;18(1):887 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-3699-0] [Medline: 30477480]
- 31. Sun E, Moshfegh J, Rishel CA, Cook CE, Goode AP, George SZ. Association of early physical therapy with long-term opioid use among opioid-naive patients with musculoskeletal pain. JAMA Netw Open 2018 Dec 07;1(8):e185909 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.5909] [Medline: 30646297]
- 32. Ojha HA, Wyrsta NJ, Davenport TE, Egan WE, Gellhorn AC. Timing of physical therapy initiation for nonsurgical management of musculoskeletal disorders and effects on patient outcomes: a systematic review. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2016 Feb;46(2):56-70. [doi: 10.2519/jospt.2016.6138] [Medline: 26755406]
- 33. Collado-Mateo D, Lavín-Pérez AM, Peñacoba C, Del Coso J, Leyton-Román M, Luque-Casado A, et al. Key factors associated with adherence to physical exercise in patients with chronic diseases and older adults: an umbrella review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Feb 19;18(4):2023 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18042023] [Medline: 33669679]
- 34. Brooks JM, Costigan K, Wu J, Chen X, Bengtson K, Chan F, et al. Motivation and readiness for physical activity and exercise behaviour among people with chronic musculoskeletal pain: a brief report. Aus J Rehab Counselling 2018 Jul 30;24(1):27-34. [doi: 10.1017/jrc.2018.1]
- 35. Physera. URL: <u>https://physera.com/</u> [accessed 2022-01-18]
- Abbott JH, Schmitt J. Minimum important differences for the patient-specific functional scale, 4 region-specific outcome measures, and the numeric pain rating scale. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2014 Aug;44(8):560-564. [doi: 10.2519/jospt.2014.5248] [Medline: 24828475]
- 37. George SZ, Beneciuk JM, Lentz TA, Wu SS, Dai Y, Bialosky JE, et al. Optimal Screening for Prediction of Referral and Outcome (OSPRO) for Musculoskeletal pain conditions: results from the validation cohort. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2018 Jun;48(6):460-475 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2519/jospt.2018.7811] [Medline: 29629615]
- 38. Estrada E, Ferrer E, Pardo A. Statistics for evaluating pre-post change: relation between change in the distribution center and change in the individual scores. Front Psychol 2018;9:2696 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02696] [Medline: 30671008]
- Delgado DA, Lambert BS, Boutris N, McCulloch PC, Robbins AB, Moreno MR, et al. Validation of digital visual analog scale pain scoring with a traditional paper-based visual analog scale in adults. J Am Acad Orthop Surg Glob Res Rev 2018 Mar;2(3):e088 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5435/JAAOSGlobal-D-17-00088] [Medline: 30211382]
- Eckenrode BJ, Kietrys DM, Parrott JS. Effectiveness of manual therapy for pain and self-reported function in individuals with patellofemoral pain: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2018 May;48(5):358-371. [doi: 10.2519/jospt.2018.7243] [Medline: 29308698]
- 41. Bain & Company. Measuring Your Net Promoter Score. Net Promoter System. URL: <u>https://www.netpromotersystem.com/</u> <u>about/measuring-your-net-promoter-score</u> [accessed 2021-06-16]

- 42. Meyer R, Spittel S, Steinfurth L, Funke A, Kettemann D, Münch C, et al. Patient-reported outcome of physical therapy in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: observational online study. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2018 Nov 12;5(2):e10099 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10099] [Medline: 30425026]
- Boonstra AM, Schiphorst Preuper HR, Balk GA, Stewart RE. Cut-off points for mild, moderate, and severe pain on the visual analogue scale for pain in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain. Pain 2014 Dec;155(12):2545-2550. [doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2014.09.014] [Medline: 25239073]
- 44. Horn ME, George SZ, Li C, Luo S, Lentz TA. Derivation of a risk assessment tool for prediction of long-term pain intensity reduction after physical therapy. J Pain Res 2021;14:1515-1524 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/JPR.S305973] [Medline: 34093037]
- 45. Zeppieri G, Bialosky J, George SZ. Importance of outcome domain for patients with musculoskeletal pain: characterizing subgroups and their response to treatment. Phys Ther 2020 May 18;100(5):829-845 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ptj/pzaa009] [Medline: 31944245]
- 46. Palmer KT, Goodson N. Ageing, musculoskeletal health and work. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2015 Jun;29(3):391-404 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.berh.2015.03.004] [Medline: 26612237]
- Suso-Martí L, La Touche R, Herranz-Gómez A, Angulo-Díaz-Parreño S, Paris-Alemany A, Cuenca-Martínez F. Effectiveness
 of telerehabilitation in physical therapist practice: an umbrella and mapping review with meta-meta-analysis. Phys Ther
 2021 May 04;101(5):pzab075 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ptj/pzab075] [Medline: 33611598]
- 48. Childs JD, Harman JS, Rodeghero JR, Horn M, George SZ. Implications of practice setting on clinical outcomes and efficiency of care in the delivery of physical therapy services. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2014 Dec;44(12):955-963. [doi: 10.2519/jospt.2014.5224] [Medline: 25350133]
- Andersen LL, Saervoll CA, Mortensen OS, Poulsen OM, Hannerz H, Zebis MK. Effectiveness of small daily amounts of progressive resistance training for frequent neck/shoulder pain: randomised controlled trial. Pain 2011 Feb;152(2):440-446. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pain.2010.11.016</u>] [Medline: <u>21177034</u>]
- 50. Wu B, Zhou L, Chen C, Wang J, Hu L, Wang X. Effects of exercise-induced hypoalgesia and its neural mechanisms. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2022 Feb 01;54(2):220-231. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000002781] [Medline: 34468414]
- 51. MacDowell M, Glasser M, Fitts M, Nielsen K, Hunsaker M. A national view of rural health workforce issues in the USA. Rural Remote Health 2010;10(3):1531 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20658893]
- 52. Merl D. It wouldn't take much to close the physical therapy access gap. Medium. URL: <u>https://medium.com/@danmerl/</u> it-wouldnt-take-much-to-close-the-physical-therapy-access-gap-7a81bb885072
- Shawcross P, Lyons M, Filingeri V. The relationship between readiness to change pain-related exercise participation and perceived work ability: a cross-sectional study of factory workers. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2021 Sep 06;22(1):762 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12891-021-04642-6] [Medline: 34488707]
- 54. Hon S, Ritter R, Allen DD. Cost-effectiveness and outcomes of direct access to physical therapy for musculoskeletal disorders compared to physician-first access in the United States: systematic review and meta-analysis. Phys Ther 2021 Jan 04;101(1):pzaa201. [doi: 10.1093/ptj/pzaa201] [Medline: 33245117]
- Tenforde AS, Iaccarino MA, Borgstrom H, Hefner JE, Silver J, Ahmed M, et al. Telemedicine during COVID-19 for outpatient sports and musculoskeletal medicine physicians. PM R 2020 Sep;12(9):926-932 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pmrj.12422] [Medline: 32424977]

Abbreviations

GLM: generalized linear model GROC: Global Rate of Change MCID: minimal clinically important difference NPS: Net Promoter Score OSPRO-ROS: Optimal Screening for Prediction of Referral and Outcome-Review of Systems PSFS: Patient Specific Functional Scale VAS: Visual Analogue Scale



Edited by A Mavragani; submitted 18.06.21; peer-reviewed by M Cottrell, E Sadeghi-Demneh, D Matte; comments to author 01.10.21; revised version received 23.11.21; accepted 23.12.21; published 02.02.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Beresford L, Norwood T The Effect of Mobile Care Delivery on Clinically Meaningful Outcomes, Satisfaction, and Engagement Among Physical Therapy Patients: Observational Retrospective Study JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e31349 URL: https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31349 doi:10.2196/31349 PMID:35107436

©Lauren Beresford, Todd Norwood. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 02.02.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Smart Assistive Technology for Cooking for People With Cognitive Impairments Following a Traumatic Brain Injury: User Experience Study

Mireille Gagnon-Roy^{1,2}, MOT; Stéphanie Pinard^{1,3}, PhD; Carolina Bottari^{1,2}, PhD; Fanny Le Morellec⁴, PhD; Catherine Laliberté⁴, MOT; Rym Ben Lagha^{1,2}, MSc; Amel Yaddaden^{1,5}, MSc; Hélène Pigot^{4,6}, PhD; Sylvain Giroux^{4,6}, PhD; Nathalie Bier^{1,5}, PhD

¹School of Rehabilitation, Université de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada

²Centre for Interdisciplinary Research in Rehabilitation of Greater Montreal, Institut universitaire sur la réadaptation en déficience physique de Montréal du CIUSSS du Centre-Sud-de-l'Île-de-Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada

³Centre intégré universitaire de santé et de services sociaux de l'Estrie, Centre de réadaptation de l'Estrie, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

⁴DOMUS Laboratory, Department of Computer Science, Faculty of Science, Université de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

⁵Centre de recherche de l'Institut universitaire de gériatrie de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada

⁶Centre de recherche sur le vieillissement, Research Center on Aging, CSSS-IUGS, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

Corresponding Author: Carolina Bottari, PhD School of Rehabilitation Université de Montréal 7077 Av du Parc Montreal, QC, H3N 1X7 Canada Phone: 1 514 343 6111 ext 44048 Email: carolina.bottari@umontreal.ca

Abstract

Background: User experience (UX), including usability, should be formally assessed multiple times throughout the development process to optimize the acceptability and integration of a new technology before implementing it within the home environment of people living with cognitive impairments.

Objective: The aim of this study is to identify UX issues, notably usability issues, and factors to consider for the future implementation of the COOK (Cognitive Orthosis for Cooking) within the home of individuals with traumatic brain injury (TBI) to identify modifications to improve the technology.

Methods: This study comprised two rounds of UX evaluations, including extensive usability testing, which were completed in a laboratory context: 3 sessions with 5 experts and, after improvement of COOK, 2 sessions with 10 participants with TBI. Each session included the use of scenarios and questionnaires on UX and usability.

Results: Both rounds demonstrated good usability outcomes and hedonic qualities. Various usability issues were identified by participants, such as navigation inconsistencies, technical bugs, and the need for more feedback. Factors to consider in the future implementation of COOK were also mentioned by participants with TBI, including environmental (eg, space available and presence of pets) and personal factors (eg, level of comfort with technology, presence of visual deficits, and preferences).

Conclusions: By evaluating UX, including usability, various times throughout the development process and including experts and end users, our research team was able to develop a technology that was perceived as usable, pleasant, and well-designed. This research is an example of how and when people with cognitive impairments (ie, people with TBI) can be involved in evaluating the UX of new technology.

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e28701) doi:10.2196/28701

KEYWORDS

RenderX

usability testing and evaluation; user experience; qualitative methods; assistive technologies; rehabilitation; patient safety

Introduction

Background

Individuals who sustain a traumatic brain injury (TBI) will have to live for numerous years with physical impairments, emotional problems, and cognitive deficits (eg, memory, attention, and executive functions) [1]. These deficits, especially cognitive impairments, may limit their independence and safety in completing everyday activities within their home and community, including instrumental activities of daily living such as meal preparation [2-4]. Indeed, meal preparation involves the coordination of complex tasks using high-level cognitive abilities such as planning, working memory, multitasking, and problem solving, which can be affected in people with TBI [5]. As technology evolves, the use of assistive technology for cognition (ATC) is becoming increasingly attractive to support the functioning of people with TBI [6-9]. For example, De Joode et al [10] demonstrated that a PDA could be as effective as a traditional paper-and-pencil method in achieving personalized goals. Wang et al [11] also compared 2 prompting methods (paper vs via an ATC) during a meal preparation task and showed that prompts provided via an ATC were generally more efficient and appreciated by participants. Therefore, ATCs are a promising avenue for developing and implementing home support interventions for people with cognitive impairments following a TBI. However, to our knowledge, other than the Cueing Kitchen [12,13], which is installed in a laboratory setting, no ATC has been specifically developed to support this population both in terms of safety and independence in meal preparation. The current use of technology to support meal preparation includes the use of reminders and step-by-step instructions [8,14].

In recent years, our interdisciplinary research team (including experts in computer sciences, engineering, occupational therapy, physiotherapy, speech-language pathology, neuropsychology, and evaluative and implementation research) closely collaborated with people who sustained a severe TBI (principal end users), their families, and the team of care (specialized educators, occupational therapists, social workers, and managers) to design an ATC named the COOK (Cognitive Orthosis for Cooking) [15]. Using a user-centered design [16], this cooking assistant was initially developed for 3 persons living with a severe TBI in an alternative housing unit with 24-hour supervision to promote their autonomy and resume meaningful activity (ie, meal preparation) [15,17]. Our research team ultimately aimed to expand its potential to a broader population with TBI (eg, those living in their own apartments in the community). The aim of this paper is to present an overview of the usability evaluation completed throughout the process of developing this technology.

The Cognitive Assistant—COOK

COOK is a web application that was developed to work on any device with a tactile screen (eg, electronic tablet or computer). For this project, a Dell XPS 18 portable all-in-one desktop computer was used. COOK consists of two systems that work in complementarity: (1) a cognitive support module that guides the user through the interface on the screen (see Figure 1 for an example) and (2) the self-monitoring security system (SSS), which is connected to a smart stove. The cognitive support module encompasses cognitive interventions and functionalities configured by occupational therapists based on their evaluation of the person and the type of intervention approach he or she needs during meal preparation (eg, rehabilitation or compensatory). This can include such things as reminders to reduce distractors and optimize the cooking environment, adapted recipes, food storage charts, timers, and notes. The SSS works with connected sensors installed in the kitchen environment and the smart stove to follow kitchen-related activity and detect at-risk situations (eg, forgetting to turn off a burner). When such situations are detected, the user is warned via the interface and, if he or she does not correct the situation, the stove is automatically shut down. To ensure safety, the use of COOK is required to activate and use the stove. COOK can also be set up according to the user's needs and preferences. Finally, an interface is available for caregivers to monitor the stove and SSS state (eg, activated or shut down following an at-risk situation). For this study, COOK was installed in a laboratory setting organized as an apartment, including a living room, a bathroom, a main door, and a fully functional kitchen equipped with a smart stove (Figures 2 and 3).



Gagnon-Roy et al

Figure 1. Screenshot of COOK (Cognitive Orthosis for Cooking). (1) Time and date, reminder for another task (eg, washing machine) and timers for the burner and the oven; (2) return to the home page; (3) toolbox (including stress management, notes, and personalized objectives), culinary information (eg, food storage charts, idea of spices, and recommended internal cooking temperatures), and safety rules; (4) exit; (5) steps of the meal preparation task, including goal formulation, planning, conducting the task and self-assessment, and breaks.



Figure 2. Installation of COOK (Cognitive Orthosis for Cooking) in the laboratory setting.





Figure 3. Installation of COOK (Cognitive Orthosis for Cooking) in the laboratory setting.



User Experience Evaluation

Previous studies have demonstrated that poor user experience (UX), including poor usability (eg, lack of knowledge and training or improper design according to the user's needs), was associated with nonadoption of ATCs [18]. Therefore, it was essential to formally evaluate UX at various time points in the development of COOK to develop a more usable product [19,20]. UX results from interactions among the user (eg, needs and expectations), the system (eg, functionalities and usability), and the context, and thus considers hedonic qualities (eg,

pleasure and emotions) [21,22]. Usability, which is an important element contributing to a good UX, refers to the degree to which users are able to attain their goals with efficacy, efficiency, and satisfaction in a specific context using an ATC [23]. As presented in Figure 4, our research team completed 6 broad steps, of which 2 are further explained in this paper (steps 2 and 6). Step 4, which comprises the implementation of COOK with 3 individuals living with a severe TBI in an alternative housing unit and UX evaluation within this real-world environment, is described elsewhere [15].

Figure 4. Steps of development and usability tests of the cognitive assistant (COOK). COOK: Cognitive Orthosis for Cooking; HCI: human-computer interaction; TBI: traumatic brain injury.

06–Study 2: usability 02-Study 1: usability 04-Implementation of testing with TBI individuals COOK with 3 end users testing in laboratory Implementation of COOK with 3 Participants living with a moderate Participants without cognitive individuals with severe TBI in an to severe TBI within their home in impairments and experts in HCI or alternative housing unit. Training with the community. Testing in a with individuals with cognitive COOK using errorless learning and laboratory setting. impairments vanishing cues 01 05 Ŋ۵ 06 03-Ecological 05–Development of a light 01–Prototype design testing

Based on a need analysis and the end users' needs (eg, people with TBI and stakeholders)

Iterations of the technology by the technical team using knowledge from Study 1

version

Iterations of the technology using knowledge from the implementation for individuals living within their own home



More specifically, this project aims to (1) document UX issues, particularly usability issues, that could interfere with the use of COOK by individuals living with TBI; (2) identify modifications to improve the technology; and (3) explore factors to consider in the future implementation of COOK within the homes of individuals with TBI.

Methods

Study 1: Experts' Perspective on UX

Overview

The first study (step 2 in Figure 4) focused on testing the functionalities of the cooking assistant early in its development process to improve its UX. Considering the end users' cognitive impairments (eg, limited cognitive load, learning potential, and memory deficits), they are more likely to replicate their mistakes and not be able to correct themselves over time if in contact with a preliminary version of the technology. Therefore, it was preferred to not involve the 3 participants with TBI who participated in step 4 at this step of the development process to reduce risks of integrating faulty ways of using COOK and becoming frustrated as a result. Instead, only individuals with expertise in human-computer interaction (HCI) or with clinical experience with future end users (ie, people living with TBI) were involved in this preliminary step of development as they could provide extensive feedback and potential solutions to the identified UX issues and help our research team reduce bugs and limit future major necessary modifications that could interfere with the further steps in the development process. In the same vein, no caregivers or health providers were included at this step of the project, although they could participate in step 4. This study was approved by the research ethics committee of the Centre Intégré Universitaire en Santé et Services Sociaux of Estrie-Centre hospitalier universitaire de Sherbrooke (CRIR-897-113), and all participants provided their informed consent. A total of three usability tests were conducted in study 1: tests for version 2.1, version 2.2, and a preliminary version of the SSS.

Participants

Using convenience sampling, 8 French-speaking individuals with expertise in HCI or clinical experience with clients with cognitive impairments were recruited to participate in at least 1 of the 3 UX tests. Participants were recruited from collaborators involved in other projects conducted at the research laboratory. A clinician specialized in visual impairments was also recruited to obtain her perspective on the visual accessibility of COOK. Among the group of 8 participants, a sample of 5 (63%) participants for each test was considered enough to uncover most UX issues, notably usability issues [24]. Before each UX evaluation, the participants had to complete a 7-point Likert scale, where 1 corresponded to *never* and 7 to *all the time*, to measure the extent to which they used electronic tablets on a monthly basis and the number of meals prepared during a week (ie, cooking habits).

Task and Procedure

Overview

The UX evaluation was completed with 3 tests (1 each) for versions 2.1 and 2.2 and the SSS. Each test included three steps: (1) a general presentation of COOK (including the context of the project and its future use), (2) scenarios simulating the use of the technology during an activity (eg, meal preparation or meal planning, depending on the version tested), and (3) administration of 2 questionnaires measuring usability with the System Usability Scale (SUS) [25-27] and UX from a more global perspective with the AttrakDiff scale [28,29]. All the UX tests were completed between January 2016 and December 2016 and were audiotaped. Each test was completed with the participant, an evaluator, and an observer who took notes.

After the presentation of the cooking assistant, participants were invited to follow scenarios simulating different tasks that could be achieved using COOK. During each simulation, participants were asked to think aloud and describe their thoughts and judgments, explain their understanding of the task and the technology, and comment on the ease of use and potential UX issues and usability issues in particular. As recommended to design technologies, open-ended questions, such as "You seemed surprised, what led you to feel like this?" and "How did you know that you had to ...?" were also asked to help participants further express their thoughts and actions [30]. All comments from participants were systematically transcribed using observer notes and records, and then deductively regrouped by functionalities and usability issues (eg, size of labels and understanding of messages provided by the technology) to identify the number of times each comment emerged. At this point of development, it was preferred to provide the development team with an exhaustive and detailed list of comments mentioned by the participants to facilitate modifications of the technology. Following UX evaluation, grouped comments were translated into requests, prioritized, and transmitted to the development team to improve the cooking assistant.

Scenarios varied depending on the version assessed in UX evaluation.

Version 2.1

Participants were invited to simulate 2 activities of meal preparation (ie, with and without a recipe) and explore functionalities that were developed to help end users follow through the task (eg, timers, culinary information, breaks, and self-assessment).

Version 2.2

Participants were invited to simulate a meal preparation activity (ie, with a recipe) to explore new functionalities that had been added in version 2.2 (eg, voice command and vocal synthesis). Participants were also asked to plan meals using COOK.

SSS Module

Participants were invited to try the SSS safety rules using 8 scenarios. For 75% (6/8) of the scenarios, participants had to simulate the use of the stove during a meal preparation task while their actions were being supervised by the security system.

Each of these scenarios was designed such that a security rule would be triggered. Participants were then asked to react to the various warnings and information transmitted by sound (voice synthesis) and text (pop-up) modalities. In the last 2 scenarios, participants played the role of a caregiver who received notifications about the status of the SSS via a screen in another room. A member of the research team played the role of the person using the stove and needing assistance to restart it after it had been turned off by the SSS.

Measures

The following two questionnaires were used: the SUS and the AttrakDiff scale.

The SUS is a highly robust and versatile tool developed by Brooke [25] to evaluate perceived and subjective usability [26]. This questionnaire consists of 10 statements that are scored on a 5-point Likert scale of agreement, with 1 corresponding to *totally disagree* and 5 to *totally agree*. The total score varies between 0 and 100, with higher scores corresponding to stronger usability. The total score can then be qualified using the adjective rating scale (eg, awful, okay, and excellent) to provide a better understanding of the usability value [26,31]. A French translation of the scale was developed by our team and used as no validated version in French was available at the time of the study.

The AttrakDiff is a standardized questionnaire that includes 4 scales with 7 items, totaling to 28 items that evaluate the pragmatic and hedonic qualities of a system [32]. The scales evaluated in the AttrakDiff are the pragmatic quality, hedonic-stimulation quality, hedonic-identity quality, and global attraction. For each scale, an average score varying between -3 and 3 was calculated, where a higher score was associated with positive UX. For this study, the AttrakDiff was an interesting choice to measure UX as it allows comparisons between different versions of a specific product, thus highlighting the potential impact of modifications of COOK on the end users' experience. The French version of the AttrakDiff was used in this study [28].

Study 2: People With TBI's Perspective on UX

Overview

In accordance with our goal of expanding the potential use of COOK to a broader population with TBI (including those living within their home in the community), the second round of UX evaluation was completed 3 years after the first study in a laboratory context with participants living with moderate to severe TBI. Despite their cognitive impairments, this step was

possible as COOK was previously demonstrated as helpful for 3 individuals with TBI (step 4) by allowing them to prepare 3 meals per week independently and safely [15], and the prototype had since been improved (steps 3 and 5). Moreover, contrary to UX evaluations completed within a real-world context (which involves implementation and training with COOK), UX evaluations in a laboratory could be completed with a larger sample, thus allowing more variability in terms of needs. This study was approved by the ethical review board of the Centre for Interdisciplinary Research in Rehabilitation of Greater Montreal (CRIR-1173-0616). All participants provided their informed consent.

Participants

A total of 10 adults living with moderate to severe TBI and interested in meal preparation were recruited to participate in this study. Recruitment was completed in collaboration with rehabilitation centers in and around Montreal and a regional TBI association. Before the first session, each participant was asked questions about his or her TBI (ie, TBI severity and time post injury). They also had to complete the same Likert scale as the one used in the first study to measure their habits (ie, use of an electronic tablet and number of meals prepared during a week) and describe their difficulties.

Task and Procedure

Overview

UX evaluation was completed in a laboratory setting over two sessions: the first session focused on the SSS, and the second focused on the cognitive support module (including functionalities from versions 2.1 and 2.2). Similar to the first study, each session included three steps: (1) a general presentation of COOK by the evaluator, (2) various guided scenarios simulating the use of the technology during an activity of meal preparation or meal planning, and (3) administration of a French version of the SUS and the AttrakDiff scale. This method was inspired by the cognitive walkthrough with users approach, which involves documenting UX and usability outcomes through task performance in specific scenarios using think-aloud strategies to document the thoughts and opinions of end users [33]. A complementary semistructured interview of approximately 10 minutes was also conducted at the end of each session to explore their opinions on COOK and facilitators and barriers they perceived regarding the potential use of the technology within their home environment (see Textbox 1 for the questions). The UX evaluation was completed between January 2019 and July 2019 with an evaluator and a research assistant who videotaped the sessions.



Textbox 1. Interview guide for study 2 with participants living with moderate to severe traumatic brain injury.

First session

- How did you find your experience with the COOK (Cognitive Orthosis for Cooking)?
 - Elements that you liked
 - Elements that you disliked
 - Ease of use
 - Ease of learning
- How do you think COOK could be improved?

Second session

- How do you think COOK could help you with meal preparation?
 - How often would you use COOK?
 - Confidence in your abilities to use COOK?
- How do you think COOK could interfere with your meal preparation?
- In your opinion, what would be the elements that could make it more difficult to use COOK in your home?
- In your opinion, what would be the elements that could facilitate the use of COOK in your home?

Following an exploration of the cooking assistant, participants were invited to trial various scenarios simulating the use of COOK during a meal preparation task and think aloud about the process (eg, ease of use, potential usability issues, and how they could use the technology within their own living context). Owing to cognitive impairments associated with moderate to severe TBI, all participants were guided by an evaluator (ie, occupational therapist) to ensure progression and help them stay motivated and engaged in the testing when confronted with difficulties with the technology. However, as participants were not expected to learn to use COOK following the UX evaluation, flexibility was provided to allow participants to make mistakes and to allow them to try to correct them by themselves. The scenarios used in this study were similar to those described in the *Task and Procedure* section of Study 1.

First Session (SSS)

A total of 7 scenarios were completed to test the safety rules when using the stove, including going out of the apartment.

Second Session (Cognitive Support Module)

A total of 3 scenarios were completed to simulate 2 activities of meal preparation (ie, with and without a recipe) and meal planning and explore all the functionalities included in the cooking assistant to help the person complete these tasks. All sessions were videotaped and transcribed to document observable behaviors (gestures, facial expressions, and automatic reactions) and participant comments. Then, qualitative data (ie, comments and interviews) were analyzed in 2 steps. First, as in study 1, comments specific to COOK's functionalities were regrouped and translated into requests for the ATC development team to improve COOK. Then, an inductive thematic analysis as described by Miles et al [34] was completed and validated by 2 authors (MGR and RBL) to highlight potential factors that could influence the implementation of COOK within the home of individuals with TBI.

Results

Study 1: Experts' Perspective on UX

Overview

Of the 8 participants, 2 (25%) women and 6 (75%) men with expertise in HCI or clinical experience with clients with cognitive impairments, including an expert with 10 years of experience with clients with visual impairments, participated in the UX evaluation. Participants' characteristics and the UX tests in which they were involved are presented in Table 1. Each UX test lasted between 64 and 113 minutes, with an average of 80.9 minutes per session.



| Table 1. Participant characteristics and involvement in user experience (U | X) tests |
|--|----------|
|--|----------|

| Characteristics | Age (years) | Level of exp | pertise (years) | Electronic tablet use (score) ^a | Cooking habits (score) ^a | UX tests | | |
|-------------------|-------------|------------------|--------------------------|--|--|------------------|-----|------------------|
| | | HCI ^b | Cognitive | | | 2.1 | 2.2 | SSS ^d |
| | | | impairments ^c | | | | | |
| Gender | | | | | | | | |
| Male | 35 | 10 | 0.25 | 7 | 3 | ✓ ^e | 1 | 1 |
| Female | 36 | 0 | 3 | 5 | 7 | 1 | | |
| Male | 27 | 3 | 1 | 7 | 4 | ✓ | ✓ | \checkmark |
| Male | 28 | 2 | 2 | 7 | 3 | ✓ | | ✓ |
| Male | 27 | 17 | 1 | 7 | 5 | ✓ | | ✓ |
| Male | 25 | 3 | 1 | 7 | 3 | | 1 | 1 |
| Male | 25 | 8 | 0 | 1 | 5 | | 1 | |
| Female | 25 | 3 | 0.25 | 1 | 4 | | 1 | |
| Values, mean (SD) | 28.5 (4.5) | 5.75 (5.6) | 1.3 (1) | 5.25 (2.7) | 4.25 (1.4) | N/A ^f | N/A | N/A |

^aA higher score is associated with more frequent use of an electronic tablet and number of meals prepared per week at their entry into the study. ^bHCI: human-computer interaction.

^cCognitive impairments: With a clientele with cognitive impairments.

^dSSS: self-monitoring security system.

 e_{\checkmark} : Indicates which UX tests were completed by participants.

^fN/A: not applicable.

In total, 320 comments were documented and regrouped over the 3 UX tests of the first round, with 155 (48.4%) comments for version 2.1, 53 (16.7%) comments for version 2.2, and 112 (35%) comments for SSS. In response, 108 requests (n=53, 49.1%, n=34, 31.5%, and n=21, 19.4% issues) were translated and transmitted to the development team, of which many were considered and integrated into the next prototype of the cooking assistant. The documented comments encompassed UX and, in particular, usability issues such as navigation inconsistencies (eg, size and location of logos, optimizing navigation between the cooking assistant functionalities, and having access to a search mode to browse through the recipe book), technical bugs, and difficulties of use (eg, with the on-screen keyboard, when writing notes for later use, and with voice command). The need for more feedback (eg, when sending an email) and information (eg, in the recipes, following shut down by the SSS for both the user and the caregiver) was also identified.

Questionnaires

Overall, the usability of the preliminary version of COOK was adequate, with scores on the SUS ranging from 79.5 (ie, good usability) to 82.5 (ie, excellent usability) out of 100. The scores are presented in Table 2.



Gagnon-Roy et al

| Table 2. | Scores on the | System U | sability S | Scale | (SUS) an | d Attrak | Diff for | each user | experience | test |
|----------|---------------|----------|------------|-------|----------|----------|----------|-----------|------------|------|
| | | | | | | | | | | |

| Questionnaire | Version 2.1, mean (SD) | Version 2.2, mean (SD) | SSS ^a , mean (SD) |
|-------------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|------------------------------|
| SUS ^b (out of 100) | 82 (9.91) | 82.5 (2.50) | 79.5 (9.10) |
| AttrakDiff (between -3 and 3) | | | |
| PQ ^c | 1 (0.40) | 1.46 (0.44) | 1.49 (0.50) |
| HQ-S ^d | 1.63 (0.42) | 1.2 (0.67) | 1.31 (0.63) |
| HQ-I ^e | 1.34 (0.90) | 1.4 (0.60) | 1.51 (0.55) |
| ATT ^f | 2.09 (0.55) | 2.03 (0.56) | 1.97 (0.62) |

^aSSS: self-monitoring security system.

^bSUS: System Usability Scale.

^cPQ: pragmatic quality.

^dHQ-S: hedonic-stimulation quality.

^eHQ-I: hedonic-identity quality.

^fATT: global attraction.

In terms of UX, all dimensions were identified as positive, as shown in Figure 5. Global attraction was the most positive dimension for all versions of the cooking assistant, whereas the pragmatic quality for version 2.1 received the lowest score. When focusing on the portfolio of the AttrakDiff (see Figure 6 for an example and Multimedia Appendix 1), COOK was overall placed as desired, although version 2.1 also emerged as self-oriented.

Figure 5. Mean values of the 4 scales of the AttrakDiff for each version that was tested. ATT: global attraction; HQ-I: hedonic-identity quality; HQ-S: hedonic-stimulation quality; PQ: pragmatic quality; SSS: self-monitoring security system.





Figure 6. Portfolio of the AttrakDiff-version 2.1.



Study 2: People With TBI's Perspective on UX

Overview

A total of 10 participants—3 (30%) women and 7 (70%) men—living with a moderate to severe TBI participated in this study. At the time of the study, all participants had completed or were completing their outpatient rehabilitation. Participants were living in the community within their homes (with or without a family member), except for a participant who was living in a residence. Their age varied between 23 and 61 years (mean 39, SD 11.4 years), and their mean level of education

was 12.7 (SD 2.7) years. Of the 10 participants, 2 (20%) had sustained a moderate TBI, and 8 (80%) had a severe TBI, mainly caused by motor vehicle accidents. The mean time post injury was 11.0 (SD 11.8) years (range 1.7-38 years). None of them had returned to work at the time of the study. When questioned about their difficulties when preparing meals and using technologies, the main identified difficulties included visual deficits (eg, sensitivity to blue light), physical impairments (eg, tremors and coordination deficits), cognitive difficulties (eg, fatigue, difficulty with multitasking, and forgetting things), and lack of knowledge and ideas about meals. The participants' characteristics are presented in Table 3.

| Table 3. Characteristics of participa | pants living with traumatic brain injury (TBI) |
|---------------------------------------|--|
|---------------------------------------|--|

| Identifiers and values | Gender | Age (years) | TBI severity | | Time post in- jury (years) | Electronic tablet use (score) ^a | Cooking habits (score) ^a |
|------------------------|------------------|-------------|----------------|--------------|-------------------------------|--|--|
| | | | Moderate | Severe | | | |
| Participant identifier | | | | | | - | |
| 1 | Male | 34 | | ✓ | 10.7 | 7 | 4 |
| 2 | Male | 23 | | \checkmark | 2.3 | 6 | 1 |
| 3 | Male | 52 | ✓ ^b | | 38 | 7 | 4 |
| 4 | Female | 30 | | ✓ | 12.1 | 5 | 2 |
| 5 | Male | 39 | | \checkmark | 2.1 | 1 | 2 |
| 6 | Female | 48 | | \checkmark | 24 | 1 | 2 |
| 7 | Female | 35 | | \checkmark | 2.5 | 6 | 2 |
| 8 | Male | 34 | | ✓ | 5 | 1 | 5 |
| 9 | Male | 34 | | \checkmark | 1.7 | 6 | 6 |
| 10 | Male | 61 | 1 | | 11.2 | 7 | 7 |
| Values, mean (SD) | N/A ^c | 39 (11.4) | N/A | N/A | 11 (11.8) | 4.7 (2.6) | 3.5 (2) |

^aHigher score is associated with more frequent use of an electronic tablet and number of meals prepared per week (maximum score is 7).

^b√: Indicates the TBI severity for each participant.

^cN/A: not applicable.

226 different comments and observable behaviors were documented over the 2 sessions by participants with TBI (n=48, 21.2% comments for the SSS and n=178, 78.8% comments for the cognitive support module). Many of these comments highlighted potential improvements to COOK (eg, indicating that a burner is empty, listing the tools required for a recipe, and optimizing the functionality to add a recipe), including further improvements to the modifications previously identified in the first study (eg, feedback when sending an email and optimizing the on-screen keyboard). Technical problems also emerged during the UX evaluation, mainly with the SSS (eg, automatic return to the home page and inability to turn on the stove). Moreover, although some participants were able to instinctively use the functionalities of COOK, most participants required assistance and guidance to explore the functionalities during the scenarios (following the general presentation of the technology). Assistance was provided according to the person's level of ease with the technology, ranging from questions (eg,

"What could you use to explore the recipe book?") and cues (eg, *Explore the left part of the screen*) to physical guidance (eg, pointing to the functionalities). In fact, of the 10 participants, all participants required assistance at least once during the 2 sessions, and 4 (40%) of them were provided continuous assistance throughout the exploration of COOK. Each UX test lasted between 56 and 130 minutes (total duration ranged from 85 to 240 minutes for the 2 sessions), with an average duration of 84 minutes per session (or 151.2 minutes per participant, as 2/10, 20% of them explored all the functionalities in 1 session). The duration varied widely among participants depending on their need for assistance and guidance.

Questionnaires

Regarding usability, the SUS score for the SSS was 78.5 (range 62.5-95) out of 100, and the SUS score for the cognitive support system was 77.5 out of 100. Both scores rated COOK's usability between good and excellent (Figure 7).

Figure 7. System Usability Scale diagram for the self-monitoring security system and the cognitive support module. SSS: self-monitoring security system.



All the dimensions of UX were identified as positive, as shown in Figure 8. Global attraction and the hedonic quality of identity were the most positive dimensions for both systems. Moreover, the SSS system surpassed the cognitive support module for all dimensions of UX, which was coherent with the qualitative feedback that the participants provided during the evaluation sessions. The AttrakDiff also rated COOK as desired in terms of UX (Multimedia Appendix 2).

Figure 8. Mean values of the 4 scales of the AttrakDiff for the self-monitoring security system and the cognitive support module. ATT: global attraction; HQ-I: hedonic-identity quality; HQ-S: hedonic-stimulation quality; PQ: pragmatic quality; SSS: self-monitoring security system.



Interviews

Overall, the participants with TBI appreciated both the SSS and the cognitive support system of COOK, describing them as well-made, accessible, and easy to use. In fact, some participants explained that for them, the learning phase could be really short:

I think it's really obvious. So I don't think [learning to use COOK] would be problematic, long or arduous. [Participant 9]

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e28701

COOK was also described by participants as helpful for them and others (eg, people with memory deficits and older adults), including for reducing potentially at-risk situations (eg, forgetting the oven or leaving a burner on), helping them return to the task when distracted, and managing meals over the week. For example, a participant explained that she was not cooking without the presence of her spouse because of previously experienced unsafe situations (eg, forgetting something on the stove and burning her meal). Thus, using COOK could allow

her to resume meal preparation independently while reducing her spouse's burden. On the other hand, 20% (2/10) of participants expressed that they would use COOK to help them manage their schedule and find new meal ideas (as they tended to do the same meals over and over again). As a result, 90% (9/10) of the participants mentioned that they would like to have COOK support them at home with meal preparation.

Nonetheless, when discussing the potential use of COOK within their homes, the participants also identified obstacles. First, the participants highlighted that their cooking environment might not be adapted to use COOK. For example, some participants mentioned that they lacked the space to install and use a screen close to the stove:

I am too restricted where I am living, it's too narrow. [COOK] would be too cumbersome. [Participant 3]

The presence of pets was also identified as potentially problematic, as some participants perceived that the sensors could detect their pets in the cooking environment (thus biasing the detection of unsafe behaviors), and the pets could damage electronic equipment (eg, gnaw on the wires). Finally, a participant explained that because of her physical deficits (tremors and having to move around in a wheelchair), her cooking environment was not adapted for her to cook independently using COOK (eg, stove placed too high and lack of support when mixing or stirring her meal). On the other hand, factors related to the participants' abilities and deficits were also highlighted. Participants mentioned that having difficulties in using everyday technologies (eg, smartphones and computers) could interfere with using COOK and make the learning phase more difficult. For example, a participant explained this as follows:

it's going to take a long time for me to understand the system, how it works, because it's technology, it's something I have trouble with in general. [Participant 4]

Visual deficits (eg, difficulty recognizing tools and items in the kitchen, reduced visual acuity, and difficulty finding items in the left space of the screen) were also identified as problematic.

Finally, needs in terms of support for learning were discussed. Many participants highlighted the need for practice, accompanied or not, before being able to use COOK independently within their home environment. Technical support in person or via phone was also mentioned as a requirement following the learning process. Nonetheless, most participants perceived that they could use COOK by themselves with little or no support.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The purpose of this paper was to present the results of a UX evaluation completed at various moments throughout the development process of an ATC named COOK. Using similar methodologies, both studies showed that COOK had positive usability outcomes, with SUS scores ranging from good to excellent usability and great UX as assessed using the AttrakDiff

scale. Furthermore, both rounds of the study highlighted the potential modifications to COOK. The exploration of COOK in a laboratory setting with participants living with moderate to severe TBI and having various needs and living contexts (eg, living at home with or without a family member or living in a residence) also allowed the identification of factors to consider before using COOK in the community, including space availability in the kitchen, presence of pets, presence of visual deficits, and the person's level of comfort with everyday technology. Interestingly, although the intention to develop COOK was initially pragmatic (ie, allowing people with TBI to complete a meal preparation task independently and safely and potentially optimizing long-term independence in this task), hedonic qualities emerged as strong in both the studies, which is a positive aspect for future use and implementation of the technology. In fact, awareness of deficits is frequently reduced following a TBI [35,36], and as a result, these individuals often do not perceive the need for cognitive assistance. Consequently, developing a technology that is pleasant, usable, and well-designed, which could ultimately promote acceptability with end users (ie, people with TBI), strongly supported the qualities of COOK for its eventual use.

For this project, the UX evaluation was based on a triangulation of data collection, including standardized questionnaires and the use of scenarios with a *think-aloud* strategy. Although standardized questionnaires allowed comparisons between the versions of COOK and potential users [26,28], using scenarios combined with an explanatory interview emerged as of paramount importance in the process of designing the cooking ATC. First, contrary to the AttrakDiff and SUS, the use of scenarios and analyses of participants' observable behaviors when following them allowed us to target specific improvements to make to the technology. Second, although most participants with TBI perceived COOK as easy to use and learn (which is coherent with the SUS scores), using a more objective method such as analyzing observable behaviors and assistance provided throughout the scenarios brought to light the extent to which the participants would require a learning phase and support before being able to use COOK independently at home. UX tests were, in fact, conducted by a certified occupational therapist, thus bringing expertise to comprehensively assess a person's ability to use assistive technology to complete complex activities. Using this expertise, the evaluator was able to provide assistance according to the person's needs in an informative manner. This is also coherent with prior studies, which suggest that the use of standardized questionnaires or other subjective methods (eg, interviews) as a stand-alone method is not as effective for evaluating UX and its usability outcomes [37,38]. Moreover, very few standardized questionnaires have been developed and validated to evaluate UX of people living with cognitive impairments, such as people with TBI [39]. Thus, the use of both methods was a strength of this project.

Limitations

Using a triangulation of qualitative methods (eg, scenarios, interviews, and questionnaires), this project demonstrated that COOK has great usability and UX outcomes. Nonetheless, both studies also had some limitations. First, although 5 participants were involved in each UX testing in the first study, only 8

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

different participants were recruited. As a result, there may have been some learning effect over time, thus influencing the participants' appreciation of COOK. Nonetheless, new features were tested each time, which likely reduced the learning effect on our results. In addition, although there is a lack of consensus in the literature about the number of participants that should be involved in usability studies, some authors suggest that 5 participants are not enough to identify most usability issues (with identification of only 55% of potential problems in some samples) [40,41]. Nonetheless, we considered that this sample was appropriate for the first study, considering that it was early in the development process and that it included only experts. However, the sample size was larger in the second study as it included participants with cognitive impairments and various needs and living contexts.

By evaluating UX at various times throughout the development process of COOK, our research team was able to obtain a technology that is usable, pleasant, and well-designed while considering the various needs, living contexts, and characteristics of end users (ie, people with TBI). Although other technologies to support meal preparation have been previously developed and tested with people with TBI [11-13], few were formally evaluated in terms of usability and UX. Moreover, in accordance with user-centered design, our research team strongly considered the end users' needs by including usability evaluation with experts and end users in a laboratory context (study 1 and 2), real-world implementation of the technology [15], and qualitative interviews with stakeholders [42-45], thus contrasting from technologies developed and tested only in a laboratory setting. However, it should be noted that all included participants were adults aged <65 years. Other studies that include older adults are required to explore the UX with COOK in this population as they may experience other obstacles when using technologies [42].

Conclusions

This paper aimed to present how the UX of different participants when using an ATC for cooking, named COOK, was evaluated in a laboratory context at various times during its development process. Using results from both studies, COOK was improved to facilitate its use by people living with TBI within the community. Factors influencing this process, such as environmental and personal aspects, were identified. Considering the positive appreciation by participants for COOK, further steps should focus on assessing UX when COOK is used within a real-world environment (ie, homes of people with TBI living in the community) and improve its accessibility.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank the participants for their time and opinions. This study was financed by the Canadian Institute of Health Research (number 283009), the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, the Canadian Foundation for Innovation of the laboratoire de DOmotique et d'informatique Mobile de l'Université de Sherbrooke (research laboratory at the Université de Sherbrooke), the Fonds de la recherche du Québec–Santé (FRQS; number 33403), and the Consortium for the development of trauma research, including its partners: the Association des établissements de réadaptation en déficience physique du Québec (AERDPQ), the Association québécoise des établissements de santé et des services sociaux (AQESSS), the Ministère de la Santé et des Service sociaux (MSSS), the Réseau provincial de recherche en adaptation-réadaptation (REPAR) and the Société de l'assurance automobile du Québec (SAAQ). The funding sources were not involved in the study design and processes. NB is supported by a salary award from FRQS. MGR is supported by a doctoral bursary from FRQS (number 252232).

Authors' Contributions

SP, CB, FLM, CL, HP, SG, and NB were involved in the development, data collection, and data analysis for the first study. MGR, CB, RBL, AY, and NB were involved in the second study. SP and CL wrote the first draft of the first study. MGR wrote the first draft, including both studies. All authors reviewed and approved the present version of the paper.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Portfolio of the AttrakDiff for study 1–Version 2.2 and self-monitoring security system. [DOCX File, 24 KB - rehab_v9i1e28701_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Portfolio of the AttrakDiff for study 2–Cognitive support module and self-monitoring security system. [DOCX File , 49 KB - rehab_v9i1e28701_app2.docx]

References

 Wilson L, Stewart W, Dams-O'Connor K, Diaz-Arrastia R, Horton L, Menon DK, et al. The chronic and evolving neurological consequences of traumatic brain injury. Lancet Neurol 2017 Oct;16(10):813-825. [doi: <u>10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30279-X</u>] [Medline: <u>28920887</u>]

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e28701

- Godbout L, Grenier MC, Braun CM, Gagnon S. Cognitive structure of executive deficits in patients with frontal lesions performing activities of daily living. Brain Inj 2005 May;19(5):337-348. [doi: <u>10.1080/02699050400005093</u>] [Medline: <u>16094781</u>]
- 3. Dubuc E, Gagnon-Roy M, Couture M, Bier N, Giroux S, Bottari C. Perceived needs and difficulties in meal preparation of people living with traumatic brain injury in a chronic phase: supporting long-term services and interventions. Aust Occup Ther J 2019 Dec;66(6):720-730. [doi: 10.1111/1440-1630.12611] [Medline: 31591729]
- 4. Boucher N, Lanctôt C. Pour un milieu de vie stimulant et une participation sociale accrue des personnes ayant un traumatisme craniocérébral au Québec. RAPPORT SYNTHÈSE DE LA RECHERCHE. URL: <u>https://www.connexiontccqc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Pour-un-milieu-de-vie-stimulant-et-une-participation-sociale-accrue.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-12-10]
- 5. Azouvi P, Arnould A, Dromer E, Vallat-Azouvi C. Neuropsychology of traumatic brain injury: an expert overview. Rev Neurol (Paris) 2017;173(7-8):461-472. [doi: 10.1016/j.neurol.2017.07.006] [Medline: 28847474]
- 6. Kettlewell J, das Nair R, Radford K. A systematic review of personal smart technologies used to improve outcomes in adults with acquired brain injuries. Clin Rehabil 2019 Nov;33(11):1705-1712. [doi: 10.1177/0269215519865774] [Medline: 31353940]
- de Joode E, van Heugten C, Verhey F, van Boxtel M. Efficacy and usability of assistive technology for patients with cognitive deficits: a systematic review. Clin Rehabil 2010 Aug;24(8):701-714. [doi: 10.1177/0269215510367551] [Medline: 20543021]
- Chu Y, Brown P, Harniss M, Kautz H, Johnson K. Cognitive support technologies for people with TBI: current usage and challenges experienced. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2014 Jul;9(4):279-285. [doi: <u>10.3109/17483107.2013.823631</u>] [Medline: <u>23919409</u>]
- 9. Leopold A, Lourie A, Petras H, Elias E. The use of assistive technology for cognition to support the performance of daily activities for individuals with cognitive disabilities due to traumatic brain injury: the current state of the research. NeuroRehabilitation 2015;37(3):359-378. [doi: 10.3233/NRE-151267] [Medline: 26518531]
- De Joode EA, Van Heugten CM, Verhey FR, Van Boxtel MP. Effectiveness of an electronic cognitive aid in patients with acquired brain injury: a multicentre randomised parallel-group study. Neuropsychol Rehabil 2013;23(1):133-156. [doi: 10.1080/09602011.2012.726632] [Medline: 23003668]
- 11. Wang J, Mahajan H, Toto P, McKeon A, McCue M, Ding D. Comparison of two prompting methods in guiding people with traumatic brain injury in cooking tasks. In: Smart Homes and Health Telematics. Cham: Springer; 2015.
- 12. Mahajan H, Ding D. Cueing kitchen: a smart cooking assistant. In: Proceedings of the 2014 40th Annual Northeast Bioengineering Conference (NEBEC). 2014 Presented at: 2014 40th Annual Northeast Bioengineering Conference (NEBEC); Apr 25-27, 2014; Boston, MA, USA. [doi: 10.1109/nebec.2014.6972863]
- Wang J, Mahajan HP, Toto PE, McCue MP, Ding D. The feasibility of an automatic prompting system in assisting people with traumatic brain injury in cooking tasks. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2019 Nov;14(8):817-825. [doi: 10.1080/17483107.2018.1499144] [Medline: 30318931]
- 14. Frank Lopresti E, Mihailidis A, Kirsch N. Assistive technology for cognitive rehabilitation: state of the art. Neuropsychol Rehab 2004 Mar;14(1-2):5-39. [doi: 10.1080/09602010343000101]
- Pinard S, Bottari C, Laliberté C, Pigot H, Olivares M, Couture M, et al. Design and usability evaluation of COOK, an assistive technology for meal preparation for persons with severe TBI. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2021 Oct;16(7):687-701. [doi: 10.1080/17483107.2019.1696898] [Medline: 31846395]
- De Vito Dabbs A, Myers B, Mc Curry KR, Dunbar-Jacob J, Hawkins R, Begey A, et al. User-centered design and interactive health technologies for patients. Comput Inform Nurs 2009;27(3):175-183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCN.0b013e31819f7c7c] [Medline: 19411947]
- 17. Giroux S, Bier N, Pigot H, Bouchard B, Bouzouane A, Levasseur M. Cognitive assistance to meal preparation: design, implementation, and assessment in a living lab. In: Proceedings of the AAAI Spring Symposia. 2015 Presented at: AAAI Spring Symposia; Mar 23–25, 2015; CA, USA.
- Carneiro L, Rebelo F, Filgueiras E, Noriega P. Usability and user experience of technical aids for people with disabilities? A preliminary study with a wheelchair. Procedia Manufacturing 2015;3:6068-6074. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.promfg.2015.07.736</u>]
- Barnum C, Dayton D, Gillis K, O'Connor J. Making connections-teaming up to connect users, developers, and usability experts. In: IPCC 2005 Proceedings International Professional Communication Conference. 2005 Presented at: IPCC 2005 Proceedings International Professional Communication Conference; Jul 10-13, 2005; Limerick, Ireland. [doi: 10.1109/ipcc.2005.1494166]
- 20. Velmourougan S, Dhavachelvan P, Baskaran R, Ravikumar B. Software development Life cycle model to build software applications with usability. In: Proceedings of the 2014 International Conference on Advances in Computing, Communications and Informatics (ICACCI). 2014 Presented at: 2014 International Conference on Advances in Computing, Communications and Informatics (ICACCI); Sep 24-27, 2014; Delhi, India. [doi: <u>10.1109/icacci.2014.6968610</u>]
- 21. Lallemand C, Gronier G, Koenig V. User experience: a concept without consensus? Exploring practitioners' perspectives through an international survey. Comput Human Behav 2015 Feb;43:35-48. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2014.10.048</u>]
- 22. Hassenzahl M, Tractinsky N. User experience a research agenda. Behav Inf Technol 2006 Mar;25(2):91-97. [doi: 10.1080/01449290500330331]

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e28701
```

- 23. Ergonomics of human-system interaction Part 11: Usability: Definitions and concepts (ISO 9241-11:2018). NSAI Standard. URL: <u>https://infostore.saiglobal.com/preview/is/en/2018/i.s.eniso9241-11-2018.pdf?sku=1980667</u> [accessed 2021-12-10]
- 24. Alroobaea R, Mayhew P. How many participants are really enough for usability studies? In: Proceedings of the 2014 Science and Information Conference. 2014 Presented at: 2014 Science and Information Conference; Aug 27-29, 2014; London, UK. [doi: 10.1109/sai.2014.6918171]
- 25. Brooke J. SUS: A "quickdirty" usability scale. In: Usability Evaluation In Industry. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press; 1996.
- 26. Bangor A, Kortum PT, Miller JT. An empirical evaluation of the system usability scale. Int J Human Comput Interac 2008 Jul 30;24(6):574-594. [doi: 10.1080/10447310802205776]
- 27. Peres SC, Pham T, Phillips R. Validation of the System Usability Scale (SUS). Proc Human Factors Ergonomics Soc Annual Meeting 2013 Sep 30;57(1):192-196. [doi: 10.1177/1541931213571043]
- Lallemand C, Koenig V, Gronier G, Martin R. Création et validation d'une version française du questionnaire AttrakDiff pour l'évaluation de l'expérience utilisateur des systèmes interactifs. Eur Rev Applied Psychol 2015 Sep;65(5):239-252. [doi: 10.1016/j.erap.2015.08.002]
- 29. Lallemand C, Koenig V. Lab testing beyond usability: challenges and recommendations for assessing user experiences. J Usab Stud 2017 May;12(3):133-154. [doi: 10.5555/3190862.3190866]
- 30. Vermersch P. Questionner l'action: l'entretien d'explicitation. Psychologie française 1990;35(3):227-235 [FREE Full text]
- 31. Bangor A, Kortum P, Miller J. Determining what individual SUS scores mean: adding an adjective rating scale. J Usability Stud 2009 May;4(3):114-123. [doi: 10.5555/2835587.2835589]
- 32. Hassenzahl M, Burmester M, Koller F. AttrakDiff: Ein Fragebogen zur Messung wahrgenommener hedonischer und pragmatischer Qualität. In: Mensch & Computer. Germany: Vieweg+Teubner Verlag; 2003.
- 33. Mahatody T, Sagar M, Kolski C. State of the art on the cognitive walkthrough method, its variants and evolutions. Int J Human Comput Interact 2010 Jul 30;26(8):741-785. [doi: 10.1080/10447311003781409]
- 34. Miles M, Huberman A, Saldana J. Qualitative Data Analysis: A Method Sourcebook. Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE Publications; 2014.
- Kelley E, Sullivan C, Loughlin J, Hutson L, Dahdah M, Long M, et al. Self-awareness and neurobehavioral outcomes, 5 years or more after moderate to severe brain injury. J Head Trauma Rehabil 2014;29(2):147-152. [doi: 10.1097/HTR.0b013e31826db6b9] [Medline: 23249770]
- Chesnel C, Jourdan C, Bayen E, Ghout I, Darnoux E, Azerad S, et al. Self-awareness four years after severe traumatic brain injury: discordance between the patient's and relative's complaints. Results from the PariS-TBI study. Clin Rehabil 2018 May;32(5):692-704. [doi: 10.1177/0269215517734294] [Medline: 28982252]
- Zapata BC, Fernández-Alemán JL, Idri A, Toval A. Empirical studies on usability of mHealth apps: a systematic literature review. J Med Syst 2015 Feb;39(2):1. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10916-014-0182-2</u>] [Medline: <u>25600193</u>]
- 38. Maramba I, Chatterjee A, Newman C. Methods of usability testing in the development of eHealth applications: a scoping review. Int J Med Inform 2019 Jun;126:95-104. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2019.03.018] [Medline: 31029270]
- 39. Yaddaden A, Bier N, Andrée-Anne P, Lussier M, Aboujaoudé A, Gagnon-Roy M. Usability questionnaires for telemonitoring and assistive technology for cognition for older adults: a rapid review. In: Proceedings of the 5th EAI International Conference on Smart Objects and Technologies for Social Good. 2019 Presented at: Proceedings of the 5th EAI International Conference on Smart Objects and Technologies for Social Good; Sep 25 - 27, 2019; Valencia Spain. [doi: 10.1145/3342428.3342653]
- 40. Faulkner L. Beyond the five-user assumption: benefits of increased sample sizes in usability testing. Behav Res Methods Instrum Comput 2003 Aug;35(3):379-383. [doi: 10.3758/bf03195514] [Medline: 14587545]
- 41. Hwang W, Salvendy G. Number of people required for usability evaluation. Commun ACM 2010 May;53(5):130-133. [doi: 10.1145/1735223.1735255]
- 42. Yaddaden A, Couture M, Gagnon-Roy M, Belchior P, Lussier M, Bottari C, et al. Using a cognitive orthosis to support older adults during meal preparation: clinicians' perspective on COOK technology. J Rehabil Assist Technol Eng 2020 May 13;7:2055668320909074 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055668320909074] [Medline: 32435504]
- 43. Gagnon-Roy M, Bier N, Couture M, Giroux S, Pigot H, Zarshenas S, et al. Facilitators and obstacles to the use of a cognitive orthosis for meal preparation within the homes of adults with a moderate to severe traumatic brain injury: informal caregivers and health-care professionals' perspectives. Assist Technol 2021 Jan 04:1-8. [doi: 10.1080/10400435.2020.1809552] [Medline: 32795215]
- 44. Zarshenas S, Couture M, Bier N, Giroux S, Pigot H, Dawson D, Canadian Traumatic Brain Injury Research Consortium. Potential advantages, barriers, and facilitators of implementing a cognitive orthosis for cooking for individuals with traumatic brain injury: the healthcare providers' perspective. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2020 Nov 05:1-10. [doi: 10.1080/17483107.2020.1833093] [Medline: 33151098]
- 45. Zarshenas S, Gagnon-Roy M, Couture M, Bier N, Giroux S, Nalder E, Canadian Traumatic Brain Injury Research Consortium. Potential of using an assistive technology to address meal preparation difficulties following acquired brain injury: clients' and caregivers' perspectives. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2021 Feb 03:1-9. [doi: <u>10.1080/17483107.2020.1867244</u>] [Medline: <u>33533286</u>]

Abbreviations

ATC: assistive technology for cognition COOK: Cognitive Orthosis for Cooking FRQS: Fonds de la recherche du Québec–Santé HCI: human-computer interaction SSS: self-monitoring security system SUS: System Usability Scale TBI: traumatic brain injury UX: user experience

Edited by A Mavragani; submitted 11.03.21; peer-reviewed by M Nitsch, J Marian; comments to author 10.05.21; revised version received 05.07.21; accepted 26.11.21; published 26.01.22.

Please cite as:

PMID:35080496

Gagnon-Roy M, Pinard S, Bottari C, Le Morellec F, Laliberté C, Ben Lagha R, Yaddaden A, Pigot H, Giroux S, Bier N Smart Assistive Technology for Cooking for People With Cognitive Impairments Following a Traumatic Brain Injury: User Experience Study JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e28701 URL: <u>https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e28701</u> doi:10.2196/28701

©Mireille Gagnon-Roy, Stéphanie Pinard, Carolina Bottari, Fanny Le Morellec, Catherine Laliberté, Rym Ben Lagha, Amel Yaddaden, Hélène Pigot, Sylvain Giroux, Nathalie Bier. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 26.01.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

The Association Between Actigraphy-Derived Behavioral Clusters and Self-Reported Fatigue in Persons With Multiple Sclerosis: Cross-sectional Study

Philipp Gulde^{1,2}, PhD; Peter Rieckmann¹, MD

¹Center for Clinical Neuroplasticity, Medical Park Loipl, Medical Park Societas Europaea, Bischofswiesen, Germany ²Human Movement Science, Department of Sport and Health Sciences, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Corresponding Author: Philipp Gulde, PhD Center for Clinical Neuroplasticity Medical Park Loipl Medical Park Societas Europaea Thanngasse 15 Bischofswiesen, 83483 Germany Phone: 49 865289522 Fax: 49 865289571 Email: p.gulde@medicalpark.de

Abstract

Background: Persons with multiple sclerosis frequently report increased levels of fatigue and fatigability. However, behavioral surrogates that are strongly associated with self-reports are lacking, which limits research and treatment.

Objective: The aim of this study was to derive distinct behavioral syndromes that are reflected by self-reports concerning fatigue and fatigability.

Methods: We collected actigraphic data of 30 persons with multiple sclerosis over a period of 1 week during an inpatient stay at a neurorehabilitation facility. Further, participants completed the German fatigue severity scale. A principal component analysis of actigraphic parameters was performed to extract the latent component levels of behaviors that reflect fatigue (quantity of activity) and fatigability (fragmentation of activity). The resulting components were used in a cluster analysis.

Results: Analyses suggested 3 clusters, one with high activity (d=0.65-1.57) and low clinical disability levels (d=0.91-1.39), one with high levels of sedentary behavior (d=1.06-1.58), and one with strong activity fragmentation (d=1.39-1.94). The cluster with high levels of sedentary behavior further revealed strong differences from the other clusters concerning participants' reported levels of fatigue (d=0.99-1.28).

Conclusions: Cluster analysis data proved to be feasible to meaningfully differentiate between different behavioral syndromes. Self-reports reflected the different behavioral syndromes strongly. Testing of additional domains (eg, volition or processing speed) and assessments during everyday life seem warranted to better understand the origins of reported fatigue symptomatology.

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e31164) doi:10.2196/31164

KEYWORDS

multiple sclerosis; actigraphy; cluster analysis; fatigue; physical activity; neurology; neurorehabilitation; rehabilitation; digital health; health technology; digital tools

Introduction

Persons with multiple sclerosis (MS) frequently show low levels of physical activity and increased levels of sedentary behavior [1,2] and report high levels of fatigue and fatigability [3-6]. Although fatigue is often used as an umbrella term for being

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31164
```

RenderX

exhausted in a resting state (fatigue) and easily entering a state of exhaustion (fatigability), fatigue and fatigability represent 2 different dimensions [7]. This is important since they therefore need to be assessed as 2 distinct dimensions to evaluate the progression of the disease or the effects of interventions (eg, medication or physical therapy). It has been shown that reported levels of fatigue are associated with reduced quality of life [4].
However, studies have revealed very little to no meaningful association between objectively assessed function (capacity) or behavior and self-reported dimensions like quality of life, fatigue, or depression [4,8]. Such a missing association could indicate either insufficient validity of self-reports or objective assessments or, alternatively, low sensitivity of self-reports or current approaches to objectively assess such psychological constructs. Especially when considering fatigue and fatigability (since they are commonly assessed or recognized by their consequence, which is a lack of activity), actigraphy could be a feasible measure to continuously gather objective data [9] and circumvent "assessing a snapshot of the person's feelings and current interpretation of subjective experience" [4]. When anticipating a certain intraindividual and interindividual variance of self-reports, as there can be a plethora of biases [10-12], cluster analyses of actigraphic data would have the potential to identify behavioral patterns and validate self-reports by treating a cluster of persons as one type of person. Such an approach could allow us to extract general rules and acknowledge that humans are not very skilled in estimating global aspects of their life [11] or their current sensorimotor performance capacity [13] (ie, that humans tend to show strong interpersonal and intrapersonal variance in self-reports). However, such an exploratory cluster analysis could also result in a single cluster, for instance, if the assessed behavior is a single continuum with only one attractor. The added value of this approach would be the possibility of objectively classifying persons and further avoiding restrictions of self-reports (independent of the number of clusters) and further allowing sensitive longitudinal data collection, for instance, to test responsiveness to medication or to allow precision therapies.

Actigraphy is already a frequently used method to assess behavior in MS [14-17]. In actigraphic studies, persons with MS commonly show less activity and higher levels of sedentary behavior than healthy controls [14,16]. Further, persons with MS who have higher grades of disability, especially more strongly impaired ambulatory function, show a shift in activity intensity (eg, less moderate but more light activity) [15,16]. This approach generally reveals good psychometric properties when assessing the behavior of persons with MS [17].

In this study, we collected actigraphic and self-reported data of persons with MS to examine if behavioral patterns can help us better understand self-reports. We hypothesized that cluster analyses would reveal behavioral clusters that also show psychometric and clinical differences.

Methods

Participants

A convenience sample of 30 persons with MS was used for this study (Table 1). All participants were recruited during an inpatient rehabilitation stay at a specialist clinic for neurology, the Center for Clinical Neuroplasticity, Medical Park Loipl, in Germany. The following exclusion criteria were used: the inability to walk, strong depressive symptomatology (ie, Beck Depression Inventory-II scores of ≥ 20), other diagnosed psychiatric disorders, an age of <18 years, and the inability to give written informed consent. Regarding the clinical severity of MS, the sample showed a mean Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) score of 3.5 and concerning the sensorimotor performance, a mean Watzmann Severity Scale (WSS) score of 3.5. The EDSS score was determined by trained neurologists from the specialist clinic and the WSS was assessed on first contact with the participants. Overall, the neurological status of the patients' MS was mild to moderate. Of the 30 participants, 22 (73%) presented with relapsing-remitting MS and 8 (27%) presented with a progressive form of MS [18]. This was based on each participant's medical records and an interview (by a trained neurologist on rehabilitation entry) on the course of MS for confirmation. The mean disease duration, taken as the time since the patient's first diagnosis, was between 0 and 24 years, with a mean of 7.5 years (Table 1). Demographic and clinical characteristics were not only taken into account for comparability, but also considered due to mixed reports on their association with self-reported fatigue [19,20].

| Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of the participants (N= | 30). |
|---|------|
|---|------|

| Characteristic | Value |
|--|-----------------------|
| Age in years, mean (SD), range | 43.7 (11.5), 21-65 |
| Sex, n (%) | |
| Female | 19 (63) |
| Male | 11 (37) |
| BMI in kg/m ² , mean (SD), range | 26.2 (4.7), 18.2-35.1 |
| Expanded Disability Status Scale score, mean (SD), range | 3.5 (1.4), 1.0-6.5 |
| Watzmann Severity Scale score, mean (SD), range | 3.5 (1.1), 1.7-5.8 |
| Type of multiple sclerosis, n (%) | |
| Relapsing-remitting | 22 (73) |
| Progressive | 8 (27) |
| Time since first diagnosis (DISDUR) in years, mean (SD), range | 7.5 (6.6), 0-24 |

Ethical approval was granted by the ethics committee of the medical faculty of the Technical University of Munich on July 14, 2020 (approval identifier: 478/19 S-SR). All participants provided written informed consent.

Study Parameters

Ethics Approval

Each participant was asked to wear a wrist-worn actigraph (ActiGraph wGT3X-BT, ActiGraph LLC; the 100 Hz measurement frequency was downsampled to 1 Hz, ie, 1-second epochs) on the dominant or better functioning side (concerning the upper limb) of their body for 1 full week. The triaxial acceleration signal was collected and stored as compressed raw data on the device. After that period, participants completed the German fatigue severity scale (FATIGUE parameter) [21] to assess their experienced level of fatigue. The parameters that were extracted from the actigraphic data were the average number of daily steps (STEPS), the body mass-adjusted metabolic equivalent (MET), the estimated ratio of sedentary behavior (SEDENTARY), and the ratio of the number of activity bouts lasting ≥ 5 minutes and ≥ 10 minutes (RATIO) [22]. STEPS aimed to assess kinematic physical activity, MET assessed dynamometric physical activity, SEDENTARY was a coarse estimate of fatigue, and RATIO assessed fatigability. The metabolic equivalent and time in sedentary behavior were estimated by the actigraph (using ActiLife software, version 6.13.4; ActiGraph LLC); the ActiLife software was based on the Freedson adult algorithm [23]. The threshold used for sedentary behavior was 99 activity counts per minute.

A 2-component confirmatory principal component analysis with a varimax rotation for the actigraphic data was calculated (1 component as fatigue and 1 as fatigability). Thresholds for the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin test of sample adequacy were set to ≥ 0.50 , and minimum communalities were set to ≥ 0.50 . Based on the component scores, a cluster analysis using k-means clustering (Hartigan-Wong) was performed. The number of clusters was determined from a scree plot. Cluster differences in terms of

Table 2. Actigraphic and psychometric outcomes among participants.

behavioral, psychometric, and demographic or clinical properties were tested by analyses of variance; for sex and type of MS, chi-square tests were used. Effect-sizes were derived post hoc using the Cohen *d*. α was set to .05. All statistical tests were run using R (version 1.4.1106; R Foundation for Statistical Computing).

Results

The actigraphic and psychometric outcomes for the sample are reported in Table 2. There were no missing data; the actigraphs were tolerated during nighttime and were waterproof, so participants had 7 complete 24-hour data sets. The overall measure of sample adequacy was middling, with 0.75, and none of the 4 parameters scored below 0.50 (Table 2). The principal component analyses had a proportion of explained variance of 0.88 and communalities of 0.80 for MET, 0.86 for STEPS, 0.88 for SEDENTARY, and 0.98 for RATIO. The component loadings are displayed in Figure 1. Component 1 (Figure 1, x-axis) correlated with FATIGUE (r=-0.54; P=.002), but not component 2 (Figure 1, y-axis; r=-0.13; P=.49).

The cluster analysis resulted in 3 clusters; cluster 1 had 11 persons, cluster 2 had 13 persons, and cluster 3 had 6 persons. Table 3 reports the statistical differences between the resulting clusters. Cluster 1 had higher STEPS and MET and lower RATIO, SEDENTARY, EDSS, and WSS than the other 2 clusters. Cluster 2 showed the highest SEDENTARY and FATIGUE values and cluster 3 had the highest RATIO values. Clusters 2 and 3 were similar in terms of STEPS, MET, EDSS, and WSS. All clusters were comparable concerning the following variables: age, sex distribution, BMI, DISDUR (time since diagnosis), and type of MS (Table 3). As with component 1 (Fatigue component), MET, STEPS, and SEDENTARY were significantly associated with FATIGUE, while RATIO showed no significant correlation with FATIGUE (Table 4). Figure 2 illustrates the individual scores of persons in the different clusters for key parameters like the WSS score.

| Parameter | Mean (SD) | Range | Measure of sample adequacy |
|------------------------|---------------|-------------|----------------------------|
| STEPS ^a | 13,400 (3800) | 8100-22,400 | 0.71 |
| MET ^b | 1.43 (0.11) | 1.26-1.76 | 0.85 |
| RATIO ^c | 6.0 (3.4) | 2.4-15 | 0.74 |
| SEDENTARY ^d | 0.74 (0.04) | 0.67-0.82 | 0.71 |
| FATIGUE ^e | 41.7 (14.6) | 13-69 | 0.74 |

^aSTEPS: number of steps per day.

^bMET: body mass-adjusted metabolic equivalent.

^cRATIO: ratio of the number of activity bouts lasting ≥ 5 minutes and ≥ 10 minutes.

^dSEDENTARY: estimated ratio of sedentary behavior.

^eFATIGUE: German fatigue severity scale score.

Figure 1. Component loadings of the 4 different actigraphic parameters. MET: body mass-adjusted metabolic equivalent. SEDENTARY: estimated ratio of sedentary behavior. STEPS: number of steps per day. RATIO: ratio of the number of activity bouts lasting \geq 5 minutes and \geq 10 minutes.





| Parameter | Cluster 1 | Cluster 2 | Cluster 3 | P value ^a | Post hoc comparisons |
|--|---------------------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|----------------------|---|
| STEPS ^b , mean (SD), range | 16,700 (3000), 12,900-22,400 | 10,500 (1900), 8100- 14,000 | 11,400 (1400), 9300- 13,100 | <.001 | Cluster 1-2: <i>P</i> <.001; <i>d</i> =0.99 Cluster 1 and 3: <i>P</i> <.001; <i>d</i> =0.65 |
| MET ^c , mean (SD), range | 1.53 (0.09), 1.44-1.76 | 1.34 (0.05), 1.26-1.41 | 1.40 (0.07), 1.28-1.47 | <.001 | Cluster 1-2: <i>P</i> <.001; <i>d</i> =1.57 Cluster 1-3: <i>P</i> =.007; <i>d</i> =1.22 |
| RATIO ^d , mean (SD), range | 3.4 (0.9), 2.4-5.8 | 6.6 (2.3), 4.3-9.6 | 10.9 (2.4), 7.7-15.0 | <.001 | Cluster 1-2: <i>P</i> <.001; <i>d</i> =–1.39 Cluster 1 and 3: <i>P</i> <.001; <i>d</i> =–1.94 Cluster 2-3: <i>P</i> <.001; <i>d</i> =–1.41 |
| SEDENTARY ^e , mean (SD), range | 0.71 (0.02), 0.67-0.74 | 0.78 (0.02), 0.72-0.82 | 0.74 (0.03), 0.70077 | <.001 | Cluster 1-2: <i>P</i> <.001; <i>d</i> =–1.58 Cluster 1-3: <i>P</i> =.05; <i>d</i> =–1.06 Cluster 2-3: <i>P</i> =.03; <i>d</i> =1.13 |
| FATIGUE ^f , mean (SD), range | 37.3 (14.4), 13-59 | 51.5 (10.2), 32-69 | 33.3 (13.6), 15-49 | .01 | Cluster 1-2: <i>P</i> =.01; <i>d</i> =-0.99 Cluster 2-3: <i>P</i> =.02; <i>d</i> =1.28 |
| Age in years, mean (SD), range | 41.3 (11.2), 25-58 | 42.5 (11.9), 21-55 | 51.3 (9.8), 36-65 | .19 | N/A ⁱ |
| Sex, n (%) | | | | | |
| Female | 8 (77) | 8 (64) | 2 (33) | .19 | N/A |
| Male | 3 (23) | 5 (36) | 4 (67) | .19 | N/A |
| BMI in kg/m ² , mean (SD), range | 25.8 (4.0), 20.9-32.2 | 27.0 (4.8), 18.2-33.8 | 25.6 (6.4), 18.7-35.1 | .80 | N/A |
| Expanded Disability Status Scale score, mean (SD), range | 2.7 (1.1), 1.0-5.0 | 3.9 (1.4), 2.0-6.5 | 4.7 (1.1), 3.5-6.5 | .005 | Cluster 1-2: <i>P</i> =.03; <i>d</i> =–0.91 Cluster 1-3: <i>P</i> =.005; <i>d</i> =–1.39 |
| Watzmann Severity Scale score, mean (SD), range | 2.8 (0.9), 1.7-4.9 | 4.0 (1.0), 2.3-5.8 | 3.9 (0.9), 2.8-5.5 | .008 | Cluster 1-2: <i>P</i> =.005; <i>d</i> =-1.10 Cluster 1-3: <i>P</i> =.04; <i>d</i> =-1.08 |
| DISDUR ^g in years, mean (SD), range | 6.2 (6.2), 0-16 | 7.2 (7.5), 0-24 | 11.0 (5.2), 3-17 | .33 | N/A |
| TYPE ^h , n (%) | | | | | |
| Relapsing-remitting | 8 (77) | 9 (73) | 4 (67) | .89 | N/A |
| Progressive | 3 (23) | 4 (27) | 2 (33) | .89 | N/A |

Table 3. Cluster comparisons including means, SDs, and ranges.

^aThe *P* values for all parameters, except sex and TYPE, were derived using ANOVA. The *P* values for sex and TYPE were derived using the chi-square test.

^bSTEPS: number of steps per day.

^cMET: body mass-adjusted metabolic equivalent.

^dRATIO: ratio of the number of activity bouts lasting ≥ 5 minutes and ≥ 10 minutes.

^eSEDENTARY: estimated ratio of sedentary behavior.

^fFATIGUE: German fatigue severity scale score.

^gDISDUR: time since initial diagnosis.

^hTYPE: type of multiple sclerosis.

ⁱN/A: not applicable.



Table 4. The correlation between FATIGUE and demographic, clinical, and actigraphic parameters.

| Variable | Age | BMI | EDSS ^b | WSS ^c | DISDUR ^d | MET ^e | STEPS ^f | SEDENTARY ^g | RATIO ^h |
|-----------------------------|-------|------|-------------------|------------------|---------------------|------------------|--------------------|------------------------|--------------------|
| FATIGUE ^a | | | | | | | | | |
| r | -0.03 | 0.22 | 0.23 | 0.04 | -0.0003592 | -0.43 | -0.41 | 0.43 | 0.04 |
| P value | .87 | .25 | .22 | .83 | .99 | .02 | .03 | .02 | .98 |

^aFATIGUE: German fatigue severity scale score.

^bEDSS: Expanded Disability Status Scale score.

^cWSS: Watzmann Severity Scale score.

^dDISDUR: time since initial diagnosis.

^eMET: body mass-adjusted metabolic equivalent.

^fSTEPS: number of steps per day.

^gSEDENTARY: estimated ratio of sedentary behavior.

^hRATIO: ratio between short and longer activity bouts.





Discussion

Principal Findings

In this study, we assessed data on physical activity and reported levels of fatigue and depression from 30 persons with MS during an inpatient stay at a rehabilitation facility. Although not being in the home environment, behavioral characteristics could be similar [24]. Statistical modelling confirmed our initial differentiation of parameters surrogating fatigue (SEDENTARY) and fatigability (RATIO) and suggested 3 clusters, which revealed very strong differences in actigraphic parameters, reported levels of fatigue, and the severity of MS (clinical and sensorimotor). Cluster 1 was the most active group with more daily steps (STEPS), higher body mass-adjusted metabolic equivalents (MET), smaller ratios between short and longer bouts (RATIO), sedentary activity less behavior (SEDENTARY), and lower EDSS and WSS scores than the

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31164
```

XSL•FO RenderX



other 2 clusters. Cluster 2 showed the highest ratios of sedentary behavior (SEDENTARY) and reported the highest levels of fatigue (FATIGUE). Cluster 3 had the highest ratios between short and longer activity bouts (RATIO). Overall, there was 1 active cluster with the lowest disability (cluster 1), 1 cluster with the highest signs of and reported fatigue (cluster 2), and 1 cluster with the highest fatigability (cluster 3). Clusters 2 and 3 had comparable MET and STEPS as well as clinical and sensorimotor disease severity, and clusters 1 and 3 had comparable levels of reported fatigue. This is in line with other studies that showed reported fatigue to be quite independent of performance [25] since our fatigue cluster revealed intermediate ratios of short and longer activity bouts (RATIO). The cluster with higher fatigability, on the contrary, reported average levels of fatigue (FATIGUE). Interestingly, the differentiation between the various behavioral clusters had strong effect-sizes, while correlations were quite weak, which supports our initial thoughts

that led to the clustering approach (ie, low reliability of persons assessing their own condition, which can be circumvented by objective sensor-supported assessments). This would also allow for the monitoring of the psychological and behavioral course of persons with MS (or, for instance, frail elderly individuals, stroke survivors, etc.) in a reliable and valid way. Such information, of course, needs to be understood as a complementary, not alternative, data source. However, it is important to note that all clusters had individuals reporting very high levels of fatigue, which is important concerning the validity of the used questionnaire, as this has been questioned for a set of fatigue questionnaires in general [26]. Interestingly, there were no significant differences between the clusters concerning most of the demographic and clinical characteristics such as TYPE (type of MS), DISDUR (time since initial diagnosis), BMI, age, or sex; however, there was a significant difference between the clinical and sensorimotor severity of the condition. This suggests that the assessed dimensions were not strongly influenced by conceivable confounders like BMI, age, or biological sex and that fatigue and fatigability could be seen as valid psychological constructs. Further, none of the nonactigraphic parameters were associated with the reported levels of fatigue. As shown in other publications on the topic [19,20], the outcomes concerning the associations of self-reported fatigue and demographic and clinical characteristics can strongly depend on the statistical approach used, underscoring the need to employ objective assessments

like, in our case, actigraphy to overcome the limited reliability of self-reports [4,13].

Limitations

It is crucial to note that the interpretation of our findings is based on the assumption that fatigability leads to more fragmented activity, but not necessarily less volume of activity. Concerning the potentially limited validity of the questionnaire used, the following factor may have been involved: a bias towards extremes within the questionnaire (none of the single items were normally distributed, but the sum score of the questionnaire was) due to humans being quite inaccurate in estimating their own conditions and differentiating between state and trait [11]. Further, low item difficulties can prevent the identification of persons with extremely high levels of fatigue [27].

Conclusions

To conclude, clustering of behavioral data proved to be a strong approach in examining self-reports. Our analyses, suggesting 3 different clusters, deliver behavioral correlates of the fatigue and fatigability constructs and warrant future studies on actigraphy in the home environment of persons with MS. A further examination of the feeling of fatigue by objective psychometric means (eg, tests of problem-solving, motivational priming, processing speed measured by reaction time) would be recommended to better understand if the umbrella term of fatigue dominantly arises from bodily, cognitive, or emotional domains [28].

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Kalron A, Menascu S, Frid L, Aloni R, Achiron A. Physical activity in mild multiple sclerosis: contribution of perceived fatigue, energy cost, and speed of walking. Disabil Rehabil 2020 May;42(9):1240-1246. [doi: 10.1080/09638288.2018.1519603] [Medline: 30620227]
- 2. Motl RW, Bollaert R. Sedentary behavior in persons with multiple sclerosis: is the time ripe for targeting a new health behavior? Kinesiol Review 2019 Feb;8(1):63-69. [doi: 10.1123/kr.2018-0056]
- Brown R, Valpiani E, Tennant C, Dunn S, Sharrock M, Hodgkinson S, et al. Longitudinal assessment of anxiety, depression, and fatigue in people with multiple sclerosis. Psychol Psychother 2009 Mar;82(Pt 1):41-56. [doi: 10.1348/147608308X345614] [Medline: 18727845]
- 4. Gulde P, Hermsdörfer J, Rieckmann P. Sensorimotor function does not predict quality of life in persons with multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler Relat Disord 2021 Jul;52:102986. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.msard.2021.102986</u>] [Medline: <u>33979773</u>]
- Kister I, Bacon T, Chamot E, Salter A, Cutter G, Kalina J, et al. Natural history of multiple sclerosis symptoms. Int J MS Care 2013;15(3):146-158 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7224/1537-2073.2012-053] [Medline: 24453777]
- 6. Stewart T, Tran Z. Factors related to fatigue in multiple sclerosis. Int J MS Care 2007;9(2):9-34. [doi: 10.7224/1537-2073-9.2.29]
- Loy B, Taylor R, Fling B, Horak FB. Relationship between perceived fatigue and performance fatigability in people with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Psychosom Res 2017 Sep;100:1-7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2017.06.017] [Medline: 28789787]
- 8. Kos D, Nagels G, D'Hooghe MB, Duquet W, Ilsbroukx S, Delbeke S, et al. Measuring activity patterns using actigraphy in multiple sclerosis. Chronobiol Int 2007;24(2):345-356. [doi: <u>10.1080/07420520701282364</u>] [Medline: <u>17453852</u>]
- Gulde P, Hermsdörfer J, Rieckmann P. Inpatient rehabilitation: prediction of changes in sensorimotor performance in multiple sclerosis: a pilot study. J Clin Med 2021 May 18;10(10):2177 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jcm10102177] [Medline: <u>34069939</u>]
- 10. Choi BCK, Pak AWP. A catalog of biases in questionnaires. Prev Chronic Dis 2005 Jan;2(1):A13 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15670466]

- Schwarz N, Strack F, Kommer D, Wagner D. Soccer, rooms, and the quality of your life: mood effects on judgments of satisfaction with life in general and with specific domains. Eur J Soc Psychol 1987 Jan;17(1):69-79. [doi: 10.1002/ejsp.2420170107]
- 12. Villanueva EV. The validity of self-reported weight in US adults: a population based cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health 2001;1:11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-1-11] [Medline: 11716792]
- Gulde P, Vojta H, Hermsdörfer J, Rieckmann P. State and trait of finger tapping performance in multiple sclerosis. Sci Rep 2021 Aug 24;11(1):17095 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-96485-3] [Medline: 34429445]
- 14. Blikman LJ, van Meeteren J, Horemans HL, Kortenhorst IC, Beckerman H, Stam HJ, et al. Is physical behavior affected in fatigued persons with multiple sclerosis? Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2015 Jan;96(1):24-29. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.apmr.2014.08.023</u>] [Medline: <u>25239283</u>]
- 15. Ezeugwu V, Klaren RE, Hubbard EA, Manns PT, Motl RW. Mobility disability and the pattern of accelerometer-derived sedentary and physical activity behaviors in people with multiple sclerosis. Prev Med Rep 2015;2:241-246 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2015.03.007] [Medline: 26844077]
- Fjeldstad C, Fjeldstad A, Pardo G. Use of accelerometers to measure real-life physical activity in ambulatory individuals with multiple sclerosis: a pilot study. Int J MS Care 2015;17(5):215-220 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7224/1537-2073.2014-037] [Medline: 26472942]
- Sasaki JE, Sandroff B, Bamman M, Motl RW. Motion sensors in multiple sclerosis: narrative review and update of applications. Expert Rev Med Devices 2017 Nov;14(11):891-900 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/17434440.2017.1386550] [Medline: 28956457]
- Lublin FD, Reingold SC, Cohen JA, Cutter GR, Sørensen PS, Thompson AJ, et al. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions. Neurology 2014 Jul 15;83(3):278-286 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000000560] [Medline: 24871874]
- Ghajarzadeh M, Jalilian R, Eskandari G, Sahraian M, Azimi A, Mohammadifar M. Fatigue in multiple sclerosis: relationship with disease duration, physical disability, disease pattern, age and sex. Acta Neurol Belg 2013 Dec;113(4):411-414. [doi: <u>10.1007/s13760-013-0198-2</u>] [Medline: <u>23616230</u>]
- Yalachkov Y, Soydaş D, Bergmann J, Frisch S, Behrens M, Foerch C, et al. Determinants of quality of life in relapsing-remitting and progressive multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler Relat Disord 2019 May;30:33-37. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.msard.2019.01.049</u>] [Medline: <u>30735970</u>]
- Reske D, Pukrop R, Scheinig K, Haupt W, Petereit H. [Measuring fatigue in patients with multiple sclerosis with standardized methods in German speaking areas]. Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr 2006 Sep;74(9):497-502. [doi: <u>10.1055/s-2006-932189</u>] [Medline: <u>16947099</u>]
- 22. Palmberg L, Rantalainen T, Rantakokko M, Karavirta L, Siltanen S, Skantz H, et al. The associations of activity fragmentation with physical and mental fatigability among community-dwelling 75-, 80-, and 85-year-old people. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2020 Sep 16;75(9):e103-e110. [doi: 10.1093/gerona/glaa166] [Medline: 32614396]
- Freedson PS, Melanson E, Sirard J. Calibration of the computer science and applications, inc. accelerometer. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1998 May;30(5):777-781. [doi: <u>10.1097/00005768-199805000-00021</u>] [Medline: <u>9588623</u>]
- 24. Sadeghi Bahmani D, Gonzenbach R, Motl RW, Bansi J, Rothen O, Niedermoser D, et al. Better objective sleep was associated with better subjective sleep and physical activity; results from an exploratory study under naturalistic conditions among persons with multiple sclerosis. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 May 18;17(10):3522 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17103522] [Medline: 32443481]
- 25. Morris M, Cantwell C, Vowels L, Dodd K. Changes in gait and fatigue from morning to afternoon in people with multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2002 Mar;72(3):361-365 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jnnp.72.3.361] [Medline: 11861697]
- 26. Pust G, Pöttgen J, Randerath J, Lau S, Heesen C, Gold S, et al. In search of distinct MS-related fatigue subtypes: results from a multi-cohort analysis in 1.403 MS patients. J Neurol 2019 Jul;266(7):1663-1673. [doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09311-2] [Medline: 31004211]
- 27. Rasch G. Studies in Mathematical Psychology: I. Probabilistic Models for Some Intelligence and Attainment Tests. Copenhagen, Denmark: Danmarks Paedagogiske Institut; 1960.
- 28. Pust GEA, Dettmers C, Randerath J, Rahn AC, Heesen C, Schmidt R, et al. Fatigue in multiple sclerosis is associated with childhood adversities. Front Psychiatry 2020;11:811 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00811] [Medline: 33005150]

Abbreviations

EDSS: Expanded Disability Status Scale **MS:** multiple sclerosis **WSS:** Watzmann Severity Scale



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 11.06.21; peer-reviewed by O Rivera, K Druce; comments to author 01.10.21; revised version received 06.10.21; accepted 22.12.21; published 17.03.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Gulde P, Rieckmann P The Association Between Actigraphy-Derived Behavioral Clusters and Self-Reported Fatigue in Persons With Multiple Sclerosis: Cross-sectional Study JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e31164 URL: https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31164 doi:10.2196/31164 PMID:35297774

©Philipp Gulde, Peter Rieckmann. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 17.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

A Novel Body Weight–Supported Postural Perturbation Module for Gait and Balance Rehabilitation After Stroke: Preliminary Evaluation Study

Amanda Meyer^{1,2}, MOT; Henry Charles Hrdlicka², PhD; Erica Cutler³, DPT; Jill Hellstrand³, BSPT; Emily Meise¹, MOT; Kaitlyn Rudolf³, DPT; Pete Grevelding², MSPT; Matthew Nankin⁴, MSc

¹Department of Inpatient Occupational Therapy, Gaylord Specialty Healthcare, Wallingford, CT, United States

³Department of Inpatient Physical Therapy, Gaylord Specialty Healthcare, Wallingford, CT, United States

⁴Frank H Netter MD School of Medicine, Quinnipiac University, North Haven, CT, United States

Corresponding Author:

Amanda Meyer, MOT Department of Inpatient Occupational Therapy Gaylord Specialty Healthcare 50 Gaylord Farm Road Wallingford, CT, 06492 United States Phone: 1 203 284 2875 Email: ameyer@gaylord.org

Abstract

Background: Impaired balance regulation after stroke puts patients and therapists at risk of injury during rehabilitation. Body weight support systems (BWSSs) minimize this risk and allow patients to safely practice balance activities during therapy. Treadmill-based balance perturbation systems with BWSSs are known to improve balance in patients with age- or disease-related impairments. However, these stationary systems are unable to accommodate complex exercises that require more freedom of movement.

Objective: This study aims to evaluate the effect of a new balance perturbation module, which is directly integrated into a track-mounted BWSS, on balance impairments secondary to acute stroke.

Methods: This unblinded quasi-randomized controlled preliminary study was conducted in a rehabilitation-focused long-term acute care hospital. Participants were recruited from stroke rehabilitation inpatients with an admission Berg Balance Scale (BBS) score of 21 (out of 56) or greater. Over a 2-week period, consented participants completed 8 BWSS or BWSS with perturbation (BWSS-P) treatment sessions; study activities were incorporated into regular treatment to avoid disruption of their normal care. Although both groups conducted the same balance and gait activities during their treatment sessions, the BWSS-P sessions included lateral, anterior, and posterior balance perturbations. Pre- and postintervention BBS and Activities-Specific Balance Confidence (ABC) assessments were the primary outcome measures collected. Institutional BBS data from the year before installation of the track-mounted BWSS were retrospectively included as a post hoc historical standard of care comparison.

Results: The improved postintervention BBS and ABC assessment scores showed that all participants benefited from therapy (P<.001 for all pre- and postintervention comparisons). The average BBS percent change for the BWSS-P sample (n=14) was 66.95% (SD 43.78%) and that for the BWSS control sample (n=15) was 53.29% (SD 24.13%). These values were greater than those for the standard of care group (n=30; mean 28.31%, SD 17.25%; P=.02 and P=.005 respectively), with no difference among the BWSS groups (P=.67). ABC score changes were also similar among the preintervention and postintervention BWSS groups (P=.94 and P=.92, respectively).

Conclusions: Both BWSS groups demonstrated similar BBS and ABC score improvements, indicating that balance perturbations were not detrimental to postacute stroke rehabilitation and were safe to use. These data provide strong rationale and baseline data for conducting a larger follow-up study to further assess if this new perturbation system provides additional benefit to the rehabilitation of gait and balance impairments following stroke.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT04919161; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04919161

²Milne Institute for Healthcare Innovation, Gaylord Specialty Healthcare, Wallingford, CT, United States

KEYWORDS

stroke rehabilitation; postural balance; gait and ambulation; balance perturbation; postural perturbation; body weight support system; occupational therapy; physical therapy; long-term acute care hospital, Berg Balance Scale; Activities-Specific Balance Confidence Scale

Introduction

Background

Each year, more than 795,000 people experience a stroke [1]. Stroke, or cerebral vascular accident, is a neurological event that can lead to devastating physical and cognitive deficits, such as the inability to ambulate, impaired balance regulation, loss of coordination, and impaired communication [2]. Because of the physical and cognitive deficits experienced following a stroke, many patients require admission to an inpatient rehabilitation facility with the goal of maximizing their independence before returning to the home setting [3]. Gait dysfunction is a common secondary impairment of stroke that usually requires specific rehabilitative actions [4].

Following a stroke, patients are often observed via motion analysis to navigate obstacles more conservatively and with abnormal gait patterns [5]. This is likely associated with the loss of muscle strength secondary to stroke, which could increase the risk of falling [5]. Within 6 months of discharge, falls occur in up to 70% of patients following a stroke, highlighting the importance of focusing on improving patients' balance and gait during the early rehabilitation phase [6].

It is estimated that over 90% of stroke survivors would report that the fear of falling would negatively impact their performance in daily living activities [7]. Fear of falling has been shown to influence balance and gait control in older adults, supporting the theory that balance and gait should be considered during rehabilitative methods [7]. These psychological factors are also strong predictors of falling compared with physical factors or the presence of pathology. Patient self-assessments can be important indicators of fall risk, as patients may better understand their capabilities and limitations than what the physical tests demonstrate [8].

The ability to walk, stand, climb stairs, and other mobility-related functional tasks are critical components in achieving functional independence. However, following a stroke, it is often difficult for patients with balance impairments to safely practice balance and gait training without putting both therapists and patients at risk for injury. Incorporating robotic technologies for neurological rehabilitation can play a critical role in delivering safe and effective gait and balance therapy [9].

The integration of body weight support systems (BWSSs) following a stroke, spinal cord injury, or other neurological disorders has continued to expand over the last 2 decades [10]. The range of tools available to therapists to treat patients with these impairments continues to grow [10]. Using BWSSs to unload paretic lower limbs, patients with gait impairments can practice a higher repetition of steps in a safe and controlled manner. As the patient performs gait training, these systems

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31504
```

XSL•FO

support the patient's body weight. This permits those with excessive weakness and poor coordination to minimize the risk of injurious falls and to ambulate and perform more intensive therapy sessions sooner in their recovery.

In addition to BWSSs, balance perturbation systems improve gait and balance control after stroke, or in response to other ageand disease-related balance impairments. This is accomplished by purposefully unbalancing patients so that they can rehabilitate their postural control [11-16].

Objectives

In this study, we evaluate the efficacy of a recently developed, not yet reported, balance perturbation module for the ZeroG BWSS. This new balance perturbation training module is directly integrated into the BWSS and allows therapists to induce safe lateral, anterior, and posterior perturbations via a Wi-Fi-enabled handheld device. During both stationary and ambulatory activities, this system was used to unbalance participants to train their reactive balance control and balance reactions, including ankle, hip, and stepping strategies [17]. The purpose of this preliminary study was three-fold: (1) evaluate the safety and feasibility of using this technology in the clinical setting, (2) develop a practical protocol for clinical use, and (3) determine whether there is any evidence to suggest that this newly developed BWSS balance perturbation system provides additional benefits to patient gait and balance rehabilitation after stroke over the standard BWSS protocol without perturbations, which would support further investigation of the technology.

Methods

Research Design

This was an unblinded quasi-randomized parallel active comparator–controlled preliminary study conducted at Gaylord Specialty Health Care (Wallingford, Connecticut, United States), a long-term acute care hospital (LTACH). As a result of an oversight in the requirements for clinical trial registration and the definition of an applicable clinical trial [18], the authors humbly admit there was a delay in clinical trial registration for this study. However, we are pleased to report that the educational and procedural issues leading to this oversight have been rectified and that the study has been retrospectively registered as follows: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT04919161 [19].

Ethical Considerations

Before participant recruitment, the study was reviewed and approved by the hospital's Institutional Review Board to ensure the study complied with the ethical standards set by the Declaration of Helsinki and CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) 2010 (Multimedia Appendix 1) [20]. All patients provided informed consent.

Participants

All participants were admitted to the LTACH under the inpatient stroke rehabilitation program after receiving a stroke diagnosis at a regional acute care hospital. Participant recruitment occurred over 12 months (October 2019 to September 2020). Patients admitted to the inpatient stroke rehabilitation program were evaluated by physical and occupational therapy within the first 72 hours of admission, at which point an initial Berg Balance Scale (BBS) score was obtained as appropriate. To be considered, patients had to score \geq 21 on the BBS during their initial physical therapy evaluation. As defined by Berg [21], with a BBS score of \geq 21, patients were considered to have a *fair global balance* rating and could walk with assistance. In this context, a fair balance rating was interpreted to be equivalent to a moderate fall risk [21]. Patients who did not meet these

inclusion criteria during their initial evaluation were able to screen-in later, pending BBS reassessment. If the reassessment showed sufficient functional improvement (ie, BBS \geq 21) and the patient's planned discharge date was at least two weeks after the reassessment, the patient was approached for study recruitment.

In addition to meeting the BBS score criteria, participants needed to be \geq 18 years of age, be able to understand and respond to simple verbal instructions in any language, and be able to tolerate and actively participate in at least three, 30-minute, weekly sessions in the BWSS. Patients were ineligible to participate if they did not meet any one of these criteria or presented with 1 or more of the exclusion criteria shown in Textbox 1.

Textbox 1. Exclusion criteria for study participation.

Exclusion criteria

- Cognitive deficits that would disrupt the ability to provide informed consent
- Berg Balance Scale score <21
- Active seizure
- Spinal stabilization requiring use of Halo device
- Uncontrolled hypertension
- Uncontrolled hypotension
- Unstable skin structures (ie, skin grafts and chest tubes)
- Unstable rib or lower extremity fractures
- Osteoporosis
- Active enteric infection control precautions
- New limb amputations
- Need for >50% high flow oxygen
- Bodyweight of more than 450 pounds (204 kg), that is, the structural limitation of the body weight support system

After providing informed consent, participants were assigned in an alternating fashion by the investigators to either the BWSS control or BWSS with perturbation (BWSS-P) group. To our knowledge, this is the first instance of this technology being studied. As such, we targeted a convenience sample of at least 30 participants for preliminary evaluation. Of the 50 patients approached for inclusion, 32 (64%) were enrolled, and 29 (58%) completed the study (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Participant flowchart. Of the 336 patients admitted for stroke rehabilitation that were assessed for study eligibility, 14.9% (50/336) were approached for study inclusion. Ultimately, 64% (32/50) of participants were enrolled in the study and assigned to either the body weight support system (BWSS) control or body weight support system with perturbation (BWSS-P) groups. During the study, 13% (4/32) of participants withdrew from the study early; 50% (2/4) because of early discharge, 25% (1/4) because of a flare-up of a pre-existing orthopedic condition, and 25% (1/4) because of an acute ankle sprain. Data from 9% (3/32) of participants was excluded from the final analysis.



Patients admitted for acute stroke rehabilitation typically received 2-5 hours of skilled rehabilitative services 5-6 days per week, including physical, occupational, and speech therapies and therapeutic recreation. All participants enrolled in this study were deemed appropriate to receive this level of care.

Outcome Instruments

The BBS and the Activities-Specific Balance Confidence (ABC) scale were the primary study end points. Both assessments have been validated for use in the inpatient stroke population and have high interrater reliability [22-25]. The BBS is a standardized balance assessment that uses various balance tasks to objectively measure a person's balance and determine if a participant is at low, moderate, or high fall risk. The ABC scale is a 16-item patient-reported outcome measure that subjectively measures one's self-perceived balance confidence. The ABC scale achieves this by asking the user to consider various

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31504
```

hypothetical situations and tasks and if they could perform them without losing balance or experiencing a sense of unsteadiness; it is based on a rating scale from 0% (no confidence) to 100% (completely confident) [8,23].

To identify eligible candidates for the study, chart reviews were regularly conducted to collect the admission BBS scores of patients with stroke, who were recently admitted. The progression of patients who were disqualified from the study because of their admission BBS scores were tracked through periodic chart reviews to determine if they had sufficiently improved to be approached for study recruitment.

During regular treatment, a 10-point modified functional independence measure (mFIM) was used to assess each participant's assistance needs when ambulating and undergoing toilet transfers. On the basis of the original 7-point functional independence measure (FIM) [26], the mFIM was developed

by our LTACH institution to better describe the progress of our patient population. The mFIM is similar to the traditional FIM in that it ranges from dependent to independent and is used to score patients in various functional domains, including ambulation and transfers. The mFIM differs by subdividing the original FIM category of *minimal assistance (category 4)* into *minimal assistance (category 4)* and *contact guard assistance (category 5)*. The original FIM category of *supervision (category 5)* is also subdivided into *close supervision (category 6)*, *supervision (category 7)*, and *distant supervision (category 8)*. The criteria used to grade each of the 10 points can be found in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1.

A final chart review was conducted at the end of the study to collect the participants' BBS and mFIM scores from their physical therapy discharge documentation. The ABC scale was administered by site investigators at the time of consent and immediately after the last intervention session.

Additionally, BBS scores of patients admitted to the same stroke rehabilitation program between October 2017 and August 2018 were retrospectively collected for post hoc analysis as a historical standard of care (SOC) comparison. These retrospectively collected scores were filtered to remove initial BBS scores <21 and those collected after the launch of the BWSS at our institution in September 2018. This resulted in the inclusion of retrospective BBS data from 30 patients who were not treated with BWSS. Similar historical data were not available for ABC assessment or mFIM scores.

BWSS Equipment

For this study, the BWSS used was the Food and Drug Administration listed ZeroG Gait and Balance System (Aretech, LLC) [27]. Unlike some BWSSs, this device is mounted on an overhead track that follows patients as they ambulate, maintaining a vertical direction of unloading via the tether [27,28]. Like other BWSSs, this system is designed to unload patients of up to 200 pounds (91 kg) of body weight, while simultaneously protecting them from falling. Unlike some other systems, this device maintains the preset amount of body weight support even if there is a change in vertical displacement by the patient, that is, when navigating stairs or sitting down. For this study, only 10 pounds (4.5 kg) of participants' body weight-the minimum weight required to engage the BWSS-was continuously unloaded for participants in both the control and intervention groups. The rationale for using only 10 pounds (4.5 kg) was to minimize unloading effects and balance support provided by the straps during balance perturbation. However, if a participant were to fall, the system would still detect the change, decelerate the fall, and stop the descent after a set distance. The fall distance was set between 8 and 12 inches for this study.

Unlike other BWSSs, a newly developed balance perturbation module, known as the training response in postural rehabilitation (TRiP), is directly integrated into the ZeroG BWSS. This perturbation module is different from other systems as the balance perturbations are elicited directly through the BWSS and do not require a treadmill [11-14], tilt-table, shaking platform [14,15], or manual exertion by a therapist [16]. Further,

they can be induced during normal gait and balance exercises during therapy.

BWSS and BWSS-P Exercises and Interventions

The BWSS control group interventions consisted of various balance activities, including marching, side-stepping, retro-ambulation, step-taps, and step-ups. The BWSS control group also practiced various gait tasks, including ambulation over the ground, going up and down stairs, and performing sit-to-stand transitions. The BWSS-P intervention group performed the same balance and gait activities as the control group with the addition of left and right lateral, anterior, and posterior perturbations.

Assistive devices and equipment were used during intervention sessions as recommended by the participant's primary therapist to facilitate ambulation, including canes, rolling walkers, hemi-walkers, ankle-foot-orthoses, ankle support braces, and upper extremity slings. The goal of using assistive devices was to only facilitate ambulation and *real-life* function and not necessarily protect against balance perturbations in the BWSS-P group. We believe that delivering balance perturbations while using assistive devices are transferable and appropriate challenges of real-life functions and are an important component of rehabilitation and recovery. Of note, although assistive devices were used during the study sessions, they were not used during the BBS assessments.

In the absence of balance perturbations, the BWSS motor remained positioned vertically above the participants as they moved along the track, ambulating, or performing other exercises with the investigator. As participants moved in line with the track, therapists used a Wi-Fi-enabled handheld device linked to the BWSS to elicit anterior or posterior balance perturbations during ambulation. These were induced by causing the BWSS motor to either rapidly accelerate ahead of or decelerate and reverse behind the participant. The resulting force of this acceleration or deceleration caused balance perturbation. Left and right lateral perturbations were similarly induced while the participant was in a static stance positioned under and perpendicular to the track. As demonstrated in video examples provided by the manufacturer, the rapid movement of the overhead component allowed little time for participants to prepare for the oncoming perturbation [29]. Participants in the BWSS-P group experienced 8 total perturbations in each session, 2 in each of the 4 directions described above.

All BWSS-P participants started at perturbation level *one* and progressed up to a maximum perturbation level of *ten* through the course of the study. The amount of force exerted at each perturbation level was preset by the manufacturer. The perturbation level (ie, intensity or force) used in each session was based on the participants' progress and observational analysis made by the therapist from the participants' responses to the perturbation level. If a participant was able to tolerate the initial perturbation level without exhibiting an appropriate balance reaction (including absent or aberrant ankle, hip, or stepping strategies), the perturbation level was incrementally increased until an appropriate balance reaction was exhibited [17]. If a participant was unable to recover and elicited a fall response in the system, the perturbation level was decreased by

1 level to ensure patient safety and the exercise was repeated to reinforce the exercise mechanics and participant confidence. The highest perturbation level was recorded after each session.

Participants in both study groups received 8 treatment sessions over 2 weeks. As necessary, participants received up to 2 sessions in 1 day to ensure they completed the required 8 sessions before discharge. To be pragmatic and not disrupt participant care, study sessions were incorporated into the participants' regular care. At our institution, treatment sessions were broken into 30-minute blocks. This time included patient transportation, equipment setup, and for this study, donning the BWSS harness. In general, participants received 20 minutes of active time in the BWSS for each 30-minute treatment block. All sessions were analyzed equally, despite possible variations in the length of time the participants were in the BWSS.

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism (version 9.0.0; GraphPad Software). To compare the observed proportion of male and female in the BWSS groups, Fisher exact test was used. Additionally, the odds ratios (ORs) for the proportions and the respective 95% CIs (Baptiste Pike testing) were calculated. Participant age was also compared between groups using the nonparametric Mann–Whitney U test was used.

When data from multiple time points and 2 or more groups were present, we used a 2-way mixed effects model analysis of variance (ANOVA). This was to evaluate for the presence or absence of time effects independent of treatment modality, treatment modality effects independent of time, and the effect of time and treatment modality combined. Šídák multiple comparison test was then used to calculate all the in-group and between-group comparisons. The BBS, ABC, toileting transfer mFIM, and ambulation mFIM before and after intervention scores were included in this analysis.

To account for baseline BBS score differences among the BWSS, BWSS-P, and SOC groups, the degree of change for each participant was also calculated using *percent change* as follows: ([Postintervention – Preintervention] / Preintervention) \times 100.

| strategy minimizes the amount of information lost by returning |
|---|
| the degree or amount of change made by each individual relative |
| to their preintervention score. Although BBS percent change |
| was normally distributed for each group (Shapiro-Wilk test; |
| SOC, P=.12; BWSS, P=.39; BWSS-P, P=.37), the SDs |
| significantly differed (Brown-Forsythe test for variance; |
| P<.001). As such, a 1-way Brown-Forsythe ANOVA and |
| Dunnett T-3 multiple comparisons test for BBS percent change |
| group comparisons was used. |
| |

Whereas calculating the straight score change would lose information about the preintervention scores, this normalization

To evaluate changes in the perturbation level progression, an ordinary 2-way ANOVA with Šídák multiple comparisons test was used for the entire data set. Subsets (low, moderate, and high responders) were analyzed using paired Kruskal–Wallis ANOVA with Dunn multiple comparison test.

For data represented as a box plot, each box represents the median and the 25% and 75% quartiles, respectively. The whiskers extend 1.5 and -1.5 of the IQR, respectively, triangle symbols reflect data points beyond the 1.5 IQRs, and the + symbol represents the arithmetic mean.

Results

Participant Characteristics

Of the 29 participants who completed the treatment course, 15 (52%) were alternately assigned to the BWSS control group and 14 (48%) were alternately assigned to the BWSS-P group. In the BWSS group, 87% (13/15) were men and 13% (2/15) were women (Table 1). In the BWSS-P group, 71% (10/14) were men and 29% (4/14) were women (Table 1). A participant in the BWSS control group did not complete the eighth and final session because of an early discharge; however, the data from their 7 completed sessions were included in the analysis. Compared with the control group, the BWSS-P group was similarly aged (P=.92; Table 1). Using Fisher exact test, we also observed similar proportions of men and women (P=.39). This was also reflected in the OR testing of the proportions (OR 2.6, 95% CI 0.47 to 15.30).

| | BWSS ^a control (n=1 | BWSS ^a control (n=15) | | | Group difference (95% CI) ^c | P value |
|---------------|--------------------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------|----------------------------------|---|---------|
| | Participant, n (%) | Age (years), mean (SD; range) | Participant, n (%) | Age (years), mean (SD; range) | | |
| Cohort (N=29) | 15 (52) | 57.8 (12.98; 46 to 78) | 14 (48) | 57.5 (14.24; 28 to 78) | -1.0 (-12 to 12) | .92 |
| Male | 13 (87) | 57.5 (12.53; 42 to 73) | 10 (71) | 57.4 (11.31; 41 to 78) | -1.0 (-13 to 11) | .76 |
| Female | 2 (13) | 60.5 (20.51; 46 to 75) | 4 (29) | 57.8 (22.25; 28 to 78) | -0.5 (-47 to 32) | .99 |

^aBWSS: body weight support system.

Table 1. Participant characteristics.

^bBWSS-P: body weight support system with perturbation.

^cNonparametric Mann–Whitney U test was used; group differences and reported 95% CI are based in differences of the medians.

Throughout the study, most participants tolerated the BWSS induced perturbations well. However, 2 (6%) of the 32 original participants enrolled in the BWSS-P group did not complete all 8 therapy sessions because of injury. A participant experienced an unexpected flare-up of a pre-existing chronic orthopedic condition unrelated to the BWSS perturbation module after session 4. A second participant had an acute ankle sprain during ambulation in the BWSS during session 1. The nature of this injury was deemed likely because of a combination of the BWSS perturbation module and ankle instability secondary to the

participant's stroke. A third participant also withdrew early from the study because of an early discharge after session 4. The data from these 3 individuals was excluded from analysis (Figure 1).

BWSS Perturbation Level Progression

From the BWSS perturbation module, the highest perturbation level achieved for each patient in each session was recorded. Although the final perturbation level achieved by the final session varied, all participants showed increases in perturbation level by the end of the study (P<.001; Figure 2A).

Figure 2. Perturbation level progression. From the body weight support system, the highest perturbation level achieved was recorded for each participant, after each therapy session. Each participant who completed the study successfully increased their perturbation level between the first and last study-related therapy session (A). The perturbation level progression for the participants that completed the study could be broken down into three categories: low responders (B), moderate responders (C), and high responders (D). *P* values shown are for the comparison of session 1 and session 8 perturbation levels.



Interestingly, no statistical difference in perturbation level was observed between sessions 6, 7, and 8 (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Further, these data can be divided into 3 categories. First, the *low responders* showed early perturbation level progression but plateaued early, peaking at perturbation levels 4-5 (Figure 2B). The *moderate responders* showed steady progress throughout the study, peaking between perturbation levels 6-8 (Figure 2C). The *high responders* rapidly progressed through the BWSS-P levels, peaking between BWSS-P levels 9-10 (Figure 2D).

Evaluation of Participant BBS Scores

To evaluate pre- and postintervention BBS data (Table 2), a 3 column \times 2 row 2-way mixed effects ANOVA was used. This

analysis showed that there was a significant main effect ($F_{\text{DFn},}$ _{DFd}) associated with time ($F_{1,56}$ =283.5; P<.001) on BBS scores with grouped postintervention scores (mean 48.02) being greater than grouped preintervention scores (mean 33.61). Further, there was a significant main effect of treatment modality ($F_{2,56}$ =9.609; P<.001) on BBS scores, with the pooled group mean of the SOC (mean 45.35) being greater than the BWSS-P (mean 39.36) and BWSS (mean 37.73). Finally, there was also a significant interaction effect between time and treatment modality ($F_{2,56}$ =7.902; P<.001).

| Group | Preintervention, mean (SD; range) | Postintervention, mean (SD; range) | Score change ^a , mean (SD) | Percent change ^b , mean (SD) |
|----------------------------|-----------------------------------|------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---|
| SOC ^c (n=30) | 40.20 (7.66; 25-52) | 50.50 (5.41; 33-56) | 10.30 (5.11) | 28.31 (17.25) |
| BWSS ^d (n=15) | 30.20 (6.41; 21-41) | 45.27 (6.67; 34-54) | 15.07 (5.61) | 53.29 (24.13) |
| BWSS-P ^e (n=14) | 30.43 (7.97; 21-47) | 48.29 (6.94; 35-56) | 17.86 (8.57) | 66.95 (43.78) |

Table 2. Summary of Berg Balance Scale assessments.

^aScore change was calculated as (postintervention - preintervention).

^bPercent change was calculated as (([postintervention – preintervention] / [preintervention]) ×100%).

^cSOC: standard of care.

^dBWSS: body weight support system.

^eBWSS-P: body weight support system with perturbation.

Šídák multiple comparisons test was used to determine if any in-treatment group comparisons were different. All in-treatment group comparisons were significantly different (P<.001), highlighting the time effect noted in the 2-way mixed effects ANOVA (Figure 3A; Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Evaluating the between-group comparisons at the 2 different time points, we observed that the mean preintervention BBS score of the SOC group was significantly higher than the mean preintervention BBS score of both the BWSS and BWSS-P groups (P<.001); the BWSS and BWSS-P preintervention BBS scores did not differ (P=.99). In addition, the mean postintervention BBS score of the SOC group was significantly higher than the BWSS mean postintervention BBS score of the BWSS group (P=.049) but not that of the BWSS-P group (P=.68); BWSS and BWSS-P postintervention BBS scores were not different (P=.55; Figure 3A; Table S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

We assessed the degree of change for each individual by calculating the percent change (Figure 3B; Table 2) and analyzing group differences using a 1-way Brown–Forsythe ANOVA ($F^*_{DFn, DFd}$). This analysis indicated that there were significant between-group interactions ($F^*_{2.00, 23.4}$ =7.859; P=.003). Although the mean pre- and postintervention BBS scores were similar among groups, multiple comparison testing showed the percent change for the BWSS-P group (n=14; mean 67%, SD 43.8%) was greater than the SOC group (n=30; mean 28.3%, SD 17.3%; P=.02). The percent change in the BWSS control group (n=15; mean 53.3%, SD 24.1%) was also greater than that in the SOC group (P=.005). Although the percent change of the BWSS-P group was marginally greater than that of the BWSS control group, it was not significantly different (P=.67).

Figure 3. Berg Balance Scale assessment (BBS). Participant's pre- and postintervention BBS assessment scores were used to track their improvement and response to the therapy. In addition to the body weight support system (BWSS) control and body weight support system with perturbation (BWSS-P) protocols, data from 2018, before the implementation of the BWSS, served as a historical standard of care (SOC) comparison group. Raw scores were first examined in aggregate (A). BBS percent change was calculated for each participant to show the magnitude of change between pre- and postintervention scores (B). In panel A, *P* values are shown only for comparisons that are significantly different or of clinical interest. Box plots represent the median and the 25% and 75% quartiles, respectively. The whiskers extend 1.5 and -1.5 of the IQR, respectively; circle symbols reflect data points beyond the 1.5 interquartile ranges; + symbols represent the mean; SOC: n=30, BWSS control: n=14 to 15, BWSS-P: n=13 to 14.





Assessing Participant Functional Independence With Ambulation and Transfers

Using the institution's mFIM scoring (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1), participants' functional independence during

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31504
```

ambulation and toilet transfers at admission and discharge was

assessed using a 2 column \times 2 row 2-way mixed effects

For ambulation mFIM scores, where the mean ambulation assistance score increased in both the BWSS control (4.36, SD 1.03, to 7.80, SD 1.20) and BWSS-P treatment (4.75, SD 0.83, to 8.64, SD 0.93) groups, this analysis showed a significant time effect ($F_{\text{DFn, DFd}}$) associated with mFIM ambulation scores ($F_{1,27}$ =257.9; P<.001), with grouped postintervention scores (mean 8.22) being greater than grouped preintervention scores (mean 4.54). Further, a significant treatment modality effect ($F_{1,27}$ =4.26; P=.049) associated with mFIM ambulation scores was observed, with the BWSS-P group mean (mean 6.70) being modestly greater than that for the BWSS group (mean 6.07). Finally, no significant interaction effects were observed between time and treatment modality ($F_{1,27}$ =0.99; P=.33) for ambulation mFIM scores.

Using Šídák multiple comparisons test, we observed that in-group preintervention versus postintervention comparisons were significantly different (P<.001). Both between-group preintervention ambulation mFIM scores (P=.47) and postintervention scores (P=.06) did not differ (Figure S1A in Multimedia Appendix 1; Tables S5 and S6 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

Similarly, the mean toilet transfer mFIM scores increased in both the BWSS control (4.30, SD 0.59 to 7.70, SD 1.16) and BWSS-P treatment (4.89, SD 0.79, to 8.39, SD 1.04) groups. The 2-way mixed effects ANOVA analysis showed a significant time effect ($F_{\text{DFn, DFd}}$) on mFIM toilet transfer scores ($F_{1,27}$ =257.9; P<.001), with grouped postintervention scores (mean 8.05) being greater than grouped preintervention scores (mean 4.60). Further, there was a significant main effect of treatment modality ($F_{1,27}$ =5.79; P=.02) on mFIM toilet transfer scores, with BWSS-P group mean (mean 6.64) again being marginally greater than the BWSS group (mean 6.00). Finally, there was no significant interaction effect observed between time and treatment modality ($F_{1,27}$ = 0.05; P=.82).

Using Šídák multiple comparisons test, we observed that the in-treatment group preintervention versus postintervention comparisons were significantly different (P<.001). Both between-group preintervention scores (P=.17) and postintervention mFIM toilet transfer scores (P=.09) were not different (Tables S7 and S8 and Figure S1B in Multimedia Appendix 1).

Measuring Participant Self-reported Balance Confidence

Participants' self-confidence in performing daily tasks was also evaluated using the ABC scale. The mean ABC scores (%) increased in both the BWSS control (61.81, SD 22.55, to 82.38, SD 13.43) and BWSS-P treatment (63.88, SD 20.34, to 84.81, SD 11.52) groups. A 2-way mixed effects ANOVA identified a significant time effect ($F_{\text{DFn}, \text{DFd}}$) on ABC scores ($F_{1,26}$ =34.26; P<.001), with grouped postintervention scores (mean 83.59) being greater than grouped preintervention scores (mean 62.85). Unlike the BBS and mFIM scores described up to this point, a significant treatment modality effect ($F_{1,26}$ =0.16; P=.69) was not observed, with the BWSS-P group mean (mean 74.35) being only marginally greater than the BWSS group (mean 72.09). Further, an interaction effect between time and treatment modality ($F_{1,26}$ =0.05; P=.82) was not observed (Table S6 in Multimedia Appendix 1) for the ABC scale score.

Using Šídák multiple comparisons test, we observed that in-group preintervention versus postintervention comparisons were significantly different for ABC scores (BWSS: P<.001; BWSS-P: P<.001). Between-group preintervention scores (P=.94) and postintervention scores (P=.92) were not significantly different (Figure 4; Tables S9 and S10 in Multimedia Appendix 1).



Figure 4. Activities-Specific Balance Confidence (ABC) scale assessment. The ABC scale was given to participants before and after the intervention to gauge their confidence in performing daily tasks. The box plot represents the median and the 25% and 75% quartiles, respectively. The whiskers extend 1.5 and -1.5 of the IQR, respectively; + symbols represent the mean; body weight support system (BWSS) control: n=14 to 15, body weight support system with perturbation (BWSS-P): n=13 to 14.



Discussion

Principal Findings

We conducted this preliminary study to evaluate the effectiveness of a new BWSS-integrated balance perturbation training module. If effective, this tool may be able to further improve patient balance after an acute stroke. This module induced controlled reactive and potentially anticipatory balance perturbations during normal gait and balance exercises without using a treadmill or other equipment. Participants in the BWSS and BWSS-P groups demonstrated similar improvements in BBS, ABC assessment, ambulation mFIM scores, and toileting transfer mFIM scores. This indicates that the BWSS-P protocol is not detrimental and may benefit postacute stroke rehabilitation. With retrospectively collected BBS data from 2018 serving as a retrospective post hoc SOC comparison group, both BWSS groups displayed greater BBS percent score changes than the SOC group. These data support the overall conclusion that this new BWSS balance perturbation module may help improve patient balance after acute stroke when following a prescribed treatment and rehabilitation plan. However, additional

XSL•FO

research is required to definitively determine the full benefits of this technology in rehabilitation.

Conventional balance perturbation training, including modified treadmills [11-14], tilt-tables [14,15], or external force provided by the therapist directly [16], may pose an injury risk to the therapist and the patient. In addition, if a patient experiences an injurious fall during treatment, it may further contribute to a fear of falling after stroke. Although the incorporation of BWSSs over treadmills decreases the injury risk, this is not representative of functional ambulation in patients' homes or community environments [30,31]. Further, these strategies are stationary and limit the types of activities and exercises that can be performed during balance perturbation (eg, navigating a turn). Systems such as these may also limit the participation of some patients who would otherwise benefit from reactive balance perturbation training, such as those uncomfortable or unable to ambulate on a treadmill.

Therapists also have the option of inducing balance perturbations by manually exerting an external force (ie, pulling or pushing the patient) while a patient is in a BWSS. Although more accessible than using specialized equipment, both the application of force by the therapist and the amount of perturbation

experienced by the patient are subjective and could be difficult to control and replicate consistently. Integration of the balance perturbation module in the BWSS described here resolves many of these issues, including allowing for freedom of movement to perform most gait and balance exercises in a dynamic environment, increasing the accessibility for eligible patients, and performing perturbations in a consistent, repeatable, and quantitative manner, while optimizing therapist and patient safety.

The ABC scale was used to determine how the BWSS-P would affect participants' self-perceived balance confidence when asked to consider hypothetical scenarios that would challenge their balance. Interestingly, our analysis found that although a significant time effect was observed, an effect associated with treatment modality was not present. This suggests that BWSS and BWSS-P are equally effective in improving participants' balance confidence. However, we were unable to determine whether these scores were better than those in the SOC group.

Limitations, Caveats, and Considerations for Future Studies

As this was the first study to evaluate this novel technology, we can identify several limitations and caveats that need to be considered when interpreting the data and planning future studies.

In this study, we retrospectively included BBS data from the year leading up to the implementation of the BWSS. The rationale for this was to include these data as a post hoc historical SOC comparison group, representative of therapy with no BWSS. Although including a prospective *No BWSS* group would have led to cleaner comparisons, our stance is this would have been unethical, as it would have meant withholding care known to benefit patient outcomes. It is well documented that rehabilitative gait and balance training in BWSSs largely benefit patient rehabilitation. Therefore, we were unable to collect data for all outcomes of the SOC group, as they were not regularly collected during normal care (ie, ABC score) or were not readily available (ie, mFIM scores).

Further, the admission BBS scores of the SOC group were approximately 10 points higher than those of the BWSS groups because the preintervention scores started at a higher baseline; it was not unexpected that the postintervention BBS scores were higher. To account for this, we could have curated the SOC data set to be case-matched to the BWSS control group, so the range and mean of the preintervention scores were similar. However, to avoid any selection bias that might have been introduced, we normalized the data by calculating the percent change.

An important caveat to note is that the study activities were only a small part of the participants' overall treatment strategy. Several factors, including physical therapy outside the study and natural progression, were likely to have contributed to improvements in patient status and function. As we were unable to control for what physical therapy (ie, gait and balance training) activities occurred outside of the study sessions, we included the BWSS control and historical SOC comparison groups. Improvements to the BWSS perturbation module alone were made difficult, as both BWSS groups showed similar BBS score improvements. Although the mean scores were not significantly different, the variability of the initial BBS scores of the BWSS study groups may have limited our ability to accurately determine the impact of the perturbation module. This variability, in part, is reflective of the diverse patient population that was recruited; any qualifying inpatients with stroke and with a BBS of ≥ 21 were approached. Although calculating the percent change for each participant works to address this, this variability can be improved in one of several ways.

First, the data analysis could be stratified to compare the amount of change or improvement by admission BBS scores. This would allow us to better refine what populations benefit the most from this treatment. Second, an upper BBS score could be incorporated into the inclusion criteria. For example, for patients with an acute stroke, a BBS score of 45 (out of 56) has been used to describe normal functional ability after stroke [24]. Finally, a matched-control method could be implemented to ensure that the same range of initial BBS scores were represented in the BWSS groups. However, as described above, this strategy is not ideal, as it can introduce implicit selection biases. In any case, a larger population will be required in future studies to achieve the appropriate power needed to fully determine the impact of the BWSS perturbation module.

Variability in the timing of the postintervention BBS assessments may have also contributed to the lack of significant differences among the BWSS groups. The postintervention BBS scores were obtained by the participants' primary physical therapist at the time of their discharge. Most participants had discharge dates close to the last session of the study intervention. However, this does not account for any progress the participant might have made after the last session leading up to their discharge. To address this in future studies, we propose delivering a separate BBS assessment within 48 hours of the last session, if the participant's discharge assessment was not already collected during that time.

Most participants completed the study-related sessions over a 2-week period; however, this study was partly conducted during the early months of the COVID-19 pandemic (March-August 2020). This environment may have shortened the time that eligible patients were willing to spend in the inpatient setting if they were able to safely navigate the home environment with the assistance of family members. As a result, many patients who met the inclusion criteria for the study did not remain inpatients long enough to receive the required 8 sessions. As a further consequence of expedited discharge dates because of COVID-19, 34% (10/29) of the participants, at least once, needed to receive 2 sessions per day to complete all 8 sessions; in 1 case, the patient was discharged before they were able to complete the last treatment session. It is unclear if the increased intensity positively or negatively contributed to the rate of progress.

To address the possibility of irregular lengths of stay in the future, we propose evaluating and comparing the dose-response relationship of the balance perturbation module over 2-6

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31504
```

XSL•FO

sessions, as well as the total time in the system. We feel it is rational to reduce the number of total sessions as there was no significant difference in perturbation level progression following session 6 (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1) and it would open up the recruitment pool to eligible patients with a shorter length of stay and allow us to refine the optimal dosing. Additional studies could also investigate how many sessions per day and per week are most effective at improving balance control, reaction, and confidence.

Despite these limitations, this preliminary study was strengthened by the quasi-randomized controlled design and low participant dropout rate (3/32, 9%). Further, the incorporation of the post hoc historical SOC BBS data strengthened the study as it allowed for comparisons to be made with a population without BWSS treatment. With 52 years of combined physical therapy rehabilitation experience, the study was further reinforced by the advanced specialty and board certifications of the treating investigators.

This preliminary study allowed for the development of a feasible protocol and provided the preliminary data needed to calculate effect size, conduct power analysis, and estimate an appropriate sample size for future studies. With an appropriately powered sample size, we believe the effect of this BWSS-P protocol and technology on patient balance rehabilitation after stroke, compared with BWSS alone, could be better generalized than what we were able to conclude in this preliminary study. Furthermore, such studies could examine how other variables (ie, stroke location and other compounding diagnoses) impact patient progress and response to balance perturbation training. Incorporating additional dynamic gait assessments that more closely resemble functional movement patterns and reactive balance–specific outcome measures, such as the dynamic gait index or functional gait assessment [32,33], may also help us to better understand the full implications of this new balance perturbation module.

Conclusions

This study has multiple implications for clinical practice in inpatient rehabilitation settings. The BWSS-P protocol positively impacted the balance performance of a subset of inpatients with stroke, who scored ≥ 21 on their BBS assessment. Not only did the BWSS-P improved participants' balance and decreased their fall risk compared with the SOC and BWSS alone it also improved participants' overall confidence and reduced their fear of falling, similar to that observed using the BWSS alone. As the prevalence of BWSS-integrated balance perturbation modules, such as the track-mounted ZeroG TRiP system, continues to grow, there will be a number of opportunities for continued research and development in this area.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge Dr Richard Feinn of Quinnipiac University for their assistance with the preliminary data analysis. We also want to acknowledge our colleagues who provided careful and thoughtful review of the manuscript.

The authors also thank Aretech LLC for providing financial assistance for the protected time to complete the administrative work associated with this preliminary study; Aretech LLC had no role in the study design, data collection, data analysis, or manuscript preparation or editing.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Editorial Notice: This randomized study was retrospectively registered, explained by authors as an administrative oversight in early stages of study planning. The editor granted an exception from ICMJE rules mandating prospective registration of randomized trials, because the risk of bias appears low and the study was considered formative, guiding future development of the application. However, readers are advised to carefully assess the validity of any potential explicit or implicit claims related to primary outcomes or effectiveness, as retrospective registration does not prevent authors from changing their outcome measures retrospectively.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Referenced supplemental materials and the completed CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) 2010 checklist. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 699 KB - rehab v9i1e31504 app1.pdf]

References

- 1. Stroke facts. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/stroke/facts.htm</u> [accessed 2022-02-08]
- 2. Stroke information page. National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke. URL: <u>https://www.ninds.nih.gov/Disorders/</u> <u>All-Disorders/Stroke-Information-Page</u> [accessed 2022-02-08]
- 3. Benjamin EJ, Blaha MJ, Chiuve SE, Cushman M, Das SR, Deo R, American Heart Association Statistics CommitteeStroke Statistics Subcommittee. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2017 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2017 Mar 07;135(10):e146-e603 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000485] [Medline: 28122885]
- Algurén B, Lundgren-Nilsson A, Sunnerhagen KS. Functioning of stroke survivors--A validation of the ICF core set for stroke in Sweden. Disabil Rehabil 2010;32(7):551-559. [doi: <u>10.3109/09638280903186335</u>] [Medline: <u>20136473</u>]

- Chen N, Xiao X, Hu H, Chen Y, Song R, Li L. Identify the alteration of balance control and risk of falling in stroke survivors during obstacle crossing based on kinematic analysis. Front Neurol 2019;10:813 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00813] [Medline: <u>31417488</u>]
- Forster A, Young J. Incidence and consequences of falls due to stroke: a systematic inquiry. BMJ 1995 Jul 08;311(6997):83-86
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.311.6997.83] [Medline: 7613406]
- 7. Legters K. Fear of falling. Physical Ther 2002 Mar 1;82(3):264-272. [doi: <u>10.1093/ptj/82.3.264</u>]
- Landers M, Oscar S, Sasaoka J, Vaughn K. Balance confidence and fear of falling avoidance behavior are most predictive of falling in older adults: prospective analysis. Phys Ther 2016 Apr;96(4):433-442. [doi: <u>10.2522/ptj.20150184</u>] [Medline: <u>26294679</u>]
- 9. Hidler J, Hamm LF, Lichy A, Groah SL. Automating activity-based interventions: the role of robotics. J Rehabil Res Dev 2008;45(2):337-344 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1682/jrrd.2007.01.0020] [Medline: 18566951]
- 10. Hidler J, Lum PS. The road ahead for rehabilitation robotics. J Rehabil Res Dev 2011;48(4):vii-vix [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1682/jrrd.2011.02.0014] [Medline: 21674383]
- Chien J, Hsu W. Effects of dynamic perturbation-based training on balance control of community-dwelling older adults. Sci Rep 2018 Nov 22;8(1):17231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-35644-5] [Medline: 30467355]
- Shimada H, Obuchi S, Furuna T, Suzuki T. New intervention program for preventing falls among frail elderly people: the effects of perturbed walking exercise using a bilateral separated treadmill. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2004 Jul;83(7):493-499. [doi: 10.1097/01.phm.0000130025.54168.91] [Medline: 15213472]
- Esmaeili V, Juneau A, Dyer J, Lamontagne A, Kairy D, Bouyer L, et al. Intense and unpredictable perturbations during gait training improve dynamic balance abilities in chronic hemiparetic individuals: a randomized controlled pilot trial. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2020 Jun 17;17(1):79 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12984-020-00707-0] [Medline: 32552850]
- Steib S, Klamroth S, Gaßner H, Pasluosta C, Eskofier B, Winkler J, et al. Perturbation during treadmill training improves dynamic balance and gait in Parkinson's disease: a single-blind randomized controlled pilot trial. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 2017 Aug;31(8):758-768. [doi: 10.1177/1545968317721976] [Medline: 28758519]
- Schinkel-Ivy A, Huntley AH, Aqui A, Mansfield A. Does perturbation-based balance training improve control of reactive stepping in individuals with chronic stroke? J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 2019 Apr;28(4):935-943. [doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2018.12.011] [Medline: 30630753]
- Mansfield A, Aqui A, Danells CJ, Knorr S, Centen A, DePaul VG, et al. Does perturbation-based balance training prevent falls among individuals with chronic stroke? A randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open 2018 Aug 17;8(8):e021510 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-021510] [Medline: 30121600]
- 17. Shumway-Cook A, Woollacott M. Chapter 9: Abnormal postural control. In: Motor Control, 5 edition. Alphen aan den Rijn, Netherlands: Wolters Kluwer; 1995:185-206.
- 18. Final rule (42 CFR Part 11) information. ClinicalTrials. URL: https://prsinfo.clinicaltrials.gov/ [accessed 2022-02-08]
- 19. Unblinded quasi-randomized pilot study exploring the benefits of the ZeroG TRiP system to improve patient balance following an acute stroke. ClinicalTrials. URL: <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04919161</u> [accessed 2022-02-14]
- 20. Schulz K, Altman D, Moher D, CONSORT Group. CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. BMJ 2010 Mar 23;340:c332 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.c332] [Medline: 20332509]
- 21. Berg K. Measuring balance in the elderly: preliminary development of an instrument. Physiother Canada 1989 Nov;41(6):304-311. [doi: 10.3138/ptc.41.6.304]
- 22. Berg balance scale. Physiopedia. URL: <u>https://www.physio-pedia.com/Berg_Balance_Scale</u> [accessed 2022-02-08]
- 23. Activities-specific balance confidence scale. Shirley Ryan AbilityLab. URL: <u>https://www.sralab.org/rehabilitation-measures/</u><u>activities-specific-balance-confidence-scale</u> [accessed 2022-02-08]
- 24. Berg balance scale. Shirley Ryan AbilityLab. URL: <u>https://www.sralab.org/rehabilitation-measures/berg-balance-scale</u> [accessed 2022-02-08]
- 25. Bland M, Siles A, Anderl L, Eikenberry M, McCarthy A, Olivier G, et al. Core set of outcome measures for adults with neurologic conditions. Academy of Neurologic Physical Therapy. URL: <u>https://www.neuropt.org/practice-resources/</u> anpt-clinical-practice-guidelines/core-outcome-measures-cpg [accessed 2022-02-08]
- 26. Functional Independence Measure (FIM). Physiopedia. URL: <u>https://www.physio-pedia.com/</u> Functional Independence Measure (FIM) [accessed 2022-02-08]
- 27. Hidler J, Brennan D, Black I, Nichols D, Brady K, Nef T. ZeroG: overground gait and balance training system. J Rehabil Res Dev 2011;48(4):287-298 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1682/jrrd.2010.05.0098] [Medline: 21674384]
- 28. Anggelis E, Powell ES, Westgate PM, Glueck AC, Sawaki L. Impact of motor therapy with dynamic body-weight support on Functional Independence Measures in traumatic brain injury: An exploratory study. NeuroRehabilitation 2019 Dec 18;45(4):519-524 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3233/NRE-192898] [Medline: 31868690]
- 29. TRiP in the ZeroG Gait and balance system. Aretech LLC. URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aqW1iYdmJGE</u> [accessed 2022-02-08]
- 30. Hutchinson LA, De Asha AR, Rainbow MJ, Dickinson AW, Deluzio KJ. A comparison of centre of pressure behaviour and ground reaction force magnitudes when individuals walk overground and on an instrumented treadmill. Gait Posture 2021 Jan;83:174-176. [doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2020.10.025] [Medline: 33152613]

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31504
```

- Abbasi A, Yazdanbakhsh F, Tazji MK, Aghaie Ataabadi P, Svoboda Z, Nazarpour K, et al. A comparison of coordination and its variability in lower extremity segments during treadmill and overground running at different speeds. Gait Posture 2020 Jun;79:139-144. [doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2020.04.022] [Medline: 32408037]
- 32. Functional gait assessment. Shirley Ryan AbilityLab. URL: <u>https://www.sralab.org/rehabilitation-measures/</u> <u>functional-gait-assessment</u> [accessed 2022-02-08]
- 33. Dynamic gait index. Shirley Ryan AbilityLab. URL: <u>https://www.sralab.org/rehabilitation-measures/dynamic-gait-index</u> [accessed 2022-02-08]

Abbreviations

ABC: Activities-Specific Balance Confidence
ANOVA: analysis of variation
BBS: Berg Balance Scale
BWSS: body weight support system
BWSS-P: body weight support system with perturbation
CONSORT: Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials
FIM: Functional Independence Measure
LTACH: long-term acute care hospital
mFIM: modified functional independence measure
OR: odds ratio
SOC: standard of care
TRiP: training response in postural rehabilitation

Edited by T Leung; submitted 24.06.21; peer-reviewed by A Mansfield, T Szturm; comments to author 18.08.21; revised version received 30.11.21; accepted 26.01.22; published 01.03.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Meyer A, Hrdlicka HC, Cutler E, Hellstrand J, Meise E, Rudolf K, Grevelding P, Nankin M A Novel Body Weight–Supported Postural Perturbation Module for Gait and Balance Rehabilitation After Stroke: Preliminary Evaluation Study JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e31504 URL: <u>https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31504</u> doi:10.2196/31504 PMID:35080495

©Amanda Meyer, Henry Charles Hrdlicka, Erica Cutler, Jill Hellstrand, Emily Meise, Kaitlyn Rudolf, Pete Grevelding, Matthew Nankin. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 01.03.2022. This is an article distributed Creative Commons open-access under the terms of the Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

Remote Assessments of Hand Function in Neurological Disorders: Systematic Review

Arpita Gopal¹, BSc, DPT; Wan-Yu Hsu¹, PhD; Diane D Allen², PT, PhD; Riley Bove¹, MSc, MD

¹Weill Institute of Neurosciences, University of California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States
²Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation Science, University of California San Francisco/San Francisco State University, San Francisco, CA, United States

Corresponding Author: Arpita Gopal, BSc, DPT Weill Institute of Neurosciences University of California San Francisco 1651 4th Street Room 622A San Francisco, CA, 94143 United States Phone: 1 415 353 8903 Fax: 1 415 353 2633 Email: arpita.gopal@ucsf.edu

Abstract

Background: Loss of fine motor skills is observed in many neurological diseases, and remote monitoring assessments can aid in early diagnosis and intervention. Hand function can be regularly assessed to monitor loss of fine motor skills in people with central nervous system disorders; however, there are challenges to in-clinic assessments. Remotely assessing hand function could facilitate monitoring and supporting of early diagnosis and intervention when warranted.

Objective: Remote assessments can facilitate the tracking of limitations, aiding in early diagnosis and intervention. This study aims to systematically review existing evidence regarding the remote assessment of hand function in populations with chronic neurological dysfunction.

Methods: PubMed and MEDLINE, CINAHL, Web of Science, and Embase were searched for studies that reported remote assessment of hand function (ie, outside of traditional in-person clinical settings) in adults with chronic central nervous system disorders. We excluded studies that included participants with orthopedic upper limb dysfunction or used tools for intervention and treatment. We extracted data on the evaluated hand function domains, validity and reliability, feasibility, and stage of development.

Results: In total, 74 studies met the inclusion criteria for Parkinson disease (n=57, 77% studies), stroke (n=9, 12%), multiple sclerosis (n=6, 8%), spinal cord injury (n=1, 1%), and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (n=1, 1%). Three assessment modalities were identified: external device (eg, wrist-worn accelerometer), smartphone or tablet, and telerehabilitation. The feasibility and overall participant acceptability were high. The most common hand function domains assessed included finger tapping speed (fine motor control and rigidity), hand tremor (pharmacological and rehabilitation efficacy), and finger dexterity (manipulation of small objects required for daily tasks) and handwriting (coordination). Although validity and reliability data were heterogeneous across studies, statistically significant correlations with traditional in-clinic metrics were most commonly reported for telerehabilitation and smartphone or tablet apps. The most readily implementable assessments were smartphone or tablet-based.

Conclusions: The findings show that remote assessment of hand function is feasible in neurological disorders. Although varied, the assessments allow clinicians to objectively record performance in multiple hand function domains, improving the reliability of traditional in-clinic assessments. Remote assessments, particularly via telerehabilitation and smartphone- or tablet-based apps that align with in-clinic metrics, facilitate clinic to home transitions, have few barriers to implementation, and prompt remote identification and treatment of hand function impairments.

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e33157) doi:10.2196/33157



KEYWORDS

neurological disease; hand function; remote assessment; assessment; telemedicine; rehabilitation; telerehabilitation; review; neurological; hand; function; diagnosis; intervention; dysfunction; feasibility; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

Normally functioning human hands allow everyday participation in self-care, work, and leisure activities that involve precise grip and object manipulation [1]. Specifically, daily activities and fine motor tasks require finger dexterity, thumb-finger opposition, and hand opening-closing, which adapt to task requirements, including those needed to navigate the digital world. [2] Unfortunately, chronic disorders of the central nervous system (CNS) can impair hand function even during the early stages of the disease [3]. Damage to the CNS, including the spinal cord, can result in tremor, spasticity, sensory loss, weakness, and coordination loss in the upper limbs, which can negatively impact the ability to adapt to task requirements, thus limiting independence in activities of daily living (ADL) and quality of life [3]. For example, most individuals with Parkinson disease (PD) develop hand tremors over the course of the disorder, leading to difficulty with precise finger and hand movements [4]. In addition, ischemic strokes occur most commonly in the cortical regions supplied by the middle cerebral artery [5], affecting areas of the motor and sensory cortices responsible for the fine motor activity of the hands [6]. In these disorders and others, evaluating hand function at regular intervals can detect changes signaling neurological decline, or monitor response to disease-modifying therapies, symptomatic therapies, or rehabilitation.

Although assessments of hand function are routinely performed in clinics, clinicians have an increasing interest in deploying tools to measure hand function remotely. In-home remote monitoring of function, in general, provides benefits to patients by increasing convenience, reducing travel, and providing the ability to capture data more frequently. Over the past decade, many studies have examined remote monitoring devices in neurological and nonneurological populations [7,8]. For example, in multiple sclerosis (MS), studies have shown that continuous remote monitoring of ambulatory step count can capture-and even predict-changes in MS-related disability and can serve as a longitudinal outcome measure for targeted interventions [9,10]. To date, reviews have mainly focused on lower extremity function or overall physical activity [11]; in fact, the methodological discrepancies in remote device use and reporting regarding hand function have yielded conflicting results in terms of validity, reliability, and ease of clinical use.

Objectives

In this systematic review, we evaluate the existing evidence regarding remote assessment devices for hand function in populations with chronic CNS disorders. We specifically examine evidence of validity, reliability, and feasibility for each domain of hand function and the stage of development of the assessments. Our findings are expected to facilitate ready implementation of remote assessment of hand function in prevalent neurological disorders.

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e33157
```

Methods

Eligibility Criteria

This review was structured using the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) [12] framework. Studies were included based on the following criteria: (1) participants had chronic neurological pathologies of the CNS, (2) participants were aged ≥ 18 years, (3) the studies were peer reviewed and original, (4) the studies were designed to objectively assess hand function, and (5) the assessments were deployable remotely (ie, outside of traditional in-person clinical settings). Studies were excluded if they were (1) conducted in participants with orthopedic impairments of the wrist or hand, (2) conducted in nonhuman primates, (3) designed as an intervention to improve an aspect of hand function (as the intent was to focus on assessment tools rather than a change of function), or (4) not published in English.

Search Procedures

A literature search was performed using the following databases: PubMed and MEDLINE, CINAHL, Web of Science, and Embase. The search was conducted using both Medical Subject Heading terms and the following keywords independently and in combination: *remote, assessment, outcome, test, measurement, hand, upper extremity, arm,* and *function.* Independently, 2 researchers (AG and WYH) assessed articles for relevance and adherence to the eligibility criteria. Studies were recursively searched to identify cited and cited-by articles.

Data Extraction and Categorization

To evaluate the methodological quality of the included studies, we used the National Institutes of Health quality assessment for observational cohort and cross-sectional studies [13]. Each study was evaluated according to 8 criteria. The overall study quality was assessed as *good* (>5 criteria met), *fair* (4-5 criteria met), or *poor* (<5 criteria met).

The data were extracted (AG) and checked (WYH); discrepancies were resolved through discussion with the senior author (RB). The variables of interest included participant demographics, study design and duration, device type and modality, disease-specific severity levels, comparison assessments, and stage of development and implementation (to understand whether assessments were currently available for use). Participant satisfaction with the study protocol and assessment and time taken to complete the novel assessment were extracted when available. Extracted statistical data included concurrent validity (defined as the comparison between a new test and a well-established one [14]) and reliability (defined as a measure of stability or consistency [15]).

The selected studies evaluated many variables relating to hand function. To compare the most salient domains across studies, we classified assessments into the following hand function domains based on the Functional Repertoire of the Hand established by the American Journal of Occupational Therapy

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

[16]: (1) finger tapping, which is the speed and accuracy of finger taps onto a prespecified target; (2) whole hand grasp, which is the range of motion and coordination of full hand movement; (3) pincer grasp, which is the range of motion and coordination of thumb to index finger movement; (4) hand tremor, which is the quantification of tremor distal to the wrist at rest; (5) reaction time, which is the time taken to respond to a predetermined stimulus using only fingers; (6) pinch and grip strength, which is the quantification of the maximum pinching and gripping strength; (7) finger dexterity, which is the in-hand manipulation of an object; (8) handwriting, which is the clarity and accuracy in drawing or writing; (9) ADL, encompassing tasks required for self-care independence [17]; and (10) instrumental ADL (IADL), encompassing tasks required for household or community-level independence [18].

Results

Search Strategy

A search of databases in June 2021 identified 1295 studies, and 33 additional studies were identified through recursive searches. After title and abstract screening and removal of duplicates, 9.42% (122/1295) of studies remained, and the full texts were assessed for eligibility based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Approximately 41% (50/122) of full-text studies were excluded for not meeting the inclusion criteria. The final 74 studies were confirmed by a second reviewer (WYH) to have met all eligibility criteria. The PRISMA diagram of the search process is outlined in Figure 1, and individual studies are summarized in Multimedia Appendix 1 [19-90]. Of the 74 studies reviewed, 49 (66%) were rated *good* in terms of overall methodological quality, 14 (19%) were rated *fair*, and 9 (12%) were rated *poor*. Study quality is summarized in Multimedia Appendix 2 [19-90].





Modalities of Hand Function Assessment

Across the included studies, 3 different modalities of assessment devices were used, summarized in Multimedia Appendix 1. The most frequently used assessment was an external device specific to hand assessment, with the most common types being wrist-worn accelerometers [19-37] and specialized keyboards [38-47]. These designated external devices allowed the collection of information on reaction time, finger tapping speed, and finger dexterity. Although many study authors noted that

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e33157
```

their external devices were able to capture granular, specific data, many devices were developed under proprietary agreements and are not currently commercially available. The second most common type of assessment was generic smartphone- or tablet-based electronic devices adapted for hand assessment [48-59] or suites of assessments [60-66]. These assessments included an app designed to test finger tapping speed and the accuracy of drawing and tracing various shapes. Such apps facilitated the gathering of data on specific hand

function domains at a relatively low cost for people who already had these electronic devices. Finally, 4% (3/74) of studies used telerehabilitation platforms to validate remote administration of well-established in-clinic assessments [67-69]. For example, Amano et al [69] validated the administration of the Fugl-Meyer Assessment and Action Research Arm Test (ARAT) via telehealth platforms, allowing clinical researchers to gather standardized outcome data through secure telehealth tools.

Most of the included studies (51/74, 69%) performed same-day, cross-sectional validation experiments where participants completed novel and comparative assessments at the same time point. However, 28% (21/74) of studies [23,25,36,37,42,46,47,61,63,64,66,70-80] remotely monitored participants' hand function longitudinally. The duration of the remote monitoring period was 3 days [37] to 3 years [77]. Participant retention and adherence were reported by 5% (4/74) studies [61,66,75,76], all of which had >90% participant retention.

Target Population

The included studies targeted 5 populations of patients with neurological conditions. Most studies (57/74, 77%) included individuals with PD [37,45,65,67,68,70,73,81]. Other populations evaluated were those with stroke (9/74, 12%) [71,72,82] and MS (6/74, 8%) [59,66,91]. Neurological conditions designated as spinal cord injury [83] and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis [47] were described in 1% (1/74) of studies each.

Most included studies evaluated individuals with mild to moderate disease severity on average, as graded by established disease-specific metrics (eg, the Movement Disorder Society–Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale [MDS-UPDRS] and the Expanded Disability Status Scale for people with MS) [37,45,59,65,67,69,70,73,82]. Only 8% (6/74) of studies specified the inclusion criteria to limit recruitment to participants with mild to moderate disease severity [37,41,53,58,63,71].

The sample sizes of studies varied between 1 (case study) [26] and 495 participants [66] in the experimental groups. Most studies (41/74, 55%) included control groups of healthy individuals or those with nonneurological conditions in determining the discriminant validity of the assessments (Multimedia Appendix 1).

Validity and Reliability

Validity data were reported by 73% (54/74) of heterogeneous studies for comparison with well-established in-clinic assessments (Table 1). Approximately 12% (9/74) of studies examining external devices reported high, statistically significant correlations with well-established assessments [19,20,47,50,52,72,73,83,91]. In addition, 8% (6/74) of studies using smartphone assessments [28,49,52,66,79,84] and 1% (1/74) of studies using telerehabilitation [69] found moderate to high, statistically significant correlations with well-established assessments.

 Table 1. Validity and reliability.

| Study | Comparison assessment | Validity | Reliability |
|---------------------------|------------------------|---|---|
| Adams [46] | a | • Hand tremor (AUC ^b =0.76) | |
| Aghanavesi et al [48] | MDS-UPDRS ^c | Finger tapping (r=0.23) Handwriting (r=0.46) | Interrater reliability:Finger tapping (r=0.61)Handwriting (r=0.65) |
| Akram et al [38] | MDS-UPDRS | • Finger tapping (r=-0.49; <i>P</i> <.001) | _ |
| Albani et al [73] | MDS-UPDRS | • Finger tapping (ICC ^d =0.73) | _ |
| Amano et al [69] | In-clinic assessment | Finger dexterity (r=0.99) Whole hand grasp (r=0.99) Pincer grasp (r=0.99) | Interrater reliability:Finger dexterity (r=0.99) |
| Arora et al [70] | MDS-UPDRS | • Finger tapping (mean error of 1.26 UPDRS ^e points) | _ |
| Arroyo-Gallego et al [49] | MDS-UPDRS | • Finger tapping (AUC=0.85; <i>P</i> <.001) | _ |
| Bazgir et al [50] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor (97% accuracy) | _ |
| Bochniewicz et al [82] | ARAT ^f | • IADL ^g (r= -0.14 ; <i>P</i> = $.70$) | _ |
| Boroojerdi et al [37] | MDS-UPDRS | Finger tapping (r=0.291) Hand tremor (r=0.746) | _ |
| Burdea et al [71] | _ | _ | _ |
| Cabrera-Martos et al [67] | In-clinic assessment | _ | Interrater reliability: |
| | | | Finger dexterity (r=0.89) Finger tapping (r=1.0) Hand tremor (r=0.99) |
| Cai et al [19] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor ($r^2=0.95$) | _ |
| Channa et al [20] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor (91.7% accuracy) | _ |
| Cole et al [21] | MDS-UPDRS | _ | _ |
| Creagh et al [59] | 9HPT ^h | • Handwriting: dominant hand (r ² =0.39) and nondominant hand (r ² =0.41) | _ |
| Cunningham et al [74] | _ | _ | _ |
| Dai et al [22] | MDS-UPDRS | Finger tapping (r=-0.970; <i>P</i><.01) Hand tremor (r=0.93; <i>P</i><.001) | Interrater agreement (Kendall <i>W</i>): |
| | | | Finger tapping (0.86)Hand tremor (0.84) |
| Dubuisson et al [91] | 9НРТ | • Finger dexterity (r=0.9; <i>P</i> <.001) | _ |
| Ferreira et al [23] | MDS-UPDRS | _ | _ |
| Giancardo et al [39] | MDS-UPDRS | • Finger tapping (AUC=0.75) | _ |
| Giuffrida et al [24] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor (r=0.89) | _ |
| Goetz et al [75] | MDS-UPDRS | _ | _ |
| Halloran et al [25] | CAHAI ⁱ | • ADL ^j (r= 0.63; $P < .001$) | _ |



| Study | Comparison assessment | Validity | Reliability |
|----------------------------|--|--|---|
| Heijmans et al [26] | ESM ^k app (tremor question- naire) | • Hand tremor (r=0.43) | _ |
| Hoffman et al [68] | In-clinic assessment | Hand tremor (83.3% agreement) Handwriting (41.6% agreement) | Interrater reliability: • Finger dexterity (r=0.99) |
| Hssayeni et al [27] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor (r=0.84) | _ |
| Iakovakis et al [52] | MDS-UPDRS | • Finger tapping (AUC=0.92) | _ |
| Iakovakis et al [51] | MDS-UPDRS | • Finger tapping (r=0.66) | _ |
| Jeon et al [28] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor (85.5% agreement) | _ |
| Jha et al [60] | MDS-UPDRS | Hand tremor (κ=0.68; <i>P</i><.001, substantial) Finger tapping (κ=0.54; <i>P</i><.001, moderate) | Interrater agreement: Hand tremor (96%) Finger tapping (50%) |
| Kim et al [29] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor (85% accuracy) | Interrater reliability: • Hand tremor (r=0.78) |
| Kleinholdermann et al [85] | MDS-UPDRS | • Finger tapping (r=0.445) | _ |
| Kostikis et al [81] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor,: right hand (r=0.75; <i>P</i> <.001) and left hand (r=0.85; <i>P</i> <.001) | _ |
| Lam et al [41] | 9НРТ | • Finger dexterity (r=–0.553) | Test-retest reliability:Finger dexterity (ICC 0.601) |
| Lee et al [53] | MDS-UPDRS | • Finger tapping (AUC=0.92, 95% CI 0.88-0.96) | _ |
| Lee et al [84] | FMA ¹ | • Whole hand grasp (92% accuracy) | _ |
| Lee et al [54] | MDS-UPDRS | _ | _ |
| Lin et al [88] | — | — | — |
| Lipsmeier et al [61] | MDS-UPDRS | Finger tapping (t=2.18; P=.03) Hand tremor (t=2.17; P=.03) | Test–retest reliability: Finger tapping (ICC=0.64) Hand tremor (ICC=0.90) |
| Londral et al [47] | _ | _ | Test–retest reliability: • r=0.96; <i>P</i> =.09 |
| Lopez-Blanco et al [76] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor (r=0.81; <i>P</i> <.001) | Interrater reliability: • Hand tremor (ICC=0.89) |
| Mahadevan et al [30] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor (r=0.67; <i>P</i> <.001) | Interrater reliability: • Hand tremor (ICC=0.75) |
| Matarazzo et al [42] | UPDRS-3 | _ | _ |
| Memedi et al [77] | Visual assessment | • Handwriting (85% accuracy) | Test–retest reliability: • Handwriting (ICC=0.69) |
| Mera et al [31] | _ | _ | _ |
| Mitsi et al [65] | MDS-UPDRS | _ | _ |
| Noyce et al [43] | MDS-UPDRS | • Finger tapping (r=0.53) | _ |
| Orozco-Arroyave et al [62] | UPDRS-3 | _ | _ |



Gopal et al

| Gopal | et | al |
|-------|----|----|
| oop | | |

| Study | Comparison assessment | Validity | Reliability |
|------------------------------------|--|--|---|
| Pan et al [63] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor (r=0.81) | |
| | | | |
| Papadopoulos et al [40,55] | MDS-UPDRS | — | — |
| Powers et al [78] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor (r=0.72) | — |
| Pratap et al [66] | Longitudinal Neuro-QoL ^m scores | • Finger tapping (β =.40; <i>P</i> <.001) | _ |
| Prochazka and Kowalczewski [83] | ARAT and FMA | Finger dexterity (r²=0.49) Whole hand grasp, (r²=0.88) Pincer grasp (r²=0.88) | Test–retest reliability:0.67% (SD 3.6) |
| Rigas et al [32] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor (87% accuracy) | _ |
| Salarian et al [87] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor (r=0.87; <i>P</i> <.001) | _ |
| San-Segundo et al [33] | _ | _ | _ |
| Sanchez-Perez et al [34] | MDS-UPDRS | _ | — |
| Schallert et al [56] | _ | _ | _ |
| Shribman et al [44] | 9HPT | • Finger tapping (r=0.926) | _ |
| Sigcha et al [79] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor (r=0.969) | _ |
| Simonet et al [57] | MDS-UPDRS | • Finger tapping (r=-0.49) | _ |
| Stamatakis et al [35] | MDS-UPDRS | • Finger tapping (Goodman–Kruskal in- dex=0.961) | _ |
| Tavares et al [86] | MDS-UPDRS | • Finger tapping (r=0.67; <i>P</i> <.001) | _ |
| Trager et al [45] | MDS-UPDRS | Finger dexterity (r=0.14; P=.43) Finger tapping (r=0.58; P<.001) | _ |
| Westin et al [80] | MDS-UPDRS | • Handwriting (r=0.41) | Test–retest reliability:Handwriting (r=0.71) |
| Wissel et al [58] | MDS-UPDRS | • Finger tapping (r=0.55) | Test–retest reliability: • Finger tapping (r>0.75) |
| Wu et al [89] | MDS-UPDRS | • Hand tremor (r=-0.798) | _ |
| Yu et al [72] | FMA | Finger dexterity (r²=0.70) Pinch strength (r²=0.72) | _ |
| Zambrana et al [90] | _ | _ | _ |



| Gopal e | et al |
|---------|-------|
|---------|-------|

| Study | Comparison assessment | Validity | | Reliability |
|------------------|-----------------------|----------|------------------------------------|-------------|
| Zhan et al [64] | MDS-UPDRS | • | Finger tapping (mean 71%, SD 0.4%) | _ |
| Zhang et al [36] | MDS-UPDRS | • | Hand tremor (85.9% accuracy) | _ |

^aData unavailable.

^bAUC: area under the curve.

^cMDS-UPDRS: Movement Disorder Society–Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale.

^dICC: interclass coefficient.

^eUPDRS: Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale.

^fARAT: Action Research Arm Test.

^gIADL: instrumental activities of daily living.

^h9HPT: 9-hole peg test.

ⁱCAHAI: Chedoke Arm and Hand Inventory.

^jADL: activities of daily living.

^kESM: experience sampling method.

¹FMA: Fugl-Meyer Assessment.

^mQoL: quality of life.

Of the 74 studies, 15 (20%) heterogeneous studies reported reliability statistics; 2 (3%) telerehabilitation assessments [68,69] revealed a high, statistically significant interrater reliability; and 1 (1%) external device assessment [76] revealed a high, although statistically insignificant reliability.

Hand Function Domain, Based on the Functional Repertoire of the Hand

Finger Tapping Speed

The most common hand function domain assessed was finger tapping speed [22,31,35,37-39,42-45,48,49,51-54,57,58,60-62, 64-67,70,73,75,80,85,86,92]. Finger tapping can provide clinicians with an understanding of fine motor control and stiffness, especially in individuals with spasticity. Of the included studies that examined finger tapping, Albani et al [73] reported the highest correlation with MDS-UPDRS scores in participants with PD. In their study, the authors used an external device, a gesture-based tracking system involving a specialized depth camera and gloves with colored markers, to track and quantify fine hand movements. The MDS-UPDRS item on finger tapping relies on visual assessments of finger tapping (eg, interruptions in the tapping rhythm), and specialized equipment such as an external device aid in quantifying finger tapping capability [73].

Hand Tremor

The second most commonly assessed domain was hand tremor, a prevalent impairment in many neurological disorders. Quantifying tremors can help determine the efficacy of pharmacological and rehabilitative therapies. The studies that examined this domain were conducted in participants with PD [19-21,23,24,26-30,32-34,36,37,46,50,55,60,61,63,64,67,68,74-76,78,79,81,87]. Hoffman et al [68] found a 100% agreement of their visual examination of hand tremor at rest in their evaluation of telerehabilitation administration of the MDS-UPDRS assessment in comparison with in-clinic evaluation. Sigcha et al [79] developed a novel smartphone app using an internal gyroscope and accelerometer to measure resting hand tremors. This method

had a strong correlation (r=0.97) with in-clinic MDS-UPDRS resting hand tremor scores.

Finger Dexterity

The third most commonly assessed domain was finger dexterity [41,45,47,67,68,72,83,88,91]. Finger dexterity assessment tasks included manipulation of small objects (eg, the 9-hole peg test [9HPT] and the coin rotation test), which are useful metrics of fine motor control required for ADL, such as buttoning clothing. Finger dexterity was examined in all 5 of the neurological conditions examined in this review. Of the included studies examining participants with PD, Cabrera-Martos et al [67] found a mean difference of 0.3 (SD 1.2) in scores between telerehabilitation and in-clinic administration of the coin rotation task [93] in the affected limb. Similarly, using telerehabilitation to examine the pinch domain of participants with stroke, Amano et al [69] reported a Spearman ρ of 0.99 between telerehabilitation and in-clinic administered items. In participants with MS, Dubuisson et al [91] validated an external device, a cardboard 9HPT with a correlation of 0.96 between this novel assessment tool and a standard, plastic 9HPT.

Handwriting

Approximately 8% (6/74) of studies [48,56,59,68,77,80] examined handwriting accuracy, a specific and sensitive measure of fine motor coordination. The greatest accuracy in comparison with in-clinic assessments was reported by Hoffman et al [68], who found a high percentage of agreement (85%) between in-clinic measures and an external telemetry device of the MDS-UPDRS item for handwriting.

Specific Functions

Specific functional domains were evaluated by 11% (8/74) of studies. Grip and pinch strength were examined in 4% (3/74) of studies [68,72,83] using remote deployment of these standard in-clinic metrics. Prochazka et al [83] evaluated the validity of a novel external device to collect force data from grip and pinch tasks and found a coefficient of determination (\mathbb{R}^2) of 0.88 between the remote device and in-clinic administered ARAT.

XSL•FO RenderX Only 4% (3/74) of studies [25,68,82] specifically examined ADL and IADL. Hoffman et al [68] compared in-clinic and telerehabilitation-administered functional independence measures and found 100% agreement in scores for eating and 91.7% agreement for dressing. Bochniewicz et al [82] developed a wrist-worn accelerometer to capture and quantify disability in individuals after stroke. The protocol simulated IADL such as doing laundry and shopping in a grocery store, and the authors reported 88.4% accuracy compared with ARAT scores of upper extremity functional use.

Participant Acceptability

In populations with PD, 9% (7/74) of studies reported participant acceptability and usability of assessments. Albani et al [73] found that participants rated the hand gesture–based tracking system 5.9/7 on a poststudy usability questionnaire, indicating ease of use, high interface quality, and usefulness. In 4% (3/74) of studies [24,30,37], participants using wearable sensors to monitor hand tremors and finger tapping found the devices comfortable and easy to use. Both Goetz et al [75] and Ferreira et al [23] reported >80% of participant satisfaction with external devices to examine hand tremors. Mitsi et al [65] found that 76% of participants using a tablet-based assessment for finger tapping [65] and reaction time found it easy to use, with an additional 63% reporting willingness to use it long-term to monitor disease activity.

In populations with stroke, Burdea et al [71] asked both participants and caregivers to provide feedback on their video game–like assessment and intervention using a 5-point study-specific Likert scale (higher scores indicating statement agreement). Participants reported that the device was moderately easy to use (mean score 3.1/5.0), that they would encourage others to use it (mean score 4.3/5.0), and that they liked the system overall (mean score 4.2/5.0). However, participants encountered some technical difficulties during use (mean score 2.2/5.0). Caregivers also found the device setup appropriate for the home environment and easy to use (mean score 3.5/5.0).

In people with MS, Dubuisson et al [91] reported that 66.7% of participants preferred the portable in-home 9HPT in comparison with the standard in-clinic version.

Safety

Only 3% (2/74) of studies reported safety data [37,68]. Hoffman et al [68] reported that participants who received assessment via telerehabilitation were accompanied by a researcher to ensure safety. Boroojerdi et al [37] used a wearable patch and reported no adverse skin reactions at the application site or device malfunction. Adverse events were not reported in any of the included studies.

Stage of Development and Implementation

As the assessments in this review were novel, the availability for clinical implementation varied. Most studies (44/74, 59%) evaluated assessments requiring specialized equipment for implementation. These devices included specialized cameras, wearable devices, electromyography, and specialized keyboards. Although not an application, the cardboard 9HPT developed by Dubuisson et al [91] was designed specifically to be

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e33157
```

environmentally friendly, cost-effective, and used by patients at home. The remaining external devices evaluated in this review were designated as developmental, with a need for subsequent safety and prospective studies on usability before clinical use.

Approximately 3% (2/74) of studies using telerehabilitation methods required videoconferencing devices and a stable internet connection for both providers and patients for implementation. However, although Hoffman et al [68] similarly used telerehabilitation methods, their protocol required participants to use clinical equipment during in-home assessments (eg, a hand dynamometer and the 9HPT), potentially limiting widespread implementation.

A smartphone or tablet-based application was used in 27% (20/74) of studies to administer assessments. The FLOODLIGHT application studied by Creagh et al [59] is currently available for download for iOS and Android devices. The remaining applications were study-specific developments but, given compatible devices and secure broadband internet connection availability, have limited barriers to implementation.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The purpose of this review was to systematically gather available literature on remote assessments for monitoring hand function in people with central, chronic, and neurological diseases. The search yielded 74 studies that met the inclusion criteria, and 71 unique assessments were examined for validity, reliability, and clinical implementation. A wide variety of metrics were collected on a number of hand function domains, including the amplitude of finger tapping, finger dexterity, hand tremor, and ADL independence. Altogether, the studies provide a number of insights; however, to date, no single tool, or combination of tools, validly and reliably captures hand function across these major neurological conditions.

Many of the studies were of good quality, and several study characteristics were found to enhance their quality. Including controls with nonneurological conditions as a comparison, when available, helped demonstrate the discriminant validity of the novel assessments examined. Most studies included participants with lower disability status, which likely allowed for more dynamic testing of hand function domains. Unfortunately, most of the included studies reported statistically insignificant associations with standard in-clinic metrics. As prior literature suggests that traditional in-clinic assessments have limited granularity for upper limb function in populations with neurological conditions, differences between the novel assessments and these traditional in-clinic tests could indicate that the new tools capture additional aspects of function (eg, quantifying pincer grasp) relative to the traditional in-clinic assessments or vice versa. In addition, few studies reported reliability, especially interrater reliability, suggesting the need for more research and that the included tools remain primarily in the development phase.

The most commonly assessed hand function domain was finger tapping speed, with moderate to high agreement across comparison assessments. The finger tapping test is a valid and

XSL•FO

reliable measure of bradykinesia in PD [94] and a predictor of ADL independence in acute stroke [95]. It is relatively simple to quantify finger tapping in-clinic or via a smartphone or tablet app by counting the number of finger taps within a specific time frame. Although overall construct validity and participant satisfaction were high, further work in other hand function domains will help determine the most salient predictors of ADL independence and response to treatment and intervention.

This review highlights important aspects of the feasibility of remote evaluations. Participant and caregiver satisfaction, when reported, were moderate to high for these technologically innovative assessments. This suggests that participants found the novel assessments easy to use and effective in evaluating their hand function despite being nontraditional. Further, 28% (21/74) of the included studies demonstrated the feasibility of remotely monitoring hand function over multiple days. This is a key finding, as long-term monitoring of hand function in a patient's natural environment has the potential to identify changes in real time, allowing for timely intervention modifications.

Regarding patient safety, although the included assessments were noninvasive and posed a relatively low safety risk, ensuring the secure transfer of data, especially with internet-based communication (eg, telerehabilitation and smartphone or tablet-based apps) between patient and clinician, is critical to confidentiality and Health Insurance Portability Accountability Act compliance. Future studies should report on data storage and encryption methodologies.

The assessments evaluated were in varying stages of development and implementation. The most readily implementable types of assessment were those using telerehabilitation or smartphone- or tablet-based apps. According to 2019 data, 85% of Americans own a smartphone, and 93% use the internet regularly, of whom 75% use a home high-speed broadband network [96]. Given these statistics, telerehabilitation and application-based assessments, if interoperable across devices, might be relatively accessible for most patients. Lower costs could make clinical implementation less of a challenge. Furthermore, with no specialized devices to purchase or distribute to patients, clinics could similarly benefit from these cost-effective measures.

Limitations

A major limitation of this review is the heterogeneity of hand function domains evaluated, which, when compounded with the methodological variability (in comparison assessments, inclusion criteria, and statistical approaches), made it difficult to compare the various tools. Future studies that include more homogeneous patient populations and standardized reporting of correlation coefficients with comparison assessments will facilitate analysis across domains and assessment types. A second limitation was the paucity of studies conducting repeated trials of the assessments, limiting the identification of any practice effects with use of a new device. In repeated trials of smartphone-based assessments, performance improved in the first 10 trials because of a practice effect, followed by a narrowing of variance as the practice effect waned and familiarity with the assessment increased [97]. Follow-up studies should include repeated trials, preferably over multiple days, to capture these effects and fluctuations in disease progression. Third, the effect of confounding variables (eg, disease-modifying therapies, age, and disease duration) was infrequently described in validity statistics; the generalizability of this review should proceed with caution. Fourth, all tools included require active participant engagement as opposed to passive monitoring (eg, collecting data on dexterity as a participant types to complete a survey). Passive monitoring may be able to capture similar metrics with a reduced participant time burden. Finally, we may have missed relevant studies published in non-English languages.

Conclusions

This review suggests that remote assessments can be valid and reliable tools for measuring hand function impairments in chronic neurological diseases and that doing so is clinically feasible and acceptable to patients. In the past decade, personal smartphone and computer ownership have become commonplace; with it, patients and health care providers are able to communicate in real time, opening new avenues for care delivery and disease monitoring. We highlight the current potential to implement remote assessments via telerehabilitation and smartphone- or tablet-based apps. As interventions for ambulation and lower extremity function become increasingly robust, these methods will allow clinicians to reliably assess multiple domains of hand function to monitor disease progression and response to interventions.

Conflicts of Interest

WYH is supported by the National Multiple Sclerosis Society (FG-1908-34831). RB receives research support to University of California, San Francisco from Biogen and Roche Genentech, as well as personal fees for consulting from Alexion, Biogen, EMD Serono, Genzyme Sanofi, Novartis, and Roche Genentech.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Summary of studies. [DOCX File, 41 KB - rehab v9i1e33157 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Quality assessment of studies. [DOCX File, 31 KB - rehab_v9i1e33157_app2.docx]

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e33157
```

References

- Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care (IQWiG). How do hands work? Informedhealth. Cologne, Germany: Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care (IQWiG); 2021. URL: <u>https://www.informedhealth.org/how-do-hands-work.html</u> [accessed 2021-06-17]
- 2. Chen CC, Kasven N, Karpatkin HI, Sylvester A. Hand strength and perceived manual ability among patients with multiple sclerosis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2007;88(6):794-797. [doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2007.03.010] [Medline: 17532905]
- 3. Butler DP, Murray A, Horwitz M. Hand manifestations of neurological disease: some alternatives to consider. Br J Gen Pract 2016;66(647):331-332 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3399/bjgp16X685549] [Medline: 27231304]
- 4. Baumann CR. Epidemiology, diagnosis and differential diagnosis in Parkinson's disease tremor. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 2012;18 Suppl 1:S90-S92. [doi: 10.1016/S1353-8020(11)70029-3] [Medline: 22166466]
- Ng YS, Stein J, Ning M, Black-Schaffer RM. Comparison of clinical characteristics and functional outcomes of ischemic stroke in different vascular territories. Stroke 2007;38(8):2309-2314. [doi: <u>10.1161/STROKEAHA.106.475483</u>] [Medline: <u>17615368</u>]
- 6. Jang SH, Chang MC. Motor outcomes of patients with a complete middle cerebral artery territory infarct. Neural Regen Res 2013;8(20):1892-1897 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1673-5374.2013.20.008] [Medline: 25206498]
- 7. Soon S, Svavarsdottir H, Downey C, Jayne DG. Wearable devices for remote vital signs monitoring in the outpatient setting: an overview of the field. BMJ Innov 2020;6(2):55-71. [doi: 10.1136/bmjinnov-2019-000354]
- 8. Ganeshan R, Enriquez AD, Freeman JV. Remote monitoring of implantable cardiac devices: current state and future directions. Curr Opin Cardiol 2018;33(1):20-30. [doi: <u>10.1097/HCO.000000000000471</u>] [Medline: <u>29059076</u>]
- Block VJ, Lizée A, Crabtree-Hartman E, Bevan CJ, Graves JS, Bove R, et al. Continuous daily assessment of multiple sclerosis disability using remote step count monitoring. J Neurol 2017;264(2):316-326 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00415-016-8334-6] [Medline: 27896433]
- Block VJ, Bove R, Zhao C, Garcha P, Graves J, Romeo AR, et al. Association of continuous assessment of step count by remote monitoring with disability progression among adults with multiple sclerosis. JAMA Netw Open 2019;2(3):e190570 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.0570] [Medline: 30874777]
- Block VA, Pitsch E, Tahir P, Cree BA, Allen DD, Gelfand JM. Remote physical activity monitoring in neurological disease: a systematic review. PLoS One 2016;11(4):e0154335 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154335] [Medline: 27124611]
- 12. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. BMJ 2009;339:b2535 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2535] [Medline: 19622551]
- 13. Study quality assessment tools. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools</u> [accessed 2021-05-12]
- 14. Glen S. Concurrent validity definition and examples. Statistics How To. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.statisticshowto.com/</u> <u>concurrent-validity/</u> [accessed 2021-04-06]
- 15. Glen S. Reliability and validity in research: definitions, examples. Statistics How To. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.statisticshowto.com/reliability-validity-definitions-examples/</u> [accessed 2021-04-06]
- Kimmerle M, Mainwaring L, Borenstein M. The functional repertoire of the hand and its application to assessment. Am J Occup Ther 2003;57(5):489-498. [doi: <u>10.5014/ajot.57.5.489</u>] [Medline: <u>14527110</u>]
- 17. Edemekong PF, Bomgaars DL, Sukumaran S, Levy SB. Activities of daily living. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing; 2021.
- 18. Guo HJ, Sapra A. Instrumental activity of daily living. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing; 2021.
- 19. Cai G, Lin Z, Dai H, Xia X, Xiong Y, Horng SJ, et al. Quantitative assessment of parkinsonian tremor based on a linear acceleration extraction algorithm. Biomed Signal Process Control 2018;42:53-62. [doi: 10.1016/j.bspc.2018.01.008]
- 20. Channa A, Ifrim RC, Popescu D, Popescu N. A-WEAR bracelet for detection of hand tremor and bradykinesia in Parkinson's patients. Sensors (Basel) 2021;21(3):981 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s21030981] [Medline: 33540570]
- Cole BT, Roy SH, De Luca CJ, Nawab SH. Dynamical learning and tracking of tremor and dyskinesia from wearable sensors. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 2014;22(5):982-991. [doi: <u>10.1109/TNSRE.2014.2310904</u>] [Medline: <u>24760943</u>]
- 22. Dai H, Cai G, Lin Z, Wang Z, Ye Q. Validation of inertial sensing-based wearable device for tremor and bradykinesia quantification. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2021;25(4):997-1005. [doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2020.3009319] [Medline: 32750961]
- Ferreira JJ, Godinho C, Santos AT, Domingos J, Abreu D, Lobo R, et al. Quantitative home-based assessment of Parkinson's symptoms: the SENSE-PARK feasibility and usability study. BMC Neurol 2015;15:89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12883-015-0343-z] [Medline: 26059091]
- 24. Giuffrida JP, Riley DE, Maddux BN, Heldman DA. Clinically deployable Kinesia technology for automated tremor assessment. Mov Disord 2009;24(5):723-730. [doi: <u>10.1002/mds.22445</u>] [Medline: <u>19133661</u>]
- 25. Halloran S, Tang L, Guan Y, Shi JQ, Eyre J. Remote monitoring of stroke patients' rehabilitation using wearable accelerometers. In: Proceedings of the 23rd International Symposium on Wearable Computers. New York, NY: Association

for Computing Machinery; 2019 Presented at: ISWC '19; September 9-13, 2019; London, UK p. 72-77. [doi: 10.1145/3341163.3347731]

- Heijmans M, Habets J, Kuijf M, Kubben P, Herff C. Evaluation of Parkinson's disease at home: predicting tremor from wearable sensors. Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2019;2019:584-587. [doi: <u>10.1109/EMBC.2019.8857717</u>] [Medline: <u>31945966</u>]
- Hssayeni MD, Jimenez-Shahed J, Burack MA, Ghoraani B. Wearable sensors for estimation of Parkinsonian tremor severity during free body movements. Sensors (Basel) 2019;19(19):4215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s19194215] [Medline: 31569335]
- 28. Jeon H, Lee W, Park H, Lee HJ, Kim SK, Kim HB, et al. Automatic classification of tremor severity in Parkinson's disease using a wearable device. Sensors (Basel) 2017;17(9):2067 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s17092067] [Medline: 28891942]
- 29. Kim HB, Lee WW, Kim A, Lee HJ, Park HY, Jeon HS, et al. Wrist sensor-based tremor severity quantification in Parkinson's disease using convolutional neural network. Comput Biol Med 2018;95:140-146. [doi: 10.1016/j.compbiomed.2018.02.007] [Medline: 29500984]
- Mahadevan N, Demanuele C, Zhang H, Volfson D, Ho B, Erb MK, et al. Development of digital biomarkers for resting tremor and bradykinesia using a wrist-worn wearable device. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3:5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-019-0217-7] [Medline: <u>31970290</u>]
- Mera TO, Heldman DA, Espay AJ, Payne M, Giuffrida JP. Feasibility of home-based automated Parkinson's disease motor assessment. J Neurosci Methods 2012;203(1):152-156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2011.09.019] [Medline: 21978487]
- 32. Rigas G, Tzallas AT, Tsipouras MG, Bougia P, Tripoliti EE, Baga D, et al. Assessment of tremor activity in the Parkinson's disease using a set of wearable sensors. IEEE Trans Inf Technol Biomed 2012;16(3):478-487. [doi: 10.1109/TITB.2011.2182616] [Medline: 22231198]
- San-Segundo R, Zhang A, Cebulla A, Panev S, Tabor G, Stebbins K, et al. Parkinson's disease tremor detection in the wild using wearable accelerometers. Sensors (Basel) 2020;20(20):5817 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s20205817] [Medline: 33066691]
- Sanchez-Perez LA, Sanchez-Fernandez LP, Shaout A, Martinez-Hernandez JM, Alvarez-Noriega MJ. Rest tremor quantification based on fuzzy inference systems and wearable sensors. Int J Med Inform 2018;114:6-17. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.03.002] [Medline: 29673605]
- Stamatakis J, Ambroise J, Crémers J, Sharei H, Delvaux V, Macq B, et al. Finger tapping clinimetric score prediction in Parkinson's disease using low-cost accelerometers. Comput Intell Neurosci 2013;2013:717853 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2013/717853] [Medline: 23690760]
- Zhang A, De la Torre F, Hodgins J. Comparing laboratory and in-the-wild data for continuous Parkinson's disease tremor detection. Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2020;2020:5436-5441. [doi: <u>10.1109/EMBC44109.2020.9176255</u>] [Medline: <u>33019210</u>]
- Boroojerdi B, Ghaffari R, Mahadevan N, Markowitz M, Melton K, Morey B, et al. Clinical feasibility of a wearable, conformable sensor patch to monitor motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 2019;61:70-76. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.parkreldis.2018.11.024</u>] [Medline: <u>30635244</u>]
- 38. Akram N, Li H, Ben-Joseph A, Budu C, Gallagher DA, Bestwick JP, et al. Developing and assessing a new web-based tapping test for measuring distal movement in Parkinson's disease: a Distal Finger Tapping test. Sci Rep 2022;12(1):386 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-03563-7] [Medline: 35013372]
- Giancardo L, Sánchez-Ferro A, Arroyo-Gallego T, Butterworth I, Mendoza CS, Montero P, et al. Computer keyboard interaction as an indicator of early Parkinson's disease. Sci Rep 2016;6:34468 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/srep34468] [Medline: 27703257]
- Papadopoulos A, Iakovakis D, Klingelhoefer L, Bostantjopoulou S, Chaudhuri KR, Kyritsis K, et al. Unobtrusive detection of Parkinson's disease from multi-modal and in-the-wild sensor data using deep learning techniques. Sci Rep 2020;10(1):21370 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-78418-8] [Medline: 33288807]
- 41. Lam KH, Meijer KA, Loonstra FC, Coerver E, Twose J, Redeman E, et al. Real-world keystroke dynamics are a potentially valid biomarker for clinical disability in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 2021;27(9):1421-1431 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1352458520968797] [Medline: 33150823]
- 42. Matarazzo M, Arroyo-Gallego T, Montero P, Puertas-Martín V, Butterworth I, Mendoza CS, et al. Remote monitoring of treatment response in Parkinson's disease: the habit of typing on a computer. Mov Disord 2019;34(10):1488-1495. [doi: 10.1002/mds.27772] [Medline: 31211469]
- Noyce AJ, Nagy A, Acharya S, Hadavi S, Bestwick JP, Fearnley J, et al. Bradykinesia-akinesia incoordination test: validating an online keyboard test of upper limb function. PLoS One 2014;9(4):e96260 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0096260] [Medline: 24781810]
- 44. Shribman S, Hasan H, Hadavi S, Giovannoni G, Noyce AJ. The BRAIN test: a keyboard-tapping test to assess disability and clinical features of multiple sclerosis. J Neurol 2018;265(2):285-290 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00415-017-8690-x] [Medline: 29204963]

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e33157
```

- 45. Trager MH, Wilkins KB, Koop MM, Bronte-Stewart H. A validated measure of rigidity in Parkinson's disease using alternating finger tapping on an engineered keyboard. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 2020;81:161-164 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2020.10.047] [Medline: 33157435]
- 46. Adams WR. High-accuracy detection of early Parkinson's disease using multiple characteristics of finger movement while typing. PLoS One 2017;12(11):e0188226 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0188226] [Medline: 29190695]
- 47. Londral A, Pinto S, de Carvalho M. Markers for upper limb dysfunction in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis using analysis of typing activity. Clin Neurophysiol 2016;127(1):925-931. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.clinph.2015.06.017</u>] [Medline: <u>26160275</u>]
- 48. Aghanavesi S, Nyholm D, Senek M, Bergquist F, Memedi M. A smartphone-based system to quantify dexterity in Parkinson's disease patients. Inform Med Unlocked 2017;9:11-17. [doi: 10.1016/j.imu.2017.05.005]
- Arroyo-Gallego T, Ledesma-Carbayo MJ, Sanchez-Ferro A, Butterworth I, Mendoza CS, Matarazzo M, et al. Detection of motor impairment in Parkinson's disease via mobile touchscreen typing. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 2017;64(9):1994-2002. [doi: 10.1109/TBME.2017.2664802] [Medline: 28237917]
- 50. Bazgir O, Habibi SA, Palma L, Pierleoni P, Nafees S. A classification system for assessment and home monitoring of tremor in patients with Parkinson's disease. J Med Signals Sens 2018;8(2):65-72 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29928630]
- Iakovakis D, Chaudhuri KR, Klingelhoefer L, Bostantjopoulou S, Katsarou Z, Trivedi D, et al. Screening of Parkinsonian subtle fine-motor impairment from touchscreen typing via deep learning. Sci Rep 2020;10(1):12623 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-69369-1] [Medline: <u>32724210</u>]
- 52. Iakovakis D, Hadjidimitriou S, Charisis V, Bostantzopoulou S, Katsarou Z, Hadjileontiadis LJ. Touchscreen typing-pattern analysis for detecting fine motor skills decline in early-stage Parkinson's disease. Sci Rep 2018;8(1):7663 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-25999-0] [Medline: 29769594]
- 53. Lee CY, Kang SJ, Hong SK, Ma HI, Lee U, Kim YJ. A validation study of a smartphone-based finger tapping application for quantitative assessment of bradykinesia in Parkinson's disease. PLoS One 2016;11(7):e0158852 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0158852] [Medline: 27467066]
- 54. Lee U, Kang SJ, Choi JH, Kim YJ, Ma HI. Mobile application of finger tapping task assessment for early diagnosis of Parkinson's disease. Electron lett 2016;52(24):1976-1978. [doi: 10.1049/el.2016.3113]
- Papadopoulos A, Kyritsis K, Klingelhoefer L, Bostanjopoulou S, Chaudhuri KR, Delopoulos A. Detecting Parkinsonian tremor from IMU data collected in-the-wild using deep multiple-instance learning. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2020;24(9):2559-2569. [doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2019.2961748] [Medline: 31880570]
- 56. Schallert W, Fluet MC, Kesselring J, Kool J. Evaluation of upper limb function with digitizing tablet-based tests: reliability and discriminative validity in healthy persons and patients with neurological disorders. Disabil Rehabil 2020:1-9. [doi: 10.1080/09638288.2020.1800838] [Medline: 32757680]
- 57. Simonet C, Galmes MA, Lambert C, Rees RN, Haque T, Bestwick JP, et al. Slow motion analysis of repetitive tapping (SMART) test: measuring bradykinesia in recently diagnosed Parkinson's disease and idiopathic anosmia. J Parkinsons Dis 2021;11(4):1901-1915. [doi: 10.3233/JPD-212683] [Medline: 34180422]
- 58. Wissel BD, Mitsi G, Dwivedi AK, Papapetropoulos S, Larkin S, López Castellanos JR, et al. Tablet-based application for objective measurement of motor fluctuations in Parkinson disease. Digit Biomark 2017;1(2):126-135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000485468] [Medline: 32095754]
- Creagh AP, Simillion C, Scotland A, Lipsmeier F, Bernasconi C, Belachew S, et al. Smartphone-based remote assessment of upper extremity function for multiple sclerosis using the Draw a Shape Test. Physiol Meas 2020;41(5):054002. [doi: 10.1088/1361-6579/ab8771] [Medline: 32259798]
- 60. Jha A, Menozzi E, Oyekan R, Latorre A, Mulroy E, Schreglmann SR, et al. The CloudUPDRS smartphone software in Parkinson's study: cross-validation against blinded human raters. NPJ Parkinsons Dis 2020;6(1):36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41531-020-00135-w] [Medline: 33293531]
- Lipsmeier F, Taylor KI, Kilchenmann T, Wolf D, Scotland A, Schjodt-Eriksen J, et al. Evaluation of smartphone-based testing to generate exploratory outcome measures in a phase 1 Parkinson's disease clinical trial. Mov Disord 2018;33(8):1287-1297 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/mds.27376] [Medline: 29701258]
- 62. Orozco-Arroyave JR, Vásquez-Correa JC, Klumpp P, Pérez-Toro PA, Escobar-Grisales D, Roth N, et al. Apkinson: the smartphone application for telemonitoring Parkinson's patients through speech, gait and hands movement. Neurodegener Dis Manag 2020;10(3):137-157. [doi: 10.2217/nmt-2019-0037] [Medline: 32571150]
- 63. Pan D, Dhall R, Lieberman A, Petitti DB. A mobile cloud-based Parkinson's disease assessment system for home-based monitoring. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015;3(1):e29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3956] [Medline: 25830687]
- 64. Zhan A, Mohan S, Tarolli C, Schneider RB, Adams JL, Sharma S, et al. Using smartphones and machine learning to quantify Parkinson disease severity: the mobile Parkinson disease score. JAMA Neurol 2018;75(7):876-880 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.0809] [Medline: 29582075]
- 65. Mitsi G, Mendoza EU, Wissel BD, Barbopoulou E, Dwivedi AK, Tsoulos I, et al. Biometric digital health technology for measuring motor function in Parkinson's disease: results from a feasibility and patient satisfaction study. Front Neurol 2017;8:273 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00273] [Medline: 28659858]
- 66. Pratap A, Grant D, Vegesna A, Tummalacherla M, Cohan S, Deshpande C, et al. Evaluating the utility of smartphone-based sensor assessments in persons with multiple sclerosis in the real-world using an app (elevateMS): observational, prospective

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e33157
```

pilot digital health study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(10):e22108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22108] [Medline: 33107827]

- Cabrera-Martos I, Ortiz-Rubio A, Torres-Sánchez I, López-López L, Rodríguez-Torres J, Carmen Valenza M. Agreement between face-to-face and tele-assessment of upper limb functioning in patients with Parkinson disease. PM R 2019;11(6):590-596. [doi: <u>10.1002/pmrj.12001</u>] [Medline: <u>30840363</u>]
- 68. Hoffmann T, Russell T, Thompson L, Vincent A, Nelson M. Using the Internet to assess activities of daily living and hand function in people with Parkinson's disease. NeuroRehabilitation 2008;23(3):253-261. [Medline: <u>18560142</u>]
- 69. Amano S, Umeji A, Uchita A, Hashimoto Y, Takebayashi T, Kanata Y, et al. Reliability of remote evaluation for the Fugl-Meyer assessment and the action research arm test in hemiparetic patients after stroke. Top Stroke Rehabil 2018;25(6):432-437. [doi: 10.1080/10749357.2018.1481569] [Medline: 30028659]
- Arora S, Venkataraman V, Zhan A, Donohue S, Biglan KM, Dorsey ER, et al. Detecting and monitoring the symptoms of Parkinson's disease using smartphones: a pilot study. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 2015;21(6):650-653. [doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.02.026] [Medline: 25819808]
- 71. Burdea GC, Grampurohit N, Kim N, Polistico K, Kadaru A, Pollack S, et al. Feasibility of integrative games and novel therapeutic game controller for telerehabilitation of individuals chronic post-stroke living in the community. Top Stroke Rehabil 2020;27(5):321-336 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10749357.2019.1701178] [Medline: 31875775]
- Yu L, Xiong D, Guo L, Wang J. A remote quantitative Fugl-Meyer assessment framework for stroke patients based on wearable sensor networks. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2016;128:100-110. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cmpb.2016.02.012</u>] [Medline: <u>27040835</u>]
- 73. Albani G, Ferraris C, Nerino R, Chimienti A, Pettiti G, Parisi F, et al. An integrated multi-sensor approach for the remote monitoring of Parkinson's disease. Sensors (Basel) 2019;19(21):4764 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s19214764] [Medline: 31684020]
- 74. Cunningham L, Mason S, Nugent C, Moore G, Finlay D, Craig D. Home-based monitoring and assessment of Parkinson's disease. IEEE Trans Inf Technol Biomed 2011;15(1):47-53. [doi: 10.1109/TITB.2010.2091142] [Medline: 21062684]
- Goetz CG, Stebbins GT, Wolff D, DeLeeuw W, Bronte-Stewart H, Elble R, et al. Testing objective measures of motor impairment in early Parkinson's disease: feasibility study of an at-home testing device. Mov Disord 2009;24(4):551-556 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/mds.22379] [Medline: 19086085]
- López-Blanco R, Velasco MA, Méndez-Guerrero A, Romero JP, Del Castillo MD, Serrano JI, et al. Smartwatch for the analysis of rest tremor in patients with Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Sci 2019;401:37-42. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jns.2019.04.011</u>] [Medline: <u>31005763</u>]
- 77. Memedi M, Sadikov A, Groznik V, Žabkar J, Možina M, Bergquist F, et al. Automatic spiral analysis for objective assessment of motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. Sensors (Basel) 2015;15(9):23727-23744 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s150923727] [Medline: 26393595]
- 78. Powers R, Etezadi-Amoli M, Arnold EM, Kianian S, Mance I, Gibiansky M, et al. Smartwatch inertial sensors continuously monitor real-world motor fluctuations in Parkinson's disease. Sci Transl Med 2021;13(579):eabd7865. [doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.abd7865] [Medline: 33536284]
- 79. Sigcha L, Pavón I, Costa N, Costa S, Gago M, Arezes P, et al. Automatic resting tremor assessment in Parkinson's disease using smartwatches and multitask convolutional neural networks. Sensors (Basel) 2021;21(1):291 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s21010291] [Medline: <u>33406692</u>]
- Westin J, Ghiamati S, Memedi M, Nyholm D, Johansson A, Dougherty M, et al. A new computer method for assessing drawing impairment in Parkinson's disease. J Neurosci Methods 2010;190(1):143-148. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jneumeth.2010.04.027</u>] [Medline: <u>20438759</u>]
- 81. Kostikis N, Hristu-Varsakelis D, Arnaoutoglou M, Kotsavasiloglou C. A smartphone-based tool for assessing Parkinsonian hand tremor. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2015;19(6):1835-1842. [doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2015.2471093] [Medline: 26302523]
- Bochniewicz EM, Emmer G, McLeod A, Barth J, Dromerick AW, Lum P. Measuring functional arm movement after stroke using a single wrist-worn sensor and machine learning. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 2017;26(12):2880-2887. [doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2017.07.004] [Medline: 28781056]
- Prochazka A, Kowalczewski J. A fully automated, quantitative test of upper limb function. J Mot Behav 2015;47(1):19-28. [doi: <u>10.1080/00222895.2014.953442</u>] [Medline: <u>25575220</u>]
- 84. Lee S, Lee YS, Kim J. Automated evaluation of upper-limb motor function impairment using Fugl-Meyer assessment. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 2018;26(1):125-134. [doi: <u>10.1109/TNSRE.2017.2755667</u>] [Medline: <u>28952944</u>]
- Kleinholdermann U, Wullstein M, Pedrosa D. Prediction of motor Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale scores in patients with Parkinson's disease using surface electromyography. Clin Neurophysiol 2021;132(7):1708-1713. [doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2021.01.031] [Medline: <u>33958263</u>]
- 86. Taylor Tavares AL, Jefferis GS, Koop M, Hill BC, Hastie T, Heit G, et al. Quantitative measurements of alternating finger tapping in Parkinson's disease correlate with UPDRS motor disability and reveal the improvement in fine motor control from medication and deep brain stimulation. Mov Disord 2005;20(10):1286-1298. [doi: 10.1002/mds.20556] [Medline: 16001401]

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e33157
```
- Salarian A, Russmann H, Wider C, Burkhard PR, Vingerhoets FJ, Aminian K. Quantification of tremor and bradykinesia in Parkinson's disease using a novel ambulatory monitoring system. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 2007;54(2):313-322. [doi: 10.1109/TBME.2006.886670] [Medline: <u>17278588</u>]
- Lin SD, Butler JE, Boswell-Ruys CL, Hoang P, Jarvis T, Gandevia SC, et al. The frequency of bowel and bladder problems in multiple sclerosis and its relation to fatigue: a single centre experience. PLoS One 2019;14(9):e0222731 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0222731] [Medline: <u>31536557</u>]
- 89. Wu H, Zhang Y, Wu X, Yang F. Assessment of upper limb tremors in patients with Parkinson's disease based on displacement and acceleration information. In: 5th International Conference on Automation, Control and Robotics Engineering. 2020 Presented at: CARE '20; September 19-20, 2020; Dalian, China p. 177-182. [doi: 10.1109/CACRE50138.2020.9230024]
- Zambrana C, Idelsohn-Zielonka S, Claramunt-Molet M, Almenara-Masbernat M, Opisso E, Tormos JM, et al. Monitoring of upper-limb movements through inertial sensors – preliminary results. Smart Health 2019;13:100059. [doi: 10.1016/j.smhl.2018.07.027]
- 91. Dubuisson N, Bauer A, Buckley M, Gilbert R, Paterson A, Marta M, et al. Validation of an environmentally-friendly and affordable cardboard 9-hole peg test. Mult Scler Relat Disord 2017;17:172-176. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.msard.2017.08.002</u>] [Medline: <u>29055452</u>]
- 92. de Araújo AC, Santos EG, de Sá KS, Furtado VK, Santos FA, de Lima RC, et al. Hand resting tremor assessment of healthy and patients with Parkinson's disease: an exploratory machine learning study. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 2020;8:778 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2020.00778] [Medline: 32766223]
- 93. Mendoza JE, Apostolos GT, Humphreys JD, Hanna-Pladdy B, O'Bryant SE. Coin rotation task (CRT): a new test of motor dexterity. Arch Clin Neuropsychol 2009;24(3):287-292. [doi: <u>10.1093/arclin/acp030</u>] [Medline: <u>19592523</u>]
- 94. Růžička E, Krupička R, Zárubová K, Rusz J, Jech R, Szabó Z. Tests of manual dexterity and speed in Parkinson's disease: not all measure the same. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 2016;28:118-123. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.05.009</u>] [Medline: <u>27185294</u>]
- 95. de Groot-Driessen D, van de Sande P, van Heugten C. Speed of finger tapping as a predictor of functional outcome after unilateral stroke. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2006;87(1):40-44. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.apmr.2005.09.022</u>] [Medline: <u>16401436</u>]
- 96. Mobile fact sheet. Pew Research Center. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/mobile/</u> [accessed 2021-05-13]
- 97. Bove R, White CC, Giovannoni G, Glanz B, Golubchikov V, Hujol J, et al. Evaluating more naturalistic outcome measures: a 1-year smartphone study in multiple sclerosis. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm 2015;2(6):e162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000162] [Medline: 26516627]

Abbreviations

9HPT: 9-hole peg test
ADL: activities of daily living
ARAT: Action Research Arm Test
CNS: central nervous system
IADL: instrumental activities of daily living
MDS-UPDRS: Movement Disorder Society–Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale
MS: multiple sclerosis
PD: Parkinson disease
PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses

Edited by T Leung; submitted 25.08.21; peer-reviewed by D Costa, K Harrington; comments to author 07.01.22; revised version received 17.01.22; accepted 26.01.22; published 09.03.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Gopal A, Hsu WY, Allen DD, Bove R Remote Assessments of Hand Function in Neurological Disorders: Systematic Review JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e33157 URL: <u>https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e33157</u> doi:<u>10.2196/33157</u> PMID:<u>35262502</u>

©Arpita Gopal, Wan-Yu Hsu, Diane D Allen, Riley Bove. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 09.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any

medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Review

An Investigation Into the Use of mHealth in Musculoskeletal Physiotherapy: Scoping Review

Jonathon M R Agnew^{1*}, BSc; Catherine E Hanratty^{1*}, BSc, MSc, PhD; Joseph G McVeigh^{2*}, BSc, Dip Orth Med, PhD; Chris Nugent^{3*}, BEng, DPhil; Daniel P Kerr^{1*}, BSc, PhD

¹Discipline in Physiotherapy, School of Life and Health Sciences, University of Ulster, Newtownabbey, United Kingdom

²Discipline of Physiotherapy, School of Clinical Therapies, College of Medicine and Health, University College Cork, Cork, Ireland

³Discipline in Computing, School of Computing, University of Ulster, Newtownabbey, United Kingdom

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Jonathon M R Agnew, BSc Discipline in Physiotherapy School of Life and Health Sciences University of Ulster Shore Road Newtownabbey, BT37 0QB United Kingdom Phone: 44 07576629548 Email: agnew-j10@ulster.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: Musculoskeletal physiotherapy provides conservative management for a range of conditions. Currently, there is a lack of engagement with exercise programs because of the lack of supervision and low self-efficacy. The use of mobile health (mHealth) interventions could be a possible solution to this problem, helping promote self-management at home. However, there is little evidence for musculoskeletal physiotherapy on the most effective forms of mHealth.

Objective: The aim of this review is to investigate the literature focusing on the use of mHealth in musculoskeletal physiotherapy and summarize the evidence.

Methods: A scoping review of 6 peer-reviewed databases was conducted in March 2021. No date limits were applied, and only articles written in the English language were selected. A reviewer screened all the articles, followed by 2 additional researchers screening a random sample before data extraction.

Results: Of the 1393 studies, 28 (2.01%) were identified. Intervention characteristics comprised stretching and strengthening exercises, primarily for degenerative joint pain and spinal conditions (5/28, 18%). The most reported use of mHealth included telephone and videoconferencing calls to provide a home exercise program or being used as an adjunct to physiotherapy musculoskeletal assessment (14/28, 50%). Although patient satisfaction with mHealth was reported to be high, reasons for disengagement included a lack of high-quality information and poor internet speeds. Barriers to clinical uptake included insufficient training with the intervention and a lack of time to become familiar.

Conclusions: mHealth has some benefits regarding treatment adherence and can potentially be as effective as normal physiotherapy care while being more cost-effective. The current use of mHealth is most effective when ongoing feedback from a health care professional is available.

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e33609) doi:10.2196/33609

KEYWORDS

physiotherapy; musculoskeletal; mHealth; rehabilitation; scoping review; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

Musculoskeletal conditions can have a major impact on people's quality of life, leading them to seek medical care in the form of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs or surgery (eg, joint replacements), with people aged 55 to 65 years being the most common age group experiencing these conditions [1]. Musculoskeletal physiotherapy can provide cost-effective management for multiple conditions via modalities, including strengthening and flexibility exercises, postural and ergonomic advice, manual therapy (eg, joint mobilizations and soft tissue massage), and education for self-management of pain [2]. Effective physiotherapy helps improve short-term pain and disability, which facilitates earlier discharge from care [3], lowering the burden on the health care system by reducing waiting lists and financial costs [4]. Chronic conditions can result in pain and sickness-related absence from work and in patients seeking additional care up to 10 years after first receiving treatment, primarily for conditions with the highest recurrence rates such as low back and neck pain [5]. A possible contribution to the lack of success with treatment for chronic musculoskeletal issues is the lack of adherence to home exercise programs, low self-efficacy, failure to recall coping strategies, or lack of education provided by the therapist [6]. Furthermore, ongoing engagement with self-management is an important predictor of successful rehabilitation [7], and a series of focus groups of musculoskeletal physiotherapists have reinforced this regarding the management of patients with subacromial impingement syndrome [8]. A person-centered approach to treatment should be taken to encourage prolonged engagement with exercise [9]. Studies have concluded that patients prefer individualized, supervised exercise programs with clinician input [10,11]. An increasingly popular tool in a range of health care settings is the development of exercise programs delivered through mobile devices. An ideal app would enable web-based input from the clinician to support the patient to participate in rehabilitation from the comfort of their home [12]. There is evidence suggesting that the use of mobile apps with input from clinicians, particularly with the ability to set and monitor the quality of completion of the exercise, leads to higher adherence rates than traditional paper handouts [13].

eHealth is an umbrella term that refers to the use of modern information and communication technology to deliver health care [14]. A branch of eHealth showing growth in development is mobile health (mHealth) [15] as a result of the increasing use of mobile devices, partnered with improvements in technology development (eg, smartphones), with predictions that device availability will increase over the next decade [16]. According to the 2019 Ofcom report, the UK telecom sector generated £33.8 billion (US \$45.03 billion), with mobile devices accounting for 51% of the total revenue. The average individual broadband data use increased from 30 GB per month in 2013 to 240 GB per month in 2018, whereas mobile data use increased by 37% from 2018, indicating increased access to internet-powered devices. This report also states that smartphones account for 60% to 90% of all telecommunications use for people aged 16 to 64 years, with those aged 16 to 34

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e33609
```

XSI•FC

years accounting for the largest proportion within this range. There is some evidence that younger patients may be more likely to engage in rehabilitation through the use of smartphones [17], although this does not mean that the older population is disadvantaged, as there is evidence showing that mHealth adherence is high throughout all age groups [18]. Other smart devices, including tablets and laptops, are mainly used by people aged 45 to 54 years, accounting for approximately 60% of smart device use, not including smartphones [19].

This innovative branch of health care has increased accessibility and affordability for patients [20], providing health care to patients with low income or those in rural locations where face-to-face health care is not practical [21]. There is already evidence of mHealth being implemented successfully to improve medication adherence [22]. Within health care settings, mental health and diabetes appear to have higher numbers of mHealth interventions with positive health outcomes [23-25]. Success in the management of mental health is because of the strict governance put in place by popular app sites such as Google Play and the App Store, alongside a larger research base behind these conditions [26]. The Developer Program Policies, along with the Developer Distribution Agreement [27], provide clear guidelines to developers. This ensures that any app being made widely available must be transparent with how it manages the user's data, combined with ensuring that it contains appropriate content.

Another factor contributing to the rapid development of mHealth apps is the COVID-19 pandemic [28]. Owing to the need for whole populations to isolate, face-to-face appointments are being considered high risk, resulting in many patients still being in urgent need of treatment [29]. It has become vital to implement strategies that promote access to remote health care. The most viable and safe option has been to increase the number of mHealth apps being made available [30].

With the rise in smartphone availability, there has been a concomitant increase in research involving mobile device apps (mHealth) for the management of chronic pain [31]. The mHealth apps can be generalized into three main categories—(1) education, (2) pain measurement, and (3) pain therapy-with some apps falling into ≥ 1 category [32]. The third category potentially represents an intervention with the possibility of increasing the quality of life and function. Some mHealth apps require input from clinicians, whereas others do not. The latter presents fewer barriers, such as the user not needing to rely on an assessment from a clinician before use; however, a lack of clinician input may lead to disengagement and potentially risk an incorrect selection of exercises because of the lack of a working diagnosis [33]. This potentially represents a fourth category for mHealth, namely self-management. This, if applied effectively, gives the patient ownership of their own treatment-an important predictor of successful rehabilitation [34]. Despite this increase in research, there is still a need for specific research relating to musculoskeletal physiotherapy.

Rationale

Little evidence underpins which aspects of mHealth are most effective and allow for the greatest level of engagement regarding musculoskeletal conditions [35]. A recent randomized

controlled trial (n=68 participants) [2] compared an internet-based app supported by FitBit (Google LLC) with telephone-based health coaching sessions and an information booklet, with the advice to stay active by using the information booklet. Participants receiving the mHealth intervention had a 38% reduced rate of care seeking; however, statistical differences between groups were not reached regarding primary or secondary outcomes. Therefore, the authors could only state a possible advantage of using mHealth, with a more adequately powered trial needed. This trial relates to the current findings of research on mHealth in musculoskeletal physiotherapy, with a consensus on more rigorous research being needed, as the effectiveness of these interventions is not conclusive [36,37]. Research on mHealth within general physiotherapy has focused on treatment for respiratory conditions such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [38] or the views of therapists' use of the interventions [39]. Previous systematic reviews conducted in this area of physiotherapy focused on multiple chronic diseases such as asthma, diabetes, and cancer [40,41]. Other systematic reviews that focused on physiotherapy mHealth interventions reported on diabetes mellitus and Duchenne muscular dystrophy, focusing on the features of the mHealth intervention compared with the clinical use of the intervention [42,43]. There is a gap in the research regarding the use of mHealth in musculoskeletal physiotherapy; therefore, there is scope for this review to be undertaken.

The aim of this review is to explore and chart the evidence on the use of mHealth within musculoskeletal physiotherapy, with a view to identifying relevant gaps in the literature by conducting a structured, systematic scoping review and developing relevant themes of the topic in question to address the feasibility of mHealth interventions.

Methods

Overview

This scoping review was conducted in accordance with a standardized framework [44]. This review was structured according to the five stages of this framework: (1) identifying the research question; (2) identifying relevant studies; (3) study selection; (4) charting the data; and (5) collecting, summarizing, and reporting the results. This scoping review was also guided by the PRISMA-ScR (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping Reviews) [45].

Stage 1: Identifying the Research Question

Objectives

The primary objective was to analyze the use of mHealth and the outcomes it had produced in musculoskeletal physiotherapy (eg, pain reduction and reported increase in self-efficacy). The secondary objectives were to determine the following: how mHealth has previously been applied, the types of conditions mHealth has been used for, interventions that have been proposed and implemented using mHealth, the reasons for barriers to and facilitators of mHealth, and the barriers to clinical uptake.

Eligibility Criteria

Studies were assessed against the inclusion and exclusion criteria described in Textbox 1.

Textbox 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for the studies.

| Inclusion | criteria |
|-----------|----------|
|-----------|----------|

- English language articles
- Peer-reviewed articles published in journals where full text was available
- Focus on the use and application of mobile health in musculoskeletal physiotherapy, including in patients and therapists
- Application of mobile health could be in an outpatient or home-based setting
- Studies in which mobile health was used as a whole or partial aspect of treatment combined with or without other modalities

Exclusion criteria

• Studies focusing on mobile health in other areas of health care (eg, as mental health and diabetes)

Stage 2: Identifying Relevant Studies

Peer-reviewed articles were identified using key databases, including MEDLINE, Embase, ProQuest Health and Medical Complete, CINAHL Plus, AMED, and IEEE Xplore. These databases were chosen as they include a large collection of literature related to physiotherapy research alongside literature on health technology. Gray literature was also searched to allow for the inclusion of further relevant studies that were not identified through database searches. The search was conducted in March 2021.

The search strategy (Multimedia Appendix 1) used the terms *mHealth*, *eHealth*, or *Telemedicine* to identify articles related

to the application of mHealth within physiotherapy. The reference lists of the appropriate articles were also snowball searched to identify any further literature.

The database searches were undertaken by three researchers (JMRA, DK, and CH) to identify all relevant literature, with no date limitations being applied to capture as much relevant literature as possible.

Stage 3: Study Selection

All relevant references were imported into RefWorks (ProQuest), and duplicates were removed. One of the researchers (JMRA) applied the eligibility criteria for both the title and abstract review and full-text review stages. To allow for

consensus on the eligibility criteria, 10% of the selected studies were reviewed by two additional researchers (DK and CH). This was followed by an assessment of the full texts of the included articles for the final inclusion stage by three researchers (JMRA, DK, and CH).

Stage 4: Charting the Data

A data-charting form was developed to steer the collection of data from the included studies. This form included general data such as author and publication year, as well as more specific information relevant to this review. The data-charting form was piloted using a random selection from the database search results. This informed us of any changes needed before charting the data from the remaining studies. One of the researchers (JMRA) subsequently charted the data from all remaining studies, with 3 additional researchers reviewing a selection of these studies to ensure extra rigor.

Stage 5: Collating, Summarizing, and Reporting the Results

A quantitative overview of the included studies was summarized in a series of tables and diagrams to aid in the synthesis of the literature related to the use of mHealth in physiotherapy. This included aspects such as which countries were applying mHealth, the nature of the intervention, and the common conditions for which mHealth was used. The final extracted data were also presented in a narrative account in the literature. The research team developed themes and categories that emerged with aid from both the research question and data produced using an iterative process.

Results

Study Selection

The initial database search (Multimedia Appendix 1) of the mHealth literature identified 1495 titles. Of these 1495 titles, 311 (20.8%) were duplicates. An additional 66.42% (993/1495) of studies were removed following title review as they did not meet the eligibility criteria. Of the 1495 titles, after an abstract review of 191 (12.78%) titles, 99 (51.8%) articles were removed; 21 (21%) articles were removed because of incorrect outcomes, 32 (32%) were removed because they did not focus on physiotherapy, 27 (27%) were removed because mHealth was not included, 14 (14%) were removed because they were non-English articles, and 5 (5%) were removed because they were studies conducted in settings not included in this review (ie, an inpatient hospital setting where mHealth may not be relevant as remote access would not be warranted). Of the 191 papers, the final full-text review of the remaining 92 (48.2%) papers provided 28 (14.7%) articles, with the reasons for exclusion involving no full-text availability in 17 (18%) papers, no focus on physiotherapy in 16 (17%) papers, mHealth not included in 10 (11%) papers, and 21 (23%) studies conducted in the incorrect setting as stated above. The search process is summarized in the flowchart (Figure 1).



Figure 1. PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) flow diagram. mHealth: mobile health.



Study Characteristics

The study characteristics and findings are outlined in Tables 1-3. A total of 1393 participants were included in the final 28

included articles. The trial sample sizes ranged from 3 to 368 participants.



Table 1. Study characteristics.

| Study | Study type | Location | Participants, N | Setting |
|---------------------------|---|-----------------|--------------------|---|
| Adamse et al [46] | Systematic review | The Netherlands | Not stated | Participants: aged >18 years Condition: chronic pain in any physical location |
| | | | | • Health care setting: — ^a |
| Adhikari et al [47] | Retrospective pre-post design | Nepal | 15 | • Health care setting: rural home |
| Azma et al [48] | Randomized clinical trial | Iran | 54 | Participants aged 50 to 60 years Health care setting: home based or office based |
| Bini and Mahajan [49] | Randomized control study | United States | 51 | • Health care setting: home based or face to face |
| Chen et al [50] | Pilot study to assess feasibility | Taiwan | 15 | • Health care setting: home based |
| Correia et al [51] | Prospective parallel-group feasibility study | Portugal | 69 | • Health care setting: home based |
| Dunphy et al [52] | Semistructured interviews | United Kingdom | 24 | • Health care setting: outpatients |
| Eriksson et al [53] | Qualitative interviews | Sweden | 10 | • Health care setting: home based |
| Eriksson et al [54] | Controlled study | Sweden | 22 | • Health care setting: home based |
| Gialanella et al [55] | Prospective randomized controlled study | Italy | 100 | • Health care setting: home based |
| Irvine et al [56] | Randomized controlled trial | United States | 368 | • Health care setting: home based |
| Jay et al [57] | Randomized controlled trial | Denmark | 38 | • Health care setting: office based |
| Lade et al [58] | Unclear | Australia | 10 | • Health care setting: outpatients |
| Lawford et al [59] | Semistructured interviews | Australia | 20 | • Health care setting: — ^a |
| Lovo et al [60] | Semistructured interviews analyzed using a mixed methods design | Canada | 64 | • Health care setting: urban or home based |
| Mani et al [61] | Systematic review | Malaysia | a | a |
| Mecklenburg et al [62] | Randomized controlled trial | United States | 162 | • Health care setting: home based |
| Meijer et al [63] | Systematic review | The Netherlands | a | a |
| Nelson et al [64] | Randomized controlled noninferiority trial | Australia | 70 | • Health care setting: home based |
| Pastora-Bernal et al [65] | Single-blind prospective randomized clini- cal trial | Spain | 18 | • Health care setting: home based |
| Peterson [66] | Case series | United States | 3 | • Health care setting: home based |
| Piqueras et al [67] | Randomized controlled trial | Spain | 142 | • Health care setting: outpatients or home based |
| Richardson et al [68] | Repeated measures design | Australia | 18 | • Health care setting: outpatients |
| Rothgangel et al [69] | Prospective single-group clinical study | The Netherlands | 15 | • Health care setting: private practice outpa- tients |
| Russell et al [70] | Repeated measures design | Australia | 15 | • Health care setting: outpatients |
| Shukla et al [71] | Systematic review and meta-analysis | India | a | a |

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e33609



Agnew et al

| Study | Study type | Location | Participants, N | Setting |
|-----------------------|--|-------------|--------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Tousignant et al [72] | Randomized controlled trial | Canada | 48 | • Health care setting: home based |
| Wijnen et al [73] | Nonrandomized controlled trial combining a single-arm intervention cohort with histor- ical controls | Netherlands | 42 | • Health care setting: home based |

^aNot available.



 Table 2. Study interventions and conditions.

| Study | Condition | Intervention |
|--------------------------|---|---|
| Adamse et al [46] | Chronic pain to include chronic low back pain, osteoarthritis of the knee or hip, and rheumatoid arthritis | • Telemedicine: internet-based technology used to communicate with patients to provide remote rehabilitation |
| Adhikari et al [47] | Prolapsed intervertebral disk, tennis el- bow, rheumatoid arthritis, mechanical low back pain, traumatic ankle pain, and neck pain | Exercise pamphlets provided Via calls (4 times in 4 weeks); physiotherapist aided in the rehabilitation |
| Azma et al [48] | Knee osteoarthritis | Pamphlets provided (strengthening, endurance, flexibility, and ROM^a exercises) Continue exercises 3 times per week for 6 weeks Patients remotely contacted weekly regarding exercise progression |
| Bini and Mahajan [49] | Total knee replacement | CaptureProof app provided 23 exercise videos Videos narrated by a therapist with on-screen instructions Patient responds with a recording of their exercise completion Therapist reviews and adjusts treatment as appropriate |
| Chen et al [50] | Shoulder adhesive capsulitis | MSD^b measures ROM Patient app used by patient and physician app used by a health care professional Effectiveness of rehab measured using patient and physician app |
| Correia et al [51] | Total knee arthroplasty | Physiotherapist trained patient or caregiver in the use of the platform Sessions performed 5 times per week for a minimum of 30 minutes |
| Dunphy et al [52] | ACL ^c reconstruction | • Interviews with physiotherapists and patients |
| Eriksson et al [53] | Shoulder joint replacement | Patients supervised by a physiotherapistPhysiotherapist contacted patient via videoconferencing |
| Eriksson et al [54] | Shoulder joint replacement | Patients supervised by a physiotherapistPhysiotherapist contacted patient via videoconferencing |
| Gialanella et al [55] | Chronic neck pain | HBT^d group comprising fortnightly calls Unscheduled calls in the event of uncontrolled pain Advice on exercise, disease status, pain, and disability provided |
| Irvine et al [56] | Sedentary behavior in older adults | Active after 55 to 12 sessions, 10 to 15 minutes each More challenging exercises progressively introduced SMS text messages and video messages to assist with goal setting |
| Jay et al [57] | Upper limb musculoskeletal pain | Video-based exercises showing correct performing of exercises Audio instructions provided for each exercise Web-based instructional material also made accessible |
| Lade et al [58] | Musculoskeletal elbow disorders | • Participants were interviewed and examined face to face and remotely via a telerehabilitation system |
| Lawford et al [59] | Knee osteoarthritis | Participants received 5 to 10 telephone calls over 6 months Initial calls lasted approximately 40 minutes, with follow-up calls lasting 20 minutes Action plan involving home strengthening exercise program and physical activity plan were devised Program and goals adjusted as necessary |
| Lovo et al [60] | Chronic back disorder management | Urban PT^e joined with NP^f via telehealth to undergo a full neuromusculoskeletal lumbar spine assessment Patients provided with a summary of findings and answers to questions |
| Mani et al [61] | Musculoskeletal disorders assessments | Validity and inter- and intrarater reliabilities of telerehabilitation-based physio- therapy examined Two independent reviewers used OAPEL^g and OUADAS^h to assess the |
| | | methodological quality |

XSL•FO RenderX

| Study | Condition | Intervention |
|------------------------------|---|--|
| Mecklenburg et al [62] | Chronic knee pain | Hinge health delivered remotely for 12 weeks Information provided for exercise therapy, education, CBTⁱ, weight loss, and psychosocial support |
| Meijer et al [63] | Traumatic bone and soft tissue injuries | A total of 12 articles were included No studies on wearable-controlled games or rehabilitation games included All studies were low to moderate quality |
| Nelson et al [64] | Total hip replacement | Remotely delivered telerehabilitation into the home Technology-based HEP^j provided using iPad app |
| Pastora-Bernal et al [65] | Subacromial decompression | Customized exercises through a web application Participants received 12-week (5 days per week) video exercises alongside a telerehabilitation patient manual |
| Peterson [66] | Chronic low back pain | • Participants tracked daily pain levels and HEP adherence using a mobile phone app for 12 months following discharge |
| Piqueras et al [67] | Total knee arthroplasty | • IVT ^k comprising 1-hour sessions for 10 days (5 performed under supervision and 5 performed at home) |
| Richardson et al [68] | Musculoskeletal disorders of the knee | Patient interview and face-to-face and web-based assessment via telerehabilita- tion system Telerehabilitation assessments involved facilitated self-palpation, self-applied modified orthopedic tests, and active movements and functional tasks |
| Rothgangel et al [69] | ACL reconstruction | A total of 7 Dutch private practices participated in this study Data collected regarding physiotherapists' most used components, acceptability, and suggested improvements |
| Russell et al [70] | Musculoskeletal ankle disorders | Patient interviews conducted face to face and on the web via telerehabilitation Web-based assessment recorded via eHAB system to allow for interrater and intrarater reliability components to be performed |
| Shukla et al [71] | Total knee arthroplasty | Six publications included Patients experienced high levels of satisfaction with telerehabilitation alone No changes to outcomes of active knee extension and flexion |
| Tousignant et al [72] | Total knee arthroplasty | 16 telerehabilitation sessions over 2 months Conducted via videoconferencing delivered to patients' home |
| Wijnen et al [73] | Total hip arthroplasty | 12-week home-based telerehabilitation program with instructions provided via a web-based app Strengthening and walking exercises of the affected hip included Remote coaching provided via weekly telephone calls Recommendations were given regarding exercise progression |

^aROM: range of motion.

^bMSD: motion sensor device.

^cACL: anterior cruciate ligament.

^dHBT: home-based telemedicine.

^ePT: physical therapist.

^fNP: nurse practitioner.

^gQAREL: Quality Appraisal tool for studies of diagnostic reliability.

^hQUADAS: Quality Assessment of Diagnostic Accuracy Studies.

ⁱCBT: cognitive behavioral therapy.

^jHEP: home exercise program.

^kIVT: interactive virtual telerehabilitation.

| Study | Outcome measures | Findings |
|--------------------------|---|--|
| Adamse et al [46] | Outcome measure not stated | Telemedicine vs no intervention showed lower scores for pain (MD^a -0.57, 95% CI -0.81 to -0.34) Nonsignificant effects shown for function (MD 19.93, 95% CI -5.20 to 45.06 minutes per week) |
| Adhikari et al [47] | • Pain: NPRS ^b | • NPRS demonstrated significantly decreased pain: at rest: F=3.5, P<.04; when worst: F=26.4, P<.001; during activity: F=16.6, P<.001; during occupation: F=15.6, P<.001 |
| Azma et al [48] | Pain: KOOS^c Function: WOMAC^d | In both groups, KOOS scores increased from baseline to 6 months (50.6 to 83.1 and 49.8 to 81.8) No significant difference in either group in any of the studied scales |
| Bini and Mahajan [49] | • PRO ^e : VAS ^f , VR-12 ^g , and KOOS-PS ^h | No statistically significant difference between groups on any outcome Overall use of hospital resources 60% less than traditional group |
| Chen et al [50] | Pain: VAS Function: qDASHⁱ Exercise completion rate: self-reported and motion sensor data | MSD^j exhibited good to excellent reliability for shoulder ROM^k (intraclass correlation coefficient range 0.771-0.979) MSD rehab assisted group displayed better shoulder mobility and function |
| Correia et al [51] | Primary outcomes: TUG¹ score Secondary outcomes: KOOS and knee ROM in degrees | • For primary outcome at 6 months, the median difference between groups was 4.87 (95% CI 1.85 to 7.47) seconds in favor of the intervention group |
| Dunphy et al [52] | • Interviews analyzed using pragmatic thematic analysis | Patients' six themes: experience of TRAK^m, reasons for engagement, strengths, weaknesses, future use, and attitudes to digital health care Physiotherapists' three themes: potential benefits, availability of resources, and service organization to support TRAK |
| Eriksson et al [53] | • Qualitative content analysis | • Six categories were identified: a different reinforced communication, pain- free exercising as an effective routine, from a dependent patient to a strengthened person at home, closeness at a distance, facilitated daily living, and continuous physiotherapy chain |
| Eriksson et al [54] | Pain: VAS Function: Constant-Murley ROM: Goniometer Shoulder condition: SRQ-Sⁿ | • Statistically significant improvements in all outcomes for both groups, with the telemedicine group improving more (P<.001 for all) |
| Gialanella et al [55] | Pain: VASFunction: Neck Disability Index | At 6 months, neck pain and disability decreased in both groups (P<.001), with the decline being more marked in HBT^o group (P=.001) 87.2% of patients undergoing HBT and 65.9% of control participants were performing home exercises (2-7 sessions per week) |
| Irvine et al [56] | • Self-reported 14-point questionnaire measuring physical activity status to behavioral intentions to change | At posttest, intervention participation showed significant improvement on 13 of 14 outcome measures compared with control participants At 6 months, intervention participants maintained large improvements on all 14 outcomes compared with control participants |
| Jay et al [57] | • Descriptive statistics: training frequen- cy, use of written and video material, training adherence, and pre- to post- training self-perceived pain of the neck, shoulder, arm, and wrist | • Unilateral shoulder external rotation had a higher normalized error score in the V group of 22.19 (SD 9.30) to 12.64 (SD 6.94) in the <i>P</i> group (P=.002) |
| Lade et al [58] | • Unclear | There was substantial agreement for validity in systems diagnosis (73%; P=.01) Almost perfect intrarater reliability (90%; P=.001) Interrater reliability had a weaker agreement (64%; P=.11) |



RenderX

JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022 | vol. 9 | iss. 1 |e33609 | p.84 (page number not for citation purposes)

| Study | Ou | tcome measures | ings | |
|---------------------------|----|--|--|---|
| Lawford et al [59] | • | Thematic analysis | Participants described positive experiences with received th phone, valuing convenience and accessibility Some desired visual contact with the physiotherapist Participants valued undivided attention from the physiother able to communicate effectively over the phone Participants felt confident performing their exercise program vision | erapy via tele- apist and were n without super- |
| Lovo et al [60] | • | Interviews analyzed qualitatively and quantitatively | Patients were very satisfied (62.1%) or satisfied (31.6%) wi experience Patients were very (63.1%) or somewhat (36.9%) confident ment | th the overall with the assess- |
| Mani et al [61] | • | Methodological quality: QAREL ^p and QUADAS ^q | 11 articles were reviewed Studies were moderate to good in quality Physiotherapy assessments of pain, swelling, ROM, muscle st gait, and functional assessment demonstrated good validity Low to moderate validity for lumbar spine posture, special on neurodynamic tests, and scar assessments | trength, balance, orthopedic tests, |
| Mecklenburg et al [62] | • | Pain: KOOS Function: KOOS-PS | Digital care program demonstrated a statistically significantly in pain (7.7, 95% CI 3.0 to 12.3; P=.002) A statistically significantly greater improvement in function 3.0 to 11.5; P=.001) | higher reduction 1 (7.2, 95% CI |
| Meijer et al [63] | • | Outcome measures not stated | 12 studies were included Studies were low to moderate quality 2 studies found beneficial effects of serious games compare tional therapy 1 of 3 studies found beneficial effects of serious games 1 of 5 trials found a statistically significant advantage in the group regarding treatment adherence | ed with conven- |
| Nelson et al [64] | • | Function: SF-12 ^r QoL ^s : HOOS ^t subscale | No between-group difference detected in the HOOS subsca Strength, balance, and self-reported function showed no bety ference | le (P=.97) ween-group dif- |
| Pastora-Bernal et al [65] | • | Function: Constant-Murley | Telerehabilitation group was shown to have improved funct mean of 43.5 (SD 3.21) points and 68.5 (SD 0.86) points af | ional outcome: ter 12 weeks |
| Peterson [66] | • | Function: Oswestry Disability Index | All patients met their individual goals Excellent home exercise program adherence was displayed Temporary increase in pain was noted; however, patients man habilitation booster sessions and no other resources | naged via telere- |
| Piqueras et al [67] | • | Function: WOMAC Muscle strength, walk speed, and pain data collected | All participants improved after the 2-week intervention on a (P<.05) Telerehabilitation group achieved similar functional improv control group | all outcomes |
| Richardson et al [68] | • | Reference given to assessment findings measured via Likert and binary scales | System of pathology in agreement in 17 (94%) out of 18 ca Comparisons of objective findings demonstrated substantial (Cohen κ =0.635) for categorical and binary data (χ^2 =400.4 High intrarater (89%) and moderate interrater (67%) reliabi for telerehabilitation assessments | ses l agreement ; P<.001) lity was evident |
| Rothgangel et al [69] | • | Data regarding platform use and accep- tance measured using 7- and 11-point numerical scales | Platform use was generally limited, with the number of log-i 3 to 73 Overall, therapists' acceptance was low to moderate Average scores ranged from 2.5 (SD 1.1) to 4.9 (SD 1.5) | ns ranging from |
| Russell et al [70] | • | Clinical observations rated on a series of Likert and binary scales | | |

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e33609



| Study | Outcome measures | Findings |
|-----------------------|---|--|
| | | Similar agreement (93.3%) was found in pathoanatomical diagnoses An 80% agreement (χ²=4.3; P<.04) in primary systems diagnoses found between face-to-face and web-based assessments Very strong agreement (κ=.92) for categorical data and significant agreement (93.3% agreement; χ²=234.4; P<.001) for binary data |
| Shukla et al [71] | Pain: VAS Functional assessment: TUG test Functional capacity: WOMAC Knee movement and quadriceps strength | Six studies included No statistically significant difference in change in active knee extension or flexion in the home telerehabilitation group compared with the control group (MD -0.52, 95% CI -1.39 to 0.35, P=.24 and MD 1.14, 95% CI -0.61 to 2.89, P=.20) |
| Tousignant et al [72] | Function: WOMAC QoL: SF-36^u Disability: 30-second chair stand test | Clinical outcomes improved significantly in both groups between end points Some variables showed larger improvements in the usual care group 2 months after discharge |
| Wijnen et al [73] | Function: TUG test, HOOS, five times Sit-to-Stand test QoL: SF-36 | Intervention group performed functional tests significantly faster at 12 weeks and 6 months postoperatively Large effect sizes were found on functional tests at 12 weeks and 6 months (Cohen d=0.5-1.2) |

^aMD: mean difference.

^bNPRS: Numerical Pain Rating Scale.

^cKOOS: Knee Osteoarthritis Outcome Score.

^dWOMAC: Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index.

^ePRO: patient-reported outcome.

^tVAS: visual analog scale.

^gVR-12: Veterans-RAND 12.

^hKOOS-PS: KOOS short form.

ⁱqDASH: Quick Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder, and Hand.

^jMSD: motion sensor device.

^kROM: range of motion.

¹TUG: Timed Up and Go test.

^mTRAK: Taxonomy for RehAbilitation of Knee conditions.

ⁿSRQ-S: Shoulder Rating Questionnaire.

^oHBT: home-based telemedicine.

^pQAREL: Quality Appraisal tool for studies of diagnostic reliability.

^qQUADAS: Quality Assessment of Diagnostic Accuracy Studies.

^rSF-12: 12-Item Short Form Health Survey.

^sQoL: quality of life.

^tHOOS: Hip disability and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score.

^uSF-36: 36-Item Short Form Health Survey.

Study Design

Overall, there were more quantitative studies (23/28, 82%) than qualitative studies (4/28, 14%; Table 2). There were only 4% (1/28) of mixed methods studies. The most common study type was randomized controlled trials (10/28, 36%), followed by systematic reviews (4/28, 14%), one of which included a meta-analysis. The various forms of randomized controlled trials included randomized controlled trials (7/28, 25%), prospective randomized controlled trials (2/28, 7%), and randomized controlled noninferiority trials (1/28, 4%). Other quantitative designs included repeated measures design (2/28, 7%), retrospective pre–post design (1/28, 4%), pilot study to assess feasibility (1/28, 4%), controlled study (1/28, 4%),

XSL•F() RenderX prospective single-group clinical study (1/28, 4%), case series (1/28, 4%), and nonrandomized controlled trial combining a single-arm intervention cohort with historical controls (1/28, 4%). Qualitative designs included semistructured interviews (3/28, 11%). Only 4% (1/28) of studies were referred to only as a qualitative interview [53]. Mixed methods designs included 4% (1/28) of studies in which data were analyzed using a mixed methods design [60]. The remaining study design (1/28, 4%) was inadequately described [58].

Study Location

A total of 15 geographical locations were reported in all the studies. These studies covered the continents of North America (6/28, 21%), Europe (12/28, 43%), Asia (5/28, 18%), and Oceania (5/28, 18%). The North American locations were

divided into Canada (2/28, 7%) and the United States (4/28, 14%). The continent of Europe included the largest number of locations, including the Netherlands (4/28, 14%), Sweden (2/28, 7%), Spain (2/28, 7%), Portugal (1/28, 4%), the United Kingdom (1/28, 4%), Italy (1/28, 4%), and Denmark (1/28, 4%). Asia contained the next most locations, comprising Nepal (1/28, 4%), Iran (1/28, 4%), Taiwan (1/28, 4%), Malaysia (1/28, 4%), and India (1/28, 4%). Oceania included only Australia (5/28, 18%).

Intervention Characteristics

Despite all studies stating mHealth as part of the intervention, a significant number of studies failed to adequately describe the input of mHealth to the extent that it would be reproducible. Several studies reported the intervention as being *an exercise program delivered to the patient's home*; however, the exact nature of these protocols was not described in sufficient detail. Those studies that provided enough detail described the elements of strengthening [48,56,57,59,73] and stretching [48,56]. One of the studies described walking exercises [73], whereas another study included education, cognitive behavioral therapy, weight loss, and psychosocial support as part of the intervention [62]. Other studies explored the use of mHealth as an adjunct to physiotherapy assessment [58,60,68,70] to assess the inter- and intrareliability of remote assessments using telerehabilitation technologies.

Findings

How mHealth Has Previously Been Applied

Previous Applications of Rehabilitative mHealth

Of the 28 included studies, 4 (28%) systematic reviews [46,61,63,71] and 1 (4%) other study [58] explored the previous applications of mHealth. Relevant studies within the systematic reviews were included separately in this review. The remaining studies focused on the feasibility and efficacy of current and future applications. Reports of previous applications of mHealth largely included telephone-based interventions using videoconferencing connected via the internet to the patients' homes (4/28, 14%). Another study described the inclusion of an interactive web-based telerehabilitation software alongside videoconferencing, including wireless sensors to record patients' movements, an interactive software to demonstrate the strengthening and range of motion (ROM) exercises undertaken following total knee arthroplasty, and a web portal for clinician input [71]. Other methods described in less detail referred to mHealth delivery via smartphones or the internet [46]. This study [46] also referenced that all interventions conducted in a home-based setting included an individually tailored exercise program alongside the promotion of self-management strategies such as chat sessions and group exercises. Other forms of mHealth applications included the use of rehabilitation games widely available on multiple platforms such as the Wii, PlayStation EyeToy, and Xbox Kinect to aid in rehabilitation following traumatic bone and soft tissue injuries. Many of these games involved balance and mobility exercises using Wii [63].

Previous mHealth Applications for Professional Use

Only 7% (2/28) of the studies [58,61] described the use of mHealth as an aid to the physiotherapy assessment of

musculoskeletal disorders. The aim of these studies was to explore the validity of web-based assessment compared with traditional face-to-face methods. The inclusion of mHealth once again involved videoconferencing, in which the patient was required to self-palpate and perform modified self-administered special tests. The results showed that mHealth could be a valid alternative to accurately measuring several objective measures such as pain, ROM, muscle strength, gait, and swelling. However, the evidence was not strong enough to suggest that mHealth is a viable solution for measuring neurodynamic tests and spinal posture.

Types of Musculoskeletal Conditions Where mHealth Has Been Used

Although studies have reported the type of musculoskeletal condition for which mHealth was being used, some studies described a broader term covering a range of conditions within the same area (EG, musculoskeletal ankle disorders, musculoskeletal disorders of the knee, and sedentary behavior in older adults; Table 2). Among the adequately described musculoskeletal conditions, total knee replacement or arthroplasty (4/28, 14%) was the most common. Other surgical procedures where mHealth was used also included total hip replacement or arthroplasty (2/28, 7%), anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction (2/28, 7%), shoulder joint replacement (2/28, 7%), and subacromial decompression (1/28, 4%). Several articles explored chronic conditions such as chronic knee pain or knee osteoarthritis (3/28, 11%), chronic hip pain and hip osteoarthritis (1/28, 4%), shoulder adhesive capsulitis (1/28, 4%), chronic or mechanical low back pain (4/28, 14%), chronic neck pain (2/28, 7%), and rheumatoid arthritis (2/28, 7%). Less common conditions included prolapsed intervertebral disk (1/28, 4%) and tennis elbow (1/28, 4%).

Interventions That Have Been Implemented Using mHealth

There appears to be no novel intervention being implemented when compared with how mHealth has previously been applied. The main theme throughout most studies was the aspect of communication between the treating therapist and the patient to allow for a successful course of treatment involving mHealth. This could involve telephone calls (teleconferencing) or videoconferencing (eg, Skype [Microsoft Corporation]). The current articles suggest mHealth is best implemented as an adjunct to usual care, which can be defined as face-to-face physiotherapy involving exercise therapy and manual therapy [64]. A number of studies included pamphlets with the addition of weekly teleconferencing calls from participating clinicians [47,59]. For studies that did not include teleconferencing as a part of the intervention, a series of smartphone-based apps [49,66] and web-based applications were implemented [47,51,56,57,62,73]. These interventions included narrated videos of exercises with which the patient would respond by sending back recordings of them completing the exercise. This would allow for appropriate exercise progression via clinician inputs. One of the studies [65] involved the use of a wearable motion sensor device alongside an app for patients (patient app) and an app for clinicians (physician app). The patient app helped participants visualize the correct ROM of the exercises, and the

XSL•FO RenderX

physician app provided clinicians with a data log of participants' progression, allowing for input via text.

Reasons for Engagement or Disengagement With mHealth

Approximately 64% (18/28) of articles stated the reasons for engagement or disengagement from the intervention. Overall, these reasons were not described in sufficient detail. In general, patient satisfaction was very high as participants valued the interactive features and readily available support as very important. Studies involving preoperative protocols reported that interest in surgery decreased as knowledge of their condition increased because of the constant engagement with their clinician [62]. It was also shown in several articles that mHealth increased long-term (defined as 6 months) adherence to treatment, as the influence of specialist supervision was shown to help maintain motivation and confidence in the process as well as constant goal setting [48,50]. Reasons for disengagement were stated as technological problems such as the speed of the internet connection and the *clunky* design of some of the apps [46,55]. However, it was stated that this could be minimized by implementing a web-based platform on mobile devices that could be used with standard data speeds, as most participants would be in possession of mobile devices capable of doing so [49]. It was reported that video-based interventions gave participants the most effective treatment as the videos informed them of the correct technique and gave them the confidence to perform the exercises correctly [55].

Barriers to mHealth Clinical Uptake

Only 4% (1/28) of the studies specifically explored the experience of clinicians in using mHealth [52]. This study reported the limited use of a novel telemonitoring device with a low to moderate acceptance rate among physiotherapists. A possible explanation for this was the lack of time to become familiar with the telemonitoring platform. The main issue among physiotherapists was the added workload that the intervention imposed, as therapists had to input data into an additional eHealth data log. Suggestions for future use included improvements in user-friendliness, efficiency, and design. Some therapists proposed integrating digital health technology into routine care to more easily become a new habit of clinical practice. A preference for smartphone-based apps over web-based applications was also reported, with no reasons adequately described. The final barrier suggested in this study was the lack of structured training given to current and future health care professionals to promote knowledge of new health care technologies. In the future, novel health care technologies should be more easily integrated into clinicians' routines, and training should be provided alongside this.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study represents a mapping of the breadth of evidence for the use of mHealth within musculoskeletal physiotherapy and identifies 5 themes of mHealth implementation, including facilitators of and barriers to uptake. The main aim of this scoping review was to analyze the evidence surrounding the

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e33609
```

use of mHealth in musculoskeletal physiotherapy and the outcomes it produced. The main findings from this review suggest that videoconferencing or phone calls are the most popular among patients as they provide ongoing feedback with a clinician, potentially leading to a higher adherence rate to rehabilitation programs. Another finding has shown a lack of adequate training in mHealth use among clinicians, leading to poor uptake.

This review demonstrates that there is potential in the future for mHealth to be a viable component of musculoskeletal physiotherapy care. Recent studies have proposed that mHealth interventions have the potential to be more effective than usual physiotherapy care, as the increased use of smartphones enables patients to source information and take control of their rehabilitation [69]. However, this review has shown limited evidence to support this claim, as only 11% (3/28) of studies [49,50,66] included the use of smartphones and only 4% (1/28) of studies compared mHealth with physiotherapy, concluding that a comprehensive digital care intervention, combined with ongoing support provided with normal physiotherapy care, significantly improves outcomes for pain and function [62]. The remainder of the studies either claimed that mHealth could potentially be at least as effective as physiotherapy or were inadequately described to make any conclusions.

There is limited evidence suggesting that mHealth can be effectively used for physiotherapy musculoskeletal assessments as an alternative to face-to-face assessments. Of the 28 studies, 2 (7%) studies [58,61] suggested that this form of assessment was both valid and reliable, with 1 (4%) investigating the specific assessment of the elbow [58] and 1 (4%) investigating general musculoskeletal disorders [61]. However, the evidence suggests that this is not an acceptable alternative as special neurodynamic tests were unable to be sufficiently conducted as the patient was unable to apply the tests as a clinician would, leading to unreliable findings. Telephone or videoconferencing calls between the therapist and patient were the most accepted forms of mHealth in musculoskeletal physiotherapy. This could be viewed as a potential pitfall unless further innovation is made in this field, as patients are more likely to respond positively to a readily available app on their smartphone [74]. Most research in other medical fields has concluded that telephone or videoconferencing calls are the most popular intervention, further emphasizing the need for more development [75,76]. It is important that development continues, as reports suggest that patients feel there is a lack of currently available, relevant high-quality mHealth apps providing adequate support [77].

A range of conditions was analyzed in this review, suggesting a lack of research on mHealth use for particular musculoskeletal conditions. Postoperative rehabilitation after total knee replacement was the most researched condition for mHealth use. Only 11% (3/28) of studies investigated mHealth for the treatment of chronic low back pain [46,60,66], and 14% (4/28) of studies were related to shoulder pain [51,53,65,78]. Therefore, there is little evidence to fully support the use of mHealth for a multitude of conditions.

Very few studies described the mHealth intervention in detail in a way that would be reproducible. As this review was

XSL•FO RenderX

conducted in the context of musculoskeletal physiotherapy, it can be assumed that physiotherapy care would be within the context of the intervention. Most authors failed to describe the physiotherapy component in detail, simply describing the intervention as *an exercise program delivered to the home, with follow-up telephone calls from a participating clinician*, with the assumption that this is a form of treatment rather than an umbrella term encompassing a range of interventions. This suggests that there is insufficient evidence to guide physiotherapists on how to effectively deliver an mHealth intervention, as supported by 4% (1/28) of the studies in this review [52].

This review highlights a lack of qualitative research on mHealth interventions as most evidence was quantitative in nature. The importance of understanding the experiences of those delivering and receiving these interventions is not to be understated and can be a vital part of enhancing the delivery of future interventions [54]. This can provide useful insights from both clinicians and patients on how to continually innovate mHealth and increase engagement and better patient care, as the value of qualitative research provides a richer insight into the lived experience [79]. This review has shown that the continents of North America, Asia, Europe, and Oceania currently have the strongest research output in support of the development of future mHealth interventions. It can be concluded that mHealth interventions are being implemented in high-income countries because of access to high-quality resources, infrastructure, and time to develop more effective and engaging interventions, including aspects such as gamification [80].

Study Limitations

Although most evidence within this review was conducted within the past 10 years, we excluded articles that were non-English articles, implying the possibility of excluding relevant articles from non–English-speaking countries (eg, China, Japan, and South Korea), where technology is well-advanced [81]. In addition, a consultation stage was not included in the review process through which we may have gained more insight, and study authors were not contacted for additional information. When compared with systematic reviews, the absence of a strong quality assessment of papers in scoping reviews makes any findings difficult to generalize and presents challenges in weighting the effectiveness of studies [44]. Despite this, we believe that the breadth of the evidence presented is sufficient for the aims of this review.

Research Opportunities and Recommendations

With the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, alternatives to face-to-face musculoskeletal physiotherapy have become a priority. Future smart device-based mHealth interventions should focus on implementing evidence-based strategies in research design and using more innovative health care technologies to help enhance and expand the practice of mHealth. To aid in the development of the rapidly expanding market of mHealth, future research should look to develop evidence-based rehabilitation programs for acute and chronic conditions using the latest technologies and provide adequate training for clinicians.

Conclusions

It appears that mHealth has some beneficial effects on treatment adherence and can be as effective as the usual physiotherapy care and potentially more cost-effective. Currently, communication with a clinician via telephone or videoconferencing appears to be the most widely accepted among patients, as this helps maintain confidence in their rehabilitation because of ongoing feedback. This feedback loop between the clinician and the patient potentially leads to positive outcomes regarding pain and self-management because of increased adherence to the rehabilitation program.

The limitations identified in this review provide an outline for future studies. This review has shown the main limitations to mHealth uptake from clinicians, primarily as a lack of knowledge and confidence in their judgment when using mHealth interventions and a preference toward an evidence-based clinical technique [57]. Researchers have suggested more widely available training for clinicians implementing mHealth interventions in the future. The barriers to uptake among patients are related to the user-friendliness and aesthetics of the intervention, as it is likely that patients will discontinue use after a short period because of the lack of an efficient design [82]. What constitutes an efficient mHealth design is not adequately described within this review, with the only exception suggesting the use of videos within an app to promote engagement; therefore, we propose further research with a focus on designing an implementation framework and designing trials investigating long-term adherence and the effect of clinicians trained in mHealth implementation on long-term treatment outcomes.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Kelly McCoo for her support and guidance in conducting the database searches and the internal peer reviewers for their time and comments on the review. This review was undertaken as part of a PhD study at Ulster University and funded by the Department for Economy Study. Invest Northern Ireland is acknowledged for partially supporting this research under the Competence Centre Program Grant RD0513853 by the Connected Health Innovation Centre. The funders had no role in the design, conduct, or reporting of this study.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



Multimedia Appendix 1 Search Strategy. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 75 KB - rehab_v9i1e33609_app1.pdf]

References

- Hawker GA. The assessment of musculoskeletal pain. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2017;35 Suppl 107(5):8-12 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>28967361</u>]
- 2. Amorim AB, Pappas E, Simic M, Ferreira ML, Jennings M, Tiedemann A, et al. Integrating mobile-health, health coaching, and physical activity to reduce the burden of chronic low back pain trial (IMPACT): a pilot randomised controlled trial. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2019 Feb 11;20(1):71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12891-019-2454-y] [Medline: 30744606]
- Chou R, Deyo R, Friedly J, Skelly A, Hashimoto R, Weimer M, et al. Nonpharmacologic therapies for low back pain: a systematic review for an American college of physicians clinical practice guideline. Ann Intern Med 2017 Apr 04;166(7):493-505 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M16-2459] [Medline: 28192793]
- Gonçalves-Bradley DC, Iliffe S, Doll H, Broad J, Gladman J, Langhorne P, et al. Early discharge hospital at home. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017 Jun 26;6:CD000356 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD000356.pub4</u>] [Medline: <u>28651296</u>]
- Kongsted A, Kent P, Hestbaek L, Vach W. Patients with low back pain had distinct clinical course patterns that were typically neither complete recovery nor constant pain. A latent class analysis of longitudinal data. Spine J 2015 May 01;15(5):885-894 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.spinee.2015.02.012] [Medline: 25681230]
- 6. Jack K, McLean SM, Moffett JK, Gardiner E. Barriers to treatment adherence in physiotherapy outpatient clinics: a systematic review. Man Ther 2010 Jun;15(3):220-228 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.math.2009.12.004] [Medline: 20163979]
- Hurley MV, Walsh NE, Mitchell HL, Pimm TJ, Patel A, Williamson E, et al. Clinical effectiveness of a rehabilitation program integrating exercise, self-management, and active coping strategies for chronic knee pain: a cluster randomized trial. Arthritis Rheum 2007 Oct 15;57(7):1211-1219 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/art.22995] [Medline: 17907147]
- Hanratty C, Kerr D, Wilson I, McCracken M, Sim J, Basford JR, et al. Physical therapists' perceptions and use of exercise in the management of subacromial shoulder impingement syndrome: focus group study. Phys Ther 2016 Sep;96(9):1354-1363. [doi: 10.2522/ptj.20150427] [Medline: 27013575]
- 9. Macedo L, Bostick G, Maher C. Exercise for prevention of recurrences of nonspecific low back pain. Phys Ther 2013 Dec;93(12):1587-1591. [doi: 10.2522/ptj.20120464] [Medline: 23813085]
- Saner J, Bergman EM, de Bie RA, Sieben JM. Low back pain patients' perspectives on long-term adherence to home-based exercise programmes in physiotherapy. Musculoskelet Sci Pract 2018 Dec;38:77-82. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.msksp.2018.09.002</u>] [Medline: <u>30317015</u>]
- 11. Bennell KL, Marshall CJ, Dobson F, Kasza J, Lonsdale C, Hinman RS. Does a web-based exercise programming system improve home exercise adherence for people with musculoskeletal conditions?: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2019 Apr 23;98(10):850-858. [doi: 10.1097/phm.00000000001204]
- 12. Lin L, Widdall C, Ward L. Improving critical thinking with interactive mobile tools and apps. Soc Stud Young Learner 2014;26(4):10-14.
- Lambert TE, Harvey LA, Avdalis C, Chen LW, Jeyalingam S, Pratt CA, et al. An app with remote support achieves better adherence to home exercise programs than paper handouts in people with musculoskeletal conditions: a randomised trial. J Physiother 2017 Jul;63(3):161-167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jphys.2017.05.015] [Medline: 28662834]
- 14. Tanwir F. E health and m health technology in health care. EC Dent Sci 2019;2:1-6.
- 15. Emami E, Kadoch N, Homayounfar S, Harnagea H, Dupont P, Giraudeau N, et al. Patient satisfaction with E-Oral Health care in rural and remote settings: a systematic review protocol. Syst Rev 2017 Aug 29;6(1):174 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-017-0550-3] [Medline: 28851449]
- Rosaline S, Johnson S. Continued usage and dependency of smartphones. Int J Cyber Behav Psychol Learn 2020 Jan;10(1):41-53. [doi: <u>10.4018/IJCBPL.2020010104</u>]
- 17. The impact of screen media on children: a Eurovision for parliament. In: Improving the Quality of Childhood in Europe. East Sussex, UK: European Council for Steiner Waldorf Education; 2012.
- Hamine S, Gerth-Guyette E, Faulx D, Green BB, Ginsburg AS. Impact of mHealth chronic disease management on treatment adherence and patient outcomes: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2015 Feb 24;17(2):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3951] [Medline: 25803266]
- 19. Communications market reports. Ofcom. URL: <u>https://www.ofcom.org.uk/research-and-data/multi-sector-research/cmr</u> [accessed 2022-03-02]
- 20. de la Vega R, Miró J. mHealth: a strategic field without a solid scientific soul. A systematic review of pain-related apps. PLoS One 2014 Jul 7;9(7):e101312 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0101312] [Medline: 24999983]
- 21. West D. How mobile devices are transforming healthcare. Issues Technol Innov 2012;18(1):1-11. [doi: 10.20935/al2687]
- 22. Gandapur Y, Kianoush S, Kelli HM, Misra S, Urrea B, Blaha MJ, et al. The role of mHealth for improving medication adherence in patients with cardiovascular disease: a systematic review. Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes 2016 Oct 01;2(4):237-244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ehjqcco/qcw018] [Medline: 29474713]

- 23. Berrouiguet S, Baca-García E, Brandt S, Walter M, Courtet P. Fundamentals for future mobile-health (mHealth): a systematic review of mobile phone and web-based text messaging in mental health. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jun 10;18(6):e135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5066] [Medline: 27287668]
- 24. Kitsiou S, Paré G, Jaana M, Gerber B. Effectiveness of mHealth interventions for patients with diabetes: an overview of systematic reviews. PLoS One 2017 Mar 1;12(3):e0173160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0173160] [Medline: 28249025]
- 25. Xiang Y, Yang Y, Li W, Zhang L, Zhang Q, Cheung T, et al. Timely mental health care for the 2019 novel coronavirus outbreak is urgently needed. Lancet Psychiatry 2020 Mar;7(3):228-229. [doi: 10.1016/s2215-0366(20)30046-8]
- 26. Developer policy center. Google Play. URL: <u>https://play.google.com/about/developer-content-policy-print/</u> [accessed 2022-03-02]
- 27. Zhou X, Snoswell CL, Harding LE, Bambling M, Edirippulige S, Bai X, et al. The role of telehealth in reducing the mental health burden from COVID-19. Telemed J E Health 2020 Apr 01;26(4):377-379. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2020.0068</u>] [Medline: <u>32202977</u>]
- 28. Ohannessian R, Duong TA, Odone A. Global telemedicine implementation and integration within health systems to fight the COVID-19 pandemic: a call to action. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2020 Apr 02;6(2):e18810 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18810] [Medline: 32238336]
- 29. Udugama B, Kadhiresan P, Kozlowski HN, Malekjahani A, Osborne M, Li VY, et al. Diagnosing COVID-19: the disease and tools for detection. ACS Nano 2020 Apr 28;14(4):3822-3835 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1021/acsnano.0c02624] [Medline: 32223179]
- 30. Moman R, Dvorkin J, Pollard E, Wanderman R, Murad MH, Warner DO, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of unguided electronic and mobile health technologies for chronic pain-is it time to start prescribing electronic health applications? Pain Med 2019 Nov 01;20(11):2238-2255. [doi: 10.1093/pm/pnz164] [Medline: 31386151]
- 31. Keogh E, Rosser B, Eccleston C. e-Health and chronic pain management: current status and developments. Pain 2010 Oct;151(1):18-21. [doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2010.07.014] [Medline: 20674174]
- 32. Dayer L, Heldenbrand S, Anderson P, Gubbins PO, Martin BC. Smartphone medication adherence apps: potential benefits to patients and providers. J Am Pharmacists Assoc 2013 Mar;53(2):172-181. [doi: <u>10.1331/japha.2013.12202</u>]
- Yang J, Wei Q, Ge Y, Meng L, Zhao M. Smartphone-based remote self-management of chronic low back pain: a preliminary study. J Healthc Eng 2019 Feb 06;2019:4632946-4632947 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2019/4632946] [Medline: 30881606]
- 34. Benferdia Y, Zakaria N. A systematic literature review of content-based mobile health. J Inf Syst Innov 2014;8:1-10.
- 35. Beratarrechea A, Lee AG, Willner JM, Jahangir E, Ciapponi A, Rubinstein A. The impact of mobile health interventions on chronic disease outcomes in developing countries: a systematic review. Telemed J E Health 2014 Jan;20(1):75-82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2012.0328] [Medline: 24205809]
- Blumenthal J, Wilkinson A, Chignell M. Physiotherapists' and physiotherapy students' perspectives on the use of mobile or wearable technology in their practice. Physiother Can 2018 Aug;70(3):251-261 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3138/ptc.2016-100.e] [Medline: 30275650]
- 37. Williams V, Price J, Hardinge M, Tarassenko L, Farmer A. Using a mobile health application to support self-management in COPD: a qualitative study. Br J Gen Pract 2014 Jun 30;64(624):e392-e400. [doi: <u>10.3399/bjgp14x680473</u>]
- Vorrink SN, Kort HS, Troosters T, Zanen P, Lammers JJ. Efficacy of an mHealth intervention to stimulate physical activity in COPD patients after pulmonary rehabilitation. Eur Respir J 2016 Oct 01;48(4):1019-1029 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/13993003.00083-2016] [Medline: 27587557]
- Hempel C, Sezier A, Terry G. What helps or hinders clinicians in their decision-making processes when using or prescribing mHealth apps in practice? An exploratory study. New Zealand J Physiother 2018 Jul 20;46(2):73-78. [doi: 10.15619/nzjp/46.2.04]
- 40. Slater H, Campbell JM, Stinson JN, Burley MM, Briggs AM. End user and implementer experiences of mHealth technologies for noncommunicable chronic disease management in young adults: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2017 Dec 12;19(12):e406 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8888] [Medline: 29233804]
- 41. Hernandez Silva E, Lawler S, Langbecker D. The effectiveness of mHealth for self-management in improving pain, psychological distress, fatigue, and sleep in cancer survivors: a systematic review. J Cancer Surviv 2019 Feb 11;13(1):97-107. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-018-0730-8] [Medline: 30635865]
- 42. Bellei EA, Biduski D, Cechetti NP, De Marchi AC. Diabetes mellitus m-health applications: a systematic review of features and fundamentals. Telemed J E Health 2018 Nov;24(11):839-852. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2017.0230</u>] [Medline: <u>29470105</u>]
- 43. Baeza-Barragán MR, Labajos Manzanares MT, Ruiz Vergara C, Casuso-Holgado MJ, Martín-Valero R. The use of virtual reality technologies in the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Dec 08;8(12):e21576 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21576] [Medline: 33289679]
- 44. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol 2005 Feb;8(1):19-32. [doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616]
- 45. Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR): checklist and explanation. Ann Intern Med 2018 Oct 02;169(7):467-473. [doi: 10.7326/m18-0850]

- 46. Adamse C, Dekker-Van Weering MG, van Etten-Jamaludin FS, Stuiver MM. The effectiveness of exercise-based telemedicine on pain, physical activity and quality of life in the treatment of chronic pain: a systematic review. J Telemed Telecare 2017 Jul 11;24(8):511-526. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x17716576]
- 47. Adhikari SP, Shrestha P, Dev R. Feasibility and effectiveness of telephone-based telephysiotherapy for treatment of pain in low-resource setting: a retrospective pre-post design. Pain Res Manag 2020 May 08;2020:2741278-2741277 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2020/2741278] [Medline: 32454919]
- 48. Azma K, RezaSoltani Z, Rezaeimoghaddam F, Dadarkhah A, Mohsenolhosseini S. Efficacy of tele-rehabilitation compared with office-based physical therapy in patients with knee osteoarthritis: a randomized clinical trial. J Telemed Telecare 2017 Aug 03;24(8):560-565. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x17723368]
- 49. Bini S, Mahajan J. Clinical outcomes of remote asynchronous telerehabilitation are equivalent to traditional therapy following total knee arthroplasty: a randomized control study. J Telemed Telecare 2016 Jul 09;23(2):239-247. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x16634518]
- 50. Chen Y, Lin C, Tsai M, Chuang T, Lee OK. Wearable motion sensor device to facilitate rehabilitation in patients with shoulder adhesive capsulitis: pilot study to assess feasibility. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 23;22(7):e17032 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17032] [Medline: 32457026]
- 51. Correia FD, Nogueira A, Magalhães I, Guimarães J, Moreira M, Barradas I, et al. Medium-term outcomes of digital versus conventional home-based rehabilitation after total knee arthroplasty: prospective, parallel-group feasibility study. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2019 Feb 28;6(1):e13111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13111] [Medline: 30816849]
- Dunphy E, Hamilton FL, Spasić I, Button K. Acceptability of a digital health intervention alongside physiotherapy to support patients following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2017 Nov 21;18(1):471 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12891-017-1846-0] [Medline: 29162071]
- 53. Eriksson L, Lindström B, Ekenberg L. Patients' experiences of telerehabilitation at home after shoulder joint replacement. J Telemed Telecare 2011 Jan 01;17(1):25-30. [doi: 10.1258/jtt.2010.100317] [Medline: 21075802]
- 54. Eriksson L, Lindström B, Gard G, Lysholm J. Physiotherapy at a distance: a controlled study of rehabilitation at home after a shoulder joint operation. J Telemed Telecare 2009 Jul 09;15(5):215-220. [doi: <u>10.1258/jtt.2009.081003</u>] [Medline: <u>19590025</u>]
- 55. Gialanella B, Ettori T, Faustini S, Baratti D, Bernocchi P, Comini L, et al. Home-based telemedicine in patients with chronic neck pain. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2017 May;96(5):327-332. [doi: 10.1097/PHM.00000000000000010] [Medline: 27584139]
- 56. Irvine AB, Gelatt VA, Seeley JR, Macfarlane P, Gau JM. Web-based intervention to promote physical activity by sedentary older adults: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2013 Feb 05;15(2):e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2158] [Medline: 23470322]
- 57. Jay K, Schraefel MC, Brandt M, Andersen LL. Effect of video-based versus personalized instruction on errors during elastic tubing exercises for musculoskeletal pain: a randomized controlled trial. Biomed Res Int 2014;2014:790937-790937 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2014/790937] [Medline: 24734244]
- 58. Lade H, McKenzie S, Steele L, Russell TG. Validity and reliability of the assessment and diagnosis of musculoskeletal elbow disorders using telerehabilitation. J Telemed Telecare 2012 Oct 19;18(7):413-418. [doi: <u>10.1258/jtt.2012.120501</u>] [Medline: <u>23086982</u>]
- 59. Lawford B, Delany C, Bennell K, Hinman R. "I was really sceptical...But it worked really well": a qualitative study of patient perceptions of telephone-delivered exercise therapy by physiotherapists for people with knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2018 Jun;26(6):741-750 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.joca.2018.02.909] [Medline: 29572130]
- Lovo S, Harrison L, O'Connell ME, Trask C, Bath B. Experience of patients and practitioners with a team and technology approach to chronic back disorder management. J Multidisciplinary Healthcare 2019 Oct;2019:855-869. [doi: 10.2147/jmdh.s208888]
- 61. Mani S, Sharma S, Omar B, Paungmali A, Joseph L. Validity and reliability of internet-based physiotherapy assessment for musculoskeletal disorders: a systematic review. J Telemed Telecare 2016 Mar 31;23(3):379-391. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x16642369]
- 62. Mecklenburg G, Smittenaar P, Erhart-Hledik JC, Perez DA, Hunter S. Effects of a 12-week digital care program for chronic knee pain on pain, mobility, and surgery risk: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2018 Apr 25;20(4):e156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9667] [Medline: 29695370]
- 63. Meijer HA, Graafland M, Goslings JC, Schijven MP. Systematic review on the effects of serious games and wearable technology used in rehabilitation of patients with traumatic bone and soft tissue injuries. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2018 Sep;99(9):1890-1899. [doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2017.10.018] [Medline: 29138050]
- 64. Nelson M, Bourke M, Crossley K, Russell T. Telerehabilitation is non-inferior to usual care following total hip replacement - a randomized controlled non-inferiority trial. Physiotherapy 2020 Jun;107:19-27. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.physio.2019.06.006</u>] [Medline: <u>32026820</u>]
- 65. Pastora-Bernal JM, Martín-Valero R, Barón-López FJ, Moyano NG, Estebanez-Pérez M. Telerehabilitation after arthroscopic subacromial decompression is effective and not inferior to standard practice: preliminary results. J Telemed Telecare 2017 Apr 27;24(6):428-433. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x17706583]

- 66. Peterson S. Telerehabilitation booster sessions and remote patient monitoring in the management of chronic low back pain: a case series. Physiother Theory Pract 2018 May 10;34(5):393-402. [doi: <u>10.1080/09593985.2017.1401190</u>] [Medline: <u>29125371</u>]
- 67. Piqueras M, Marco E, Coll M, Escalada F, Ballester A, Cinca C, et al. Effectiveness of an interactive virtual telerehabilitation system in patients after total knee arthoplasty: a randomized controlled trial. J Rehabil Med 2013 Apr;45(4):392-396 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2340/16501977-1119] [Medline: 23474735]
- 68. Richardson BR, Truter P, Blumke R, Russell TG. Physiotherapy assessment and diagnosis of musculoskeletal disorders of the knee via telerehabilitation. J Telemed Telecare 2016 Jul 08;23(1):88-95. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x15627237]
- 69. Rothgangel A, Kanera I, van den Heuvel R, Wientgen M, Jamin G, Lenssen T, et al. Physiotherapists' clinical use and acceptance of a telemonitoring platform during anterior cruciate ligament rehabilitation: a prospective clinical study. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2020 Jun 10:1-8. [doi: 10.1080/17483107.2020.1774810] [Medline: 32521183]
- 70. Russell TG, Blumke R, Richardson B, Truter P. Telerehabilitation mediated physiotherapy assessment of ankle disorders. Physiother Res Int 2010 Sep 17;15(3):167-175. [doi: <u>10.1002/pri.471</u>] [Medline: <u>20812313</u>]
- Shukla H, Nair S, Thakker D. Role of telerehabilitation in patients following total knee arthroplasty: evidence from a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. J Telemed Telecare 2016 Jul 09;23(2):339-346. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x16628996]
- Tousignant M, Moffet H, Boissy P, Corriveau H, Cabana F, Marquis F. A randomized controlled trial of home telerehabilitation for post-knee arthroplasty. J Telemed Telecare 2011;17(4):195-198. [doi: <u>10.1258/jtt.2010.100602</u>] [Medline: <u>21398389</u>]
- 73. Wijnen A, Hoogland J, Munsterman T, Gerritsma CL, Dijkstra B, Zijlstra WP, et al. Effectiveness of a home-based rehabilitation program after total hip arthroplasty driven by a tablet app and remote coaching: nonrandomized controlled trial combining a single-arm intervention cohort with historical controls. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2020 Apr 27;7(1):e14139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14139] [Medline: 32338621]
- 74. Toelle TR, Utpadel-Fischler DA, Haas K, Priebe JA. App-based multidisciplinary back pain treatment versus combined physiotherapy plus online education: a randomized controlled trial. NPJ Digit Med 2019 May 3;2(1):34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-019-0109-x] [Medline: 31304380]
- 75. Chiang N, Guo M, Amico KR, Atkins L, Lester RT. Interactive two-way mHealth interventions for improving medication adherence: an evaluation using the behaviour change wheel framework. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Apr 12;6(4):e87 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9187] [Medline: 29650504]
- 76. Odukoya OO, Ohazurike C, Akanbi M, O'Dwyer LC, Isikekpei B, Kuteyi E, et al. mHealth interventions for treatment adherence and outcomes of care for cardiometabolic disease among adults living with HIV: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Jun 09;9(6):e20330 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20330] [Medline: 34106075]
- 77. Davalbhakta S, Advani S, Kumar S, Agarwal V, Bhoyar S, Fedirko E, et al. A systematic review of smartphone applications available for corona virus disease 2019 (COVID19) and the assessment of their quality using the mobile application rating scale (MARS). J Med Syst 2020 Aug 10;44(9):164 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10916-020-01633-3] [Medline: 32779002]
- 78. Brennan L, Kessie T, Caulfield B. Patient experiences of rehabilitation and the potential for an mHealth system with biofeedback after breast cancer surgery: qualitative study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Jul 29;8(7):e19721 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19721] [Medline: 32687476]
- 79. McAleese S, Kilty J. Stories matter: reaffirming the value of qualitative research. Qual Res 2019 Apr 17;24(4):822-845. [doi: <u>10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3713</u>]
- Mitchell M, White L, Oh P, Alter D, Leahey T, Kwan M, et al. Uptake of an incentive-based mHealth app: process evaluation of the carrot rewards app. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 May 30;5(5):e70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7323] [Medline: 28559224]
- Annamdas VG, Bhalla S, Soh CK. Applications of structural health monitoring technology in Asia. Structural Health Monitoring 2016 Jun 22;16(3):324-346. [doi: <u>10.1177/1475921716653278</u>]
- Stiles-Shields C, Montague E, Lattie EG, Kwasny MJ, Mohr DC. What might get in the way: barriers to the use of apps for depression. Digit Health 2017 Jun 08;3:2055207617713827 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207617713827] [Medline: 29942605]

Abbreviations

mHealth: mobile healthPRISMA-ScR: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping ReviewsROM: range of motion



Edited by T Leung; submitted 15.09.21; peer-reviewed by P Vallance, L Happe; comments to author 01.12.21; revised version received 14.12.21; accepted 24.01.22; published 11.03.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Agnew JMR, Hanratty CE, McVeigh JG, Nugent C, Kerr DP An Investigation Into the Use of mHealth in Musculoskeletal Physiotherapy: Scoping Review JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e33609 URL: https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e33609 doi:10.2196/33609 PMID:35275089

©Jonathon M R Agnew, Catherine E Hanratty, Joseph G McVeigh, Chris Nugent, Daniel P Kerr. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 11.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Patient Outcomes and Lessons Learned From Treating Patients With Severe COVID-19 at a Long-term Acute Care Hospital: Single-Center Retrospective Study

Pete Grevelding^{1,2}, PT, MSPT; Henry Charles Hrdlicka¹, PhD; Steve Holland², MD, MPA; Lorraine Cullen^{1,2,3,4}, RRT-ACCS, MSc; Amanda Meyer^{1,5}, MSc; Catherine Connors⁶, PT, DPT; Darielle Cooper⁷, MA; Allison Greco⁷, MSc

¹Milne Institute for Healthcare Innovation, Gaylord Specialty Healthcare, Wallingford, CT, United States

²Clinical and Medical Services, Gaylord Specialty Healthcare, Wallingford, CT, United States

³Department of Radiology Services, Gaylord Specialty Healthcare, Wallingford, CT, United States

⁴Department of Inpatient Respiratory Therapy, Gaylord Specialty Healthcare, Wallingford, CT, United States

⁵Department of Inpatient Occupational Therapy, Gaylord Specialty Healthcare, Wallingford, CT, United States

⁶Department of Inpatient Physical Therapy, Gaylord Specialty Healthcare, Wallingford, CT, United States

⁷Department of Inpatient Speech Language Pathology, Gaylord Specialty Healthcare, Wallingford, CT, United States

Corresponding Author:

Pete Grevelding, PT, MSPT Milne Institute for Healthcare Innovation Gaylord Specialty Healthcare 50 Gaylord Farm Road Wallingford, CT, 06492 United States Phone: 1 203 741 3386 Email: pgrevelding@gaylord.org

Abstract

Background: With the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic, shifting active COVID-19 care from short-term acute care hospitals (STACHs) to long-term acute care hospitals (LTACHs) could decrease STACH census during critical stages of the pandemic and maximize limited resources.

Objective: This study aimed to describe the characteristics, clinical management, and patient outcomes during and after the acute COVID-19 phase in an LTACH in the Northeastern United States.

Methods: This was a single-center group comparative retrospective analysis of the electronic medical records of patients treated for COVID-19–related impairments from March 19, 2020, through August 14, 2020, and a reference population of medically complex patients discharged between December 1, 2019, and February 29, 2020. This study was conducted to evaluate patient outcomes in response to the holistic treatment approach of the facility.

Results: Of the 127 total COVID-19 admissions, 118 patients were discharged by the data cutoff. At admission, 29.9% (38/127) of patients tested positive for SARS-CoV-2 infection. The mean age of the COVID-19 cohort was lower than that of the reference cohort (63.3, 95% CI 61.1-65.4 vs 65.5, 95% CI 63.2-67.8 years; P=.04). There were similar proportions of males and females between cohorts (P=.38); however, the proportion of non-White/non-Caucasian patients was higher in the COVID-19 cohort than in the reference cohort (odds ratio 2.79, 95% CI 1.5-5.2; P=.001). The mean length of stay in the COVID-19 cohort was similar to that in the reference cohort (25.5, 95% CI 23.2-27.9 vs 29.9, 95% CI 24.7-35.2 days; P=.84). Interestingly, a positive correlation

between patient age and length of stay was observed in the COVID-19 cohort ($r^2=0.05$; P=.02), but not in the reference cohort. Ambulation assistance scores improved in both the reference and COVID-19 cohorts from admission to discharge (P<.001). However, the mean assistance score was greater in the COVID-19 cohort than in the reference cohort at discharge (4.9, 95% CI 4.6-5.3 vs 4.1, 95% CI 3.7-4.7; P=.001). Similarly, the mean change in gait distance was greater in the COVID-19 cohort than in the reference cohort (221.1, 95% CI 163.2-279.2 vs 146.4, 95% CI 85.6-207.3 feet; P<.001). Of the 16 patients mechanically ventilated at admission, 94% (15/16) were weaned before discharge (mean 11.3 days). Of the 75 patients admitted with a restricted diet, 75% (56/75) were discharged on a regular diet.

Conclusions: The majority of patients treated at the LTACH for severe COVID-19 and related complications benefited from coordinated care and rehabilitation. In comparison to the reference cohort, patients treated for COVID-19 were discharged with greater improvements in ambulation distance and assistance needs during a similar length of stay. These findings indicate that other patients with COVID-19 would benefit from care in an LTACH.

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e31502) doi:10.2196/31502

KEYWORDS

COVID-19; SARS-CoV-2; post–COVID-19; subacute COVID-19; postacute care; long-term acute care hospital; pulmonary; speech therapy; speech-language pathology; rehabilitation; physical therapy; occupational therapy; respiratory therapy

Introduction

Patients hospitalized with severe COVID-19 caused by SARS-CoV-2 infection may face a long hospital length of stay (LOS), making it unreasonable to expect a direct discharge to home [1]. Indeed, COVID-19 is predicted to result in significant morbidity for some patients, with the need for medical and rehabilitation services for 6 months or longer after the initial diagnosis [2].

Long-term acute care hospitals (LTACHs) can provide these postacute care and rehabilitation services in the post-COVID phase. They can also provide an alternative to conventional short-term acute care hospitals (STACHs) for active COVID-19 treatment, thereby reducing the burden on the STACH system when resources are already limited [3,4].

LTACHs are certified acute care hospitals equipped to provide long-term (average LOS of 25-28 days) acute level care to medically complex patients. LTACHs are able to treat patients who require a higher level of care than what other rehabilitation facilities may be able to provide. Medically complex patients are often transferred to the LTACH setting as soon as they are found to be hemodynamically stable. Once at the LTACH, an interdisciplinary care plan, including continued treatment for underlying conditions and targeted holistic rehabilitation, is started. While it is the hope that each patient is able to be discharged to home, patients may also be transferred to other facilities such as skilled nursing facilities to continue their recovery if necessary.

It has been proposed that patients with severe COVID-19 may benefit from the inpatient respiratory, functional, and neurological rehabilitation provided at LTACHs [5]. Early rehabilitation may also reduce disability and improve clinical outcomes in patients with COVID-19 [6-9].

Here, we report on patient characteristics, clinical management strategies, and patient outcomes from an LTACH caring for patients with severe COVID-19, as well as make comparisons with the typical medical population cared for at the LTACH.

Methods

Study Design, Setting, and Study Population

This retrospective study was conducted at Gaylord Specialty Healthcare, a rehabilitation-focused LTACH in the Northeastern United States. COVID-19–related data were collected from March 19, 2020, through August 14, 2020. The study data are for 117 individuals who were treated in regional STACHs for

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31502
```

acute COVID-19 and then discharged to the LTACH for post–COVID-19 care and rehabilitation. Due to STACH readmissions for acute decompensation, 8 of the 117 individuals accounted for 10 additional admissions, for a total of 127 admissions. Of the 127 total admissions/readmissions, there were 118 total discharges by the data cutoff of August 14, 2020, with 9 admissions remaining as active patients.

Data from a historical reference cohort (control population) consisting of 157 individuals discharged from December 1, 2019, through February 29, 2020, were also collected. Similar to the COVID-19 cohort, some individuals required temporary readmission to a STACH before being readmitted to the LTACH setting. Ten of the 157 individuals accounted for 13 additional readmissions in the reference cohort, for a total of 170 admissions and discharges. Although this led to uneven population sizes, the 2-month time frame for the historical control was selected to normalize potential seasonal variances and minimize the effect of annual regulatory and insurance changes.

When describing patient demographics, we compared the 117 individual patients admitted for COVID-19–related rehabilitation and the 157 individuals admitted during the reference time frame. When comparing LOS, we used the LOS for the 118 total COVID-19 discharges and the LOS for the 170 total reference cohort discharges. For all other comparisons, we used data from the total admissions or subpopulations.

Protocols for Patients With Confirmed or Suspected SARS-CoV-2 Infection

Similar to arrangements made by other LTACH facilities with regional hospitals, patients who required postacute care for COVID-19–related issues and those who were still SARS-CoV-2 positive were accepted from STACHs to help unburden those facilities [10]. Additionally, when available beds in the LTACH facility were scarce, health care workers and other first responders were prioritized for admission to ensure other regional health care facilities were able to be adequately staffed during the pandemic.

Patients with active or prior SARS-CoV-2 infection were housed on separate floors of the hospital, similar to the practical arrangements of other postacute care facilities [11]. Patients with confirmed or suspected SARS-CoV-2 infection were housed in negative-pressure rooms or in rooms with portable or ceiling-mounted air scrubbers.

Personal protective equipment protocols for the COVID-19 cohort included the use of face shields, N95 particulate respirator

masks or duck bill surgical masks, scrub caps, and boot covers, as well as uniform laundering at an outside facility. Powered air-purifying respirators were available if needed. Due to a facility shortage of N95 respirator masks (ie, unknown/unstable resupply chains), these masks were sterilized for reuse by an outside facility.

To decrease personnel exposure to patients with suspected or confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection and conserve personal protective equipment, we developed multidisciplinary "COVID-19 teams" responsible for patient isolation, testing, implementation of droplet precautions, and cluster care. Further, a dedicated respiratory therapist and intubation box were used to treat patients with active SARS-CoV-2 infection requiring mechanical ventilation or having a tracheostomy.

Typical Care for Patients With a Pulmonary Condition

Using standardized measures and functional assessments, interdisciplinary clinical teams evaluated patients to determine functional impairments at admission. When applicable, a speech-language pathologist assessed patients for voicing, swallowing, and cognitive-communication impairments. Patients were mobilized throughout the day, including chair positioning of the bed, transfer to a bedside chair, and other exercises/ambulation as appropriate.

Within 24 hours of admission, patients with a tracheostomy were assessed for in-line speaking valve use. As patients progressed with the speaking valve, they were transitioned to tracheostomy capping and placed on the decannulation protocol (Multimedia Appendix 1). When appropriate, patients being mechanically ventilated were considered for the ventilator weaning protocol (Multimedia Appendix 2). Interdisciplinary rounds occurred weekly for patients being mechanically ventilated.

COVID-19–Specific Respiratory Therapy Considerations

SARS-CoV-2–positive patients completed self-directed exercises in their rooms, were seen for individual or co-treatment sessions in their rooms, and, once SARS-CoV-2 negative, participated in group pulmonary exercise therapy and education classes.

Patients who were desaturating or acutely decompensating were placed in the prone position by a multidisciplinary team (including physical therapy, nursing, and respiratory therapy). Prior to placing patients in the prone position, staff participated in training sessions on how to safely prone and reposition patients, manage leads and lines, and perform cardiopulmonary resuscitation while in the prone position. Patients who were functionally capable or were previously placed in the prone position during acute care, were educated on how to safely put themselves in the prone position and encouraged to do so when appropriate.

Speech-Language Pathology

Many patients in the COVID-19 cohort presented with cognitive-communication deficits, potentially as a result of COVID-19–induced hypoxia, prolonged intubation, or sedation [12]. When appropriate, cognitive-communication assessments were performed by a speech-language pathologist on the

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31502
```

COVID-19 team. Using tools, such as the Bioness Integrated Therapy System, worksheets, and group therapy sessions, speech-language pathology sessions focused on attention, memory, functional skills, and compensatory strategy use. The National Outcomes Measurement System (NOMS) assessment was used to summarize the overall cognitive communication status of the COVID-19 cohort at admission and discharge. The NOMS scale was developed by the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association, and consists of 15 functional communication measures used for adult health care [13-15]. These 15 measures were designed to describe functional abilities over time and to be diagnosis specific, meaning that patients would only be given the measures specific to their case. These measures are scored using a 7-level system based on speech-language pathologist clinical observations of the individual's communication and swallowing ability. The diagnosis-specific functional communication measures used to describe the patients treated for postacute COVID-19 in this study included the following: attention, memory, problem solving, spoken language comprehension, spoken language expression, swallowing, and voice following tracheostomy.

For the purpose of this study, the functional communication measure scores were used to assign an overall cognitive-communication status, including the following: unable to assess, profound impairment, severe impairment, moderate-severe impairment, moderate impairment, mild-moderate impairment, mild impairment, within functional limits, or baseline. To facilitate statistical analysis, these statuses were then given a numerical value ranging from 1 (unable to assess) to 9 (baseline cognition). Due to the retrospective nature of the study, similar values were not readily available for the reference cohort and were not included.

Due to the correlation between prolonged intubation and dysphagia, speech-language pathology interventions also targeted swallowing dysfunction [16]. Dysphagia management comprises several aerosol-generating procedures, including oral mechanism examination, cough testing, reflexive cough, swallowing trials, and secretion management. Given the proximity and prolonged exposure to aerosols during instrumental evaluations and the need for multiple staff members, procedures, such as fiberoptic endoscopic evaluation of swallow and modified barium swallow study, were minimized. Thus, speech-language pathologists heavily relied on clinical swallowing evaluations for patients with active SARS-CoV-2 infection. Additionally, some patients in the COVID-19 cohort consented to performing clinical swallowing evaluations via telehealth to reduce potential SARS-CoV-2 exposure and transmission.

Gait/Functional Status Assessment and Rehabilitation

At admission, physical therapists evaluated patient ambulatory status by assessing functional ability and gait distance. Patients received standard individualized physical therapy, and their gait quality and distance were challenged for progression as tolerated. Hypotension or tachycardia was present in some patients in the COVID-19 cohort. For these individuals, therapy was aimed at improving tolerance and progression. Functional Independence Measure (FIM) assistance level scores and gait

XSL•FO RenderX

distance were used to describe the functional ability of patients throughout recovery. With a mean interrater reliability ranging from 0.89 to 1.00, the FIM is a 2-domain (ie, motor function and cognitive function) 18-item assessment. This measure uses a 7-point ordinal scale to measures the amount of assistance provided by the therapist during treatment [17-20]. Here, we are only reporting the assistance level associated with the FIM scores for ambulation under the locomotion subscale [17-20]. The assistance level associated with FIM was analyzed separate to the gait distance component. We felt that analyzing assistance and gait distance separately was the best way to look at the functional status of the subject amidst infection control restrictions, potentially limiting patients to their rooms and potentially limiting ambulation distances.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism version 9.0.0 (GraphPad Software). Prior to analysis, data were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Each data set was found to have one or more nonnormally distributed groups, and nonparametric tests were used accordingly. For hypothesis testing between 2 unpaired groups, the Mann-Whitney rank comparison test was conducted. For paired 2-group testing, the Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed-rank test was conducted. For hypothesis testing between 3 groups, the Kruskal-Wallis analysis of variance (ANOVA) test with the Dunn multiple comparison posthoc test was conducted.

To compare the proportions of racial demographics of the reference and COVID-19 cohorts, we subdivided the individuals White/Caucasian into either self-reported or non-White/non-Caucasian (Black/African American, Asian, bi/multiracial) racial demographics. The rationale behind this was 2-fold. First, since the start of the pandemic, there has been a reported disparity in the number of White and non-White individuals being infected with SARS-CoV-2. By comparing these proportions, we wished to determine if this was also reflected in our population. Second, due to their lower representation in our population, individuals who self-reported as bi/multiracial in the COVID-19 cohort did not meet the criteria to conduct reliable chi-square testing across more than 2 groups. We were left with the option to either exclude these individuals or combine them. While combining Asian and bi/multiracial individuals into 1 category would have worked, we opted to combine and compare all non-White/non-Caucasian (Black/African American, Asian, bi/multiracial) individuals to White/Caucasian individuals. Doing this also allowed us to conduct the Fisher exact test, which is preferred to the approximation calculated with chi-square testing. Additionally, the odds ratios (ORs) for the proportions and the respective 95% CIs (Baptiste Pike testing) were calculated. Moreover, the

Fisher exact test, ORs, and Baptiste Pike test were used to compare the proportions of male and female individuals between the cohorts.

Nonlinear regression analysis was conducted to determine the correlation between 2 conditions using least-squares regression; 95% CIs are reported. An extra sum-of-squares F test was performed to evaluate the calculated slope of each regression against a hypothetical slope of 0.

When data from multiple time points and two or more groups were present, a 2-way mixed effects model ANOVA was used. This was to evaluate for the presence or absence of time effects independent of the cohort, cohort effects independent of time, and the effects of time and cohort combined. The Šídák multiple comparisons test was then used to calculate all in-group and between-group comparisons. Included in this analysis were the admission and discharge values for ambulation assistance (ie, FIM scores) and gait distance travelled. Changes in FIM scores and gait distance were compared using Mann-Whitney U tests.

Ethics Approval

This study was written in compliance with our institutional privacy policy, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, and the standards set by the Declaration of Helsinki. Prior to beginning, this retrospective study was reviewed and given an exempt status by the Gaylord Specialty Healthcare Institutional Review Board.

Results

Patient Demographics

During the study period, 117 individuals, accounting for 127 total admissions, were admitted for COVID-19 or post-COVID-19 care as described above (Figure 1). COVID-19 admissions first peaked during May 2020 (Figure 2A), approximately 4 weeks later than in the New England/New area [21,22]. Of the York City 127 total admissions/readmissions, there were 118 total discharges by the data cutoff, with 9 admissions still receiving care. The COVID-19 cohort represented 17.2% (127/737) of the hospital census during the 4.5-month/148-day study period. For the 127 total COVID-19 admissions, the mean STACH LOS prior to LTACH admission or readmission was 34.3 (95% CI 30.6-37.9) days. The mean LTACH LOS for the 118 total discharges was 25.5 (95% CI 23.2-27.9) days. Regression analysis indicated that there was no correlation between STACH LOS and LTACH LOS ($r^2=0.03$, P=.09; Figure 2B). Further, the mean COVID-19 cohort LOS was similar to the reference cohort LOS of 29.9 (95% CI 24.7-35.2) days (P=.84; Figure 2C).



Figure 1. Study cohorts (COVID-19 cohort and reference cohort). FIM: Functional Independence Measure; NOMS: National Outcomes Measurement System.



Figure 2. Trends in patient admission and length of stay (LOS) during the COVID-19 pandemic. (A) Patient admission from March 19, 2020, to August 14, 2020. (B) Nonlinear regression analysis for the correlation between patient long-term acute care hospital (LTACH) LOS and short-term acute care hospital (STACH) LOS. The solid regression line shows the correlation coefficient, and the dotted lines show the 95% CI. (C) Scatter plot for the comparison of the LTACH LOS between the reference and COVID-19 cohorts. The colored lines represent the median and interquartile range.





Compared to the reference cohort (n=157 individual patients), the COVID-19 cohort (n=117 individual patients) had a similar ratio of males to females (OR 0.79, 95% CI 0.49-1.3; P=.38), was younger (difference of medians=-4.0, 95% CI -6.0 to 0.0; P=.04; Figure 3A; Table 1), and had a greater representation of non-White racial demographics (32.5% vs 15.9%; OR 2.79, 95% CI 1.5-5.2; P=.001; Table 1). At admission, the most prevalent comorbidities in the COVID-19 cohort were hypertension (53.0%), hyperlipidemia (42.6%), dysphagia (38.3%), and type II diabetes mellitus (35.7%; Table 1).

At discharge, the most common discharge destinations of the reference cohort included home with health services (53/170, 31.2%), skilled nursing facility (43/170, 25.3%), emergent transfer to a STACH (38/170, 22.4%), and home without health services (11/170, 6.5%). The COVID-19 cohort discharge destinations were similar in nature and included home with health services (58/127, 45.7%), skilled nursing facility (35/127, 32.5%), home without health services (18/127, 14.2%), and emergent transfer to a STACH (14/127, 11.0%) (Table 1). Using chi-square testing, the distributions of the discharge destinations of the 2 cohorts were compared, and it was observed that the distributions were significantly different (χ^2_5 =21.93; *P*<.001).

Figure 3. Age as a risk factor for prolonged COVID-19 illness. (A) Scatter plot showing the age distribution in the reference and COVID-19 cohorts. The colored lines represent the median and interquartile range. (B) Nonlinear regression analysis showing the correlation between patient age and long-term acute care hospital length of stay (LOS) in the overall COVID-19 cohort. Solid regression lines show the correlation coefficient surrounded by the 95% CI as dotted lines. (C, D) When evaluated by sex, this pattern was also observed in COVID-19 males alone (C), but was not present in COVID-19 females alone (D). Solid regression lines show the correlation coefficient surrounded by the 95% CI as dotted lines.





```
Grevelding et al
```

Table 1. Patient demographics and comorbidities at long-term acute care hospital admission.

| Characteristic | Reference cohort ^a | COVID-19 cohort ^b | Group difference (95% CI) or chi square (<i>df</i>) | <i>P</i> value |
|--|-------------------------------|------------------------------|---|----------------------|
| Cohort age (years), mean (95% CI), n ^c | 65.5 (63.2 to 67.8), 157 | 63.3 (61.1 to 65.4), 117 | -4.0 (-6.0 to 0.0) ^d | .04 |
| Sex | | | 0.79 (0.49 to 1.3) ^e | .38 |
| Male, n ^c (%) | 92 (58.6) | 75 (64.1) | | |
| Female, n ^c (%) | 65 (41.4) | 42 (35.9) | | |
| Male age (years), mean (95% CI), n ^c | 64.0 (61.3 to 66.8), 92 | 63.2 (60.5 to 65.8), 75 | -4.0 (-6.0 to 2.0) ^d | .30 |
| Female age (years), mean (95% CI), n ^c | 67.6 (63.7 to 71.6), 65 | 63.5 (59.5 to 67.4), 42 | -6.5 (-11.0 to 0.0) ^d | .04 |
| BMI (kg/m ²), mean (95% CI), n ^c | 27.2 (26.0 to 28.4), 157 | 29.9 (28.7 to 31.2), 117 | $3.2 (1.3 \text{ to } 4.5)^{d}$ | <.001 |
| Length of stay (days), mean (95% CI), n ^c | 29.9 (24.7 to 35.2), 170 | 25.5 (23.2 to 27.9), 118 | $0.0 (-3.0 \text{ to } 3.0)^{d}$ | .84 |
| Race ^f , n ^c (%) | | | $2.79 (1.5 \text{ to } 5.2)^{\text{e}}$ | .001 |
| White/Caucasian | 132 (84.1) | 79 (67.5) | | |
| Non-White/non-Caucasian | 21 (15.9) | 35 (32.5) | | |
| Black/African American | 15 (9.2) | 27 (23.7) | | |
| Asian | 4 (2.4) | 7 (6.1) | | |
| Bi/multiracial | 2 (1.2) | 1 (0.9) | | |
| Discharge destination ^g , n ^c (%) | | | 21.93 (<i>df</i> 5) | <.001 ^{e,h} |
| Home with health services | 53 (31.2) | 58 (45.7) | | |
| Skilled nursing facility | 43 (25.3) | 25 (19.7) | | |
| Home without health services | 11 (6.5) | 18 (14.2) | | |
| Emergent transfer to an ACH ⁱ | 38 (22.4) | 14 (11.0) | | |
| Planned transfer to an ACH | 8.8 (8.8) | 2 (1.6) | | |
| Other | 10 (5.9) | 10 (7.9) | | |
| Acute rehabilitation | 0 (0.0) | 1 (0.8) | | |
| Hospice/palliative care | 6 (3.5) | 0 (0.0) | | |
| Deceased | 4 (2.4) | 0 (0.0) | | |
| Patient at data cutoff | 0 (0.0) | 9 (7.1) | | |
| COVID-19 cohort comorbid conditions at LTACH ^j admission ^k , n (%) | | | N/A ¹ | N/A |
| Primary hypertension | N/A | 61 (53.0) | | |
| Hyperlipidemia | N/A | 49 (42.6) | | |
| Dysphagia | N/A | 44 (38.3) | | |
| Type II diabetes mellitus | N/A | 41 (35.7) | | |
| Acute kidney failure | N/A | 25 (21.7) | | |
| Urinary tract infection | N/A | 22 (19.1) | | |
| Severe obesity | N/A | 14 (12.2) | | |

^aThe reference cohort included medically complex patients cared for at the facility from December 1, 2019, to February 29, 2020. Data from 170 admissions, consisting of 157 individuals, were included.

^bThe COVID-19 cohort included all COVID-19–related admissions from March 19, 2020, through August 14, 2020. Data from 127 admissions, consisting of 117 individuals, were included; 118 of the 127 admission cases were discharged by the data cutoff.

^cThe listed "n" value indicates the sample size analyzed to obtain each of the reported *P* values.

^dNonparametric Mann-Whitney test is used; group difference and reported 95% CI are based on differences of the medians.

^eFisher exact test is used to compare proportions of the self-reported demographics by group; group difference and reported 95% CI are calculated using

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31502

XSL•FO RenderX

odds ratios and Baptiste-Pike testing.

^fBreakdown of self-reported demographics. For analysis of race-related demographics, groups were divided as either White/Caucasian or non-White/non-Caucasian. Individuals who elected to not report were not included in this analysis.

 g Breakdown of recorded discharge destinations for all admissions in both the reference (n=170) and COVID-19 (n=127) cohorts. For analysis, the destinations of acute care hospital rehabilitation, hospice/palliative care, deceased, and patient at data cutoff were grouped.

^hChi-square testing was used to compare the distribution of discharge destinations for both cohorts.

ⁱACH: acute care hospital.

^jLTACH: long-term acute care hospital.

^kComorbid conditions in the COVID-19 cohort were identified by International Classification of Diseases 10th revision (ICD-10) diagnosis codes available in the patient's medical record at discharge from the short-term acute care hospital and admission to long-term acute care. ¹N/A: not applicable; data was not readily available through retrospective review.

Outcomes

Using LOS as a read out for disease severity (ie, the more severe the COVID-19 illness, the longer the LOS in rehabilitation), regression analyses were performed to determine if patient sex, age, or BMI affected LOS, all of which have been noted to increase the risk of severe or prolonged COVID-19 illness [23,24]. Examining age as a potential risk factor for longer LOS and prolonged COVID-19 rehabilitation, we observed a positive correlation among COVID-19 patients (r^2 =0.05; *P*=.02; Figure 3B). No such correlation was observed in the reference cohort (data not shown). When each sex was analyzed separately, we observed a positive correlation between LOS and age among males in the COVID-19 cohort ($r^2=0.07$; P=.02; Figure 3C), but not among females ($r^2=0.001$; P=.55; Figure 3D).

BMI was greater in the COVID-19 cohort than in the reference cohort (Figure 4A, Table 1). Using regression analysis, no correlation was observed between BMI and LOS overall in the COVID-19 cohort (r^2 =0.001; *P*=.73; Figure 4B). Similarly, no such correlation was observed for males or females separately in the COVID-19 cohort (data not shown) or in the reference cohort (data not shown).

Figure 4. BMI as a risk factor for prolonged COVID-19 illness. (A) Scatter plot showing the distribution of BMI in the reference and COVID-19 cohorts. Lighter colored lines represent the median and interquartile range. (B) Nonlinear regression analysis showing the correlation between COVID-19 patient BMI and long-term acute care hospital length of stay (LOS). Solid regression lines show the correlation coefficient surrounded by the 95% CI as dotted lines.



Respiratory Therapy

Of the 43 patients admitted with a tracheostomy, 37.2% (16/43) required mechanical ventilation and 62.8% (27/43) did not; 93.8% (15/16) of mechanically ventilated patients in the COVID-19 cohort were weaned by the data cutoff. Compared to the reference cohort, the mean ventilator wean time in the COVID-19 cohort tended to be shorter (21.5, 95% CI 11.3-31.9 vs 11.3, 95% CI 6.6-15.9 days; P=.23). Given the small number of patients being mechanically ventilated in the reference cohort

(n=7), we also compared the COVID-19 cohort wean time to that of all patients for fiscal year 2019 (ie, October 2018 through September 2019) in the LTACH (12.2, 95% CI 8.9-15.5 days; n=37) and found no difference between the 2 groups (P>.99; Figure 5A). For those weaned from mechanical ventilation, it was an additional mean duration of 15.1 (SD 13.3) days until tracheostomy decannulation. In comparison, for those not mechanically ventilated, the mean time from admission to tracheostomy decannulation was 16.3 (SD 11.4) days.

Figure 5. COVID-19 patient respiratory and cognitive-communication outcomes. (A) Scatter plot showing the comparison of ventilator wean times among patients mechanically ventilated during fiscal year 2019 (October 2018 through September 2019) (n=37), the reference cohort (n=7), and the COVID-19 cohort (n=15). The colored lines represent the median and interquartile range. (B) Evaluation of the cognitive communication score of COVID-19 patients recommended for speech-language pathology services (n=75) at admission and discharge. NOMS: National Outcomes Measurement System.



Speech-Language Pathology

In the COVID-19 cohort, 59% (75/127) of admissions were recommended for speech-language pathology evaluation. Of those, 81% (61/75) were admitted with a modified diet or instructions for nothing by mouth or nil per os (NPO). Following a dysphagia evaluation, most patients were upgraded from NPO to a regular consistency diet. At discharge, 75% (56/75) of patients were consuming a regular consistency diet. Further, 49% (37/75) of patients evaluated by a speech-language pathologist were admitted with a tracheostomy, with or without mechanical ventilation, and 73% (27/37) were found to have some form of voicing disorder, including aphonia (13/37), dysphonia (13/37), or dysarthria (1/37). At discharge, only 35% (13/37) of patients had voicing limitations.

Speech-language pathologists also evaluated patients for cognitive-communication deficits using the modified NOMS scale shown in Table 2. At admission, 58% (44/75) of patients

were rated as either baseline or within functional limits, 37% (28/75) were found to have impairments ranging from mild to severe, and 4% (3/75) could not be assessed. The mean cognitive-communication score at admission was 7.2 (95% CI 6.7-7.6). Deficits primarily affected the areas of attention, processing speed, short-term memory, and complex executive functioning skills. Many patients showed improvement by discharge, with 72% (54/75) being at baseline or within functional limits; 21.3% (16/75) having only mild residual cognitive deficits needing minimal cues or memory aides for maintaining attention, completing tasks, or problem solving; and 6.7% (5/75) continuing with moderate-to-severe cognitive deficits. At discharge, the mean cognitive-communication score was 7.8 (95% CI 7.6-8.0), which is a modest yet significant improvement from admission (P<.001; Figure 5B). Continued speech-language pathology services were recommended for 39% (29/75) of patients after discharge. Due to the retrospective nature of the study, similar values were not readily available for the reference cohort and were not included.



Grevelding et al

 Table 2. Cognitive-communication status scoring in the COVID-19 cohort.

| Description | Admission (N=75) | Discharge (N=75) |
|--------------------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|
| Scoring ^a , n | | |
| Unable to assess (score 1) | 3 | 0 |
| Profound impairment (score 2) | 0 | 0 |
| Severe impairment (score 3) | 2 | 1 |
| Moderate-severe impairment (score 4) | 3 | 1 |
| Moderate impairment (score 5) | 5 | 0 |
| Mild-moderate impairment (score 6) | 3 | 3 |
| Mild impairment (score 7) | 15 | 16 |
| Within functional limits (score 8) | 28 | 38 |
| Baseline (score 9) | 16 | 16 |
| Mean score (95% CI) | 7.2 (6.7-7.6) ^b | 7.8 (7.6-8.0) ^b |

^aTo better analyze patient outcomes, a modified National Outcomes Measure System scale was used for speech-language pathology cognitive-communication status evaluations.

^bThe nonparametric Wilcoxon matched pairs test was used, and the group difference (based on differences of the means) was 0.64 (95% CI 0.30-0.98; P<.001).

Physical and Occupational Therapy

Due to wheelchair dependence prior to STACH admission, emergent readmission to a STACH, continuing care at the time of data cutoff, and incomplete data collection, complete (ie, admission and discharge) gait and functional status data (FIM scores and gait distance) were only available for 99 of 127 total COVID-19 admissions and 90 of 170 reference cohort admissions. At admission, 44% (40/90) of patients in the reference cohort and 53% (52/99) of patients in the COVID-19 cohort were unable to ambulate or required maximum assistance (Table 3). The majority of patients in both the reference (69/90, 77%) and COVID-19 (88/99, 89%) cohorts displayed functional status improvement from admission to discharge, with many patients showing an increase in functional ability by 4 or more levels. These measurements were then evaluated using 2×2 two-way mixed effects ANOVA tests.



Grevelding et al

| Table 3. | Functional | Independence | Measure | assistance | scoring | for | ambulation |
|----------|------------|--------------|---------|------------|---------|-----|------------|
|----------|------------|--------------|---------|------------|---------|-----|------------|

| Description | Reference cohort | | COVID-19 cohort | |
|--|----------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|------------------------------|
| | Admission (N=90) | Discharge (N=90) | Admission (N=99) | Discharge (N=99) |
| Scoring ^a , n (%) | | | | |
| Unable/dependent ^b (score 1) | 36 (40) | 19 (21) | 51 (52) | 11 (11) |
| Maximal assistance ^c (score 2) | 4 (4) | 2 (2) | 1 (1) | 0 (0) |
| Moderate assistance ^d (score 3) | 6 (7) | 3 (3) | 6 (6) | 3 (3) |
| Minimal assistance ^e (score 4) | 36 (40) | 18 (20) | 35 (35) | 14 (14) |
| Supervision ^f (score 5) | 8 (9) | 30 (33) | 6 (6) | 29 (29) |
| Modified independence ^g (score 6) | 0 (0) | 13 (14) | 0 (0) | 28 (28) |
| Independence ^h (score 7) | 0 (0) | 5 (6) | 0 (0) | 14 (14) |
| Mean score (95% CI) | 2.7 (2.4-3.1) ⁱ | 4.1 (3.7-4.7) ⁱ | 2.4 (2.1-2.7) ⁱ | 4.9 (4.6-5.3) ^{i,j} |

^aTo track patient functional ability, Functional Independence Measure scoring was used to assess the level of assistance required for ambulation at patient admission and discharge.

^bPatient is either unable to ambulate or is only able to perform 24% of activity.

^cPatient can perform 25%-49% of activity.

^dPatient can perform 50%-74% of activity.

^ePatient can perform at least 75% of activity.

^fPatient does not need physical assistance but does require hands-on guidance, supervision for safety, cueing, coaxing, or set up.

^gPatient does not need the physical presence of a second person, but requires equipment or takes more than reasonable time, or there are safety concerns. ^hPatient does not require any equipment or the physical presence of a second person.

ⁱThe Šídák multiple comparisons test was used to compare in-group differences (based on differences of the means) between admission and discharge. The group difference was 1.3 (95% CI -1.7 to -1.0; *P*<.001) in the reference cohort and 2.5 (95% CI -2.8 to -2.2; *P*<.001) in the COVID-19 cohort. ^jSignificantly different compared to the mean discharge Functional Independence Measure score in the reference cohort; mean difference is -0.841 (95% CI -1.39 to -0.297; *P*=.001).

For ambulation FIM scores, the mean ambulation assistance scores increased in both the reference (2.73, 95% CI 2.4-3.1 to 4.1, 95% CI 3.7-4.7) and COVID-19 (2.4, 95% CI 2.1-2.7 to 4.9, 95% CI 4.6-5.3) cohorts (Table 3). Two-way mixed effects ANOVA showed a significant main effect associated with time ($F_{1,187}$ =335.7; *P*<.001) on FIM scores, with overall discharge scores (mean=4.498) being greater than admission scores (mean=2.584). Although we also observed a significant main effect of cohort designation ($F_{1,187}$ =1.538; *P*=.22) on FIM scores alone. The pooled mean FIM score of the reference cohort (mean=3.406) was marginally lesser than that of the COVID-19 cohort (mean=3.677).

Using the Šídák multiple comparisons test, we then tested to see what in-group and between-group comparisons were significantly different. In-group comparisons for both cohorts showed a significant increase in FIM scores between admission and discharge (P < .001), further highlighting the main time effect noted in the 2-way mixed effects ANOVA (Figure 6A; Table 3). Between-group comparisons revealed that, with a mean difference of 0.299 (95% CI -0.245 to 0.843), there was no difference in FIM scores at admission between the 2 cohorts (P=.39) (Figure 6A; Table 3). This indicates that patients in both cohorts required the same or similar levels of assistance at admission. Comparing the FIM scores at discharge revealed that, with a mean difference of -0.841 (95% CI -1.39 to -0.297), the mean discharge FIM scores were significantly greater in the COVID-19 cohort than in the reference cohort (P=.001) (Figure 6A; Table 3). Together, we interpret these data to indicate that while both cohorts had similar FIM scores at admission and both improved over time, the discharge FIM scores were greater in the COVID-19 cohort than in the reference cohort.



Figure 6. Functional Independence Measure (FIM) assistance scores and gait distances as measures of functional ability. (A and C) For both the reference (n=90) and COVID-19 (n=99) cohorts, FIM assistance scores and gait distances were collected at admission and discharge. In-group and between-group comparisons were made using the Šídák multiple comparisons test following a 2×2 two-way mixed effects analysis of variance test for main effects associated with group and time. Box plots represent the median and the 25% and 75% quartiles. The whiskers extend 1.5 and -1.5 of the interquartile range; circle symbols reflect data points beyond the 1.5 interquartile ranges; and the "+" symbol represents the mean. (B and D) Changes in FIM assistance scores and gait distances were then compared using a nonparametric Mann-Whitney U test. B, Violin plot with medium smoothing to show the distribution of FIM score changes; the colored lines represent the median and interquartile range. D, Scatter plot, with the colored lines representing the median and interquartile range.



We then compared the mean FIM assistance score change from admission to discharge in the 2 groups. The score change was greater in the COVID-19 cohort than in the reference cohort (2.5, 95% CI 2.2-2.8 vs 1.3, 95% CI 1.1-1.6 points; difference of medians=1.0, 95% CI 1.0-2.0; *P*<.001; Figure 6B).

The same analysis was conducted for gait distance (feet). The mean gait distance increased in both the reference (43.3, 95% CI 29.8-57.0 to 189.9, 95% CI 139.0-240.8 feet) and COVID-19 (27.5, 95% CI 14.1-40.9 to 248.7, 95% CI 191.1-306.4 feet) cohorts (Table 4). Two-way mixed effects ANOVA showed a

significant main effect associated with time ($F_{1,187}$ =97.15; P<.001) on gait distance, with the pooled discharge distance (mean=219.3 feet) being greater than the pooled admission distance (mean=35.5 feet). Although a significant interaction effect was observed between time and cohort designation ($F_{1,187}$ =4.02; P=.046), a significant main effect related to cohort designation ($F_{1,187}$ =0.9994; P=.32) on gait distance was not observed, with the pooled gait distance being marginally lesser in the reference cohort (mean=116.7 feet) than in the COVID-19 cohort (mean=138.1 feet).



Grevelding et al

| I | ę | | |
|--|---|---|---|
| Variable | Reference cohort | COVID-19 cohort | Between-group difference, mean (95% CI); <i>P</i> value |
| Admission distance (feet) ^a , mean (95% CI) | 43.4 (29.8 to 57.1) | 27.53 (14.1 to 40.9) | 15.9 (-48.0 to 79.8); <i>P</i> =.82 ^b |
| Discharge distance (feet) ^a , mean (95% CI) | 189.9 (139.0 to 240.8) | 248.7 (191.1 to 306.4) | -58.9 (-122.7 to 5.0); <i>P</i> =.08 ^b |
| Within-group difference (feet), mean (95% CI); <i>P</i> value | -146.4 (-207.3 to -85.6); <i>P</i> <.001 ^b | -221.1 (-279.2 to -163.2); <i>P</i> <.001 ^b | 74.8 (2.0 to 147.6); <i>P</i> <.001 ^c |

^aComplete admission and discharge gait distances were only available for a subset of the total admissions for both the reference (n=90) and COVID-19 (n=99) cohorts.

^bCalculated using the Šídák multiple comparisons test following a mixed effects analysis of variance.

^cComparison of group differences calculated using the Mann-Whitney U test.

Using the Šídák multiple comparisons test, we again tested to see what in-group and between-group comparisons were significantly different. In-group comparisons for both cohorts showed a significant increase in gait distance between admission and discharge (P<.001), further highlighting the main time effect noted in the 2-way mixed effects ANOVA (Figure 6C; Table 4). Between-group comparisons showed that, with a mean difference of 15.9 (95% CI -48.0 to 79.8), there was no difference in gait distance at admission between the 2 cohorts (P=.82) (Figure 6C; Table 4). This indicates that patients in both cohorts were able to ambulate the same or similar distances at admission. Comparing the gait distances at discharge revealed that, with a mean difference of -58.9 (95% CI -122.7 to 5.0), the mean discharge gait distances were nearly significantly greater in the COVID-19 cohort than in the reference cohort (P=.08).

Further, we compared the mean change in gait distance from admission to discharge in the 2 groups. The gait change was greater in the COVID-19 cohort than in the reference cohort (221.2, 95% CI 164.8-277.6 vs 142.5, 95% CI 95.9-189.1 feet; difference of medians=90, 95% CI 25.0-100.0; P<.001; Figure 6D; Table 4).

Additional Wound Care, Physical Therapy, and Medical Service Considerations

With prone positioning becoming the standard of care for COVID-19–related respiratory failure and pneumonia, many patients in the COVID-19 cohort developed atypical facial pressure injuries during their STACH stay. Patients in the COVID-19 cohort were admitted with approximately 69 total body pressure injuries (stage 3 or 4) requiring consultation; 30% were located on the face, usually on both cheeks, with one more severe than the other and having thick eschar development. Conservative treatment without sharp debridement resolved most cases of facial pressure injuries. New injuries were prevented by implementing adhesive foam cushioning to facial pressure areas. Patients were also likely more hemodynamically stable during LTACH care and therefore somewhat less likely to develop pressure injuries.

Unilateral and bilateral wrist and foot drop were also observed in some patients, potentially due to prolonged prone positioning in the STACH causing peripheral nerve compression. Patients

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31502
```

RenderX

with wrist drop showed some improvement, though some required orthoses or occupational therapy after discharge. Some COVID-19 patients presented conditions atypical for respiratory diseases, such as neurological findings, peripheral nerve injuries, paresthesia, and cognitive impairment. Neurological symptoms may have resulted from the use of paralytics or prolonged prone positioning during STACH treatment [12,25].

Discussion

Principal Findings

The emergence of the novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 has resulted in a worldwide pandemic with 281 million infections and 5.4 million deaths as of this writing [26]. For other facilities to reference now or in the future when treating patients with COVID-19, the goal of this retrospective study was to summarize and report the observations, experiences, and methods used by clinicians at our LTACH and how these practices impacted patient outcomes. Using our holistic treatment strategy, we focused on all aspects of patient recovery, with the majority of our patients with severe active COVID-19 or post–COVID-19 showing significant improvement through this coordinated care.

During the study period, 93% of patients admitted on mechanical ventilation were weaned, and 96% of patients admitted with a tracheostomy without mechanical ventilation were decannulated. Though many patients had functional limitations and were nonambulatory at admission, the COVID-19 cohort showed significant functional improvement by discharge, including a 149% greater change in gait distance travelled compared to the reference cohort. While both cohorts had similar FIM assistance scores at admission and both improved over time, the FIM assistance scores of the COVID-19 cohort were significantly greater than those of the reference cohort at discharge. Patients receiving speech-language therapy also showed improvements during their LTACH treatment, with 40.5% fewer patients having voicing limitations at discharge and only 28% having residual cognitive-communication deficits. Together, these observations indicate the potential benefits of individualized, focused, and holistic rehabilitation in a population severely affected by COVID-19 [27].

Though not significant, the COVID-19 cohort ventilator wean time (10.4 days) was shorter than historical facility wean times (12.2 days in 2019, 20.6 days in 2018, and 14 days in 2017) [28]. Based on our clinical observations, the COVID-19 cohort generally presented fewer complicated pulmonary and cardiac comorbidities than typical patients with tracheostomy, with or without mechanical ventilation. This may have contributed to the shorter ventilator wean time. These observations support the idea that pulmonary rehabilitation could play an important role in COVID-19 treatment and recovery [29]. Further, compared to patients with chronic pulmonary conditions, the COVID-19 cohort patients, who were generally new to respiratory deficits, improved rapidly with appropriate respiratory management.

In regard to patient susceptibility and risk for severe COVID-19 illness, we observed a positive correlation between patient age and patient LOS. In contrast to what has been reported, we did not observe a correlation between patient BMI and disease severity/LOS [23,24]. These differences could be attributed to several factors, including better pre–COVID-19 health status compared to that of patients typically cared for at the facility, current employment status at the time of COVID-19 diagnosis (many of the patients in the cohort were health care workers or first responders), and motivation to return home (as visitation was restricted).

The quick progression in cognitive-communication skills during LTACH stay was also likely multifactorial, involving discontinuation of sedatives, improved metabolic status, awareness of deficits, and an ability for patients to carry over compensatory strategies learned in therapy. However, ongoing cognitive-communication impairment is possible in patients who have had COVID-19, and these individuals may benefit from continued therapy services after discharge [30].

Many of our patients were admitted on a modified diet or NPO because of their inability to participate in swallowing assessments at acute care, the severity of their medical condition, or limited access to instrumental assessments during speech-language pathology evaluations due to droplet precautions. The prompt advancement of diet in the LTACH setting was mostly the result of clinical swallowing evaluations showing minimal residual weakness within the oropharyngeal swallowing mechanism. Therefore, it is possible to largely rely on clinical swallowing evaluations for patients with COVID-19, thus minimizing the risk of viral exposure by limiting aerosol-generating instrumental assessments [27]. To protect from aerosols when assessing patients with unknown or suspected positive SARS-CoV-2 status, speech-language pathologists should consider the continued use of clear face masks, face shields, and other eye protection during therapy sessions.

Patients also likely received emotional benefit from the formation of inpatient COVID-19 support groups. These groups, facilitated by a physical therapist and a social worker, were a collaborative effort to provide patients who were recovering from COVID-19 with the opportunity to speak with other patients experiencing similar concerns during their hospital course. With guidance from the group facilitators, patients were

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31502
```

encouraged to ask questions and share their experiences in an open discussion format, which ultimately generated insightful feedback for the staff on patient care during the pandemic. Conversation topics focused on processing the initial illness onset and acute hospital stay; acknowledging and learning to cope with their physical, respiratory, emotional, and social changes; and preparing for their future after LTACH discharge. Participation was capped at 6 patients per meeting, and multiple meetings were convened as necessary to accommodate all interested patients.

Limitations

When evaluating these findings, several limitations need to be considered. First, as this was a retrospective study, *a priori* power analysis and sample size estimation were not conducted. Further, as this was a single-center study, the findings may or may not fully reflect the expected findings of other LTACHs or similarly structured institutions. Additionally, in an effort to create a reference for comparison of this unique population, a retrospective historical control was used. As such, all outcome measures could not be compared (ie, the NOMS was only readily available for the COVID-19 population). This also resulted in the population sizes being uneven despite the COVID-19 data being collected over 5 months versus 3 months for the reference.

There is also a possibility that the COVID-19 cohort received treatment at a slightly less intensity due to initial droplet precautions and isolation to the room. However, due to similarities in the baseline status (ie, assistance scores and gait distances), we are confident the populations were generally comparable as department standards for treatment and therapy doses for medically complex patients were followed in both cohorts.

It needs to be considered that the best treatment practices were actively being developed and implemented during the study period. Thus, the first COVID-19 patients admitted and treated may not have benefited from the knowledge gained over time. For example, as testing guidelines, isolation procedures, and intubation and ventilation recommendations changed, so did the treatment practices.

This study is strengthened by the breadth of quantitative outcomes and the detailed descriptions of potential presentations and complications that can be expected for patients with COVID-19 being treated in a LTACH setting. The goal of this study was to discuss typical symptom presentation and recovery patterns for the COVID-19 population in the LTACH setting so as to guide treatment planning choices at other similar facilities.

Mitigating SARS-CoV-2 Transmission in the Non–COVID-19 Patient Population

Patients cared for at LTACHs typically have complex medical conditions and are at increased risk for infection and fever; thus, there was a pressing need to isolate any potential source of SARS-CoV-2. Despite what symptoms have been described as "typical" COVID-19 symptoms, patients presented with a spectrum of respiratory symptoms, ranging from asymptomatic to respiratory distress. Consequently, all febrile patients were required to undergo SARS-CoV-2 testing and were isolated

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```
with droplet precautions until ruled out. With only 1 exception, all non–COVID-19 patients tested negative for SARS-CoV-2 during this time, indicating that our protocols effectively isolated the 37 patients who were admitted with active SARS-CoV-2 infections. Our observation supports preemptive testing in LTACHs and other health care facilities to lower the incidence of SARS-CoV-2 transmission [31]. Given the documented issues of SARS-CoV-2 transmission in some long-term care facilities, it is possible to imagine what the alternative may have been without preemptive testing [32-34].

One limiting aspect of care during this period of the pandemic was the length of time it took to obtain SARS-CoV-2 test results for patients who were admitted with an active infection, so they could come off droplet precautions, which was over 2 months in many cases [35]. On May 20, 2020, Connecticut Department of Public Health released a memo supporting their agreement with the findings of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention that the live virus was undetectable after 9 days of infection, allowing for the use of a symptom-based strategy rather than a test-based strategy [36,37]. We implemented a more conservative approach, requiring at least 14 days since diagnosis and 5 days without fever or evolving symptoms. Further, given the low facility infection rate of the non–COVID-19 population, the facility policy changed around

the same time from transferring patients under investigation to the COVID-19 floor, to ruling-out in place with the use of droplet precautions and a portable room air scrubber. Coming off droplet precautions was instrumental in getting patients out of their rooms and having full access to therapy.

It was also evident early on that regular, clear, and transparent communication was, and still is, vital for staff acceptance of the constantly changing situation, guidelines, and personal protective equipment protocols. To support this, department directors and managers devoted time each day to discussing COVID-19–related patient issues. These directors then met weekly with key staff members to further discuss the issues and disseminate information. Further, emails were frequently sent to all employees detailing COVID-19–related changes, statistics, and other topics of interest. In-person communication was also helpful in correcting rumors and serving as a forum for establishing best practices in the ever-changing situation.

Conclusion

To alleviate crowded and overwhelmed STACH facilities, we envision the strategic use of LTACHs earlier in a patient's hospital course to treat and rehabilitate those with severe COVID-19. With a greater understanding of rehabilitation progression, clinical care can be adapted to maximize the recovery of this population.

Acknowledgments

Medical writing and editorial assistance was provided by Agnella Izzo Matic, PhD, CMPP (AIM Biomedical, LLC) and funded by Gaylord Specialty Healthcare. We want to acknowledge the dedication, compassion, and expertise of the staff during this pandemic, and, as always, we want to acknowledge our patients who inspire us to be better every day.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Gaylord Hospital tracheostomy decannulation protocol. [DOCX File , 26 KB - rehab_v9i1e31502_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Gaylord Hospital mechanical ventilation weaning protocol. [DOCX File , 24 KB - rehab v9i1e31502 app2.docx]

References

- Stam HJ, Stucki G, Bickenbach J, European Academy of Rehabilitation Medicine. Covid-19 and Post Intensive Care Syndrome: A Call for Action. J Rehabil Med 2020 Apr 15;52(4):jrm00044 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2340/16501977-2677] [Medline: 32286675]
- Barker-Davies RM, O'Sullivan O, Senaratne KPP, Baker P, Cranley M, Dharm-Datta S, et al. The Stanford Hall consensus statement for post-COVID-19 rehabilitation. Br J Sports Med 2020 Aug;54(16):949-959 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102596] [Medline: 32475821]
- 3. Gutenbrunner C, Stokes EK, Dreinhöfer K, Monsbakken J, Clarke S, Côté P, et al. Why Rehabilitation must have priority during and after the COVID-19-pandemic: A position statement of the Global Rehabilitation Alliance. J Rehabil Med 2020 Jul 30;52(7):jrm00081 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2340/16501977-2713] [Medline: 32719884]
- Inzitari M, Udina C, Len O, Ars J, Arnal C, Badani H, et al. How a Barcelona Post-Acute Facility became a Referral Center for Comprehensive Management of Subacute Patients With COVID-19. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2020 Jul;21(7):954-957 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2020.06.015] [Medline: 32674827]

- Sheehy LM. Considerations for Postacute Rehabilitation for Survivors of COVID-19. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2020 May 08;6(2):e19462 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19462] [Medline: 32369030]
- 6. Khan F, Amatya B. Medical Rehabilitation in Pandemics: Towards a New Perspective. J Rehabil Med 2020 Apr 14;52(4):jrm00043 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2340/16501977-2676] [Medline: 32271393]
- Grabowski DC, Joynt Maddox KE. Postacute Care Preparedness for COVID-19: Thinking Ahead. JAMA 2020 May 26;323(20):2007-2008. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2020.4686</u>] [Medline: <u>32211831</u>]
- 8. Vickory F, Ridgeway K, Falvey J, Houwer B, Gunlikson J, Payne K, et al. Safety, Feasibility, and Outcomes of Frequent, Long-Duration Rehabilitation in an Inpatient Rehabilitation Facility After Prolonged Hospitalization for Severe COVID-19: An Observational Study. Phys Ther 2021 Nov 01;101(11):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ptj/pzab208] [Medline: 34499165]
- Hartsgrove C, Guevarra-Fernandez J, Kendall J, Delauter G, Kirshblum S. Measuring Discharge Outcomes, Length of Stay, and Functional ADL Score During COVID-19 in Inpatient Rehabilitation Hospitals. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2021 Dec;102(12):2291-2299 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2021.07.003] [Medline: 34303669]
- Archbald-Pannone LR, Harris DA, Albero K, Steele RL, Pannone AF, Mutter JB. COVID-19 Collaborative Model for an Academic Hospital and Long-Term Care Facilities. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2020 Jul;21(7):939-942 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2020.05.044] [Medline: 32563752]
- Sohn L, Lysaght M, Schwartzman WA, Simon SR, Goetz MB, Yoshikawa T. Establishment of a COVID-19 Recovery Unit in a Veterans Affairs Post-Acute Facility. J Am Geriatr Soc 2020 Oct 11;68(10):2163-2166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.16690] [Medline: 32557635]
- 12. Kotfis K, Williams Roberson S, Wilson JE, Dabrowski W, Pun BT, Ely EW. COVID-19: ICU delirium management during SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. Crit Care 2020 Apr 28;24(1):176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-02882-x] [Medline: 32345343]
- 13. National Outcomes Measurement System (NOMS): Adults Speech-Language Pathology User's Guide. American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. URL: <u>https://coe.uoregon.edu/cds/files/2013/12/ASHA-NOMS.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-01-26]
- Dungan S, Gregorio D, Abrahams T, Harrison B, Abrahams J, Brocato D, et al. Comparative Validity of the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association's National Outcomes Measurement System, Functional Oral Intake Scale, and G-Codes to Mann Assessment of Swallowing Ability Scores for Dysphagia. Am J Speech Lang Pathol 2019 May 27;28(2):424-429. [doi: 10.1044/2018_AJSLP-18-0072] [Medline: 31136231]
- 15. Mullen R. Evidence for whom?: ASHA's National Outcomes Measurement System. J Commun Disord 2004;37(5):413-417. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jcomdis.2004.04.004</u>] [Medline: <u>15231421</u>]
- Malandraki GA, Markaki V, Georgopoulos VC, Psychogios L, Nanas S. Postextubation Dysphagia in Critical Patients: A First Report From the Largest Step-Down Intensive Care Unit in Greece. Am J Speech Lang Pathol 2016 May 01;25(2):150-156. [doi: 10.1044/2015 AJSLP-14-0069] [Medline: 27115679]
- 17. Dodds TA, Martin DP, Stolov WC, Deyo RA. A validation of the Functional Independence Measurement and its performance among rehabilitation inpatients. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 1993 May;74(5):531-536. [doi: 10.1016/0003-9993(93)90119-u] [Medline: 8489365]
- 18. Linacre JM, Heinemann AW, Wright BD, Granger CV, Hamilton BB. The structure and stability of the Functional Independence Measure. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1994 Feb;75(2):127-132. [Medline: <u>8311667</u>]
- 19. Ottenbacher KJ, Hsu Y, Granger CV, Fiedler RC. The reliability of the functional independence measure: a quantitative review. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1996 Dec;77(12):1226-1232. [doi: 10.1016/s0003-9993(96)90184-7] [Medline: 8976303]
- 20. Functional Independence Measure (FIM). Physiopedia. URL: <u>https://www.physio-pedia.com/</u> <u>Functional Independence Measure (FIM)</u> [accessed 2022-01-26]
- 21. Coronavirus Resource Center. Johns Hopkins University. URL: <u>https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/data</u> [accessed 2022-01-26]
- 22. COVID-19 Data Resources. Connecticut Open Data. URL: <u>https://data.ct.gov/stories/s/COVID-19-data/wa3g-tfvc/</u>[accessed 2022-01-26]
- Scully EP, Haverfield J, Ursin RL, Tannenbaum C, Klein SL. Considering how biological sex impacts immune responses and COVID-19 outcomes. Nat Rev Immunol 2020 Jul;20(7):442-447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0348-8] [Medline: 32528136]
- 24. Kopel J, Perisetti A, Roghani A, Aziz M, Gajendran M, Goyal H. Racial and Gender-Based Differences in COVID-19. Front Public Health 2020;8:418 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.00418] [Medline: 32850607]
- Helms J, Kremer S, Merdji H, Clere-Jehl R, Schenck M, Kummerlen C, et al. Neurologic Features in Severe SARS-CoV-2 Infection. N Engl J Med 2020 Jun 04;382(23):2268-2270 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMc2008597</u>] [Medline: <u>32294339</u>]
- 26. WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard. World Health Organization. URL: https://covid19.who.int [accessed 2022-01-26]
- 27. Brodsky MB, Gilbert RJ. The Long-Term Effects of COVID-19 on Dysphagia Evaluation and Treatment. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2020 Sep;101(9):1662-1664 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2020.05.006] [Medline: 32534801]
- 28. Cullen L. Reducing LTACH Ventilator Days Using Heated High-Flow Humidification. RT Magazine. 2019. URL: <u>https://rtmagazine.com/department-management/clinical/reducing-ltach-ventilator-days-heated-high-flow-humidification/</u>[accessed 2022-01-26]

RenderX

- 29. Wang TJ, Chau B, Lui M, Lam G, Lin N, Humbert S. Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation and Pulmonary Rehabilitation for COVID-19. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2020 Sep;99(9):769-774 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/PHM.000000000001505] [Medline: 32541352]
- Ramage AE. Potential for Cognitive Communication Impairment in COVID-19 Survivors: A Call to Action for Speech-Language Pathologists. Am J Speech Lang Pathol 2020 Nov 12;29(4):1821-1832. [doi: 10.1044/2020 AJSLP-20-00147] [Medline: <u>32946270</u>]
- Telford CT, Onwubiko U, Holland DP, Turner K, Prieto J, Smith S, et al. Preventing COVID-19 Outbreaks in Long-Term Care Facilities Through Preemptive Testing of Residents and Staff Members - Fulton County, Georgia, March-May 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 Sep 18;69(37):1296-1299 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6937a4] [Medline: 32941413]
- Barnett ML, Hu L, Martin T, Grabowski DC. Mortality, Admissions, and Patient Census at SNFs in 3 US Cities During the COVID-19 Pandemic. JAMA 2020 Aug 04;324(5):507-509 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.11642] [Medline: 32579161]
- 33. Fisman DN, Bogoch I, Lapointe-Shaw L, McCready J, Tuite AR. Risk Factors Associated With Mortality Among Residents With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in Long-term Care Facilities in Ontario, Canada. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Jul 01;3(7):e2015957 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.15957] [Medline: 32697325]
- 34. Gorges RJ, Konetzka RT. Staffing Levels and COVID-19 Cases and Outbreaks in U.S. Nursing Homes. J Am Geriatr Soc 2020 Nov 28;68(11):2462-2466 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.16787] [Medline: 32770832]
- Sethuraman N, Jeremiah SS, Ryo A. Interpreting Diagnostic Tests for SARS-CoV-2. JAMA 2020 Jun 09;323(22):2249-2251. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2020.8259</u>] [Medline: <u>32374370</u>]
- 36. Ending Isolation and Precautions for People with COVID-19: Interim Guidance. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/duration-isolation.html</u> [accessed 2022-01-26]
- 37. Updated COVID-19 Guidance for Healthcare Providers- May 20, 2020. Department of Public Health, State of Connecticut. URL: <u>https://portal.ct.gov/-/media/DPH/HAI/COVID19-Provider-Memo_05202020.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-01-26]

Abbreviations

ANOVA: analysis of variance FIM: Functional Independence Measure LOS: length of stay LTACH: long-term acute care hospital NOMS: National Outcomes Measurement System NPO: nil per os (nothing by mouth) OR: odds ratio STACH: short-term acute care hospital

Edited by L Sheehy; submitted 06.07.21; peer-reviewed by M Stein, S Lin; comments to author 22.10.21; revised version received 17.12.21; accepted 11.01.22; published 10.02.22.

Please cite as:

Grevelding P, Hrdlicka HC, Holland S, Cullen L, Meyer A, Connors C, Cooper D, Greco A Patient Outcomes and Lessons Learned From Treating Patients With Severe COVID-19 at a Long-term Acute Care Hospital: Single-Center Retrospective Study JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e31502 URL: https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e31502 doi:10.2196/31502 PMID:35023835

©Pete Grevelding, Henry Charles Hrdlicka, Steve Holland, Lorraine Cullen, Amanda Meyer, Catherine Connors, Darielle Cooper, Allison Greco. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 10.02.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Comparison of the Impact of Conventional and Web-Based Pulmonary Rehabilitation on Physical Activity in Patients With Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: Exploratory Feasibility Study

Emma Chaplin¹, BSc; Amy Barnes¹, PhD; Chris Newby², MD; Linzy Houchen-Wolloff^{1,3}, PhD; Sally J Singh^{1,3}, PhD

¹Centre for Exercise and Rehabilitation Science, National Institute for Health Research Leicester Biomedical Research Centre- Respiratory, University Hospitals of Leicester National Health Service Trust, Leicester, United Kingdom

²School of Medicine, University of Nottingham, Nottingham, United Kingdom

³Respiratory Sciences, University of Leicester, Leicester, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Emma Chaplin, BSc Centre for Exercise and Rehabilitation Science National Institute for Health Research Leicester Biomedical Research Centre- Respiratory University Hospitals of Leicester National Health Service Trust Groby Road Leicester, LE3 9QP United Kingdom Phone: 44 116 258 3181 Email: <u>emma.chaplin@uhl-tr.nhs.uk</u>

Abstract

Background: Pulmonary Rehabilitation (PR) increases exercise capacity, with less clear evidence regarding physical activity (PA). The World Health Organization recommends at least 150-300 minutes of moderate-intensity or 75-150 minutes of vigorous-intensity aerobic PA per week to reduce the risks of chronic disease.

Objective: The objective of this study was to assess the effectiveness of conventional PR versus web-based PR with respect to changes in PA.

Methods: Patients with COPD were randomized to either conventional PR classes (n=51) or a web-based PR program (n=52) for 7 weeks in a feasibility study. Accelerometers (Sensewear) were worn before and after the intervention, and PA was measured as steps per day and mean bouts of moderate activity for ≥ 2 , ≥ 5 , ≥ 10 , and ≥ 20 minutes. Measures were derived for patients with ≥ 8 hours of data per day for ≥ 4 days, using the R package for statistical analysis. Variables were explored to examine their relationships with bouts of activity.

Results: Baseline characteristics did not differ significantly between groups. Complete PA data were available for the groups receiving web-based (n=20) and conventional (n=34) PR interventions. The web-based PR group demonstrated a nonsignificant increase in the number of steps per day, which mainly comprised short bouts of moderate to vigorous intensity PA when compared to the conventional PR group (P=.20). The conventional PR group demonstrated increased 20-minute bouts of PA by 49.1%, although this was not significant (P=.07). At baseline, age (r=-0.21, P=.04), BMI (r=-0.311, P=.004), and FEV₁ (forced expiratory volume in 1 second; % predicted; r=-0.248, P=.048) were significantly correlated with 10-minute bouts of PA; however, this was not observed post intervention.

Conclusions: The analysis revealed a nonsignificant difference in the pattern of PA between groups receiving conventional vs web-based PR—the former being associated with an increase in 20-minute bouts, while the latter having demonstrated an increase in the number of steps per day. There appears to be a differing response emerging between the two interventions.

Trial Registration: International Clinical Trials Registry ISRCTN03142263; https://tinyurl.com/y4dmfyrb

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e28875) doi:10.2196/28875



KEYWORDS

SPACE for COPD; internet; web-based; chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; pulmonary rehabilitation; physical activity; exercise; chronic disease; COPD; rehabilitation

Introduction

Background

Individuals with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) have poor exercise capacity and low physical activity (PA) levels [1], which are associated with an increased risk of hospital admission, poor quality of life, and increased mortality [2]. While pulmonary rehabilitation (PR) focuses on improving functional exercise capacity, this does not necessarily translate into increasing PA, the latter defined by the World Health Organization as "any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that requires energy expenditure" [3]. A recent study attempted to increase the amount of time patients were physically active by using pedometers as an adjunct to PR. However, the addition of step count targets during a PR program did not improve moderate-intensity PA levels [4].

PA is considered a modifiable risk factor for morbidity and mortality in people with COPD and those with other long-term conditions [2]. Although there are known benefits of pulmonary rehabilitation (PR) in terms of exercise capacity, psychological functioning, and quality of life, a recent review showed poor evidence about determinants of PA, including the impact of treatment or interventions in people with COPD [5]. National guidelines recommend that older adults should accumulate 150-300 minutes of moderate-intensity or 75-150 minutes of vigorous-intensity aerobic PA per week [6]. Achieving these targets is difficult when exercise capacity is reduced owing to shortness of breath and reduced muscle strength. In addition, the availability and access to pulmonary rehabilitation programs in the United Kingdom is limited, and attrition rates are often high [7]. To address this issue, there is an increasing appreciation among clinicians to offer wider choice in the delivery of rehabilitation.

Home-based rehabilitation has recently been shown to be an alternative to center-based PR. Grosbois et al [8] have shown home-based PR consisting of unsupervised physical exercises, therapeutic patient education, and self-management to be effective in the short, medium (6 months), and long term (12 months) at improving exercise capacity, mood, and quality of life [8]. Furthermore, an internet-based walking program for patients with COPD, which focused exclusively on step counts, increased the daily number of steps by >1000 over 3 months [9], and a randomized controlled trial of a pedometer-based program versus a standard program of PA encouragement alone increased step counts by 3080 (SD 3254) compared to 138.3 (SD 1950), respectively [10].

The effectiveness of PA interventions is determined by an improvement of >600 steps per day [11]. The evidence for home- or web-based PR to increase PA, however, is less well-established in COPD but has been demonstrated to be effective in cardiac rehabilitation [12]. A recent home-based PR trial has revealed a reduction in the amount of time during which all patients are sedentary (mean change -44 minutes) and

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e28875
```

XSL•FC

an increase in the amount of time patients are performing bouts of moderate to vigorous PA (mean change 16 mins) following a home program [13]. However, there were no significant between group differences. Within our department, a Self-Management Programme of Activity, Coping and Education, "SPACE for COPD" has been developed (manual version) [14]. This program has been shown to be effective in primary care [15], where there were significant between-group differences in steps at 6 weeks in favor of the home training program and was recently shown to also be comparable to conventional rehabilitation in improving exercise performance and perceived dyspnea [16]. We have since developed a web-based provision of this program, SPACE for COPD. The protocol for the interactive web-based feasibility trial has been published previously [17]. Details of the nonclinical feasibility data and primary outcome of the main study are reported in a separate publication [18]. Significant within-group changes were observed in exercise capacity and quality of life, but there were no significant differences between groups. The study utilizes the pre-existing SPACE for COPD manual but in a web-based format. In brief, the study identified an improvement in both quality of life and endurance walking times.

Aims

The purpose of this secondary exploratory analysis was to compare the impact of the two interventions on PA with respect to bouts of total activity and to determine whether the response to the center-supervised and remotely supervised program differed in terms of the individuals' PA profiles and responses to an exercise training program. The relationship between PA and routinely collected clinical data at baseline and after the intervention was also explored.

Methods

Ethics Approval

Participants were recruited between 2013 and 2015, and ethical approval was granted by Northampton Ethics Committee of the UK National Research Ethics Service (12/EM/0351). All study participants signed an informed consent form prior to their enrollment. Individual patients could not be identified through the information presented in this analysis.

Eligibility Criteria

Participants were eligible to partake if they had a confirmed diagnosis of COPD, defined as having a postbronchodilator FEV₁ (forced expiratory volume in 1 second) of <80% and a predicted FEV₁ forced vital capacity ratio of ≤ 0.70 (GOLD stage 2-4) and a Medical Research Council Dyspnoea Scale score of 2-5. Patients had to be willing to partake in either arm of the study. Patients were required to have had access to the internet for more than 3 months, the ability to navigate a variety of websites (eg, uses e-shopping or e-banking websites), and use email regularly. Patients also had to be able to read and write in English.

Patients were excluded if they were unable to participate in the exercise component of the rehabilitation program owing to other comorbidities or had undergone PR in the previous 12 months.

Randomization

Randomization was performed using a web-based program [19]. Participants were allocated on a 1:1 ratio to either a standard care (conventional PR program) or an intervention group (web-based PR program).

Trial Interventions

Intervention Group: Web-Based PR Program

Following randomization to the intervention group, the participants attended a standardized introductory session where they were provided a password-protected secure log-in to the website as well as written instructions on website navigation. There are 4 stages to the program, each with a number of mandatory tasks to complete before moving onto the next task

or stage. A description of the different stages is provided in Textbox 1. Upon completion of an information needs questionnaire at registration, gaps in knowledge were identified, and patients were signposted to relevant educational topics. Participant's progress was monitored and reviewed on the internet regularly and through weekly contact with a health care professional. As in conventional PR, patients were encouraged to exercise daily at home and record their progress in the web-based exercise diary section. The exercise program consisted of both aerobic and strength training. Patients were advised to walk at the pace that was determined from the baseline maximal exercise walking tests performed in the initial assessment, increasing the amount of time they walked for each day. Strength training comprised both upper and lower limb exercises using hand-held weights. Both exercise components progressed while maintaining a visual analogue scale (VAS) rating of 4-7. It was anticipated from previous work [20] that it would take approximately 6-8 weeks to work through the web-based program.

Textbox 1. Stages of the web-based pulmonary rehabilitation program.

Stages:

- Stage 1: introduction to exercising and goal setting, exercise safety quiz, and reading educational material
- Stage 2: introduction to the aerobic exercise program, setting walking targets, and reading educational material
- Stage 3: introduction to the strength training program, setting strength targets, continuing aerobic training, and reading education material
- Stage 4: maintaining strength and aerobic training, reviewing educational material, and a knowledge quiz

Standard Care Group: Conventional PR Program

Patients randomized to standard care commenced conventional rehabilitation, as described by the British Thoracic Society's guidelines [21], in accordance with the standard care at their referred site, which was either hospital- or community-based. The hospital-based program was of 7 weeks (4 weeks supervised and 3 weeks unsupervised) in total. Any sessions that were missed could be completed later because it was a rolling program. In the community-based programs, patients could attend a maximum of 12 sessions within the closed program.

Conventional PR programs at either referral site consisted of 2 weekly sessions, each lasting 2 hours, which were divided into an hour for exercise training, consisting of both aerobic and resistance training, and an hour for an education session covering a variety of relevant self-management topics.

The trial interventions for both the web-based and conventional pulmonary rehabilitation groups have previously been described in detail [18].

Physical Activity

All participants wore a Bodymedia Sensewear triaxial accelerometer (APC Cardiovascular). Algorithms within the software convert the data to produce meaningful outcome variables, which include the number of steps, energy expenditure in metabolic equivalence to tasks (METs): a multiple of the resting rate of oxygen consumption per minute (one MET is equal to that of the O_2 consumption at rest, which is

approximately 3.5 mL/kg/minute) and PA duration (vigorous >6, moderate 3-6 METs, and light >1.5 METs intensity).

Accelerometer data were collected for 7 days at baseline and a further 7 days following discharge. None of the data were collected while the patients were participating in either intervention. Measures were derived for patients with \geq 8 hours of data per day for \geq 4 days [22] at each time point using the R package for statistical analysis [23]. The Sensewear accelerometer has been previously validated in COPD [24,25], and 4 days was proven sufficient to demonstrate treatment effects.

Data Analysis

Sample Size

Owing to the original study being a feasibility study, a formal sample size calculation was not required to detect between-group changes. We aimed to recruit around 100 patients within the timeframe of the operational phase of the trial. This was based on previous studies carried out in the PR service and deemed a reasonable number to assess the recruitment or retention rate and inform the planning of a subsequent randomized controlled trial. This is in line with recommendations by Lancaster et al [26] on the number of participants required in a feasibility study to estimate a parameter. Furthermore, in a recent audit of feasibility studies in the United Kingdom, it was found that a median sample size for a 2-arm trial was 36 and 30 per arm, respectively, for dichotomous and continuous endpoints [27]. Although the data in this exploratory study, based on secondary and per protocol analysis, fell slightly below this in the number

of participants in the web-based PR group (n=20), the data from the original study were collected for 103 participants (web-based care, n=51; usual care, n=52).

Statistical Analysis

Baseline characteristics were compared between groups using a 2-tailed independent samples *t* test. A 2-tailed paired samples *t* test was used to compare within-group changes, and a 2-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare the differences between the two treatment groups in the number of steps and PA pattern at the two time points. All *t* tests, repeated measures ANOVA, and factor analysis were performed using the SPSS (version 22; SPSS Inc) with a level of significance set at P<.05. The change in time in bouts (2-20 minutes) expressed as a percentage change, the mean change in bout length of moderate to vigorous PA (MVPA), daily MET level, and percentage time in moderate activity were explored.

Correlations between routinely collected clinical data and PA were explored using the Spearman rank correlation coefficient.

Patient and Public Involvement

A preprotocol award from the National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) East Midlands Research Design Service enabled us to conduct a focus group with current and ex-PR patients to gain feedback on the prototype website, with particular regard to features that would increase the interactivity and usability for service users as well as addressing any concerns such as data security. The website has undergone practical "road-testing" by members of the focus group and other members of the departmental patient and public involvement (PPI) group to ensure that participants can access the website and navigate the site easily. A member of the PPI group attended the study and steering group meetings, and a strategy for disseminating the results was thus coordinated.

Results

Results Overview

The flow of eligibility, screening, randomization, and follow-up in the study is shown in Figure 1. The baseline characteristics of participants with complete PA data are shown in Table 1. There were no significant differences in age, BMI, FEV₁, smoking status, and home oxygen usage between the web-based and conventional PR groups. Exercise capacity at baseline was similar in both groups. For participants assigned to the web-based PR group, the mean number of weeks to complete the program was 11.5 (SD 4.1), and the mean stage reached for those in the web-based PR group, who withdrew from the intervention, was stage 3 (IQR 1-4). The total number of complete accelerometer data sets for PA was 34 for the conventional PR group and 20 for the web-based PR group.



Figure 1. CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) flow diagram of participation. COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, MRC: Medical Research Council, PR: pulmonary rehabilitation.





Table 1. Baseline participant characteristics (N=54).

| Characteristics Web-based pulmonary rehabilitation group (n= | | Conventional pulmonary rehabilitation group (n=34) | Between-group differences, <i>P</i> value |
|---|---------------|---|--|
| Gender (males/females), n | 18/2 | 19/15 | |
| Age (years), mean (SD) | 68.3 (6.5) | 67.4 (8.6) | .60 |
| $\mathbf{BMI}(ka/m^2) \mod (\mathbf{SD})$ | 27.2 (5.5) | 29.8 (6.6) | .13 |
| Forced expiratory volume in 1 second (L), mean (SD) | 1.52 (0.7) | 1.47 (0.6) | .84 |
| Forced expiratory volume in 1 second (% predicted), mean (SD) | 54.2 (26.9) | 55.8 (19.4) | >.99 |
| Smoking status: current, n (%) | 3 (15) | 3 (8.8) | .92 |
| Nonsmoker | 0 (0) | 3 (8.8) | |
| Ex-smoker | 17 (85) | 26 (76.5) | |
| Unknown | 0 (0) | 2 (5.9) | |
| Home oxygen usage, n (%) | | | .83 |
| Yes | 4 (20) | 6 (17.6) | |
| No | 16 (80) | 28 (82.4) | |
| Medical Research Council Dyspnoea Scale score, median (IQR) | 3 (2-4) | 3 (2-4) | .62 |
| Medical Research Council grade, n (% | 6) | | .62 |
| 2 | 9 (45) | 15 (45.5) | |
| 3 | 5 (25) | 8 (24.2) | |
| 4 | 5 (25) | 10 (30.3) | |
| 5 | 1 (5) | 0 (0) | |
| Incremental shuttle walking test (m), mean (SD) | 338.5 (185.7) | 286.8 (159.4) | .28 |
| Endurance shuttle walk test (seconds), mean (SD) | 263.9 (250.1) | 256.2 (157.1) | .89 |

^aSignificant at *P*<.05 between groups.

Number of Steps Per Day

There were no significant differences in PA, in terms of steps per day, between the groups at baseline (P=.86). There was a

nonsignificant increase (P=.20) in the number of steps per day from 5465 to 6112 (12%) in the web-based PR group compared with the conventional PR group (P=.80; n=5300-5409, 2%; Figure 2).

Figure 2. Comparison of the mean number of steps per day during waking hours between the conventional and web-based pulmonary rehabilitation groups at baseline and post intervention. PR: pulmonary rehabilitation.



RenderX

PA Pattern of Accumulation

The increase in the number of steps observed in the web-based PR group was accumulated mainly through an increase of 2-minute bouts of PA (Figure 3). In contrast, the conventional PR group displayed increased 20-minute bouts of PA by 49%, although this was not significant (P=.07). The mean bout length of PA was similar between both groups (2.7-2.8 minutes) and

did not significantly change following either intervention. Although the percentage of time in moderate activity was greater in the web-based PR group than in the conventional PR group (9.43 vs 8.14, respectively), this was not increased post intervention. Daily METs were similar in both groups, with those in the web-based PR group increasing only slightly at discharge (Table 2).

Figure 3. Comparison of the percentage change in physical activity between the conventional and web-based pulmonary rehabilitation groups. MET: metabolic equivalence to task, MVPA: moderate to vigorous physical activity, PR: pulmonary rehabilitation.



Table 2. Physical activity pattern before and after the intervention.

| Activity pattern | Web-based pulmonary rehabilitation group (n=20) | | Conventional pulmonary rehabilitation group (n=34) | | |
|--|---|----------------------|--|----------------------|--|
| | Baseline, mean (SD) | Discharge, mean (SD) | Baseline, mean (SD) | Discharge, mean (SD) | |
| Steps per day | 5464.6 (3013.3) | 6111.7 (2464.2) | 5300.1 (3402.7) | 5409.4 (3377.7) | |
| Daily metabolic equivalence to tasks | 1.52 (0.3) | 1.54 (0.2) | 1.44 (0.4) | 1.42 (0.4) | |
| Percentage of moderate activity | 10.25 (8.8) | 9.43 (4.2) | 8.07 (5.9) | 8.14 (7.3) | |
| Mean bout length | 2.8 (0.8) | 2.7 (0.7) | 2.7 (0.9) | 2.8 (1.0) | |
| Number of 2-minute bouts | 21.1 (18.5) | 21.4 (8.9) | 18 (12.7) | 17.9 (14.6) | |
| Number of 5-minute bouts | 7.2 (8.5) | 6.7 (4.0) | 5.5 (4.8) | 5.9 (6.0) | |
| Number of 10-minute bouts | 2.11 (2.8) | 2.1 (1.8) | 1.6 (2.1) | 1.6 (1.9) | |
| Number of 20-minute bout | 0.47 (0.7) | 0.43 (0.4) | 0.26 (0.4) | 0.38 (0.5) | |
| Total moderate to vigorous physical activity | 82.03 (69.9) | 65.7 (39.7) | 102.9 (78.5) | 241.1 (69.4) | |

Correlation Between Clinical Data and PA

As there were no significant differences between groups, the groups were collapsed and correlations between routinely collected clinical data and PA were explored. The variables age (*r*=-0.21, *P*=.04), BMI (*r*=-0.311, *P*=.004), and FEV₁ % predicted (*r*=-0.248, *P*=.048) significantly correlated with 10-minute bouts of PA at baseline. This effect was eliminated post intervention for age and FEV₁, but not for BMI (Table 3).



Table 3. Correlations between age, BMI, and FEV1 (forced expiratory volume in 1 second) and physical activity before and after the intervention.

| Variables | Preintervention | | Postintervention | |
|---|-----------------|-------------------|------------------|--------------------|
| | r | P value | r | P value |
| Age | -0.21 | .04 ^a | 0.037 | .78 |
| BMI | -0.311 | .004 ^a | -0.449 | <.001 ^a |
| FEV_1 (forced expiratory volume in 1 second; % predicted) | -0.248 | .048 ^a | -0.034 | .84 |

^aSignificant at P<.05.

Discussion

Principal Findings

One of the main outcomes of the European Respiratory Society task force on PA in COPD was to understand how improvements in exercise capacity, dyspnea, and self-efficacy following PR might translate into PA [28]. PR is well known to improve exercise capacity and quality of life, but the data are inconsistent for PA [28-30]. This may be a consequence of heterogeneity of interventions and measurements of PA, making it difficult to compare studies [31], or in fact suggests that the traditional focus of PR programs is on improving functional capacity, not necessarily PA.

The results from this study show that web-based PR increased the number of steps (Figure 2) by 12%; although this was not significant, it is most likely a reflection of the small sample size. The number of steps increased by 647 in the web group, in line with the suggested Minimal Clinically Important Difference for pedometer steps in COPD, estimated at 600-1181 steps [11]. Further analysis showed that the increased step count in the web-based PR group mainly comprised 2-minute bouts of PA (Figure 3), with very few 5-, 10-, and 20-minute bouts of PA. On the other hand, participants in the conventional PR program showed a trend to increase 20-minute bouts of activity, but this was not reflected in the overall step count.

Although the time spent in moderate-intensity PA was greater in the web-based PR group than in the conventional PR group, this did not translate into an increase in the total amount of MVPA. The pattern of PA is more sporadic in the web-based PR group, whereas the conventional PR group elicits a change through more prolonged bouts of PA (Figure 3). Participants in the conventional PR group were able to increase their 20-minute bouts of moderate PA by 49.1% (Figure 3); although not significant, this may be clinically meaningful. This may suggest that a more supervised approach is needed to achieve longer bouts of PA at the level of \geq 3 METs. These data are interesting and suggest that although the increase in steps is a potentially positive outcome of an intervention, the web-based PR participants did not as a group improve their prolonged bouts of activity as was observed and anticipated in the conventional PR group. These data suggest that for this population, to improve exercise behaviors (ie, prolonged bouts of MVPA), supervision is required. In comparison to this, a study using a smartphone-based PA telecoaching approach [32] found that patients requiring more contact from health care professionals experienced less PA benefits. However, patients in our study do appear to have increased their overall PA in the absence of

XSL•FO

any supervision, and this translated to a significant change in endurance walking times, which was seen in both groups. This is in line with a study by Demeyer et al [33], which showed that a 12-week semiautomated telecoaching intervention, which included an exercise booklet and step counter, significantly increased the amount (29% from baseline in terms of steps per day) and intensity of PA in patients with COPD. In comparison, our study also showed an increase, although small, in the number of steps per day of 12% in the web-based PR group from baseline. The physiological benefits gained from interval training have been shown to translate into clinically meaningful improvements in daily activity levels [34]. Louvaris et al [34] reported a 27% increase in the number of steps per day in the interval training group, which remained significantly greater 12 weeks following completion of PR, suggesting that this mode of training may be better to impact activities of daily living. A recent review challenges the relevance of PA patterns in patients with COPD, stating which is more important, "more time spent in higher intensity PA or less time spent in a sedentary state?" [31].

The American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society policy statement recommends alternative approaches—for example, step counters or telerehabilitation—may be best placed as a maintenance strategy for PR [35]. Using these strategies have not only shown to increase patients step counts and PA but also reduced the risk of exacerbations and hospital admissions [36].

Factors associated with PA have largely been cross-sectional, and from our data, moderate correlations in PA show a trend with respect to age, BMI, and FEV_1 (% predicted) at baseline (Table 2), which is consistent with the existing literature [37-39]. There is a lack of data examining the direction of association and limited postintervention data describing these associations.

It is interesting to note that post intervention, the programs appear to have overcome the negative association between age and FEV₁ on PA but not on BMI, which has a more significant correlation at baseline. This suggests that rehabilitation programs can potentially reverse the negative impact of FEV₁ and age on PA, but this requires further exploration.

BMI remains highly significantly associated after PR, suggesting that in a population with obesity, additional interventions may be required to influence BMI. These data and those from previous studies, where BMI was used as a prognostic measure in COPD, have shown that both PR and PA have no influence on BMI, and as a result, a PR program was shown to be effective across the BMI spectrum; therefore, it is recommended that

patients are referred irrespective of their BMI [40]. This may also be true for PA improvements.

Other studies have found factors such as respiratory and metabolic variations to be associated with PA [41]. Interestingly these changes did not differ across the GOLD stages. When attempting to stratify patients, which may improve in their PA post PR, exercise tolerance was found to be the strongest baseline independent factor to predict an improvement in PA [42]. In this study, it appears that those who gained more in terms of number of steps had a higher exercise capacity at baseline, although this was not true for those who increased their MVPA overall.

Limitations

The main limitation of this study is that it is an exploratory analysis and is based on secondary analysis, and, per protocol, had a small sample size. Furthermore, there is a high risk of bias and a risk of overestimating any likely effect since this study only performed per protocol analysis. This was a highly selected group as the patient's needed to be web literate and willing to follow the web-based program; therefore, this selection bias may limit external validity. There was also a high withdrawal rate from the web-based PR group, which is an important limitation when interpreting the results. This was mainly due to challenges experienced around a technology-based intervention. Loeckx et al [32] reported that approximately 8% of patients reported difficulty using technology. In this study, it was found that the exercise component of the web-based program was difficult, but once it was simplified after obtaining patient feedback, completion rates improved. There were no significant differences between the groups even though more participants withdrew from the web-based PR group. A previous

study in 2010 [43] suggested that levels of daily activity may be vulnerable to seasonal variations. The progression of physical inactivity in patients with COPD has also been studied with respect to climate conditions (eg, temperature, day length, and rainfall) [44]. A significant decrease in PA was seen over a period of 1 year, which was further affected by the hours of rainfall. Activity monitors were worn in our study during different time points of the year, depending on recruitment; therefore, seasonal variation may also have been a factor influencing PA. Nevertheless, this is a novel exploration of 2 interventions for individuals with COPD, which appear to have different effects based on the level of supervision.

Clinical Implications

When advising patients to increase their PA, promoting either multiple short bouts or long single bouts may be equally beneficial. Alternative approaches to increase PA may be more beneficial as a maintenance strategy.

Conclusions

The combination of a highly selected group of participants and the exploratory analysis approach renders it difficult to make generalizations. However, there was a nonsignificant difference in the pattern of PA between conventional and web-based PR groups. Conventional PR was associated with an increase in 20-minute bouts of PA. Effects of age and FEV_1 on PA can be overcome by taking part in rehabilitation, but BMI remains unaffected. This study shows a novel analysis of PA data, which could potentially be used as part of stratifying interventions based on measurements of PA and exercise capacity for individuals with COPD [45]. The data show that focusing on the number of steps alone can result in missing important messages about the pattern of PA.

Acknowledgments

The research was funded by the Research for Patient Benefit Grant (PB-PG-0711-25127) awarded by the National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) and took place at the University Hospitals of Leicester National Health Service Trust. Support was also provided by the NIHR Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care East Midlands (CLAHRC EM) and the NIHR Leicester Biomedical Research Centre - Respiratory. SJS is a NIHR Senior Investigator. The views expressed in this article are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the National Health Service (NHS), NIHR, or the Department of Health and Social Care.

Authors' Contributions

All authors contributed to writing of the paper. SS, EC, and LH-W were involved in the design and intervention work. AVB and CN analyzed and interpreted the data.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Vorrink SN, Kort HS, Troosters T, Lammers JJ. Level of daily physical activity in individuals with COPD compared with healthy controls. Respir Res 2011 Mar 22;12(33):1-8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-12-33] [Medline: 21426563]
- Garcia-Aymerich J, Lange P, Benet M, Schnohr P, Antó JM. Regular physical activity reduces hospital admission and mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a population based cohort study. Thorax 2006 Sep;61(9):772-778 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/thx.2006.060145] [Medline: 16738033]
- 3. Physical activity. World Health Organization. 2015. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/topics/physical_activity/en/</u> [accessed 2022-02-14]

- 4. Nolan CM, Maddocks M, Canavan JL, Jones SE, Delogu V, Kaliaraju D, et al. Pedometer Step Count Targets during Pulmonary Rehabilitation in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. A Randomized Controlled Trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2017 May 15;195(10):1344-1352 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1164/rccm.201607-1372OC] [Medline: 27911566]
- Gimeno-Santos E, Frei A, Steurer-Stey C, de Batlle J, Rabinovich RA, Raste Y, PROactive consortium. Determinants and outcomes of physical activity in patients with COPD: a systematic review. Thorax 2014 Aug;69(8):731-739 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2013-204763] [Medline: 24558112]
- 6. Piercy KL, Troiano RP, Ballard RM, Carlson SA, Fulton JE, Galuska DA, et al. The Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans. JAMA 2018 Nov 20;320(19):2020-2028. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2018.14854</u>] [Medline: <u>30418471</u>]
- 7. Steiner M, Holzhauer-Barrie J, Lowe D, Searle L, Skipper E, Welham S, et al. Pulmonary Rehabilitation: Steps to breathe better. Royal College of Physicians. London: National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit Programme: clinical audit of pulmonary rehabilitation services in England and Wales; 2016 Feb 10. URL: <u>https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/</u>projects/outputs/pulmonary-rehabilitation-steps-breathe-better [accessed 2022-02-14]
- 8. Grosbois JM, Gicquello A, Langlois C, Le Rouzic O, Bart F, Wallaert B, et al. Long-term evaluation of home-based pulmonary rehabilitation in patients with COPD. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2015;10:2037-2044 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/COPD.S90534] [Medline: 26445534]
- Moy ML, Collins RJ, Martinez CH, Kadri R, Roman P, Holleman RG, et al. An Internet-Mediated Pedometer-Based Program Improves Health-Related Quality-of-Life Domains and Daily Step Counts in COPD: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Chest 2015 Jul;148(1):128-137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1378/chest.14-1466] [Medline: 25811395]
- Mendoza L, Horta P, Espinoza J, Aguilera M, Balmaceda N, Castro A, et al. Pedometers to enhance physical activity in COPD: a randomised controlled trial. Eur Respir J 2015 Feb;45(2):347-354 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/09031936.00084514] [Medline: 25261324]
- Demeyer H, Burtin C, Hornikx M, Camillo CA, Van Remoortel H, Langer D, et al. The Minimal Important Difference in Physical Activity in Patients with COPD. PLoS One 2016;11(4):1-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154587] [Medline: 27124297]
- Taylor R, Dalal H, Jolly K, Moxham T, Zawada A. Home-based versus centre-based cardiac rehabilitation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010 Jan 20(1):CD007130 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007130.pub2] [Medline: 20091618]
- Holland AE, Mahal A, Hill CJ, Lee AL, Burge AT, Cox NS, et al. Home-based rehabilitation for COPD using minimal resources: a randomised, controlled equivalence trial. Thorax 2017 Jan;72(1):57-65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-208514] [Medline: 27672116]
- Apps LD, Mitchell KE, Harrison SL, Sewell L, Williams JE, Young HM, et al. The development and pilot testing of the self-management programme of activity, coping and education for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (SPACE for COPD). Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2013;8:317-327 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/COPD.S40414] [Medline: 23874093]
- Mitchell KE, Johnson-Warrington V, Apps LD, Bankart J, Sewell L, Williams JE, et al. A self-management programme for COPD: a randomised controlled trial. Eur Respir J 2014 Dec;44(6):1538-1547 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/09031936.00047814] [Medline: 25186259]
- 16. Horton EJ, Mitchell KE, Johnson-Warrington V, Apps LD, Sewell L, Morgan M, et al. Comparison of a structured home-based rehabilitation programme with conventional supervised pulmonary rehabilitation: a randomised non-inferiority trial. Thorax 2018 Jan;73(1):29-36. [doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-208506] [Medline: 28756402]
- 17. Chaplin E, Hewitt S, Apps L, Edwards K, Brough C, Glab A, et al. The evaluation of an interactive web-based Pulmonary Rehabilitation programme: protocol for the WEB SPACE for COPD feasibility study. BMJ Open 2015 Aug 25;5(8):e008055 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-008055] [Medline: 26307616]
- Chaplin E, Hewitt S, Apps L, Bankart J, Pulikottil-Jacob R, Boyce S, et al. Interactive web-based pulmonary rehabilitation programme: a randomised controlled feasibility trial. BMJ Open 2017 Mar 31;7(3):e013682 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013682] [Medline: 28363923]
- 19. Randomisation and online databases for clinical trials. Sealed Envelope. URL: <u>https://www.sealedenvelope.com/</u> [accessed 2022-02-14]
- 20. Brough C, Boyce S, Houchen-Wolloff L, Sewell L, Singh SJ. Evaluating the interactive web-based program, activate your heart, for cardiac rehabilitation patients: a pilot study. J Med Internet Res 2014 Oct 29;16(10):e242 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3027] [Medline: 25359204]
- 21. Bolton CE, Bevan-Smith EF, Blakey JD, Crowe P, Elkin SL, Garrod R, British Thoracic Society Pulmonary Rehabilitation Guideline Development Group, British Thoracic Society Standards of Care Committee. British Thoracic Society guideline on pulmonary rehabilitation in adults. Thorax 2013 Sep 23;68 Suppl 2(Suppl 2):ii1-i30. [doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2013-203808] [Medline: 23880483]
- 22. Demeyer H, Burtin C, Van Remoortel H, Hornikx M, Langer D, Decramer M, et al. Standardizing the analysis of physical activity in patients with COPD following a pulmonary rehabilitation program. Chest 2014 Aug;146(2):318-327 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1378/chest.13-1968] [Medline: 24603844]
- 23. The R Project for Statistical Computing. The R Foundation. URL: <u>http://www.R-project.org/</u> [accessed 2022-02-14]

- 24. Van Remoortel H, Raste Y, Louvaris Z, Giavedoni S, Burtin C, Langer D, PROactive consortium. Validity of six activity monitors in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a comparison with indirect calorimetry. PLoS One 2012;7(6):e39198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0039198] [Medline: 22745715]
- 25. Rabinovich RA, Louvaris Z, Raste Y, Langer D, Van Remoortel H, Giavedoni S, PROactive Consortium. Validity of physical activity monitors during daily life in patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 2013 Nov;42(5):1205-1215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/09031936.00134312] [Medline: 23397303]
- 26. Lancaster GA, Dodd S, Williamson PR. Design and analysis of pilot studies: recommendations for good practice. J Eval Clin Pract 2004 May;10(2):307-312. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.2002.384.doc.x</u>] [Medline: <u>15189396</u>]
- Billingham SAM, Whitehead AL, Julious SA. An audit of sample sizes for pilot and feasibility trials being undertaken in the United Kingdom registered in the United Kingdom Clinical Research Network database. BMC Med Res Methodol 2013 Aug 20;13:104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-13-104] [Medline: 23961782]
- Watz H, Pitta F, Rochester CL, Garcia-Aymerich J, ZuWallack R, Troosters T, et al. An official European Respiratory Society statement on physical activity in COPD. Eur Respir J 2014 Dec;44(6):1521-1537 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/09031936.00046814] [Medline: 25359358]
- 29. Watz H, Waschki B, Meyer T, Magnussen H. Physical activity in patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 2009 Feb 17;33(2):262-272 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/09031936.00024608] [Medline: 19010994]
- 30. Pitta F, Troosters T, Probst VS, Langer D, Decramer M, Gosselink R. Are patients with COPD more active after pulmonary rehabilitation? Chest 2008 Aug;134(2):273-280. [doi: 10.1378/chest.07-2655] [Medline: 18403667]
- Spruit MA, Pitta F, McAuley E, ZuWallack RL, Nici L. Pulmonary Rehabilitation and Physical Activity in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2015 Oct 15;192(8):924-933. [doi: 10.1164/rccm.201505-0929CI] [Medline: 26161676]
- 32. Loeckx M, Rabinovich RA, Demeyer H, Louvaris Z, Tanner R, Rubio N, et al. Smartphone-Based Physical Activity Telecoaching in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: Mixed-Methods Study on Patient Experiences and Lessons for Implementation. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Dec 21;6(12):e200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9774] [Medline: 30578215]
- 33. Demeyer H, Louvaris Z, Frei A, Rabinovich RA, de Jong C, Gimeno-Santos E, Mr Papp PROactive study groupthe PROactive consortium. Physical activity is increased by a 12-week semiautomated telecoaching programme in patients with COPD: a multicentre randomised controlled trial. Thorax 2017 May;72(5):415-423 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-209026] [Medline: 28137918]
- Louvaris Z, Spetsioti S, Kortianou EA, Vasilopoulou M, Nasis I, Kaltsakas G, et al. Interval training induces clinically meaningful effects in daily activity levels in COPD. Eur Respir J 2016 Aug;48(2):567-570 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/13993003.00679-2016] [Medline: 27338191]
- 35. Rochester CL, Vogiatzis I, Holland AE, Lareau SC, Marciniuk DD, Puhan MA, ATS/ERS Task Force on Policy in Pulmonary Rehabilitation. An Official American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society Policy Statement: Enhancing Implementation, Use, and Delivery of Pulmonary Rehabilitation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2015 Dec 01;192(11):1373-1386. [doi: 10.1164/rccm.201510-1966ST] [Medline: 26623686]
- 36. Vasilopoulou M, Papaioannou AI, Kaltsakas G, Louvaris Z, Chynkiamis N, Spetsioti S, et al. Home-based maintenance tele-rehabilitation reduces the risk for acute exacerbations of COPD, hospitalisations and emergency department visits. Eur Respir J 2017 May;49(5):1602129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/13993003.02129-2016] [Medline: 28546268]
- Pitta F, Troosters T, Spruit MA, Probst VS, Decramer M, Gosselink R. Characteristics of physical activities in daily life in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2005 May 01;171(9):972-977. [doi: <u>10.1164/rccm.200407-8550C</u>] [Medline: <u>15665324</u>]
- Monteiro F, Camillo CA, Vitorasso R, Sant'Anna T, Hernandes NA, Probst VS, et al. Obesity and physical activity in the daily life of patients with COPD. Lung 2012 Aug;190(4):403-410. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00408-012-9381-0</u>] [Medline: <u>22382442</u>]
- Vozoris NT, O'Donnell DE. Prevalence, risk factors, activity limitation and health care utilization of an obese, population-based sample with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Can Respir J 2012;19(3):e18-e24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2012/732618] [Medline: 22679617]
- Greening NJ, Evans RA, Williams JE, Green RH, Singh SJ, Steiner MC. Does body mass index influence the outcomes of a Waking-based pulmonary rehabilitation programme in COPD? Chron Respir Dis 2012 May;9(2):99-106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1479972312439317] [Medline: 22414784]
- 41. Kortianou EA, Louvaris Z, Vasilopoulou M, Nasis I, Kaltsakas G, Koulouris NG, et al. Activity monitoring reflects cardiovascular and metabolic variations in COPD patients across GOLD stages II to IV. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 2013 Dec 01;189(3):513-520. [doi: 10.1016/j.resp.2013.08.014] [Medline: 24013005]
- 42. Osadnik CR, Loeckx M, Louvaris Z, Demeyer H, Langer D, Rodrigues FM, et al. The likelihood of improving physical activity after pulmonary rehabilitation is increased in patients with COPD who have better exercise tolerance. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2018;13:3515-3527 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/COPD.S174827] [Medline: 30498342]
- 43. Sewell L, Singh SJ, Williams JE, Morgan MD. Seasonal variations affect physical activity and pulmonary rehabilitation outcomes. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev 2010;30(5):329-333. [doi: <u>10.1097/HCR.0b013e3181e175f2</u>] [Medline: <u>20551827</u>]

RenderX

- 44. Boutou AK, Raste Y, Demever H, Troosters T, Polkey MI, Vogiatzis I, et al. Progression of physical inactivity in COPD patients: the effect of time and climate conditions - a multicenter prospective cohort study. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2019;14:1979-1992 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/COPD.S208826] [Medline: 31564846]
- 45. Singh S. Physical activity and pulmonary rehabilitation - A competing agenda? Chron Respir Dis 2014 Nov;11(4):187-189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1479972314552999] [Medline: 25361628]

Abbreviations

COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease **FEV**₁: forced expiratory volume in 1 second MET: metabolic equivalence to task MVPA: moderate to vigorous physical activity NIHR: National Institute of Health Research PA: physical activity PPI: patient and public involvement **PR:** pulmonary rehabilitation SPACE for COPD: Self-Management Programme of Activity, Coping and Education for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 17.03.21; peer-reviewed by Z Louvaris, S Ashraf; comments to author 05.07.21; revised version received 24.08.21; accepted 30.11.21; published 10.03.22.

Please cite as:

Chaplin E, Barnes A, Newby C, Houchen-Wolloff L, Singh SJ Comparison of the Impact of Conventional and Web-Based Pulmonary Rehabilitation on Physical Activity in Patients With Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: Exploratory Feasibility Study JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e28875 URL: https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e28875 doi:10.2196/28875 PMID:35266871

©Emma Chaplin, Amy Barnes, Chris Newby, Linzy Houchen-Wolloff, Sally J Singh. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 10.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Accuracy of Heart Rate Measurement by the Fitbit Charge 2 During Wheelchair Activities in People With Spinal Cord Injury: Instrument Validation Study

Dirk Hoevenaars^{1,2}, MSc; Iris E Yocarini³, PhD; Stylianos Paraschiakos^{3,4}, MSc; Jasmijn F M Holla^{2,5,6}, PhD; Sonja de Groot^{1,2,6}, PhD; Wessel Kraaij³, PhD; Thomas W J Janssen^{1,2,6}, PhD

¹Faculty of Behavioural and Movement Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

²Amsterdam Rehabilitation Research Center, Reade, Amsterdam, Netherlands

³Leiden Institute of Advanced Computer Science, Leiden University, Leiden, Netherlands

⁴Molecular Epidemiology, Department of Biomedical Data Science, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands

⁵Faculty of Health, Sports and Social Work, Inholland University of Applied Sciences, Haarlem, Netherlands

⁶Center for Adapted Sports, Amsterdam Institute of Sport Science, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Corresponding Author:

Dirk Hoevenaars, MSc Faculty of Behavioural and Movement Sciences Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam Van der Boechorststraat 7 Amsterdam, 1081 BT Netherlands Phone: 31 643259225 Email: dirkhoevenaars@hotmail.com

Abstract

Background: Heart rate (HR) is an important and commonly measured physiological parameter in wearables. HR is often measured at the wrist with the photoplethysmography (PPG) technique, which determines HR based on blood volume changes, and is therefore influenced by blood pressure. In individuals with spinal cord injury (SCI), blood pressure control is often altered and could therefore influence HR accuracy measured by the PPG technique.

Objective: The objective of this study is to investigate the HR accuracy measured with the PPG technique with a Fitbit Charge 2 (Fitbit Inc) in wheelchair users with SCI, how the activity intensity affects the HR accuracy, and whether this HR accuracy is affected by lesion level.

Methods: The HR of participants with (38/48, 79%) and without (10/48, 21%) SCI was measured during 11 wheelchair activities and a 30-minute strength exercise block. In addition, a 5-minute seated rest period was measured in people with SCI. HR was measured with a Fitbit Charge 2, which was compared with the HR measured by a Polar H7 HR monitor used as a reference device. Participants were grouped into 4 groups—the no SCI group and based on lesion level into the <T5 (midthoracic and lower) group, T5-T1 (high-thoracic) group, and >T1 (cervical) group. Mean absolute percentage error (MAPE) and concordance correlation coefficient were determined for each group for each activity type, that is, rest, wheelchair activities, and strength exercise.

Results: With an overall MAPE_{all lesions} of 12.99%, the accuracy fell below the standard acceptable MAPE of -10% to +10% with a moderate agreement (concordance correlation coefficient=0.577). The HR accuracy of Fitbit Charge 2 seems to be reduced in those with cervical lesion level in all activities (MAPE_{no SCI}=8.09%; MAPE_{<T5}=11.16%; MAPE_{T1-T5}=10.5%; and MAPE_{>T1}=20.43%). The accuracy of the Fitbit Charge 2 decreased with increasing intensity in all lesions (MAPE_{rest}=6.5%, MAPE_{activity}=12.97%, and MAPE_{strength}=14.2%).

Conclusions: HR measured with the PPG technique showed lower accuracy in people with SCI than in those without SCI. The accuracy was just above the acceptable level in people with paraplegia, whereas in people with tetraplegia, a worse accuracy was found. The accuracy seemed to worsen with increasing intensities. Therefore, high-intensity HR data, especially in people with cervical lesions, should be used with caution.

RenderX

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e27637) doi:10.2196/27637

KEYWORDS

Fitbit Charge 2; heart rate; accuracy; photoplethysmography; spinal cord injury

Introduction

Background

Spinal cord injury (SCI) is a result of a partial or complete disruption of the neuropathways in the spinal cord, causing loss of motor and sensory function and a disturbed autonomic nervous system (ANS). Wheelchair users with SCI have one of the lowest daily activity levels compared with other groups with chronic physical conditions [1], negatively affecting their daily activity energy expenditure. In addition, their resting energy expenditure is often decreased because of multiple factors, with a reduced fat-free mass as a major contributor [2-5]. Together with the reduced activity energy expenditure, this leads to a lower total daily energy expenditure. As a consequence, approximately 68% of the people with SCI are overweight or obese, associated with increased risks of cardiovascular disease and mortality [6,7]. Therefore, maintaining or achieving an active lifestyle is even more crucial in people with SCI than in the able-bodied population. There are several tools that can help to stimulate or maintain an active lifestyle. Currently, activity trackers are a popular way to get insight on and monitor one's personal activity level. Activity trackers include many features, such as estimations of activity levels, exercise intensity or daily energy expenditure, often based on recorded movement via accelerometry and heart rate (HR).

HR is one of the most important and often used physiological parameters, as it is directly related to oxygen consumption and energy expenditure. The delivery of oxygen-rich blood required in the circulation system is controlled by the ANS by modulating both the HR and stroke volume [8,9]. For this reason, HR is used to monitor exercise intensity or as a derivative to estimate, for example, maximal oxygen uptake (VO₂max), or energy expenditure [10]. Over the last 4 decades, HR during exercise has mainly been measured using HR monitors that make use of a chest belt, transmitter, and receiver. Owing to the rapid development of sensor technology in recent decades, it is now possible to record and track HR in an even less invasive and easier way. One of the most popular and commonly used methods to determine HR in daily life is photoplethysmography (PPG), a simple and low-cost technique that can be integrated in a wrist-worn activity tracker [11,12].

PPG is a technique in which blood volume changes are detected in the microvascular bed of tissue by infrared light reflected from the tissue, such as the ear lobe, finger, or wrist [11]. The change in blood volume after a heartbeat is proportional to the reflected light, allowing pulse wave detection in the wrist, which can be used as a derivative to determine HR [13]. HR recording with this technique, however, is more susceptible to motion artifacts caused by hand-arm movements and blood flow dynamics and can, therefore, lead to a lower accuracy [14,15]. Studies have shown acceptable validity and accuracy (<10%) in HR recordings during sleep or across a 24-hour period in a

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e27637
```

free-living environment in able-bodied individuals with a mean absolute percentage error (MAPE) of <10% [16,17]. However, when tested during activities of higher intensities or dynamic situations, the accuracy dropped (MAPE>10%) [18-20]. Owing to the developments in HR recording with activity trackers, they are being included in clinical settings for medical purposes, such as mobile health monitoring, noninvasive medical surveillance, or even detecting first signs of health issues [21-23]. As information gathered by activity trackers is more often used for clinical and health purposes, the importance of accurate data is growing. However, as measurement techniques rely on physiological properties and responses, measurement outcomes can differ if physiological responses are altered, for instance, because of medical conditions. Therefore, it is important to investigate the accuracy of HR measurement within different populations, such as in people with SCI, as their physiological responses can be severely altered [24].

Objectives

The accuracy of HR determined by PPG depends on blood pressure changes which is, among other things, influenced by HR variability [25]. Both, the blood pressure of the upper limbs and HR are regulated by the ANS, of which the sympathetic outflow occurs between the first thoracic (T1) spinal cord segment and the fifth thoracic (T5) spinal segment. After an SCI, neural signal transmission is partially or fully lost at and below the lesion level. In case of an SCI at or above the T5 spinal cord segment, neural signaling and, therefore, the balance between the parasympathetic and sympathetic systems are often altered. Sympathetic hypoactivity usually occurs, resulting in possible low HR, low resting blood pressure, disturbed vascular regulation, and altered responses in these systems during rest or during physical activities [24]. Owing to the changes in HR response and blood pressure control, the accuracy of HR determined by PPG could be affected when a lesion occurs above T5. Because of possible impaired or altered vascular regulation, artifact-reducing algorithms may not apply and might subsequently compromise HR accuracy. The ANS is even more affected in cervical lesions, as the imbalance between the parasympathetic and sympathetic systems increases with lesion level [26]. Therefore, the aim of this study is to evaluate whether Fitbit Charge 2 can accurately record HR in wheelchair users with SCIs and to investigate how lesion level affects accuracy. In addition, the effect of intensity on accuracy is determined during wheelchair activities and strength exercise, as a higher intensity is expected during strength exercise compared with wheelchair activities and during wheelchair activities compared with rest. It is hypothesized that the HR accuracy of the Fitbit Charge 2 is lower in people with lesions at or above T5 because of the possible affected ANS, compared with people with lesions below T5 or without SCI. A further reduction in accuracy is expected in people with a cervical lesion compared with those with a lower lesion level or without SCI, because of an enlarged imbalance between the parasympathetic and sympathetic

XSL•FO RenderX

systems. Furthermore, the accuracy is expected to decrease with increasing intensities.

Methods

Study Design

Data on body composition and energy expenditure in people with SCI were collected in a larger cross-sectional study. All participants were invited for a one-time visit to the Amsterdam Nutritional Assessment Center laboratory of the Amsterdam University of Applied Sciences. HR of the participants was recorded during rest, wheelchair activities, and a 30-minute strength exercise block with both the Fitbit Charge 2 and Polar H7 HR monitor. All participants provided signed informed consent before participating. The study was approved by the medical ethical committee of Slotervaart Ziekenhuis—Reade (METc nr. P1805).

Participants

Overall, 48 participants were recruited to participate in this study, 38 (79%) with SCI and 10 (21%) without SCI. Recruitment took place through advertisements via the Dutch SCI patient association, social media, rehabilitation center Reade in Amsterdam, and the social network of the involved researchers. Participants were included if the following inclusion criteria were met: age between 18 and 75 years; chronic SCI (time since injury >1 year), not ventilator-dependent; and wheelchair-dependent for longer distances. Exclusion criteria were as follows: presence of a pacemaker, severe edema, progressive illness, pressure ulcers, metabolic diseases, severe comorbidities, psychiatric disorders, pregnancy, and insufficient understanding of the Dutch language to understand the study. Participants without SCI were selected based on the same inclusion and exclusion criteria, except for the SCI-related criteria. Personal and lesion characteristics were obtained through a questionnaire and interview. A conservative sample size target was chosen and set on ≥ 40 samples of each device for each group for each activity based on the method comparison guideline [27].

The participants were divided into 4 groups-the without SCI group and based on their lesion level they were divided into the cervical (>T1), high-thoracic (T1-T5), and midthoracic and lower (<T5) groups, to test the influence of lesion level on PPG accuracy. Heart and upper-body blood vessels are sympathetically innervated from segments T1-T5 and interact with the parasympathetic system to provide a balanced regulation of the cardiovascular system. In people with an SCI at T5 and above, sympathetic innervation is likely to be affected to a certain extent, which causes altered HR response and blood pressure regulation, possibly affecting PPG recordings compared with lower lesions. In addition, the lesion groups T5 and above were divided into the following lesion subgroups: lesion above T1 and lesion between T1-T5, with a larger imbalance in the ANS expected in the first group and thus a more severe cardiovascular dysfunction [28]. In people with an SCI above T1, arm function might be impaired, as well as a more severed impaired sympathetic innervation of the heart and upper-body vessels compared to lower lesions, which could lead to a lower HR accuracy in those with a cervical lesion [29].

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e27637
```

XSL•FO

Materials

Fitbit Charge 2

The Fitbit Charge 2 (2017 version, Firmware version 22.55.2, Fitbit Inc) is a commercially available activity tracker with multiple sensors, such as a 3-axis accelerometer, an altimeter, and a PPG sensor to record HR. In the Fitbit Charge 2 PurePulse, HR technology is used as an investigational device, which constantly reads the changes in the blood volume at the wrist. An algorithm converts these data into continuous HR data. The smartwatch was tightly positioned according to instructions on Fitbit on the wrist of participants on which normally a watch would be worn, usually the nondominant side. Intraday data collection was requested and approved by Fitbit for research purposes, allowing us to obtain the data on the highest possible sampling rate for the time period in which all activities were performed through an application programing interface. Output frequency of the HR data varied between 0.2 Hz and 0.06 Hz. Data collected by the Fitbit were transferred through Bluetooth Low Energy to the Fitbit App and downloaded.

Polar H7 HR Monitor

The Polar H7 chest strap HR monitor (Bluetooth Low Energy version, Polar Electro) was used as a reference device to measure HR; it is an accurate (intraclass correlation coefficient=0.98) alternative for a 3-lead electrocardiography (ECG), which is considered as the gold standard for measuring HR [30]. The strap was moistened to improve conduction between the skin and the sensor before it was secured tightly around the chest. HR recording was connected with a Cortex Metamax 3B (Cortex Biophysik GmbH) portable indirect calorimetry system, used in the larger study, which collects data at each full breathing cycle. Therefore, the output frequency of the Polar H7 HR data was determined by the breathing frequency of the participants during the protocol. The HR output given after each breathing cycle was the average HR measured over the entire breathing cycle.

Measurement Protocol

After ensuring that all sensors were positioned correctly, the measurement protocol started with a 5-minute seated rest, followed by wheelchair activities, consisting of eleven different wheelchair tasks executed for 1 minute, namely: (1) wheelchair propulsion on a low-resistance surface on a slow, (2) normal, and (3) high speed; (4) handcycling on an armcrank ergometer; (5) rummaging in a bag while being pushed; (6) setting the table; (7) doing dishes; (8) typing on a laptop; (9) maneuvering the wheelchair; (10) wheelchair basketball; and (11) transfer from wheelchair to chair and back. No 5-minute seated rest data were available for the participants without SCI, as this was added to the measurement protocol after finishing the measurements of the participants without SCI. All tasks were performed for 1 minute, as this represents real-life situations better compared with longer steady-state situations. All tasks were timed, logged, and recorded using a camera. Between each task, a rest period allowed the HR to recover close to the resting level to ensure variability in measured HR between tasks. If the participant was not able to perform a wheelchair activity independently because of their impairment, the task was not

executed. After the activities were completed, a 30-minute upper-body strength exercise was performed. Exercises and resistances were chosen based on the participants' preferences and physical capabilities. All strength exercises were performed with sets of 8-12 repetitions, and each set was repeated 3 times in total. After each set, there was a rest period that lasted between 90 and 120 seconds before the next set was started. The strength exercise block was not executed if the participant was not able to perform strength exercises because of an upper-body injury or impairment.

Data Analyses

Missing Data and Synchronization

On the basis of expert evaluation, all data of 8% (4/48) individuals were excluded. Of the 4 individuals, data for 2 (50%) individuals were excluded because of poor Polar H7 HR monitor connection throughout the whole measurement, data for 1 (25%) were excluded owing to battery failure of the Polar H7 HR monitor, and data for 1 (25%) were excluded because of the loss of Fitbit Charge 2 data. In total, the HR data of 92% (44/48) of participants were analyzed. In addition, approximately 0.6% of the data were excluded from 13% (6/48) of participants because of invalid samples (temporary loss of Polar H7 HR monitor connection). In total, 21,732 valid HR samples from both devices were used for analysis. The data of the 2 devices with different sampling rates were synchronized by relating the HR monitored by the reference device (ie, Polar H7 HR monitor) to that of the investigational device (ie, Fitbit Charge 2) that was closest in time. Consequently, data were labeled with one of the three activity categories: rest, wheelchair activities (including resting time between the activities and before the strength exercises started), and strength exercises (including resting time between the exercises) based on logbook data and video recordings.

Statistical Analyses

All statistical analyses were performed in R (version 3.6.1; R Foundation for Statistical Computing) using R Studio (version 1.2.1335). To assess error, the mean difference between the Polar H7 HR monitor and Fitbit Charge 2 HR samples was calculated, resulting in the mean error. In addition, the mean absolute error (MAE) and the MAPE were evaluated. As stated by the American National Standards Institute, the accuracy of HR monitors should be within -10% to +10% of the input rate or -5 to +5 beats per minute (bpm), whichever is greater [31].

In alignment with these standards, we considered a MAPE of -10% to +10% as an acceptable error rate. Following Nelson and Allen [17], outliers were not removed to evaluate the accuracy of consumer use conditions. Bland-Altman plots with 95% limits of agreement (LoA) were produced using the BlandAltmanLeh R package [32]. The Bland-Altman plots and LoA are the suggested methods for analyzing the agreement between 2 measurement devices [33-36]. These plots were inspected to assess systematic biases over the entire HR range and to assess the magnitude of such biases and whether Fitbit Charge 2 overestimated or underestimated HR compared with the Polar H7 HR monitor. Finally, in line with previous wearable validation studies [17,33], Lin concordance correlation coefficients (CCCs) [37] were calculated using the DescTools R package [38]. These correlation coefficients provide information on the association and strength of the linear relationships between the reference device and investigational device. According to Nelson and Allen [17], the strength of agreement can be interpreted based on the following: CCC<0.5 indicates a weak association, CCC between 0.5 and 0.7 indicates a moderate association, and CCC>0.7 relates to a strong association.

Results

Descriptives

Table 1 shows the demographic characteristics of the 77% (34/44) wheelchair users with SCI and 23% (10/44) participants without SCI included in the analyses. Table 2 shows the descriptive statistics for the 21,732 HR samples measured by the Polar H7 HR monitor and the Fitbit Charge 2. These samples were taken during rest (1168 HR samples over a 5-minute period), wheelchair activities (12,016 HR samples), and strength exercises (8548 HR samples). In addition, the distributions in the HR samples are displayed visually in the violin plots shown in Figure 1. The violin plot displays the mirrored density plot in addition to the box plot, which displays summary statistics, such as the median and IQR. As shown in Table 2, the range of the HR samples from Polar H7 was wider than the HR estimates produced by the Fitbit Charge 2. The differences in the range of HRs became more pronounced when the lesion was above T5. However, further investigation showed that the range produced by the Polar H7 and Fitbit Charge 2 was quite similar for people with SCI above T1.



Hoevenaars et al

| Characteristics | Lesion level | | | | | |
|--------------------------------------|--------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------|-------------------------------|
| | All lesions (n=34) | Below T5 ^a (n=16) | T5 and above (n=18) | T1 ^b -T5 (n=10) | Above T1 (n=8) | No SCI ^c (n=10) |
| Gender | | | | | | |
| Female | 9 | 5 | 4 | 2 | 2 | 3 |
| Male | 25 | 11 | 14 | 8 | 6 | 7 |
| Age (years), mean (SD) | 48.9 (12) | 49.3 (13.7) | 48.4 (10.9) | 50.0 (9.9) | 46.5 (12.5) | 50.8 (10.1) |
| AIS (A/B/C/D) ^d | 14/3/2/15 | 6/0/1/9 | 8/3/1/6 | 8/0/0/2 | 0/3/1/4 | N/A ^e |
| Time since injury (years), mean (SD) | 14.7 (11.6) | 15.9 (13.3) | 13.6 (10.1) | 15.0 (11.7) | 11.9 (8.1) | N/A |
| BMI, mean (SD) | 24.2 (4.1) | 23.5 (4) | 24.7 (4.3) | 25.7 (4.8) | 23.6 (3.5) | 26.0 (3.4) |

 Table 1. Demographic characteristics of participants (N=44).

^aT5: fifth thoracic vertebrae.

^bT1: first thoracic vertebrae.

^cSCI: spinal cord injury.

^dAIS: American Spinal Cord Injury Association Impairment Scale score.

^eN/A: not applicable.



_

 Table 2. Descriptive statistics of heart rate (HR) samples per activity, device, and lesion level.

| Le | esion level | HR samples | Polar H7 HR monitor, mean HR (SD; range) | Fitbit Charge 2, mean HR (SD; range) |
|-----------------------|--|------------|--|--------------------------------------|
| A | ll activities | | | |
| | All included | 21,732 | 85.7 (19.7; 34.3-169.7) | 85.6 (15.7; 50-163) |
| | All lesions | 17,211 | 89 (20.7; 34.3-169.7) | 87.6 (16.2; 50-163) |
| | <t5<sup>a</t5<sup> | 8172 | 86.3 (18.1; 48-149.7) | 85.2 (15.3; 54-163) |
| | >T5 | 9039 | 91.4 (22.4; 34.3-169.7) | 89.9 (16.6; 50-151) |
| | T1 ^b -T5 | 5324 | 100.5 (21.2; 34.3-169.7) | 91.8 (16.9; 52-151) |
| | >T1 | 3715 | 78.3 (17.1; 41.7-121.7) | 87.1 (15.7; 50-131) |
| | No SCI ^c | 4521 | 80.5 (13.3; 44.3-139) | 77.8 (10.7; 54-128) |
| R | est | | | |
| | All lesions | 1168 | 78.2 (15.5; 50.3-122) | 76.2 (12.7; 53-115) |
| | <t5< td=""><td>538</td><td>72 (10.7; 54.3-103.3)</td><td>70.7 (9.3; 56-102)</td></t5<> | 538 | 72 (10.7; 54.3-103.3) | 70.7 (9.3; 56-102) |
| | >T5 | 630 | 83.6 (17; 50.3-122) | 80.8 (13.4; 53-115) |
| | T1-T5 | 397 | 88.3 (16.8; 52-122) | 83 (14.8; 53-115) |
| | >T1 | 233 | 75.6 (14; 50.3-102) | 77 (9.3; 61-93) |
| Wheelchair activities | | | | |
| | All included | 12,016 | 85.3 (19.2; 34.3-164) | 85.4 (15.8; 50-139) |
| | All lesions | 9654 | 87.4 (20; 34.3-164) | 87.5 (15.9; 50-139) |
| | <t5< td=""><td>4434</td><td>83.1 (16.1; 48-145)</td><td>84.3 (15; 54-139)</td></t5<> | 4434 | 83.1 (16.1; 48-145) | 84.3 (15; 54-139) |
| | >T5 | 5220 | 91 (22.2; 34.3-164) | 90.2 (16.2; 50-138) |
| | T1-T5 | 3119 | 99.8 (20.7; 34.3-164) | 92.1 (15.8; 52-138) |
| | >T1 | 2101 | 77.8 (17.3; 41.7-118.7) | 87.3 (16.3; 50-131) |
| | No SCI | 2362 | 76.9 (12.5; 44.3-127.7) | 77 (12; 54-128) |
| St | rength exercises | | | |
| | All included | 8548 | 91.1 (20; 51.3-169.7) | 87.1 (15.5; 51-163) |
| | All lesions | 6389 | 93.4 (21.4; 51.3-169.7) | 90.0 (16.2; 51-163) |
| | <t5< td=""><td>3200</td><td>93.6 (23.4; 51.3-169.7)</td><td>88.8 (14.9; 57-163)</td></t5<> | 3200 | 93.6 (23.4; 51.3-169.7) | 88.8 (14.9; 57-163) |
| | >T5 | 3189 | 93.1 (19.2; 57-149.7) | 91.2 (17.3; 51-151) |
| | T1-T5 | 1808 | 104.4 (21.8; 59.3-169.7) | 93.2 (18.6; 59-151) |
| | >T1 | 1381 | 79.6 (17.3; 51.3-121.7) | 88.5 (15; 51-119) |
| | No SCI | 2159 | 84.4 (13.1; 53.3-139) | 78.6 (9.1; 55-109) |

^aT5: fifth thoracic vertebrae.

^bT1: first thoracic vertebrae.

^cSCI: spinal cord injury.



Figure 1. Violin plots of heart rate observations for Polar H7 and Fitbit Charge 2 divided by intensity from top to bottom in rest, wheelchair activities and strength exercise and divided by lesion level from left to right in lesion <T5, T1-T5, >T1, no spinal cord injury. Mean heart rate in beats per minute and IQRs are shown together with the distributions. T1: first thoracic vertebrae; T5: fifth thoracic vertebrae.



Mean Absolute Error

Overall, the Fitbit Charge 2 had a mean percentage error rate of 12.99% for people with SCI (Table 3), which is too high considering the standard acceptable MAPE is -10% to +10%. The MAPE of people with a lesion below T5 and between T1 and T5 was comparable with 11.16% and 10.16%, respectively, but for people with a lesion above T1, the MAPE was considerably higher (20.43%). People without SCI showed slightly better MAPE (8.09%) compared with people with lesions below T5 and between T1 and T5, as the MAPE was within the standard acceptable range of -10% to +10%. The

MAPE was dependent on the type of activity performed by people with SCI. For rest, the overall MAPE was 6.5%, whereas the MAPE increased with the intensity of the activity to 12.97% for wheelchair activities and 14.2% for strength exercises. A similar trend was found in people without SCI, where the MAPE for strength exercise (8.39%) was slightly higher than the MAPE for wheelchair activities (7.82%). For each activity, a pattern exists where the MAPE increased with higher lesion levels. Taken together, the MAPE of the Fitbit Charge 2 only seemed within the acceptable range for people with SCI during rest. With higher lesion levels, Fitbit Charge 2 HR measurements were more off relative to the Polar H7 HR estimates.



Hoevenaars et al

Table 3. Device error statistics.

| Le | sion level | Heart rate samples | Error Fitbit Charge 2 | | Bland-Altman analysis | | |
|----|--|--------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|------------------------|-----------|
| | | | MAE ^a | MAPE ^b (%) | ME ^c (SD) | Lower LoA ^d | Upper LoA |
| Al | l activities | | × | , | , | | |
| | All included | 21,732 | 10.2 | 11.97 | -1.6 (16) | -32.9 | 29.7 |
| | All lesions | 17,211 | 11.1 | 12.99 | -1.3 (17.0) | -34.7 | 32.1 |
| | <t5<sup>e</t5<sup> | 8172 | 9.6 | 11.16 | -1.1 (14.7) | -30 | 27.8 |
| | >T5 | 9039 | 12.4 | 14.64 | -1.5 (18.9) | -38.5 | 35.5 |
| | T1 ^f -T5 | 5324 | 11.6 | 10.6 | -8.7 (15.7) | -39.3 | 22 |
| | >T1 | 3715 | 13.7 | 20.43 | 8.8 (18.4) | -27.3 | 44.8 |
| | No SCI ^g | 4521 | 7 | 8.09 | -2.7 (10.8) | -23.9 | 18.5 |
| Re | est | | | | | | |
| | All lesions | 1168 | 5.2 | 6.5 | -2.1 (9.0) | -19.7 | 15.6 |
| | <t5< td=""><td>538</td><td>4.1</td><td>5.41</td><td>-1.2 (8.3)</td><td>-17.4</td><td>14.9</td></t5<> | 538 | 4.1 | 5.41 | -1.2 (8.3) | -17.4 | 14.9 |
| | >T5 | 630 | 6.2 | 7.43 | -2.7 (9.5) | -21.4 | 15.9 |
| | T1-T5 | 397 | 6.2 | 6.27 | -5.2 (9.2) | -23.3 | 12.8 |
| | >T1 | 233 | 6.2 | 9.39 | 1.5 (8.6) | -15.3 | 18.3 |
| W | heelchair activities | | | | | | |
| | All included | 12,016 | 9.9 | 11.96 | 0.1 (15.4) | -30.1 | 30.3 |
| | All lesions | 9654 | 10.7 | 12.97 | 0.1 (16.4) | -32.1 | 32.3 |
| | <t5< td=""><td>4434</td><td>9.2</td><td>11.29</td><td>1.2 (14.3)</td><td>-26.8</td><td>29.1</td></t5<> | 4434 | 9.2 | 11.29 | 1.2 (14.3) | -26.8 | 29.1 |
| | >T5 | 5220 | 12 | 14.4 | -0.8 (18) | -36.1 | 34.6 |
| | T1-T5 | 3119 | 10 | 10.33 | -7.7 (14.2) | -35.6 | 20.2 |
| | >T1 | 2101 | 13.5 | 20.43 | 9.5 (18.2) | -26.3 | 45.2 |
| | No SCI | 2362 | 6.3 | 7.82 | 0.1 (10.2) | -19.9 | 20.2 |
| St | rength exercises | | | | | | |
| | All included | 8548 | 11.5 | 12.73 | -4 (17.1) | -37.5 | 29.5 |
| | All lesions | 6389 | 12.7 | 14.2 | -3.4 (18.8) | -40.1 | 33.4 |
| | <t5< td=""><td>3200</td><td>11.1</td><td>11.94</td><td>-4.3 (15.6)</td><td>-34.9</td><td>26.3</td></t5<> | 3200 | 11.1 | 11.94 | -4.3 (15.6) | -34.9 | 26.3 |
| | >T5 | 3189 | 14.4 | 16.47 | -2.5 (21.4) | -44.4 | 39.5 |
| | T1-T5 | 1808 | 13.8 | 12.03 | -11.2 (18.5) | -47.5 | 25.2 |
| | >T1 | 1381 | 15.1 | 22.29 | 8.9 (19.5) | -29.3 | 47.1 |
| | No SCI | 2159 | 7.7 | 8.39 | -5.8 (10.6) | -26.6 | 14.9 |

^aMAE: mean absolute error.

^bMAPE: mean absolute percent error.

^cME: mean error.

^dLoA: limits of agreement.

^eT5: fifth thoracic vertebrae.

^fT1: first thoracic vertebrae.

^gSCI: spinal cord injury.

Bland-Altman Analysis and 95% LoA

Table 3 shows the results from the Bland-Altman analysis, and Multimedia Appendix 1 shows the Bland-Altman plots. Across all lesion levels and activities, the mean error of the Fitbit

XSL•FO RenderX Charge 2 was -1.3 (SD 17) bpm (lower LoA-upper LoA: -34.7 to 32.1 bpm) and MAE was 11.1. People without SCI showed a slightly larger mean error of -2.7 (SD 10.8) bpm (lower LoA-upper LoA: -23.9 to 18.5 bpm) but a smaller MAE of 7. Less agreement was observed in the group with a higher lesion

level—mean error -1.1 (SD 14.7) bpm for the group with SCI lesions below T5 (lower LoA-upper LoA: -30 to 27.8 bpm), mean error -8.7 (SD 15.7) bpm (lower LoA-upper LoA: -39.3 to 22 bpm) for the group with SCI lesions between T1 and T5, and mean error 8.8 (SD 18.4) bpm (lower LoA-upper LoA: -27.3 to 44.8 bpm) for those with SCI lesions above T1. Although there were some outliers, Fitbit Charge 2 did not seem to systematically overestimate or underestimate HR values during rest in people with SCI. For the group with SCI lesions below T5, all outliers shown in Bland-Altman plots in Multimedia Appendix 1 during all 3 activities were from 3 separate participants. During rest, the overall mean error for people with SCI was -2.1 (SD 9) bpm (lower LoA-upper LoA: -19.7 to 15.6 bpm). Here, the agreement seemed lowest for the group with an SCI between T1-T5 with a mean error of -5.2(SD 9.2) bpm (lower LoA-upper LoA: -23.3 to 12.8 bpm) compared with a mean error of -1.2 (SD 8.3) bpm (lower LoA-upper LoA: -17.4 to 14.9 bpm) for those with an SCI below T5 and a mean error of 1.5 (SD 8.6) bpm (lower LoA-upper LoA: -15.3 to 18.2 bpm) for those with an SCI above T1. In contrast, investigation of the plots presented in Multimedia Appendix 1 showed that during wheelchair activities and strength exercises, a trend toward overestimation for values below 100 bpm and an underestimation for observations with higher bpm was present. These trends seemed more pronounced during the strength exercises where the mean error was -3.4(SD 18.8) bpm (lower LoA-upper LoA: -40.1 to 33.4 bpm) compared with an overall mean error of 0.1 (SD 16.4) bpm (lower LoA-upper LoA: -32.1 to 32.3 bpm) during wheelchair activities. A similar trend was found during strength exercise in those without an SCI, with a mean error of -5.8 (SD 10.6) bpm (lower LoA-upper LoA: -26.6 to 14.9 bpm) for strength exercise compared with a mean error of 0.1 (SD 10.2) bpm

(lower LoA-upper LoA: -19.9 to 20.2 bpm) for wheelchair activities. Overall, Bland-Altman plots showed a trend toward overestimation of HR values for observations between 80 and 100 bpm in people with SCI lesions below T5. This was, to a lesser extent, also observed in general for people with SCI lesions above T1. In contrast, the Fitbit Charge 2 mostly underestimated the HR values of observations with \geq 80 bpm in people with SCI between T1-T5.

Concordance Class Correlation

Overall, across all activities and all included groups, the Fitbit Charge 2 had a moderate agreement with the Polar H7 HR monitor (CCC=0.596, 95% CI 0.587-0.604). During rest, this agreement was stronger (CCC=0.791, 95% CI 0.770-0.810) and as intensity increased, this agreement became weaker; during wheelchair activities CCC_{activities}=0.615 (95% CI 0.605-0.626) and during strength exercises CCCstrength=0.531 (95% CI 0.517-0.545). Overall, the agreement was stronger for those with an SCI lower than T1 or no SCI and became much weaker for the group with SCI above T1: CCC_{noSCI}=0.585 (95% CI 0.567-0.603), CCC_{<T5}=0.613 (95% CI 0.599-0.626), CCC_{T1-T5}=0.605 (95% CI 0.590-0.620), and CCC_{>T1}=0.328 (95% CI 0.302-0.353). Agreement was weak for people with a lesion above T1 during wheelchair activities (CCC_{>Tlactivities}=0.354, 95% CI 0.321-0.386) and strength exercises (CCC>T1strength=0.238, 95% CI 0.195-0.281). For lesions between T1 and T5 and lesions below T5, the agreement was moderate. Moderate (CCCno SCI activities=0.653, 95% CI 0.629-0.675) to low (CCC_{no SCIstrength}=0.490, 95% CI 0.464-0.516) agreements were found for those without SCI, as shown in Table 4.



| Lesion level | | Heart rate samples | Concordance class correlation (95% CI) |
|---|-----------|--------------------|--|
| All activities | | | · |
| All includ | ed | 21,732 | 0.596 (0.587-0.604) |
| All lesions | 8 | 17,211 | 0.577 (0.567-0.586) |
| <t5<sup>a</t5<sup> | | 8172 | 0.613 (0.599-0.626) |
| >T5 | | 9039 | 0.541 (0.527-0.554) |
| T1 ^b -T5 | | 5324 | 0.605 (0.590-0.620) |
| >T1 | | 3715 | 0.328 (0.302-0.353) |
| No SCI ^c | | 4521 | 0.585 (0.567-0.603) |
| Rest | | | |
| All lesions | 8 | 1168 | 0.791 (0.770-0.810) |
| <t5< td=""><td></td><td>538</td><td>0.659 (0.609-0.703)</td></t5<> | | 538 | 0.659 (0.609-0.703) |
| >T5 | | 630 | 0.792 (0.764-0.817) |
| T1-T5 | | 397 | 0.788 (0.751-0.820) |
| >T1 | | 233 | 0.736 (0.684-0.780) |
| Wheelchair a | ctivities | | |
| All includ | ed | 12,016 | 0.615 (0.605-0.626) |
| All lesions | 8 | 9654 | 0.586 (0.573-0.599) |
| <t5< td=""><td></td><td>4434</td><td>0.577 (0.558-0.597)</td></t5<> | | 4434 | 0.577 (0.558-0.597) |
| >T5 | | 5220 | 0.567 (0.550-0.584) |
| T1-T5 | | 3119 | 0.645 (0.627-0.663) |
| >T1 | | 2101 | 0.354 (0.32-0.386) |
| No SCI | | 2362 | 0.653 (0.629-0.675) |
| Strength exer | cises | | |
| All includ | ed | 8548 | 0.531 (0.517-0.545) |
| All lesions | 8 | 6389 | 0.503 (0.486-0.520) |
| <t5< td=""><td></td><td>3200</td><td>0.567 (0.545-0.534)</td></t5<> | | 3200 | 0.567 (0.545-0.534) |
| >T5 | | 3189 | 0.457 (0.431-0.482) |
| T1-T5 | | 1808 | 0.505 (0.475-0.534) |
| >T1 | | 1381 | 0.238 (0.195-0.281) |
| No SCI | | 2159 | 0.490 (0.464-0.516) |

^aT5: fifth thoracic vertebrae.

^bT1: first thoracic vertebrae.

^cSCI: spinal cord injury.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This is, to our knowledge, the first study to assess the HR accuracy of Fitbit Charge 2 in people with SCI, or more specifically, to assess the effects of lesion level on PPG-based HR accuracy. With an overall MAPE of 12.99% for the Fitbit Charge 2, the standard acceptable error of -10% to +10% was not met, and the outcomes were worse than in earlier research in able-bodied populations [17,20]. As the intensity of the

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e27637
```

XSL•FO RenderX activity increased, the HR accuracy of Fitbit Charge 2 worsened, which is in line with previous research [18-20]. Moreover, there seems to be a clear effect of lesion level, as the highest lesion group (>T1) showed drastically lower accuracy on Fitbit HR recordings on all intensities, compared with lower lesion level groups. This could possibly contribute to a more severely affected sympathetic innervation.

Compared with previous research in able-bodied individuals, our findings showed poorer outcomes for both MAPE and agreement rate during wheelchair activities and strength exercises. Previous research on the accuracy of HR

measurements of the Fitbit Charge 2 that included similar activities (seated rest, activities of daily living, strength exercises) showed a MAPE range of 5.93% to 9.88% in able-bodied individuals. A similar range was found in this study in people without SCI (7.82%-8.39%) [17,20]. In all people with SCI, the MAPE range varied between 6.5% and 14.2%. During seated rest, our findings showed a stronger association (CCC=0.791) between the Fitbit Charge 2 and Polar H7 HR monitor compared with a moderate association in previous research (CCC=0.561) [17]; however, agreement and error in all other activities showed poorer results and worsened as intensity increased in people with SCI. The reduced accuracy with increasing intensities is in line with the literature [18,19], but accuracy worsened more in people with SCI during wheelchair activities (CCC=0.586; MAPE 12.97%) and strength exercises (CCC=0.503; MAPE 14.2%) than in people without SCI during wheelchair activities (CCC=0.653; MAPE 7.82%) and strength exercises (CCC=0.490; MAPE 8.39%) and previous literature (activities of daily living: CCC=0.739; MAPE 8.29%; strength exercise: CCC=0.72; MAPE 9.8%; [17,20]). It could be argued that performing activities in a wheelchair could influence the agreement of HR recording in wrist-worn wearables in general as the CCC values in this study tend to be lower, even in people without SCI. To perform certain activities in a wheelchair, the wrist is often repetitively pressed and bumped against the rim of the wheel during propulsion, which could continuously affect the PPG connection as the pressure between the sensor and skin fluctuates [39]. This could, at least in part, explain the overall poorer accuracy of the Fitbit Charge 2 during wheelchair activities in people with and without SCI in this study compared with previous findings in able-bodied individuals. However, this would not explain the drastically decreased HR accuracy of the Fitbit Charge 2 in the higher lesion level (>T1) group. Therefore, it is very likely that a more severely imbalanced ANS negatively affects the accuracy [26].

It is remarkable that the T1-T5 group showed no clear difference from the <T5 group, as the sympathetic pathway is affected at lesion levels above T6 and an imbalance between the sympathetic and parasympathetic system is most likely present, which controls HR and blood pressure [24]. As there is a major difference between Polar H7 and Fitbit Charge 2 in the technique used to measure the obtained HR outcomes, it seems likely that this difference causes a drop in accuracy and agreement during the Fitbit Charge 2 HR recording. Because Fitbit Charge 2 HR recording is based on blood pressure differences, and autonomic control of the blood vessels in the upper body is controlled between segments T1 and T4, it was expected to observe differences in the T1-T5 group as well as in the >T1 group compared with the <T5 group. However, it appears that as long as there is some innervation left and not all sympathetic innervation of the blood vessels is affected, HR accuracy measured by PPG is only slightly reduced. The accuracy only seems to drop at lesion levels above T1, as there is possibly no sympathetic innervation left of the blood vessels in the lower parts of the upper limbs [40]. In addition, people with tetraplegia are more likely to show lower blood pressure compared with people with paraplegia or able-bodied individuals caused by reduced sympathetic activity [41]. Therefore, hypotension is a common phenomenon among people with tetraplegia, which

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e27637
```

XSL•FO

could possibly influence the accuracy of PPG-based HR recordings as it deviates from the regular expected signal [42,43].

The severity of reduced sympathetic innervation is not necessarily related to neurological lesion completeness, which is often expressed using the American Spinal Cord Injury Association Impairment Scale score. This scale is based on the presence of motor or sensory function, where a complete injury is defined as the absence of both motor and sensory function below the lesion, and an incomplete lesion is defined as any reduced presence of motor or sensory function below the lesion [44]. However, research has shown that this classification does not necessarily include autonomic function, because sympathetic activity has been detected in athletes with complete cervical SCI lesions [45]. Although lesion level clearly influences the ANS and, therefore, Fitbit Charge 2 HR accuracy, the effect of completeness of the lesion on motor, sensory, and autonomic function remains unknown. Therefore, future studies should test autonomic function separately from neurological lesions in people with SCI to gain better insight on the effect of autonomic function on HR accuracy based on PPG signals.

Strengths and Limitations

A strength of this study was the relatively large sample size of people with SCI, in which the distribution among the different lesion level groups, which were based on physiological differences determined by the literature, was fairly even and the direct comparison between people with and without SCI [24,26,40]. Analyses were performed, when possible, according to the methodological approaches suggested by Nelson and Allen [17], van Lier et al [34], and Sartor et al [33]. Activities and exercises mimicked real-life situations, which increased the ecological validity. Participants with SCI performed the tasks in their own wheelchair, at their own speed in relatively short time bouts, representing real-life situations better than prolonged steady-state activities. A suitable wheelchair was provided to the participants without SCI. Outcomes were analyzed as a whole and divided by lesion group and rest, wheelchair activities, and strength exercises to gain insight on both the effect of intensity and lesion level on the accuracy.

However, there are some limitations to the design and analysis. The reference device used, a Polar H7 HR monitor, is not considered a gold standard. A 3-lead ECG HR monitor device would have served better as a reference device. However, the Polar H7 HR monitor shows a high correlation with a 3-lead ECG (Intraclass Correlation Coefficient=0.98) and is therefore a good alternative [30]. In addition, HR outcomes from both devices were provided without raw signals (raw ECG signals and interbeat intervals). Ideally, one would obtain all raw information as algorithms to convert raw signals into the reported HR are often confidential and unknown. Firmware versions were, therefore, reported to take into account any sealed changes in such algorithms and to allow for the replication of results. HR was collected at the highest possible sample rate for Fitbit Charge 2, as intraday time series access was provided by Fitbit for research purposes. As measurements were performed within a larger study on energy expenditure in people with SCI, the Polar H7 was connected to an indirect calorimetry

device during measurements. The output provided by this device was given on a breath-by-breath basis, meaning the HR sample rate for the Polar H7 varied per minute and was determined by the breathing rate of the participant, which eventually provided a lower HR sample rate than preferred. The number of data points available for each activity to analyze reduced when the lesion level increased, as several participants were not able to perform certain wheelchair activities or strength exercises because of the severity of their impairment, present injuries, or risks. In addition, no information was collected on the environmental conditions or skin information that could possibly affect the PPG signal [33]. However, because all measurements were performed at the same location within the same rooms, temperature and light were similarly regulated during all the measurements. Unfortunately, no blood pressure data were collected during the measurement to strengthen our findings. Therefore, it is advisable to combine HR recordings together with continuous blood pressure data in future research to confirm our findings.

Practical Implementations

HR data obtained with the PPG technique during activities, especially during high intensities in people with a high lesion level (>T1), could provide inaccurate HR data in people with SCI. Therefore, it is advised to avoid using PPG-based HR

measurements for medical purposes in people with SCI with a cervical lesion level (>T1). However, despite a possible discrepancy in HR recordings, outcomes can still be of value in situations where the consequences of inaccurate HR data are low, for example, to get a global impression of energy expenditure and exercise intensity during physical activities in daily life.

Conclusions

The overall accuracy of the Fitbit Charge 2 HR measurements in people with SCI did not reach the standard acceptable error of -10% to +10%. With increasing intensity, the HR accuracy of the Fitbit Charge 2 was further reduced in people with SCI compared with its HR accuracy in able-bodied individuals. In addition, HR accuracy is related to lesion level, where a high SCI lesion (>T1) negatively affects HR accuracy. Accuracy seems to worsen more in high lesion levels with increasing intensities. A clear reduction in accuracy was found in the lesion group >T1 during wheelchair activities and strength exercises. This suggests that PPG-based HR accuracy is affected in people with SCI, as blood pressure responses during activity are possibly altered because of an affected ANS. Therefore, PPG-based HR measurements during activities should be taken with caution in people with SCI, especially in those with cervical SCI lesions.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by Nederlandse Organisatie voor Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek, Nationaal Regieorgaan Praktijkgericht Onderzoek SIA, and the São Paulo Research Foundation under the big data and sports call 2016.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Bland-Altman plots. [PNG File, 145 KB - rehab v9i1e27637 app1.png]

References

- 1. van den Berg-Emons RJ, Bussmann JB, Stam HJ. Accelerometry-based activity spectrum in persons with chronic physical conditions. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2010 Dec;91(12):1856-1861. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.apmr.2010.08.018</u>] [Medline: <u>21112426</u>]
- Nevin AN, Steenson J, Vivanti A, Hickman IJ. Investigation of measured and predicted resting energy needs in adults after spinal cord injury: a systematic review. Spinal Cord 2016 Apr;54(4):248-253. [doi: <u>10.1038/sc.2015.193</u>] [Medline: <u>26690858</u>]
- Felleiter P, Krebs J, Haeberli Y, Schmid W, Tesini S, Perret C. Post-traumatic changes in energy expenditure and body composition in patients with acute spinal cord injury. J Rehabil Med 2017 Jul 07;49(7):579-584 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2340/16501977-2244] [Medline: 28657645]
- Buchholz AC, McGillivray CF, Pencharz PB. Differences in resting metabolic rate between paraplegic and able-bodied subjects are explained by differences in body composition. Am J Clin Nutr 2003 Feb;77(2):371-378. [doi: 10.1093/ajcn/77.2.371] [Medline: 12540396]
- 5. Chun SM, Kim H, Shin HI. Estimating the Basal metabolic rate from fat free mass in individuals with motor complete spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 2017 Sep 23;55(9):844-847. [doi: 10.1038/sc.2017.53] [Medline: 28534498]
- Weaver FM, Collins EG, Kurichi J, Miskevics S, Smith B, Rajan S, et al. Prevalence of obesity and high blood pressure in veterans with spinal cord injuries and disorders: a retrospective review. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2007 Jan;86(1):22-29. [doi: 10.1097/phm.0b013e31802b8937] [Medline: 17304685]

RenderX

- Myers J, Lee M, Kiratli J. Cardiovascular disease in spinal cord injury: an overview of prevalence, risk, evaluation, and management. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2007 Feb;86(2):142-152. [doi: <u>10.1097/PHM.0b013e31802f0247</u>] [Medline: <u>17251696</u>]
- Vincent J. Understanding cardiac output. Crit Care 2008;12(4):174 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/cc6975] [Medline: 18771592]
- 9. Gordan R, Gwathmey JK, Xie L. Autonomic and endocrine control of cardiovascular function. World J Cardiol 2015 Apr 26;7(4):204-214 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4330/wjc.v7.i4.204] [Medline: 25914789]
- 10. Achten J, Jeukendrup AE. Heart rate monitoring: applications and limitations. Sports Med 2003;33(7):517-538. [doi: 10.2165/00007256-200333070-00004] [Medline: 12762827]
- Allen J. Photoplethysmography and its application in clinical physiological measurement. Physiol Meas 2007 Mar;28(3):1-39. [doi: <u>10.1088/0967-3334/28/3/R01</u>] [Medline: <u>17322588</u>]
- 12. Sviridova N, Sakai K. Human photoplethysmogram: new insight into chaotic characteristics. Chaos Solit Fract 2015 Aug;77:53-63. [doi: 10.1016/j.chaos.2015.05.005]
- Alnaeb M, Alobaid N, Seifalian A, Mikhailidis D, Hamilton G. Optical techniques in the assessment of peripheral arterial disease. Curr Vasc Pharmacol 2007 Jan 01;5(1):53-59. [doi: <u>10.2174/157016107779317242</u>] [Medline: <u>17266613</u>]
- Zhang Y, Liu B, Zhang Z. Combining ensemble empirical mode decomposition with spectrum subtraction technique for heart rate monitoring using wrist-type photoplethysmography. Biomed Sign Process Control 2015 Aug;21:119-125. [doi: 10.1016/j.bspc.2015.05.006]
- Castaneda D, Esparza A, Ghamari M, Soltanpur C, Nazeran H. A review on wearable photoplethysmography sensors and their potential future applications in health care. Int J Biosens Bioelectron 2018;4(4):195-202 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15406/ijbsbe.2018.04.00125] [Medline: 30906922]
- de Zambotti M, Baker FC, Willoughby AR, Godino JG, Wing D, Patrick K, et al. Measures of sleep and cardiac functioning during sleep using a multi-sensory commercially-available wristband in adolescents. Physiol Behav 2016 May 01;158:143-149. [doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.03.006] [Medline: 26969518]
- 17. Nelson BW, Allen NB. Accuracy of consumer wearable heart rate measurement during an ecologically valid 24-hour period: intraindividual validation study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Mar 11;7(3):e10828 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10828] [Medline: 30855232]
- Boudreaux B, Hebert E, Hollander D, Williams B, Cormier C, Naquin M, et al. Validity of wearable activity monitors during cycling and resistance exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2018 Mar;50(3):624-633. [doi: <u>10.1249/MSS.000000000001471</u>] [Medline: <u>29189666</u>]
- 19. Dooley EE, Golaszewski NM, Bartholomew JB. Estimating accuracy at exercise intensities: a comparative study of self-monitoring heart rate and physical activity wearable devices. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Mar 16;5(3):e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7043] [Medline: 28302596]
- 20. Reddy RK, Pooni R, Zaharieva DP, Senf B, El Youssef J, Dassau E, et al. Accuracy of wrist-worn activity monitors during common daily physical activities and types of structured exercise: evaluation study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Dec 10;6(12):e10338 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10338] [Medline: 30530451]
- Wright SP, Hall BT, Collier SR, Sandberg K. How consumer physical activity monitors could transform human physiology research. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2017 Dec 01;312(3):358-367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00349.2016] [Medline: 28052867]
- 22. Dias D, Cunha J. Wearable health devices-vital sign monitoring, systems and technologies. Sensors (Basel) 2018 Jul 25;18(8):2414 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s18082414] [Medline: 30044415]
- Perez MV, Mahaffey KW, Hedlin H, Rumsfeld JS, Garcia A, Ferris T, Apple Heart Study Investigators. Large-scale assessment of a smartwatch to identify atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2019 Nov 14;381(20):1909-1917. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1901183] [Medline: 31722151]
- 24. Grigorean V, Sandu A, Popescu M, Iacobini M, Stoian R, Neascu C, et al. Cardiac dysfunctions following spinal cord injury. J Med Life 2009;2(2):133-145 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20108532]
- 25. Bent B, Goldstein BA, Kibbe WA, Dunn JP. Investigating sources of inaccuracy in wearable optical heart rate sensors. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3:18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-0226-6] [Medline: 32047863]
- 26. Grimm DR, DeMeersman RE, Garofano RP, Spungen AM, Bauman WA. Effect of provocative maneuvers on heart rate variability in subjects with quadriplegia. Am J Physiol-Heart Circul Physiol 1995 Jun 01;268(6):2239-2245. [doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.1995.268.6.h2239]
- 27. Method comparison and bias estimation using patient samples; approved guideline second edition. Clinical And Laboratory Standards Institute [CLSI]. 2002. URL: <u>https://webstore.ansi.org/standards/clsi/clsiep09a2</u> [accessed 2021-12-13]
- Teasell RW, Arnold JO, Krassioukov A, Delaney GA. Cardiovascular consequences of loss of supraspinal control of the sympathetic nervous system after spinal cord injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2000 Apr;81(4):506-516. [doi: 10.1053/mr.2000.3848] [Medline: 10768544]
- 29. Sachdeva R, Nightingale TE, Krassioukov AV. The blood pressure pendulum following spinal cord injury: implications for vascular cognitive impairment. Int J Mol Sci 2019 May 18;20(10):2464 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijms20102464] [Medline: 31109053]

RenderX

- Pasadyn SR, Soudan M, Gillinov M, Houghtaling P, Phelan D, Gillinov N, et al. Accuracy of commercially available heart rate monitors in athletes: a prospective study. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther 2019 Aug;9(4):379-385 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/cdt.2019.06.05] [Medline: 31555543]
- The Association for Advancement of Medical Instrumentation. American National Standard. SMPTE J 1986 May;95(5):601-602. [doi: <u>10.5594/j17740</u>]
- 32. Lehnert B. BlandAltmanLeh: plots (slightly extended) Bland-Altman plots. Cran.R-Project. 2015. URL: <u>https://cran.</u> <u>r-project.org/web/packages/BlandAltmanLeh/index.html</u> [accessed 2021-12-13]
- Sartor F, Papini G, Cox LG, Cleland J. Methodological shortcomings of wrist-worn heart rate monitors validations. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jul 02;20(7):e10108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10108] [Medline: 29967000]
- 34. van Lier HG, Pieterse ME, Garde A, Postel MG, de Haan HA, Vollenbroek-Hutten MM, et al. A standardized validity assessment protocol for physiological signals from wearable technology: methodological underpinnings and an application to the E4 biosensor. Behav Res Methods 2020 Apr;52(2):607-629 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3758/s13428-019-01263-9] [Medline: 31290128]
- Zaki R, Bulgiba A, Nordin N, Azina Ismail N. A systematic review of statistical methods used to test for reliability of medical instruments measuring continuous variables. Iran J Basic Med Sci 2013 Jun;16(6):803-807 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23997908]
- 36. Altman DG, Bland JM. Measurement in medicine: the analysis of method comparison studies. Statistician 1983 Sep;32(3):307. [doi: 10.2307/2987937]
- 37. Lin LI. A concordance correlation coefficient to evaluate reproducibility. Biometrics 1989 Mar;45(1):255. [doi: 10.2307/2532051]
- 38. Signorell A. DescTools: tools for descriptive statistics. Cran.R-Project. 2020. URL: <u>http://cran.r-project.org/</u> package=DescTools [accessed 2021-12-13]
- 39. Teng XF, Zhang YT. The effect of contacting force on photoplethysmographic signals. Physiol Meas 2004 Oct;25(5):1323-1335. [doi: 10.1088/0967-3334/25/5/020] [Medline: 15535195]
- 40. West C, Alyahya A, Laher I, Krassioukov A. Peripheral vascular function in spinal cord injury: a systematic review. Spinal Cord 2013 Jan;51(1):10-19. [doi: 10.1038/sc.2012.136] [Medline: 23184028]
- 41. Mathias C, Frankel H. The cardiovascular system in tetraplegia and paraplegia. In: Frankel H, Bruyn G, Klawans H, Vinken P, editors. Spinal Cord Trauma: Handbook of Clinical Neurology. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 1992:435-456.
- 42. Lehmann K, Lane J, Piepmeier J, Batsford W. Cardiovascular abnormalities accompanying acute spinal cord injury in humans: incidence, time course and severity. J Am Coll Cardiol 1987 Jul;10(1):46-52. [doi: 10.1016/s0735-1097(87)80158-4]
- 43. Lemay M, Bertschi M, Sola J, Renevey P, Parak J, Korhonen I. Chapter 2.3 Application of optical heart rate monitoring. In: Wearable Sensors - Fundamentals, Implementation and Applications. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2015:105-129.
- 44. Kirshblum SC, Burns SP, Biering-Sorensen F, Donovan W, Graves DE, Jha A, et al. International standards for neurological classification of spinal cord injury (Revised 2011). J Spinal Cord Med 2013 Jul 19;34(6):535-546. [doi: 10.1179/204577211x13207446293695]
- 45. West CR, Romer LM, Krassioukov A. Autonomic function and exercise performance in elite athletes with cervical spinal cord injury. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2013 Feb;45(2):261-267. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31826f5099] [Medline: 22914247]

Abbreviations

ANS: autonomic nervous system bpm: beats per minute CCC: concordance correlation coefficient ECG: electrocardiography HR: heart rate LoA: limits of agreement MAE: mean absolute error MAPE: mean absolute percentage error PPG: photoplethysmography SCI: spinal cord injury T1: first thoracic vertebrae T5: fifth thoracic vertebrae



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 01.02.21; peer-reviewed by K Goessler, K Chen; comments to author 02.07.21; revised version received 12.11.21; accepted 30.11.21; published 19.01.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Hoevenaars D, Yocarini IE, Paraschiakos S, Holla JFM, de Groot S, Kraaij W, Janssen TWJ Accuracy of Heart Rate Measurement by the Fitbit Charge 2 During Wheelchair Activities in People With Spinal Cord Injury: Instrument Validation Study JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e27637 URL: https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e27637

doi:<u>10.2196/27637</u> PMID:<u>35044306</u>

©Dirk Hoevenaars, Iris E Yocarini, Stylianos Paraschiakos, Jasmijn F M Holla, Sonja de Groot, Wessel Kraaij, Thomas W J Janssen. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 19.01.2022. This is an distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution open-access article License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Occupational and Physical Therapy Strategies for the Rehabilitation of COVID-19-Related Guillain-Barré Syndrome in the Long-term Acute Care Hospital Setting: Case Report

Catherine Connors^{1*}, PT, DPT; Stephanie McNeill^{2*}, MOT; Henry Charles Hrdlicka^{3*}, PhD

¹Department of Inpatient Physical Therapy, Gaylord Specialty Healthcare, Wallingford, CT, United States

²Department of Inpatient Occupational Therapy, Gaylord Specialty Healthcare, Wallingford, CT, United States

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Henry Charles Hrdlicka, PhD Milne Institute for Healthcare Innovation Gaylord Specialty Healthcare 50 Gaylord Farm Road Wallingford, CT, 06492 United States Phone: 1 203 284 2864 Email: hhrdlicka@gaylord.org

Abstract

Background: Although several reports have described the diagnosis and treatment of patients with COVID-19-associated Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS), there is a paucity of literature describing the occupational and physical therapy (OT and PT) strategies used in the long-term acute care hospital (LTACH) setting to rehabilitate these patients.

Objective: To expand this body of literature, we present a case report highlighting the treatment strategies used to rehabilitate and discharge an individual from an independent LTACH facility, following diagnosis and treatment of COVID-19-related GBS at a regional ACH.

Methods: A 61-year-old male was admitted to an LTACH for the rehabilitation of GBS following COVID-19 infection and intravenous immunoglobulin treatment. Rehabilitation in the LTACH setting uses a variety of skilled treatment interventions to meet patient-driven goals and maximize their function to the highest level possible in preparation of their discharge to a subacute or homecare setting. In this case, this was accomplished through individual OT and PT sessions, OT/PT cotreatment sessions, and targeted group therapy sessions focused on leg, arm, and fine motor coordination exercises.

Results: With the OT and PT standard of care, the patient's improvement was demonstrated by several outcome measures, including manual muscle testing, range of motion, grip strength, and the activity measure for postacute care. The patient was successfully rehabilitated and returned to the community after presenting with COVID-19-associated GBS.

Conclusions: This report highlights the complex rehabilitation needs patients require to regain independence after diagnosis of COVID-19-associated GBS.

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e30794) doi:10.2196/30794

KEYWORDS

Gullian-Barre syndrome; COVID-19; SARS-CoV-2; occupational therapy; physical therapy; long-term acute care hospital; rehabilitation; case report; treatment; diagnosis

Introduction

Background

RenderX

SARS-CoV-2 is a novel coronavirus strain that has led to the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic [1] and over 5.3 million

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e30794
```

deaths as a result [2]. As with other infectious vectors, including coronavirus strains SARS-CoV and Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS) [3-7], the immune response elicited by SARS-CoV-2 has been implicated in the etiology of several neurological disorders, such as stroke, and autoimmune diseases,

³Milne Institute for Healthcare Innovation, Gaylord Specialty Healthcare, Wallingford, CT, United States

including Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) [5-11]. GBS is exceedingly rare, affecting 1-2 of every 100,000 people in the United States, or 0.001%-0.002% [12]; in contrast, a 0.42% incidence rate of GBS in individuals diagnosed with COVID-19 has been reported [10,13].

GBS, an acute autoimmune polyradiculopathy disorder characterized by symmetrical progressive ascending weakness, areflexia, and sensory loss closely resembling quadriplegia, is typically the result of molecular mimicry and the formation of autoantibodies targeting the proteoglycans common to the myelin sheath [3,4]; the specific autoantigen linked to SARS-CoV-2 infection and GBS is still under investigation [7,9].

In rare cases, GBS can lead to irregular heart rhythms, respiratory distress, heart attacks, or death; the GBS mortality rate ranges from 3% to 10% of infections [3,14,15]. Respiratory insufficiency further complicates COVID-19 and GBS outcomes, as both diagnoses can cause respiratory distress and shortness of breath. As symptoms overlap, it is advisable for clinicians to be aware of the less-common symptoms of GBS, including diplopia and paresthesia, so appropriate treatments can be initiated in a timely manner [10,16]. Given that GBS is diagnosed and treatment started early to avoid serious cardiac and pulmonary complications, and there are no serious secondary infections, patients typically recover well, with 60%-80 % walking after 6 months [14].

Although many reports have documented the diagnosis and treatment of GBS following COVID-19 [17-32], the literature documenting the rehabilitation process of these individuals is limited. At the time of writing, only 1 such paper exists to the best of our knowledge [33]. In that paper, the patient, having been treated for GBS associated with cerebral vasculitis, was admitted to the rehabilitation unit of the same acute care hospital (ACH) for further care and rehabilitation. To expand this body of literature, we present this case report highlighting the treatment strategies used to rehabilitate and discharge an individual from an independent long-term acute care hospital (LTACH) facility, following diagnosis and treatment of COVID-19-related GBS at a regional ACH.

The treatment strategies described here are informed by the LTACH's long history of treating patients with GBS. For example, between March 2019 and the start of March 2020, approximately 18 patients were treated for GBS at this facility. Since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic (March 2020-March

2021), this facility has treated 23 patients for GBS, 5 (21%) of which, including the case described here, were COVID-19-associated GBS cases.

Case Presentation

On November 11, 2020, a 61-year-old Caucasian male tested positive for COVID-19 by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) testing, after developing shortness of breath and a low-grade fever on November 7, 2020 (Figure 1). By the time the patient received his test results, he was afebrile and his shortness of breath had begun to markedly improve. The patient then began developing progressive ascending weakness and numbness in both his upper and lower extremities (UEs and LEs). The weakness progressed to the point where it was increasingly difficult to ambulate and negotiate stairs; at this time, the patient began using a walker to assist with mobility.

Other than a history of hypertension and hyperlipidemia, the patient's past medical history was unremarkable prior to the diagnosis of COVID-19 infection. The patient's father is alive at 91 years old, and his mother passed away at 88 years old with a history of hypertension. He lives with his wife, who is a full-time caregiver to her mother, while the patient works full-time as an office shop manager. Prior to COVID-19 infection, he was independent with all activities of daily living (ADLs) and mobility.

On November 20, 2020, in lieu of an office visit due to state COVID-19 restrictions, the patient attended a telehealth appointment to discuss his symptoms. During the telehealth appointment, the patient fell when attempting to stand and was unable to get off the floor. Consequently, emergency medical services were called and the patient was brought to the emergency department under droplet precautions. At admission, the patient was awake and alert, with clear fluent speech and no facial asymmetry. His vital measurements were as follows: temperature, 36.9°C; blood pressure, 164/91 mm Hg; pulse, 105 beats per minute, oxygen saturation, 97% on room air; and respiratory rate, 18 breaths per minute. All laboratory tests collected were within normal ranges, including the following: white blood cell count, 7.8×10^3 cells/µL; hemoglobin, 15.4 g/dL; platelet count, 299×10^3 cells/µL; blood urea nitrogen, 9 mg/dL; creatinine, 0.6 mg/dL; aspartate aminotransferase, 21 IU/L; alanine aminotransferase, 34 IU/L; and albumin, 4.5 g/L. Upon physical examination, the patient presented with rapidly progressing UE and LE weakness with absent patellar and bicep reflexes.



Figure 1. Patient timeline. Starting November 7, 2020, the timing of the patient's diagnosis, treatment, rehabilitation, and other significant events are outlined until his discharge from the LTACH rehabilitation setting on January 21, 2021. ACH: acute care hospital; CAM: controlled ankle motion; GBS: Guillain-Barré syndrome; IVIG: intravenous immunoglobulin; LTACH: long-term acute care hospital; OT: occupational therapy; PCR: polymerase chain reaction; PT: physical therapy; RLE: right lower extremity.



Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain ruled out acute infarction. Cervical MRI showed mild degenerative joint disease with disc desiccation from C2 to C7 discs without cord compression. A lumbar puncture was attempted on November 21, 2020, but was unsuccessful. The patient was ultimately diagnosed with postinfectious COVID-19-associated acute inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (AIDP), a common GBS variant [10]. Once diagnosed, the patient was given a 5-day intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) cycle at 0.4 g/kg/day (November 21-26). On the fourth day of IVIG treatment, the patient was able to lift a cup to his mouth, which he was previously unable to do. After completing the day 5 IVIG treatment of the cycle, the patient presented with improving weakness in both UEs and LEs, while continuing to report pain in his UEs and tingling in both UEs and LEs. His positive response to IVIG treatment reinforced the GBS diagnosis.

Speech therapy was not requested at the ACH, as cognitive, swallowing, and communication deficits were not noted at that time. Additionally, since the progressive ascending weakness from GBS did not affect his respiratory system, and the shortness of breath secondary to COVID-19 had resolved prior to being admitted to the ACH, he did not require evaluation by respiratory therapy.

At the ACH, the patient's arm strength was assessed by occupational therapy (OT) using manual muscle testing (MMT) and was as follows [34] (Table 1):

- Right upper extremity (RUE): shoulder 2/5, elbow 3–/5, and hand grasp 3/5
- Left upper extremity (LUE): shoulder 2–/5, elbow 2+/5, and hand grasp 2/5.

With regard to ADLs, the patient required built-up utensils and setup assistance to perform self-feeding and moderate assistance for oral care. Therapists at the ACH attempted to stand the patient; however, he was unable to achieve a fully upright position. As a result, he required the use of a mechanical lift for out-of-bed transfers.

On November 27, 2020, 7 days after admission, the patient was discharged to an LTACH, Gaylord Specialty Healthcare (Wallingford, CT, USA), for inpatient rehabilitation. His goal upon admission was to return to an independent level of function.

RenderX

Table 1. Occupational therapy upper extremity assessments.

| Assessment | T0 ^a | T1 ^b | T2 ^c |
|-------------------------------------|------------------|---------------------------|---------------------------|
| BUE ^d strength | | | |
| ROM ^e | WNL ^f | WNL | WNL |
| RUE ^g strength | | | |
| Shoulder | 2/5 | 3+/5 | 5/5 |
| Elbow ^h | 3–/5 | 3+/5 | 5/5 |
| Wrist ^h | i | 3+/5 | 5/5 |
| Grip | — | 15 lb | 52 lb |
| LUE ^j strength | | | |
| Shoulder | 2–/5 | 3+/5 | 5/5 |
| Elbow ^h | 2+/5 | 3+/5 | 5/5 |
| Wrist ^h | — | 3+/5 | 5/5 |
| Grip | — | 21 lb | 70 lb |
| ADLs ^{k,l} | | | |
| Self-feeding, oral care | $ModA^m$ | D^n | Io |
| UE ^p bathing, dressing | D | MinA ^q | DS ^r |
| LE ^s bathing, dressing | D | MaxA ^t | CG^{u} |
| Toilet and shower transfers | D | MaxA | S^{v} |
| AM-PAC ^w OT ^x | _ | 17 points; 50% impairment | 20 points; 35% impairment |

^aT0: acute care hospital (ACH) OT admission assessment, November 24, 2020.

^bT1: long-term acute care hospital (LTACH) OT admission assessment, November 28, 2020.

^cT2: LTACH OT discharge assessment, January 20, 2021.

^dBUE: bilateral upper extremity.

^eROM: range of motion.

^fWNL: within normal limits.

^gRUE: right upper extremity.

^hMeasurement of both flexion and extension.

ⁱNot assessed at this time.

^jLUE: left upper extremity.

^kADL: activity of daily living.

¹ADL measurements based on a modified functional independence measure [35].

^mModA: moderate assistance required.

ⁿD: dependent.

^oI: independent.

^pUE: upper extremity.

^qMinA: minimal assistance required.

^rDS: distant supervision required.

^sLE: lower extremity.

^tMaxA: maximal assistance required.

^uCG: contact guard assistance required.

^vS: supervision required.

^wAM-PAC: activity measure for postacute care.

^xOT: occupational therapy.



XSL•FO RenderX

Initial Functional Status at the LTACH

Upon initial evaluation by LTACH physical therapy (PT), the patient's LE range of motion (ROM) was within normal limits (WNL), and his LE strength, assessed by MMT, was as follows (Table 2):

- Right lower extremity (RLE): hip flexion 3/5, hip abduction/adduction 2+/5, knee flexion 4/5, knee extension 3+/5, and ankle dorsiflexion 3/5
- Left lower extremity (LLE): hip flexion 3/5, hip abduction/adduction 2/5, knee flexion/extension 3/5, and ankle dorsiflexion 3–/5

Proprioception to bilateral great toes and ankles was absent, and the patient had diminished sensation to light touch in bilateral lower extremities (BLEs).

The patient's functional status was evaluated using a modified functional independence measure ranging from dependent to independent (Table 3) [35]. He required maximal assistance to perform bed mobility and out-of-bed transfers. He also required contact guard (CG) assistance to maintain sitting balance on the edge of the bed. The activity measure for postacute care (AM-PAC), a standardized assessment tool, was used to measure the patient's ability to complete ADLs and functional mobility [36]. The patient scored a 10 on the mobility segment during the initial PT evaluation, indicating 77% impairment (Table 2).

On initial evaluation by LTACH OT, the patient's UE passive ROM was WNL and his bilateral upper extremity (BUE) strength, assessed by MMT, was as follows: (both RUE and LUE) shoulder flexion, 3+/5; elbow flexion/extension, 3+/5; and wrist flexion/extension, 3+/5. By a dynamometer, the patient's right grip strength was 15 lb and 21 lb on the left (Table 1). His UE sensation was intact to light touch and deep pressure and had intact proprioception. However, he continued to endorse numbness and tingling in his hands. His coordination demonstrated dysmetria, as evidenced by decreased accuracy when performing a finger-to-nose assessment with occluded vision. The patient scored a 17 on the initial OT ADL portion of the AM-PAC evaluation, indicating 50% impairment (Table 1).

Upon admission to the LTACH, other than assistance to cut foods and open containers, the patient had progressed to requiring distant supervision for self-feeding and no longer required the use of built-up handles. Additionally, he required minimal assistance for upper body bathing and maximal assistance for lower body bathing at bed level. He required maximal assistance for upper body dressing and total assistance for lower body dressing at bed level.

All patients evaluated by OT at this LTACH facility are given the St. Louis University Mental Status (SLUMS) examination at admission to screen for possible cognitive impairments and to inform the treatment plan [37]. The patient scored a 25/30 on the SLUMS examination, indicating mild neurocognitive impairments in attention and short-term memory. The patient stated that his attention was a baseline impairment likely present prior to his GBS diagnosis but that his short-term memory was currently worse than his baseline status prior to hospitalization. Furthermore, the patient complained of blurry vision and difficulty reading since the onset of GBS. A formal vision assessment, performed by OT, confirmed blurriness in both eyes (right worse than left). The patient's near point of convergence was 12 inches, indicating convergence insufficiency and a marked impairment compared to the normal range, which is between 2 and 4 inches. Clinically, this observation is intriguing as ocular muscle weakness and paralysis are associated with the Miller Fisher syndrome variant of GBS, not the AIDP variant [38].

During an initial OT/PT cotreatment session to perform standing in the parallel bars on December 2, 2020, 5 days after LTACH admission, the patient's LE sensation began to improve and he complained of right ankle pain. Swelling and bruising of the right ankle was noted, and a fracture of the distal right fibula was diagnosed by radiography. This fracture was attributed to his fall prior to admission and was likely not found at the ACH due to his altered sensation and other medical challenges at the time. An orthopedic physician placed a hard cast, and the patient was made non-weight-bearing of the RLE for 6 weeks. To protect the fracture, the patient returned to requiring the use of a mechanical lift for out-of-bed transfers. Therefore, compensations, such as using slide board transfers, were initiated early on as it was known that the patient would be non-weight-bearing for at least 6 weeks. The patient was also educated on proper techniques for sit-to-stand and stand-pivot transfers so that when he was able to weight-bear through his RLE, it would not be a new concept.



Table 2. Physical therapy lower extremity assessments.

| Assessment | T0 ^a | T1 ^b | T2 ^c |
|-------------------------------------|-------------------|--|--|
| BLE ^d strength | | | · |
| ROM ^e | f | WNL ^g | WNL |
| RLE ^h strength | | | |
| Hip flexion | _ | 3/5 | 4–/5 |
| Hip ⁱ | — | 2+/5 | 3/5 |
| Knee ^j | — | 4/5 | 5/5 |
| Ankle dorsiflexion | — | 3/5 | —; CAM ^k boot |
| LLE ^l strength | | | |
| Hip flexion | _ | 3/5 | 3+/5 |
| Hip ⁱ | _ | 2/5 | 3/5 |
| Knee ^j | — | 3/5 | 4+/5 |
| Ankle dorsiflexion | _ | 3–/5 | 3/5 |
| Function and mobility ^m | | | |
| Out-of-bed transfers | D^m | MaxA ⁿ ; D after fracture was found | S ^o |
| Sitting balance | MinA ^p | CG^q | I ^r |
| Sit-to-stand | D | D | S with RW ^s |
| Ambulatory transfers | UA ^t | UA | S with RW |
| Ambulation | UA | UA | 300 feet; CG with RW |
| Stairs | UA | UA | Able to clear six 4-inch stairs; CG with bilateral railing |
| AM-PAC ^u PT ^v | _ | 10 points; 77% impairment | 20 points; 36% impairment |

^aT0: acute care hospital (ACH) PT admission assessment, November 25, 2020; patient LE strength at the ACH was not formerly assessed or not available at the time of writing. Function and mobility assessments were available.

^bT1: long-term acute care hospital (LTACH) PT admission assessment, November 28, 2020.

^cT2: LTACH PT discharge assessment, January 20, 2021.

^dBLE: bilateral lower extremities.

^eROM: range of motion.

^fNot assessed at this time.

^gWNL: within normal limits.

^hRLE: right lower extremity.

ⁱMeasurement of both abduction and adduction.

^jMeasurement of both flexion and extension.

^kCAM: controlled ankle motion.

¹Measurements based on the modified functional independence measure score [35].

^mD: dependent.

ⁿMaxA: maximal assistance required.

^oS: supervision required.

^pMinA: minimal assistance required.

^qCG: contact guard assistance required.

^rI: independent.

^sRW: rolling-walker assistive device required.

^tUA: unable to perform.

^uAM-PAC: activity measure for postacute care.

^vPT: physical therapy.

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e30794
Table 3. Modified functional independence measure definitions and criteria.

| Descriptor | Definition |
|------------------------------|---|
| Unable (UA) | The subject/patient is unable to perform. |
| Dependent (D) | Dependent mobility; the subject/patient providing less than 25% of the work. |
| Maximal assistance (MaxA) | The subject/patient performs 25%-49% of the work. |
| Moderate assistance (ModA) | The subject/patient performs 50%-74% of the work. |
| Minimal assistance (MinA) | The subject/patient performs 75%-100% of the work. |
| Contact guard (CG) | The subject/patient requires light hands-on assistance for balance, but no physical lifting is required. |
| Close supervision (CS) | The subject/patient requires the therapist to be close by in case the patient experiences a loss of balance, but does not need physical or hands-on assistance. |
| Supervision (S) | During supervision, the therapist provides supervision at more than an arm's length away. |
| Distant supervision (DS) | This is intermittent supervision. The therapist does not have to be in the room. |
| Modified independence (ModI) | The subject/patient is independent with the use of adaptive devices, techniques, or increased time. |
| Independent (I) | The subject/patient is independent without the use of adaptive devices, techniques, or increased time. |

Methods

Therapy Details

During his inpatient stay, Monday through Friday, the patient participated in 5-6, 30-minute-long treatment blocks each day. These blocks consisted of a combination of individual PT and OT sessions, an OT/PT cotreatment session, LE and UE exercise group sessions, or a fine motor coordination group session focused on sensation and coordination. On Saturdays, he alternated weekly between a 30-minute LE or UE exercise group; treatment sessions were not conducted on Sundays.

During his early PT sessions, the patient worked on antigravity supine LE therapeutic exercises. He required skilled PT intervention to ensure the exercises were being performed properly and he was working at the appropriate workload. For example, the patient required assistance to perform hip flexion exercises in a side-lying position as, when he began to fatigue, he would compensate and recruit other muscles to facilitate the motion. As such, he required cues to stop and rest so that form was not compromised and he did not overfatigue the muscle. The patient also worked on wheelchair mobility and both static and dynamic sitting balance (ie, anterior weight shifting and reaching outside the base of support to prepare for transfers).

In early OT sessions, the patient worked on bed-level lower body ADLs, UE exercises seated on a mat, cognitive tasks addressing short-term memory, and hand-strengthening activities. Additionally, the patient began participating in OT convergence training exercises to address his convergence insufficiencies. Within a week of starting convergence training, the patient started to report improvements to the blurry vision and increased ability to read novels at his leisure.

UE exercises focused on using lighter resistance weights that the patient could tolerate for 10 repetitions without compromising body mechanics; the weight was gradually increased per the patient's tolerance. Due to shoulder weakness, passive ROM exercises were initiated to the joint end ROM to preserve joint integrity. In addition to performing daily OT tasks, which included self-ROM and hand-strengthening tasks

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e30794
```

with putty (eventually increasing to graded grippers), the patient was independent with a gentle bed-level exercise program.

The patient was educated on energy conservation during ADL performance, including taking rest breaks, utilizing adaptive equipment to improve independence without compromising functional activity tolerance, and preserving the ability to persist through daily therapies [16]. In his early cotreatment sessions, PT and OT worked together to assist the patient with bed mobility and basic slide board transfers to and from his wheelchair and bed. As the patient progressed, OT/PT cotreatments worked on slide board transfers to and from the car, tub, and commode.

On January 7, 2021, 18 days prior to discharge, the patient started progressive LE strengthening, sit-to-stand transfers, and ambulation during individual PT sessions. The individual OT sessions were able to focus on progressing UE therapeutic exercises, dressing at a wheelchair level, and bathing in the shower using a shower chair.

OT/PT cotreatment sessions also advanced the patient from standing to using a rolling-walker (RW) with a right sling attachment to support his RLE. This allowed him to weight-bear through the right knee to provide more stability while standing and ambulating and adhere to his weight-bearing restrictions. As the patient progressed, he no longer required cotreatment for standing and ambulation and was able to perform these activities with the assistance of 1 person. This allowed for an additional individual therapy session each day.

On January 15, 2021, 44 days after being placed in the hard cast, the patient was cleared for weight-bearing as tolerated through his RLE using a controlled ankle motion (CAM) walking boot and RW. To ensure he did not have a significant increase in pain with weight-bearing, the patient's ambulation distance was gradually increased. As he began tolerating ambulating further distances with the RW, he began climbing stairs with assistance.

During his PT LE exercise group session, the patient performed seated LE exercises, including hip flexion, hip



abduction/adduction, knee extension, and ankle ROM. To help his progression, ankle weights were added, as appropriate, per therapist discretion and the patient's tolerance. The patient was also able to utilize a recumbent cross-trainer using his LLE and BUEs during these sessions. Once cleared for weight-bearing with the CAM boot, he was able to effectively use all extremities on the cross-trainer. During his OT UE exercise group session, the patient performed seated UE exercises, starting without weights and gradually worked up to 4 lb in shoulder weights and 6 lb in elbow weights. In the fine motor coordination group session, the patient began with hand-strengthening and larger fine motor coordination tasks; he gradually transitioned to smaller tasks, including putting small objects (approximately 0.5 inches) together and pulling them apart.

Ethics Approval and Consent to Participate

This case report was written in compliance with our institutional privacy policy, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) policy, and the standards set by the Declaration of Helsinki. Institutional review board approval was not required by institutional policy as the report only describes 1 patient; the need for approval was therefore waived.

Consent for Publication

The patient described here gave his written permission for the authors to access his personal information and for his information to be used in writing and publishing this case report.

Results

Discharge Assessment

The patient's function was re-evaluated immediately prior to LTACH discharge. The patient's PT discharge assessment indicated that his LE coordination and ROM were now WNL and that his LE strength was as follows:

- RLE: hip flexion 4–/5, hip abduction/adduction 3/5, and knee flexion/extension 5/5
- LLE: hip flexion 3+/5, hip abduction/adduction 3/5, knee flexion 4+/5, knee extension 4-/5, and ankle dorsiflexion 3/5

The patient's right ankle was unable to be assessed as it was still in a CAM walking boot and not cleared for ROM assessments (Table 2).

The patient continued to endorse diminished sensation in his bilateral lower legs and feet, but his sensation to light touch had returned. Proprioception was WNL in his BLEs. Functionally, the patient was performing sit-to-stand and ambulatory transfers with an RW with supervision. By discharge, he had regained ambulation and was able to ambulate 300 feet with an RW and CG utilizing the CAM walking boot. Further, the patient was able to negotiate six 4-inch stairs with bilateral railings, step-to-pattern, and a CG. The patient scored a 20 on the AM-PAC at discharge, indicating a 36% impairment; this was a 41% improvement from admission (Table 2).

The patient's OT discharge assessment indicated that his BUE strength, coordination, and ROM were now WNL (Table 1). His grip strength was 52 lb on the right and 70 lb on the left, a

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e30794
```

37 and 49 lb increase, respectively. Although the patient continued to demonstrate diminished sensation to light touch in BUEs, his proprioception remained intact. With regard to ADLs, the patient could now perform upper body bathing/dressing and lower body bathing with distant supervision; lower body dressing sitting upright in the wheelchair could be performed with a CG. He was also able to complete ambulatory transfers to the commode and transfer to a tub bench with supervision.

The patient's visual impairments were completely resolved upon discharge. With residual impairments to his short-term memory still present, the patient scored a 27/30 on the SLUMS examination, a 2-point improvement. He also scored a 20 on the AM-PAC at discharge, indicating a 35% impairment; this was a 15% improvement from admission (Table 1).

On January 21, 2021, 56 days after LTACH admission, the patient was discharged home, ambulatory with improved strength, self-care, and cognition.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Here we described the presentation and rehabilitation regimen of a patient diagnosed with COVID-19-associated GBS. During a telehealth appointment following a COVID-19 diagnosis, the patient fell. Being unable to stand up due to weakness in his LEs, the medical professional advised the patient to call for emergency medical services. He was then brought to a local regional ACH. There he was diagnosed and treated for GBS. Requiring functional rehabilitation, the patient was transferred to an independent rehabilitation-focused LTACH, where OT and PT regimens led to objective improvements in both UE and LE strength. Fine motor control and coordination were also markedly improved, as evidenced by the patient's ability to open containers, write, and self-feed. The patient's functional mobility improved from being dependent and unable to ambulate or perform transfers to ambulation with a CG and transfers with supervision. This led to functional improvements, independence with ADLs, improved AM-PAC scores for both the mobility and ADL sections, and a safe discharge home.

PT and OT interventions were structured to optimize the patient's independence at each stage of rehabilitation. Although the patient was challenged throughout the week, therapists were careful to not overfatigue the patient so as to avoid potential delays in his recovery and to allow for rest on weekends. When resuming therapy on Mondays, the patient had objectively notable increases in both his UE and his LE strength. It is important to provide patients with adequate rest in order to maximize functional recovery.

Strengths and Limitations

It is important to acknowledge the strengths and limitations of this report. This report was strengthened by the use of objective measures and standardized assessments to demonstrate the improvements this patient made at an LTACH level of care. Although GBS is an exceedingly rare disease, it is relatively common for patients with GBS to be treated at our facility each year. Although this report is based off 1 patient's case, our

facility has admitted and treated 5 patients with GBS related to COVID-19 at the time of writing. A limitation of this particular case is the absence of some diagnostic tests typically reported for GBS, namely cerebrospinal fluid analysis and electrophysiological nerve conduction studies. Being an independent LTACH, the records we were able to obtain from the ACH, where the patient was initially diagnosed and treated, were incomplete. However, given the abundance of literature already describing the diagnosis and treatment of COVID-19-related GBS, we reported what was available to us and focused on reporting the rehabilitation regimen used to treat this patient for COVID-19-related GBS. Additionally, nerve conduction studies could have been used to monitor the patient's recovery and rehabilitation. However, as this is not a common practice at our institution and the patient's recovery and rehabilitation were in line with expectations, follow-up nerve conduction studies were not conducted.

A challenge in this patient's recovery was that his ankle fracture left him non-weight-bearing for much of his rehabilitation. Although it is not typical for patients with GBS to also have weight-bearing restrictions, we thought reporting this unique case worthwhile as no 2 patients will require the same rehabilitation regimen. In fact, it is often the case that patients will arrive for rehabilitation with not 1 but multiple diagnoses that will influence their treatment plan. Being no exception, the patient's non-weight-bearing status influenced his treatment course and added challenges in his functional mobility progress that were addressed with an individualized therapeutic approach. These goals were centered on the patient becoming as mobile as possible, given his weight-bearing restrictions, while being careful to not overfatigue his muscles and creating additional problems. This patient's rehabilitation may have been complicated by this fracture and non-weight-bearing restrictions,

but the patient made significant improvements in his time at this LTACH and recovered, as we would expect a patient with GBS to recover.

Patient's Perspective

Following the patient's discharge, he was asked to give his thoughts about his time in rehabilitation. From the first day the patient started therapy, he was motivated and had a positive attitude. The patient admits, "I did have some mental difficulties early on absorbing all that was happening to me." This was never shown outwardly, however, and the patient quickly moved away from this mindset. The patient states, "I was somewhat traumatized from the 8 days in the [acute care] hospital all alone, but once I realized that everyone at Gaylord was looking out for me, I was able to relax and just focus on getting better. I worked hard to maintain a positive attitude and to talk with other patients and staff to get encouragement and strength from them so I could reflect on it each night, which was the most difficult time for me." This mentality helped the patient to overcome the obstacles he faced during rehabilitation and make a remarkable recovery.

Conclusion

At the time of writing, this is the first report to the best of our knowledge to demonstrate the standard of care and strategies used in an independent LTACH setting to successfully rehabilitate and discharge a patient diagnosed with GBS following COVID-19 infection and the second report to describe these methods overall [33]. This successful rehabilitation was accomplished through intensive PT and OT regimens targeted at patient-specific deficits. This case report demonstrates how therapy interventions are effective in maximizing the functional potential of patients with COVID-19-associated GBS.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge and thank the patient for his approval to allow this case report to be written, as well as the other clinical staff who contributed to the patient's care. The authors would also like to thank Dr David Rosenblum for their careful, considerate, and thoughtful review of this case report.

Authors' Contributions

CC designed and conceptually conceived the case report, acquired the initial written consent to access and use the patient's information, wrote the first draft, and contributed to the revision process throughout. SM and HCH substantively contributed to subsequent drafts and revisions. All authors have approved the submitted version and have agreed to be personally accountable for the work presented here.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

RenderX

- 1. Sauer L. What Is Coronavirus?. URL: <u>https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/health/conditions-and-diseases/coronavirus</u> [accessed 2022-02-02]
- 2. World Health Organization. WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard. URL: <u>https://covid19.who.int</u> [accessed 2022-02-02]
- 3. Willison HJ, Jacobs BC, van Doorn PA. Guillain-Barré syndrome. Lancet 2016 Aug;388(10045):717-727. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(16)00339-1]

- 4. van den Berg B, Walgaard C, Drenthen J, Fokke C, Jacobs BC, van Doorn PA. Guillain-Barré syndrome: pathogenesis, diagnosis, treatment and prognosis. Nat Rev Neurol 2014 Aug 15;10(8):469-482. [doi: <u>10.1038/nrneurol.2014.121</u>] [Medline: <u>25023340</u>]
- 5. Ellul MA, Benjamin L, Singh B, Lant S, Michael BD, Easton A, et al. Neurological associations of COVID-19. Lancet Neurol 2020 Sep;19(9):767-783 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(20)30221-0] [Medline: 32622375]
- 6. Rahimi K. Guillain-Barre syndrome during COVID-19 pandemic: an overview of the reports. Neurol Sci 2020 Nov;41(11):3149-3156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10072-020-04693-y] [Medline: 32876777]
- Pergolizzi JV, Raffa R, Varrassi G, Magnusson P, LeQuang J, Paladini A, et al. Potential neurological manifestations of COVID-19: a narrative review. Postgrad Med 2021 Jan 11:1-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1080/00325481.2020.1837503</u>] [Medline: <u>33089707</u>]
- 8. Liu Y, Sawalha A, Lu Q. COVID-19 and autoimmune diseases. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2020;33(2):155-162. [doi: 10.1097/bor.00000000000776]
- Dotan A, Muller S, Kanduc D, David P, Halpert G, Shoenfeld Y. The SARS-CoV-2 as an instrumental trigger of autoimmunity. Autoimmun Rev 2021 Apr;20(4):102792 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2021.102792] [Medline: 33610751]
- Sriwastava S, Kataria S, Tandon M, Patel J, Patel R, Jowkar A, et al. Guillain Barré syndrome and its variants as a manifestation of COVID-19: a systematic review of case reports and case series. J Neurol Sci 2021 Jan 15;420:117263
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2020.117263] [Medline: 33321326]
- Abdullahi A, Candan SA, Soysal Tomruk M, Elibol N, Dada O, Truijen S, et al. Is Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with COVID-19 infection? a systemic review of the evidence. Front Neurol 2020;11:566308 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.566308] [Medline: 33519663]
- 12. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Campylobacter (Campylobacteriosis): Guillain-Barré Syndrome. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/campylobacter/guillain-barre.html</u> [accessed 2022-02-02]
- 13. Toscano G, Palmerini F, Ravaglia S, Ruiz L, Invernizzi P, Cuzzoni MG, et al. Guillain–Barré syndrome associated with SARS-CoV-2. N Engl J Med 2020 Jun 25;382(26):2574-2576. [doi: <u>10.1056/nejmc2009191</u>]
- 14. Mayo Clinic. Guillain-Barre Syndrome: Symptoms and Causes. URL: <u>https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/</u> guillain-barre-syndrome/symptoms-causes/syc-20362793 [accessed 2022-02-02]
- 15. Novak P, Šmid S, Vidmar G. Rehabilitation of Guillain-Barré syndrome patients: an observational study. Int J Rehabil Res 2017 Jun;40(2):158-163. [doi: 10.1097/MRR.0000000000225] [Medline: 28368871]
- 16. GBS/CIDP Foundation International. Foundation Publications: Guidelines for Physical and Occupational Therapy. URL: https://www.gbs-cidp.org/support/foundation-publications/ [accessed 2022-02-02]
- 17. Korem S, Gandhi H, Dayag DB. Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with COVID-19 disease. BMJ Case Rep 2020 Sep 21;13(9):e237215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bcr-2020-237215] [Medline: 32958554]
- Sedaghat Z, Karimi N. Guillain Barre syndrome associated with COVID-19 infection: a case report. J Clin Neurosci 2020 Jun;76:233-235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2020.04.062] [Medline: 32312628]
- 19. Miller A, Burke R, Gest A, Ramanandi VH. Rehabilitation of post-COVID GBS patient: acute care and functional recovery. Res Pedtr Neonatol 2020 Nov 2;5(2):417-420. [doi: 10.31031/rpn.2020.05.000607]
- Manganotti P, Bellavita G, Tommasini V, D Acunto L, Fabris M, Cecotti L, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid and serum interleukins 6 and 8 during the acute and recovery phase in COVID-19 neuropathy patients. J Med Virol 2021 Sep;93(9):5432-5437 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jmv.27061] [Medline: 33951196]
- 21. Singh R, Shiza ST, Saadat R, Dawe M, Rehman U. Association of Guillain-Barre syndrome with COVID-19: a case report and literature review. Cureus 2021 Mar 11;13(3):e13828 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.13828] [Medline: 33854850]
- 22. Avenali M, Martinelli D, Todisco M, Canavero I, Valentino F, Micieli G, et al. Clinical and electrophysiological outcome measures of patients with post-infectious neurological syndromes related to COVID-19 treated with intensive neurorehabilitation. Front Neurol 2021;12:643713 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.643713] [Medline: 33776896]
- Türk Börü Ü, Köseoğlu Toksoy C, Bölük C, Demirbaş H, Yılmaz A. A case of Guillain-Barré syndrome related to COVID-19 infection. Int J Neurosci 2021 Feb 12:1-3. [doi: 10.1080/00207454.2021.1886097] [Medline: 33535007]
- 24. Gale A, Sabaretnam S, Lewinsohn A. Guillain-Barré syndrome and COVID-19: association or coincidence. BMJ Case Rep 2020 Nov 30;13(11):e239241 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bcr-2020-239241] [Medline: 33257396]
- Garnero M, Del Sette M, Assini A, Beronio A, Capello E, Cabona C, et al. COVID-19-related and not related Guillain-Barré syndromes share the same management pitfalls during lock down: the experience of Liguria region in Italy. J Neurol Sci 2020 Nov 15;418:117114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2020.117114] [Medline: 32947089]
- 26. Manganotti P, Bellavita G, D'Acunto L, Tommasini V, Fabris M, Sartori A, et al. Clinical neurophysiology and cerebrospinal liquor analysis to detect Guillain-Barré syndrome and polyneuritis cranialis in COVID-19 patients: a case series. J Med Virol 2021 Feb;93(2):766-774 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jmv.26289] [Medline: 32662899]
- 27. Khalifa M, Zakaria F, Ragab Y, Saad A, Bamaga A, Emad Y, et al. Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 detection and coronavirus disease 2019 in a child. J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc 2020 Sep 17;9(4):510-513 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jpids/piaa086] [Medline: 32652520]



- 28. Tiet MY, AlShaikh N. Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with COVID-19 infection: a case from the UK. BMJ Case Rep 2020 Jul 08;13(7):e236536 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bcr-2020-236536] [Medline: 32641309]
- 29. Bracaglia M, Naldi I, Govoni A, Brillanti Ventura D, De Massis P. Acute inflammatory demyelinating polyneuritis in association with an asymptomatic infection by SARS-CoV-2. J Neurol 2020 Nov;267(11):3166-3168 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-10014-2] [Medline: 32588185]
- Tatu L, Nono S, Grácio S, Koçer S. Guillain-Barré syndrome in the COVID-19 era: another occasional cluster? J Neurol 2021 Apr;268(4):1198-1200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-10005-3] [Medline: 32577868]
- Assini A, Benedetti L, Di Maio S, Schirinzi E, Del Sette M. New clinical manifestation of COVID-19 related Guillain-Barrè syndrome highly responsive to intravenous immunoglobulins: two Italian cases. Neurol Sci 2020 Jul;41(7):1657-1658. [doi: 10.1007/s10072-020-04484-5] [Medline: 32468450]
- 32. Su XW, Palka SV, Rao RR, Chen FS, Brackney CR, Cambi F. SARS-CoV-2-associated Guillain-Barré syndrome with dysautonomia. Muscle Nerve 2020 Aug;62(2):E48-E49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/mus.26988] [Medline: 32445201]
- Colonna S, Sciumé L, Giarda F, Innocenti A, Beretta G, Dalla Costa D. Case report: postacute rehabilitation of Guillain-Barré syndrome and cerebral vasculitis-like pattern accompanied by Sars-CoV-2 infection. Front Neurol 2020 Jan 7;11:602554 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.602554] [Medline: <u>33488499</u>]
- 34. Shirley Ryan AbilityLab. Manual Muscle Test. URL: <u>https://www.sralab.org/rehabilitation-measures/manual-muscle-test</u> [accessed 2022-02-02]
- 35. Physiopedia. Functional Independence Measure (FIM). URL: <u>https://www.physio-pedia.com/</u> <u>Functional_Independence_Measure_(FIM)</u> [accessed 2022-02-02]
- 36. Shirley Ryan AbilityLab. Activities-Specific Balance Confidence Scale. URL: <u>https://www.sralab.org/rehabilitation-measures/</u> activities-specific-balance-confidence-scale [accessed 2022-02-02]
- Tariq SH, Tumosa N, Chibnall JT, Perry MH, Morley JE. Comparison of the Saint Louis University mental status examination and the mini-mental state examination for detecting dementia and mild neurocognitive disorder: a pilot study. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2006 Nov;14(11):900-910. [doi: 10.1097/01.JGP.0000221510.33817.86] [Medline: 17068312]
- National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke. Miller Fisher Syndrome Information Page: What Research Is Being Done?. URL: <u>https://www.ninds.nih.gov/Disorders/All-Disorders/Miller-Fisher-Syndrome-Information-Page</u> [accessed 2022-02-02]

Abbreviations

ACH: acute care hospital **ADL:** activity of daily living AIDP: acute inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy AM-PAC: activity measure for postacute care **BUE:** bilateral upper extremity CAM: controlled ankle motion GBS: Guillain-Barré syndrome **IVIG:** intravenous immunoglobulin LE: lower extremity LLE: left lower extremity LTACH: long-term acute care hospital LUE: left upper extremity **MERS:** Middle East respiratory syndrome MMT: manual muscle testing MRI: magnetic resonance imaging **OT:** occupational therapy PCR: polymerase chain reaction **PT:** physical therapy **RLE:** right lower extremity **RUE:** right upper extremity SLUMS: St. Louis University Mental States **UE:** upper extremity WNL: within normal limits



Edited by L Sheehy; submitted 28.05.21; peer-reviewed by D Costa, P Gazerani; comments to author 13.07.21; revised version received 16.08.21; accepted 11.01.22; published 10.02.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Connors C, McNeill S, Hrdlicka HC Occupational and Physical Therapy Strategies for the Rehabilitation of COVID-19-Related Guillain-Barré Syndrome in the Long-term Acute Care Hospital Setting: Case Report JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e30794 URL: https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e30794 PMID: <u>35023838</u>

©Catherine Connors, Stephanie McNeill, Henry Charles Hrdlicka. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 10.02.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Speech and Language Practitioners' Experiences of Commercially Available Voice-Assisted Technology: Web-Based Survey Study

Pranav Kulkarni^{1*}, MCS; Orla Duffy^{2*}, DPhil; Jonathan Synnott^{3*}, PhD; W George Kernohan^{4*}, PhD; Roisin McNaney^{1*}, PhD

¹Action Lab, Department of Human Centred Computing, Monash University, Clayton, Australia

²School of Health Sciences, Ulster University, Newtonabbey, United Kingdom

³School of Computing Sciences, Ulster University, Newtonabbey, United Kingdom

⁴Institute of Nursing and Health Research, Ulster University, Newtonabbey, United Kingdom

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Pranav Kulkarni, MCS Action Lab Department of Human Centred Computing Monash University 7 Innovation Walk Clayton, 3168 Australia Phone: 61 0444511615 Email: pranav.kulkarni1@monash.edu

Abstract

Background: Speech and language therapy involves the identification, assessment, and treatment of children and adults who have difficulties with communication, eating, drinking, and swallowing. Globally, pressing needs outstrip the availability of qualified practitioners who, of necessity, focus on individuals with advanced needs. The potential of voice-assisted technology (VAT) to assist people with speech impairments is an emerging area of research but empirical work exploring its professional adoption is limited.

Objective: This study aims to explore the professional experiences of speech and language therapists (SaLTs) using VAT with their clients to identify the potential applications and barriers to VAT adoption and thereby inform future directions of research.

Methods: A 23-question survey was distributed to the SaLTs from the United Kingdom using a web-based platform, eliciting both checkbox and free-text responses, to questions on perceptions and any use experiences of VAT. Data were analyzed descriptively with content analysis of free text, providing context to their specific experiences of using VAT in practice, including barriers and opportunities for future use.

Results: A total of 230 UK-based professionals fully completed the survey; most were technologically competent and were aware of commercial VATs (such as *Alexa* and *Google Assistant*). However, only 49 (21.3%) SaLTs had used VAT with their clients and described 57 use cases. They reported using VAT with 10 different client groups, such as people with dysarthria and users of augmentative and alternative communication technologies. Of these, almost half (28/57, 49%) used the technology to assist their clients with day-to-day tasks, such as web browsing, setting up reminders, sending messages, and playing music. Many respondents (21/57, 37%) also reported using the technology to improve client speech, to facilitate speech practice at home, and to enhance articulation and volume. Most reported a positive impact of VAT use, stating improved independence (22/57, 39%), accessibility (6/57, 10%), and confidence (5/57, 8%). Some respondents reported increased client communication (5/57, 9%) and sociability (3/57, 5%). Reasons given for not using VAT in practice included lack of opportunity (131/181, 72.4%) and training (63/181, 34.8%). Most respondents (154/181, 85.1%) indicated that they would like to try VAT in the future, stating that it could have a positive impact on their clients' speech, independence, and confidence.

Conclusions: VAT is used by some UK-based SaLTs to enable communication tasks at home with their clients. However, its wider adoption may be limited by a lack of professional opportunity. Looking forward, additional benefits are promised, as the data show a level of engagement, empowerment, and the possibility of achieving therapeutic outcomes in communication

RenderX

impairment. The disparate responses suggest that this area is ripe for the development of evidence-based clinical practice, starting with a clear definition, outcome measurement, and professional standardization.

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e29249) doi:10.2196/29249

KEYWORDS

speech and language therapy; voice-assisted technology; professional practice; rehabilitation; speech therapy; health technology; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

Speech and language therapy (SLT) is an allied health profession concerned with the assessment, diagnosis, and treatment of a range of both communication and swallowing disorders [1]. Speech and language therapists (SaLTs) support a broad range of people within pediatric and adult services (eg, early language development, learning disabilities, Parkinson disease, stroke, and traumatic brain injury) and work within a wide range of settings (eg, schools, homes, care homes, hospitals, and prisons) [2]. SaLTs are responsible for delivering a range of evidence-based therapeutic interventions to support the clinical needs of their service users, related to improving communicative ability and managing eating, drinking, and swallowing difficulties. The ultimate goal of any therapeutic program is the generalization of principles learned in the clinical context to a person's everyday life [3]. Despite providing a core service within rehabilitative and long-term care-particularly in acquired or degenerative neurological conditions-SLT, similar to many other services, has been affected by funding cuts. A survey by the Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists (RCSLT) suggests that over 80% of services in the National Health Service (NHS) face reduced staffing, narrowing scope of services and, in 8% of the services, abolishment of services altogether [4].

There is a potential for appropriate technology-based solutions to assist in reducing the burden on staff and widening access to care services. One of the key areas where technology has impacted SLT has been in the development of augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) devices. AAC is a term used to describe various methods of aided communication, including nonverbal strategies such as gestures or body language, the use of picture books or communication charts, or a range of different technologies that can act as a substitute vocal communication aid [5]. The types of technologies used for AAC are diverse with varying complexities-from equipment with simple text to speech functions, picture-based buttons that relay messages when pressed, to eye gaze technology for those who are physically unable to physically interact with a system. The development of AAC apps [6-8] that can be downloaded from commercial app platforms and installed on personal mobile devices has seen a recent rise in popularity, with the purpose of bringing the benefits of AAC to a wider range of individuals by reducing the associated costs.

Although AAC is a well-established field with clinically proven benefits, researchers have also been investigating other areas of technology innovation within the field of SLT, particularly those that exploit the benefits of low-cost, off-the-shelf

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e29249
```

consumer technology. For example, research has explored the role of technology in supporting SLT for people with aphasia-a communication difficulty affecting the expression or comprehension of spoken and written language [9-15]. One study explored an approach toward making paper-based resources, such as worksheets, stickers, and photographs more interactive by enabling therapists to customize content with personally meaningful and useful audio clips [11]. Another study developed a context-aware system that provided the user with relevant word lists to select from, depending on their location [15]. Similarly, Williams et al [13] explored the potential for providing in situ support for the access of vocabulary during conversation, using head-mounted wearable technologies, such as Google Glass, and wrist-mounted touchpads for easy navigation. In another study, Google Glass was used to provide volume training for people with Parkinson disease [16], providing real-time feedback on the users' speech volume by indicating that a predefined target was achieved. The participants provided positive feedback and described the benefits of the voice interaction functionality for technology access. These studies highlight the potential of technology-assisted SLT to address client needs cost-effectively.

Voice-Assisted Technology

Voice assistants are software applications (eg, Siri [17], Google Assistant [18], and Amazon Alexa [19]), which have become increasingly popular in smartphones, computers, tablets, and purpose-built speakers. They can interpret human speech and allow interaction with the technology through spoken commands, allowing users to complete a variety of tasks such as setting alarms, searching for information on the web, playing music, providing weather updates, and telling the time. These devices allow infinite attempts for the user to practice their speech and commands and will actively acknowledge if it has misunderstood the attempt, which can be a prompt to modify speech.

Recent figures show that almost 29% of the population in the United Kingdom [20] has access to a smart speaker. Another report suggests that the COVID-19 lockdown has increased interaction with voice assistants in the United Kingdom [21]. As such, the popularity of these devices is growing and they are being widely accepted. Similar smart speaker ownership has also been recorded in other countries, such as Australia [22] and the United States [23]. The older adult population (aged \geq 60 years) accounts for approximately 20% of smart speaker ownership, with almost 60% of these consumers using the device every day [24]. The technology offers hands-free access and naturalistic voice interaction, a beneficial means of interacting with the device for those with physical disabilities or lower levels of technology literacy [25]. These features have motivated

XSL•FO RenderX research in the health care sector, and recent years have seen an emergence in research that explores the use of voice-assisted technology (VAT) to support people within these demographics.

Several studies have explored how diverse populations such as older adults [26], people with visual and physical disabilities [27-30], and people with speech impairments [31-33] use and interact with VAT. One study exploring the experiences of older adults' use of Alexa reported positive first interactions when using the device, owing to the simplicity of speech-based communication, but highlighted the need for better device training and the privacy, security, and financial concerns raised by the participants [26]. Studies exploring the experiences of people with disabilities [27,28] and health concerns [27] more broadly have also focused their attention on Alexa as a VAT of interest, with retrospective qualitative analyses being conducted on a significant number of consumer reviews of Alexa-enabled smart speakers on Amazon. These studies have demonstrated increased independence and empowerment when using the device. Although not the primary focus of their analysis, Pradhan et al [28] also explicitly described successful use in many cases of customers who had reported speech difficulties.

One recent study explicitly focused on VAT use among people with speech impairments. A survey conducted on 290 people with Parkinson disease (78% of whom were assessed to have mild to moderate speech impairment) explored their access and use of VAT, including whether they had noticed any changes to their speech because of using the device [32]. The authors found that as many as 25% of the participants reporting changes to their speech had noticed improvement, indicating a clear potential direction for future work exploring VAT as a tool to support outcomes relevant to SLT. Participants in this study, who were primarily in the range 65-74 years, also had high levels of success when using VATs (most used the device regularly and rarely had to repeat themselves), a finding further echoed by McNaney et al [29]. Further studies have investigated the success rates of different VATs (Cortana, Microsoft Inc; Alexa; and Siri) for people with dysarthria (a group of neurological speech disorders affecting intelligibility), finding recognition accuracy in the range of 50%-60% with single prerecorded samples [33]. They did not report on the severity or etiology of the speakers' dysarthria; however, the study was not conducted with live speakers in naturalistic settings, which would be required to accurately draw conclusions about how successful dysarthric users may be in voice interface interactions. Another study explored how the application of adaptive voice recognition (ie, systems that learn the user's voice over a series of sessions) could have promise for improving the accessibility of VAT for users with speech difficulties [31].

Therefore, although research into the space of VAT for people with impaired speech is emerging, most studies have focused on the end users' perceptions and how the device is used *out of the box*. To the best of our knowledge, there has been no previous work exploring the perceptions of VAT by SaLTs and its use in clinical practice.

Study Aims

The primary aim of this study is to gather a preliminary overview of how SaLTs and their clients have been using VAT. We wanted to understand the potential opportunities and challenges of VAT use from SaLTs' perspectives and gather an understanding of current use cases within SLT practice, whether this be directed by their client or explicitly used by therapists for clinical reasons. We aim to answer the following research questions: (1) If SaLTs have used VAT with their clients, what was their experience of its use? (2) If VAT was not being used currently, what were the possible reasons for this? (3) What are the perceived benefits, risks, and barriers to using VAT in SLT?

By addressing these questions, we aim to provide a foundation for future research, which will explore how VAT might be used in clinical practice, the types of clients it might be useful for, and the types of activities that clinicians might perform with VAT to support therapeutic delivery.

Methods

Survey Design

We developed a survey to gather the experiences of the SaLTs from the United Kingdom about how they and their clients had been using VATs to support their clinical needs and to understand the possible barriers and opportunities toward the future use of VATs in clinical practice. A draft survey was pilot-tested with 3 academic staff members at Ulster University and 2 SaLTs, with minor amendments to improve the clarity and flow of the questions based on their feedback.

The finalized version consisted of 23 questions (please note that participants were not required to respond to every question) and consisted of three sections:

- 1. Demographics, such as age, job title, years of experience, and clinical caseloads.
- 2. Digital skills assessment: this was adapted from The Tech Partnership's Basic Digital Skills framework (reuse permission was granted) [34]. The assessment provided statements describing 11 digital tasks spanning areas, including managing information, communicating, transacting, problem solving, and creating. For example, a *managing information* digital skill is *find a website I have visited before*. For each of the 11 statements, respondents were asked to indicate whether they could or could not complete the digital task described in the statement.
- 3. VAT familiarity, use, and the participants' opinions on the potential barriers, benefits, and impacts of using VAT to support client's needs in their clinical practice.

The survey questions were designed to obtain both quantitative and qualitative insights from the participants using a mix of checkbox and free-text questions. It was developed and distributed using Qualtrics, a web-based survey tool [35]. Figure 1 shows a breakdown of the questions asked during the survey.

XSL•FC

Figure 1. Survey flow diagram: starting at the top left, the diagram shows elements of the survey with skip logic to avoid irrelevant directions of questioning (the number of respondents to each element have been provided). SLT: speech and language therapy; VAT: voice-assisted technology.



Study Ethics, Population, and Recruitment

The study was peer-reviewed, and ethical approval was obtained from the Ulster University Institutional Research ethics committee. The web-based survey was distributed to members of the RCSLT by advertising on their social media platforms (Facebook and Twitter) in January 2019. Following the social media recruitment phase, 111 clinical excellence networks in RCSLT were contacted in February 2019, and the survey was disseminated through their membership using a snowball sampling technique. Details of the study were presented on the welcome page of the survey, including information about the purpose of the study, the length of time required to complete it, data storage, and anonymity. The participants were informed that consent was provided through the completion of the survey.

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e29249
```

RenderX

The intended sample size was based on the number required to obtain 90% confidence with -5% to +5% margin of error in estimating proportions: the exact calculation was a sample size of 289.

Data Analysis

As the survey consisted of both checkbox and free-text responses, the study used a mixed methods approach for analysis. For each checkbox question, the total number of participants responding to each possible option (ie, count) was collected and the percentage (of overall respondents to that question) was provided. Summative content analysis [36] was used for qualitative free-text responses [37]. The responses from each free-text question were collated and analyzed separately by 2 researchers to identify the themes. Any disagreements were

resolved through discussion until a decision was made on the final set of themes. The themes were summarized, with several responses relating to each theme available for the analysis.

Results

Overview

The survey received responses from 261 respondents. Partially completed survey responses (31/261, 11.9%) were excluded, as ethically we only considered participants who completed the survey as fully consenting to the study. This left 230 fully completed surveys for the analysis. Most of the respondents (223/230, 96.9%) were women, with a large proportion (102/230, 44.3%) aged <35 years; 64 (27.8%) respondents were aged between 35 and 44 years, 41 (17.8%) respondents were aged between 45 and 54 years, and the remaining 23 (10%) respondents were aged >55 years.

Professional Experience Demographics

Most of the respondents (227/230, 98.7%) were practicing SaLTs, with varying years of experience in the field. Very few respondents (3/230, 1.3%) worked in academia, in research, and teaching. They reported a mean work experience of 13 years (SD 9.45 years). The majority (184/230, 80%) worked for the UK NHS: half of this population (92/184, 50%) were early career practitioners working in NHS bands 5 and 6, whereas the other half (92/184, 50%) were more experienced practitioners working in NHS bands 7 and above. The rest (46/230, 20%) did not work for the NHS. The respondents worked across a wide range of clinical caseloads (Table 1).

Some participants (27/230, 11.7%) reported *other* caseloads in the form of a free-text response, including social, emotional, and mental health (8/230, 3.5%); head and neck cancer (8/230, 3.5%); early language development (7/230, 3%); selective mutism (2/230, 0.9%); and general research (2/230, 0.9%).

 Table 1. Reported clinical caseloads (N=230).

| Caseload | Count, n (%) |
|--|--------------|
| Dysphagia (swallowing difficulty) | 103 (44.8) |
| Augmentative and alternative communication | 100 (43.5) |
| Acquired communication disorders | 90 (39.1) |
| Learning disabilities | 90 (39.1) |
| Autistic spectrum disorder | 87 (37.8) |
| Progressive neurological conditions | 70 (30.4) |
| Developmental language disorders | 69 (30) |
| Speech sound disorders | 67 (29.1) |
| Dementia | 57 (24.8) |
| Dysfluency | 47 (20.4) |
| Voice | 34 (14.8) |
| Deafness | 24 (10.4) |
| Cleft lip and palate | 18 (7.8) |
| Others | 27 (11.7) |

Digital Skills

An adapted version of the digital skills questionnaire [34] was included in the survey. This consisted of 11 statements describing a range of digital skills. These skills ranged from using a search engine to look for information on the web to creating something new from existing web-based images, music, or videos. For each statement, respondents were asked to indicate whether they could or could not perform the technology-related activity the statement referred to, with the purpose of gauging the digital competence of the respondents. More than 95.7% (220/230) of the participants possessed 9 out of the 11 skills. The highest rated skills (229/230, 99.6%) were the following: using a search engine to look for information online, download a photo you found online, find a website you have visited before, send a personal message to another person via email or online messaging service, buy items or services from a website, and complete online application forms which

include personal details. The skill *create something new from existing online images, music, or video* had the lowest number of participants indicating they could complete it (179/230, 77.8%).

VAT Awareness and Use

Alexa was the most common VAT that the participants had heard of (229/230, 99.6%), followed closely by Siri (226/230, 98.3%) and Google Assistant (201/230, 87.4%). Most of the participants (181/230, 78.6%) had not used VAT with their SLT clients but 92.7% (166/181) of these indicated that they would like to use it in the future. Most participants (198/230, 86.1%) also indicated that they would benefit from training using VAT with their SLT clients. Of these 198 participants, 167 (84.3%) participants provided additional information about their training needs, with many participants (97/167, 58.1%) discussing a need for general information and awareness training, some participants (25/167, 15%) wanting structured information about

using VAT with specific user groups and specific activities that could be conducted with the VAT, and few participants (9/167, 5.4%) interested in learning about how the technology is being used in the SLT community through real-world examples and

in understanding the technical aspects of VATs and how they could improve the intelligibility of speech (6/167, 3.6%).

Participants who responded that they had never used VAT with their SLT clients were asked to provide the possible reasons for this (Table 2).

Table 2. Reasons for not using voice-assisted technology (N=181).

| Reason | Count, n (%) |
|--|--------------|
| I have never had the opportunity to use it | 131 (72.4) |
| I have not had any training | 63 (34.8) |
| I do not know what technology is available | 62 (34.2) |
| Technology is too expensive | 32 (17.7) |
| I do not think there would be any benefit from speech and language therapy | 20 (11) |
| Technology is too complicated | 16 (8.8) |
| I am not interested in using technology | 5 (2.8) |
| Other (please specify) | 31 (17.1) |

Other reasons were provided as free-text responses. These were mainly centered on barriers to accessing these types of technologies within the current digital infrastructure of the work environment (23/181, 12.7%), for example, "NHS IT puts up too many barriers to using with patients," "Poor Wi-Fi in NHS premises," and "lack of availability of up-to-date technology in my workplace." Other reasons identified were reluctance to use technology by their clients (6/181, 3.3%) and privacy concerns (2/181, 1.1%). A small number of participants indicated that they had not used and would never want to use VAT with their SLT clients in the future (15/230, 6.5%).

Barriers to Using VAT

The entire cohort of the survey participants (N=230) was invited to provide free-text qualitative responses around what they perceived might be the potential barriers to using VAT in therapy. A total of 208 (90.4%) respondents provided further information.

Over half of these respondents (105/208, 50.5%) had concerns about the devices' ability to understand SLT clients' speech, which they felt could be demotivating: "If a client's speech is too unclear they may receive negative feedback which would be disheartening and may lead to low self-esteem" and "Accents, speech sound errors not recognised by a computer but would be recognisable to humans. Can negatively impact confidence." Very few respondents (3/208, 1.4%) also stated that device use could reinforce incorrect speech or pronunciation, which was a genuine concern. One participant stated, "Sometimes there are subtleties to speech which we are working on *e.g.* lateralization. They could be understood by Alexa/Siri which may reinforce incorrect productions."

Some of the respondents (56/208, 26.9%) mentioned the lack of technical skills and/or the ability to use the devices by them and their clients as barriers. They provided examples such as "My lack of technological knowledge, time in what is a very time-intensive area in terms of assessing, researching, liaison, implementation and monitoring" and "Inherent difficulties with technology - things not being plugged in correctly, set up

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e29249
```

correctly or carers not having sufficient skill to rectify any issues as they arise." Similarly, psychological barriers were also identified by a few respondents (29/208, 13.9%). Older clients were considered potentially unwilling to use the technology because of unfamiliarity or being *scared* of technology use: "Older patients tend to be more resistant to using/learning new technology" and "Tech knowledge and confidence of service users and/or their supporters. Resistance to the concept of tech in some clients." A few respondents (8/208, 3.8%) mentioned that learning trigger words could be challenging, stating:

The models available at the moment require very specific multi-word trigger phrases which lots of people with LD (learning disability) wouldn't be able to get right every time. Could lead to frustration if you need to repeat the phrase because it wasn't picked up originally.

Another barrier that many respondents (73/208, 35.1%) identified was the cost and availability of the devices for therapy, providing examples such as "Expensive for NHS and patients to purchase" and "Access - often elderly patients may not have suitable equipment/devices." A few respondents (30/208, 14.4%) also mentioned that setting up the infrastructure to support the devices could be challenging. Information technology support, internet, troubleshooting, and maintenance were some of the infrastructural challenges mentioned: "IT systems in Local Authorities and NHS. Poor internet speeds in rural areas" and "Resources, information governance, need to be appropriately used and managed." Other respondents (11/208, 5.3%) had privacy and security concerns, which were seen to be a potential barrier to VAT use: "Some people refuse Alexa because they don't want to feel 'big brother' is watching them all the time" and "believing that the device owner (E.g. Google/Amazon) are collecting and saving your data."

Privacy and Security Concerns

We further explored possible privacy, security, and confidentiality concerns with all participants by asking them to rate their level of concern: not concerned (75/230, 32.6%),

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

slightly concerned (132/230, 57.4%), or very concerned (23/230, 10%). Participants were then asked to provide free-text responses highlighting any concerns they might have (102/230, 44.3% provided additional information).

Many respondents (38/102, 37.2%) discussed the *always on* nature of VAT and the fact that these devices are *always listening*:

I would be concerned that the microphone seems to be always listening to all conversations, therefore impacting on privacy.

There are still reports of voice assistants being used as eavesdroppers, compiling information on users etc. I personally wouldn't have one in the house but can see use for people if they are happy to take that risk.

Other respondents (21/102, 20.6%) were concerned about who had access to the data, especially considering these are commercial devices with data being collected and stored by large-scale technology companies: "It is unclear how that data is used, who has access to it and/or can purchase it." Some respondents (12/102, 11.8%) were also concerned about data use, stating, "Use of voice data is not clearly articulated by companies such as Amazon and Google." This was further elaborated, with 8.8% (9/102) of the respondents stating their concern over targeted advertisements: "They're always listening and then provide tailored adverts." In a similar sense, several respondents (21/102, 20.6%) were concerned about data storage and security: "VAT can make anyone vulnerable to leaks of personal information so an added difficulty in communicating could increase that person's vulnerability if not managed appropriately."

Regulatory and General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) issues were also discussed (8/102, 7.8%):

I am concerned that organisations will put hurdles in the way which would prevent people benefiting from voice assisted technology. For example, being told that a device can't be purchased or used due to GDPR etc.

Finally, some respondents (5/102, 4.9%) expressed their concerns over unsupervised access and accidental purchases

using the devices: "children accessing internet with devices potentially unsupervised" and "buying products or apps without awareness."

Experiences of Using VAT in Clinical Practice

Overview

A total of 49 respondents reported that they had used VAT with their clients. These respondents were asked a set of free-text questions to gather details about their experiences. They were explicitly asked the following three questions:

- 1. Please provide some detail about your experience of using VAT for SLT. Please describe the types of service user you have used VAT with.
- 2. Please provide some detail about how you used VAT with service users.
- 3. What was the impact of using VAT with service users?

A total of 57 cases were discussed by the respondents, as some reported multiple use cases. There were 10 major client groups across adult and pediatric services that were discussed (Tables 3 and 4). Almost half of the respondents (28/57, 49%) had used the technology to support day-to-day tasks, such as setting reminders, playing music, and sending emails and text messages. Many respondents (21/57, 37%) reported using VAT specifically for SLT practice (ie, using it to support the training of explicit SLT strategies with their clients). Others reported using the devices for speech to text functionality (9/57, 16%), environment control (9/57, 16%), and to set up an AAC device (2/57, 3%). A handful of respondents also reported using it as a motivational tool for therapy (3/57, 5%), a tool for routine formation (1/57, 2%).

In terms of the impact of VAT use, the respondents reported a multitude of positive impacts. They reported increased client independence (22/57, 39%), accessibility (6/57, 10%), and confidence (5/57, 9%). Some respondents discussed the impact on their clients' speech. They mentioned that their clients received feedback on their speech (9/57, 16%) and reported increased client communication (5/57, 9%) and sociability (3/57, 5%). A full breakdown of the findings is presented in Tables 3 and 4. We then contextualized and drew out the respondents' experiences further through a narrative description of the data.



| Client group example and main use cases | Respondents, n (%) |
|---|--------------------|
| Dysarthria (n=18) | |
| SLT ^a practice | 10 (55) |
| Day-to-day tasks | 5 (28) |
| Environment control | 5 (28) |
| Speech to text | 2 (11) |
| Augmentative and alternative communication (n=15) | |
| Day-to-day tasks | 10 (67) |
| Environment control | 4 (27) |
| Augmentative and alternative communication setup | 2 (15) |
| Motivation tool | 1 (7) |
| Aphasia (n=7) | |
| Speech to text | 4 (57) |
| SLT practice | 3 (43) |
| Day-to-day tasks | 2 (28) |
| Learning disability (n=5) | |
| Day-to-day tasks | 4 (80) |
| SLT practice | 3 (60) |
| Mainstream school setting (n=3) | |
| Day-to-day tasks | 3 (100) |
| Motivation tool | 2 (67) |
| Speech to text | 1 (33) |
| SLT practice | 1 (33) |
| Traumatic brain injury (n=3) | |
| Day-to-day tasks | 3 (100) |
| SLT practice | 1 (33) |
| Apraxia (n=2) | |
| SLT practice | 2 (100) |
| Speech to text | 2 (100) |
| Cognitive communication disorder (n=2) | |
| SLT practice | 1 (50) |
| Routine formation | 1 (50) |
| Dementia (n=1) | |
| Day-to-day tasks | 1 (100) |
| English as a second language (n=1) | |
| Translation tool | 1 (100) |

^aSLT: speech and language therapy.



 Table 4. Impact of using voice-assisted technology.

| Client group example and reported impacts | Respondents, n (%) | | |
|--|--------------------|--|--|
| Dysarthria (n=18) | | | |
| Increased independence | 9 (50) | | |
| Feedback on speech | 6 (33) | | |
| Increased engagement as technology is an everyday device | 3 (17) | | |
| Increased speed of task | 2 (11) | | |
| Increased quality of life | 1 (5) | | |
| Increased accessibility | 1 (5) | | |
| Augmentative and alternative communication (n=15) | | | |
| Increased engagement as technology is an everyday device | 7 (47) | | |
| Increased independence | 5 (33) | | |
| Increased accessibility | 3 (20) | | |
| Increased quality of life | 2 (13) | | |
| Increased communication | 2 (13) | | |
| Increased sociability | 1 (8) | | |
| Aphasia (n=7) | | | |
| Increased independence | 3 (43) | | |
| Feedback on speech | 2 (29) | | |
| Functional writing | 1 (14) | | |
| Increased sociability | 1 (14) | | |
| Increased confidence | 1 (14) | | |
| Learning disability (n=5) | | | |
| Improved communication | 3 (60) | | |
| Increased confidence | 2 (40) | | |
| Increased independence | 1 (20) | | |
| Increased engagement | 1 (20) | | |
| Mainstream school setting (n=3) | | | |
| Increased engagement as technology is an everyday device | 2 (67) | | |
| Increased confidence | 1 (33) | | |
| Traumatic brain injury (n=3) | | | |
| Increased independence | 2 (67) | | |
| Increased accessibility | 2 (67) | | |
| Increased confidence | 1 (33) | | |
| Apraxia (n=2) | | | |
| Increased independence | 1 (50) | | |
| Increased sociability | 1 (50) | | |
| Feedback on speech | 1 (50) | | |
| Cognitive communication disorder (n=2) | | | |
| Increased independence | 1 (50) | | |
| Increased engagement as technology is an everyday device | 1 (50) | | |
| Increased independence | 1 (50) | | |
| Dementia (n=1) | | | |
| Increased independence and sociability | 1 (100) | | |

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e29249

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022 | vol. 9 | iss. 1 |e29249 | p.159 (page number not for citation purposes) Client group example and reported impacts

English as a second language (n=1)

Improved communication with English as a second language student and time saving (as no need for a translator) 1 (100)

Dysarthria

Of the described use cases, dysarthria was the most common, with 18 therapists reporting using a range of VATs with their dysarthric clients. Dysarthria is a motor speech impairment caused by weakening or paralysis of the muscles used to produce speech. It often presents as slow or slurred speech, which can be difficult to understand. The therapists primarily discussed using VATs to support speech practice as a way to provide biofeedback to the client on their speech clarity. For example, 1 therapist described how a client "uses it to practice speaking with strategies to make her speech clearer because if Alexa understands her, she knows she is doing well"; another's client "uses it to monitor volume and intelligibility and finds it objectively helpful." One therapist discussed how their client had actively "identified the goal of being understood by Siri" as an outcome measure for their therapy. This process of enhancing the clients' practice of speech and the ability to give clients continuous feedback on their speech was seen as particularly beneficial for this user group.

Several therapists also explicitly described working with dysarthric patients with specific neurological conditions such as Parkinson disease ("speech therapy to improve accuracy of speech to text recognition software"), multiple sclerosis ("used an Alexa which was used as a switch device to control items in his environment e.g. curtains, fan...increased independence and reduced frustration"), and motor neuron disease ("sending text messages, memos, calendar, email, web search...it kept the patients using their phones and felt less medical- minimal training required"). The day-to-day functional outputs provided by VAT devices (eg, using speech to text to write memos, searching for web-based information, and writing shopping lists) and the ability to support those with comorbid physical impairments (eg, because of a neurological condition or paralysis post stroke) by enhancing their ability to control the environment were frequently outlined by the therapists as improving the independence of individuals within this client group.

Augmentative and Alternative Communication

The second most discussed use cases that were provided centered on AAC users. A total of 15 therapists described using VATs in varying degrees with this client group. AAC refers to any communication method used to supplement or replace spoken or written speech production; however, in our case, therapists explicitly discussed digital AAC devices. Most use cases discussed how the therapists had helped their clients set up their voice output devices to provide commands, primarily to Alexa, thereby allowing their clients to access the functionalities of VATs through a computerized voice. This enabled their clients to complete everyday tasks, such as searching for information on the web or listening to music as well as to control their environments. For example, 1 therapist described it as follows:

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e29249
```

enabled voice output devices to liaise with voice assisted technology to enable control and information gathering and sharing, e.g. with Nest to control heating; used with shopping apps like Amazon; request information about news, local events; to access leisure activities like music, television, Netflix...many many ways.

The therapist described how using the technology in this way "facilitated great independence [and] facilitated and maintained social contacts." Several therapists (n=3) also discussed nonverbal clients who were users of AAC devices controlled through eye gaze. One therapist described setting up *pages* on a client's device (ie, a visual page of icons or images on the device that the user can activate using eye gaze and blinking):

so that they can use Alexa to play music, or activate a disco ball (favourite toy)...enabled a little girl with progressive muscle weakness to control music and toys after losing hand function. Did this using mainstream technology [Alexa] that her parents were confident with and found acceptable and exciting to use.

Therapists describing use cases in this theme were very positive about the impacts of VAT on their clients' lives, describing how it had "greatly improved their quality of life in all situations" and had led to improvements in the clients' independence and confidence. There were also many comments stating that clients were motivated to engage with the technology as it was an everyday device: "users love it as it's not a 'disability device'it is something everybody is using."

Aphasia

Seven of the therapists described using VAT with clients with aphasia (a disorder affecting the ability to produce and comprehend spoken and written language). Primarily, it was used for its speech to text functionality to support written communication. One therapist described it as follows:

We used voice assisted tech for Google searching, writing emails and texts and writing stories...many of the reported increased confidence and self-esteem...Some of the people in the clinic even managed to get back into work as a result.

However, several therapists also described using it as a tool to facilitate spoken language tasks. For example, 1 therapist used it to "practice spoken language in a 'real life' setting and also [to support] comprehension (e.g. playing games with Alexa skills where they listen to instructions and then give verbal commands)" and another described its use at helping clients "generate clear and accurate sentences, format questions without hesitancy and learn how to phrase to get the best results."

JMIR REHABILITATION AND ASSISTIVE TECHNOLOGIES

Respondents, n (%)

Learning Disability

Therapists working with people with learning disabilities (n=5) mainly discussed using VAT as a tool to support day-to-day tasks, such as playing music or searching for things on the web: "Alexa or Siri to enable music to be played or to search the web, used mainly with individuals with mild to moderate learning disabilities," which was seen to be "very positive, provides control/independence, boosts confidence and gives further topic conversation with staff/family [as well as] increasing awareness of [their] own speech and how this is interpreted by others/Alexa." Therapists also discussed using the device to specifically target language tasks such as phrase construction, supporting joint attention with a carer, and training conceptual understanding of cause and effect. One therapist described a specific activity that they had designed to use with Google Assistant: "service user makes a request 'moo', carer says 'OK Google, play the sound of a cow'. Other farm animals and vehicles were also used."

Mainstream School Setting

Similarly, within the mainstream school setting (ie, where therapists might have worked with children who had milder speech and language impairments or delays), we had 3 therapists using VAT primarily to keep the children engaged "as a motivation tool...students were more engaged as the technology is more relevant to their lives." One therapist described using the technology creatively to "ask Alexa to make silly noises or to tell us a joke during classroom-based sessions" but it was mainly described as being used to search for things on the web or to play music:

It's been incredible. The instant gratification has meant the children keep going back to use it. We had to get the school to buy an amazon music subscription.

Traumatic Brain Injury

Three therapists had used VAT with clients with traumatic or acquired brain injury, which is caused by sudden trauma in the brain (eg, from a sports injury or car crash). This type of injury can cause a range of issues that might be supported by an SLT, relating to an individual's speech, language, writing, social communication, behavior, attention, planning, learning, and swallowing. All of the therapists were using VAT to support day-to-day activities, such as *turning on the radio, making phone calls, checking the weather, setting reminders, and calling* and reported improvements to confidence, independence, and access to technology. One therapist also used it to support *verbal reasoning/problem solving* by asking the client to find out and respond to information by using the device.

Apraxia

Similar to dysarthria, apraxia of speech can cause issues with speech intelligibility. Although both are motor speech disorders, apraxia is more concerned with the planning, sequencing, and coordination of speech production. Two therapists had used VAT (Alexa and Siri) to support speech therapy practice, in particular, "to provide biofeedback on how intelligible the clients' speech is." One therapist described it as follows: "Direct work on improving apraxia of speech, word production accuracy and improving impairment." The technology's ability to respond

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e29249
```

correctly to verbal commands was seen as a valuable way to enable clients to practice clear speech at home with measurable outcomes. Both therapists also used speech to text functions to enable their clients to create written notes, messages, and emails.

Cognitive Communication Disorder

There were 2 respondents who discussed use cases with clients experiencing cognitive communication disorders, which can cause difficulties in remembering information, staying on topic, and maintaining attention. One respondent used interaction with Alexa to support *generating clear and articulate sentence, formatting questions without hesitancy and learning how to phrase to get the best result* and the other respondent used it *as a way of helping them with their routines*, that is, *Alexa, tell me my schedule for today.* In this second case, the therapist noted how engagement with Alexa was seen to be particularly beneficial as "it is not a 'disability' device, it is something everybody is using."

Dementia

Remaining within the space of cognitive impairment, there was one example of a therapist who had used Alexa with *patients with different types of dementia as a tool to organize diaries, timetabling, reminders, shopping lists, music, and Alexa to Alexa calls to family.* Although they reported "varying success due to personal preference, but also the trigger word Alexa can sometimes be difficult to remember," they reported that the technology could be used successfully if individuals were supported, and the use of the device was modeled effectively. This therapist described "it can make a positive difference to them, maintaining independence, keeping in contact with people and for quality of life."

English as a Second Language

Finally, 1 therapist described using Google translator to support a case history taking exercise with a family with limited English (as the translator had failed to arrive in time), so they had *the option of understanding in their home language*. They said, "I was able to complete a case history and save time by not having to re-book the assessment. The parents were very happy." Although this example was not directly related to patient outcomes, it was a broader example of how this type of technology might be able to support the therapists themselves in their professional activities.

Reported Limitations

It is worth noting that although the reported use cases were vastly positive across the therapists, there were some instances where therapists discussed limitations with the technology (n=3). One therapist discussed how a client with Parkinson disease had "improved speed of task. However, fatigue impacted." Another, discussing a wheelchair user with traumatic brain injury, had variable success: "useful but needs clear speech which is sometimes not clear enough." Finally, 1 therapist discussed how 1 aphasic client they had been using Alexa with had "found it slightly useful but the quality of his wifi connection was poor and this impacted how well it worked for him."

Perceived Potential Benefits of VAT for the Wider SLT Community

We asked all 230 respondents, regardless of whether they had reported experiences of using VATs in their practice, whether they felt there were any possible (perceived) benefits of using VAT with their SLT clients. Although many participants remained unsure (potentially because of a lack of experience and training), the majority either agreed or strongly agreed that VAT could have a positive impact on their clients' speech and confidence (Table 5).

| Table 5. Respondents | views on the potential im | pact of voice-assisted | technology for their | clients (N=230). |
|----------------------|---------------------------|------------------------|----------------------|------------------|
|----------------------|---------------------------|------------------------|----------------------|------------------|

| Statement | 0 (strongly disagree) | 1 (disagree) | 2 (maybe, but I'm not sure) | 3 (agree) | 4 (strongly agree) |
|---|-----------------------|--------------|-----------------------------|------------|--------------------|
| These technologies could have some impact on patients' speech, n (%) | 2 (0.9) | 12 (5.2) | 90 (39.1) | 99 (43) | 27 (11.7) |
| These technologies could help patients speak louder, n (%) | 0 (0) | 11 (4.8) | 99 (43) | 92 (40) | 28 (12.2) |
| These technologies could help patients speak more clearly, n (%) | 1 (0.4) | 23 (10) | 97 (42.2) | 88 (38.3) | 21 (9.1) |
| These technologies could increase patients' confidence in their speech, n (%) | 0 (0) | 9 (3.9) | 86 (37.4) | 112 (48.7) | 23 (10) |

The respondents were asked to describe any other potential benefits that VAT could have on their clients; 175 (76.1%) of the 230 respondents provided additional information via free-text responses. Similar to the therapists who had experience using the technology, accessibility and independence, psychological benefits, and speech improvement were the major themes identified.

Many respondents (51/175, 29.1%) believed that VATs would enhance accessibility for their clients and give them more control over their environment. They provided examples, such as "It could help clients access online services, environmental controls and communication platforms to communicate face to face with others e.g. skype/facetime" and "It would also be beneficial if they were to have physical conditions which restrict their ability to stand to turn the TV/radio on." Many respondents (35/175, 20%) explicitly stated that the technology would make their clients more independent. For example, 1 respondent stated, "It can help someone to be more independent and not rely on another person to meet their requests." Improving their clients' organizational skills, by setting up reminders or diaries easily, was also identified as a benefit by some respondents (16/175, 9.1%). They provided examples, such as "I think they could be used for prompts to remember to do things. Easier for people to be able to access information" and "Most of my patients have cognitive impairments as well as communication impairments - these technologies have the potential to be very helpful to someone with poor memory and orientation."

Several respondents focused on the psychological benefits that VATs could have. Some respondents (19/175, 10.8%) stated that the devices provided a sense of normality and were not therapy devices, as they were something that everyone used. This reduced stigma and encouraged the clients to use the devices: "As the technology is mainstream, as is technology generally, it is more socially acceptable and less different and isolating for AAC users now than it has been in the past." A few respondents (18/175, 10.3%) also mentioned the enjoyment and motivation effect of these devices, stating "Enjoyment and expansion of communication for clients that are non-verbal. It provides a sense of freedom outside of the structured AAC device." Some respondents (11/175, 6.3%) also believed that

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e29249
```

the devices could enhance their clients' communication and community engagement. They provided examples, such as *improved ability to communicate with others* and *communication at home/between family members/engaging more with the younger generation.*

Many respondents stated that the devices can have a direct impact on the speech of their clients. A few respondents (18/175, 10.3%) stated that using the devices could make speech more intelligible and clearer, by providing examples, such as "Encourages increased volume/clarity of speech" and "Enables users with degenerative conditions to maintain their voice for as long as possible." Other respondents (19/175, 10.8%) mentioned how these devices could provide feedback on their clients' speech and increase their self-awareness:

Impartial feedback from a non-human. If they haven't used speech sounds correctly then it's not a family member telling them. Enhances their own awareness of their intelligibility.

Awareness of the need to speak more clearly to be understood, feedback on intelligibility.

Finally, several others (15/175, 8.6%) stated how the devices could be used for home practice by their clients and provided examples, such as "Good for those who are socially isolated to practice speech" and "More inclined to practise at home where nobody else can hear them."

Discussion

Principal Findings

Overview

The aim of this survey is to understand the attitudes and experiences of SaLTs toward VAT use. Specifically, we wanted to (1) develop an understanding of their use experiences (if any) and any potential benefits they might see in using the technology in the future and (2) understand their reasons for not using the technology and uncover any potential barriers that could be addressed in the future (eg, training needs). There has been no previous study on how VAT was used in SLT clinical practice, or indeed clinical practice, among other health professions. As

Kulkarni et al

such, the aim of this work is to gather a preliminary scoping overview of how SaLTs and their clients are currently using VAT. Our study findings will shape the future areas of research and identify potential clinical use cases that can be further developed.

Overall, 96.9% (223/230) of the respondents were women, which is unsurprising given that SLT is largely a female-dominated profession [38,39]. The respondents mostly worked within the UK NHS, with an even balance of early career and experienced practitioners. They demonstrated caseloads with service users possessing a diverse range of communication and swallowing needs. This indicates that the survey results expressed the views and experiences of a representative sample of SLT intervention areas. The respondents were very familiar with commercial VATs, with over 98.3% (226/230) having heard of Alexa and Siri. We found that over 21.3% (49/230) of our sample had already used VATs with a variety of different client groups and had a range of experiences to share.

Opportunities for VAT in SLT Practice

The therapists had already used VATs across 10 different client groups and provided detailed accounts of their use experiences and impacts. Almost half of these use cases involved using VAT to assist with day-to-day tasks, such as setting reminders, playing music, or sending electronic communications (emails and text messages) or controlling aspects of the clients' environment. Several previous studies have discussed the accessibility benefits of VAT for different populations (such as older adults and people with sensory or physical disabilities) by assisting them with these types of tasks [26-31]. This previous research and our own findings in this sense are not unexpected, given that these are the very functions that VATs are marketed to perform, and are the intended commercial purposes of these devices. Although the accessibility benefits of these functions are undoubtedly useful to individuals requiring SLT, many of whom also have underlying physical disabilities, some of the respondents in our study described further innovative uses for VATs that were of particular interest.

Some of the respondents mentioned explicitly using the devices to target the practice of SLT strategies, with several client groups experiencing diagnoses, such as dysarthria, apraxia, and aphasia. These types of conditions are communication impairments that cause difficulties in producing clear, comprehensible speech. In the first instance, one might question how clients with speech impairments can successfully communicate with VAT, which requires specific trigger words and clear speech to function. However, the respondents explicitly discussed using VATs to support speech practice, particularly as a way to provide biofeedback to the client on their speech clarity. They highlighted the positive impacts of having a device that would provide such a source of feedback on speech production; if the device could understand a client, they were given clarification that they were speaking intelligibly. This echoes the findings of other studies, which have highlighted the successful experiences of users with speech impairment when using commercial VAT devices [27,28,32]. As highlighted by our professional SLT participants, the ability to practice speech at

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e29249
```

XSI-FC

home and obtain real-time, impartial feedback from the devices was found to improve word production accuracy and increase clients' motivation to perform home therapy practice, both of which are SLT outcomes that might regularly be targeted in formal therapy. A study [27] also reported similar findings, discussing that some Alexa users self-reported speech improvements, with a need for distinct pronunciation when using the device actively improving users' speech through continuous practice. Duffy et al [32] also found self-reported speech improvements in approximately 25% of people with Parkinson disease who were using VATs but did not delve into why participants felt this might be happening. This is an exciting and ripe area for future research, which might explore the extent to which speech changes actually occur through device use, how they are maintained, and how speech outcomes being achieved through device use might be measured in SLT practice.

Another significant use case discussed was of AAC users, wherein respondents described how they used a combination of digital AAC devices and VAT with their clients. They discussed how the computerized voice output of the digital AACs was used to access the functionalities of VAT, such as performing day-to-day tasks and environmental controls. They reported very positive impacts on the confidence, accessibility, and independence of their clients and highlighted how the social acceptability and mainstream nature of VATs helped reduce barriers to their use and increased the clients' motivation to use them. As VAT is widely used in society today, therapists can present it as something that everyone is using, not an assistive or disability device. This social acceptance surrounding VATs has an inclusive effect and is less isolating for the client, in turn, having a motivating effect. Similar conclusions were drawn in another study [40], which discussed that the popularity of VAT devices added to the feelings of inclusion for people with cognitive and linguistic difficulties. It was also interesting to note how nonverbal users were being supported by therapists to use VAT by combining them with their AAC devices. Although there are a few practice-focused articles in the grey literature [41,42] that discuss this use case and its impact on user independence and motivation, formal research in this space is limited. Future research can further explore the experiences, benefits, and limitations of this integration with AAC users.

Considering the broader perspectives of our sample, 72.1% (166/230) of respondents who had not used VAT in practice were very keen on trying it in the future. This highlights the largely positive outlook and perception of the technology by SaLTs. They perceive multiple benefits of using VAT with their clients, such as increased accessibility, independence, and confidence. Moreover, these respondents also believed that the technology could have an impact on their clients' speech. In total, 52.2% (120/230) of the respondents believed that the technology could help their clients speak louder, although 47.4% (109/230) of the respondents believed that it could help them speak more clearly. Most significantly, 58.7% (135/230) of the respondents stated that the technology could increase their clients' confidence in their speech. These perceptions about the benefits resonate with our findings from the practitioners' experiences. Respondents who had used VAT with their clients reported very similar benefits, as discussed earlier. Furthermore,

these types of benefits have also been discussed in previous literature [27,28,32]. Our findings, backed by previous studies, demonstrate the potential of VAT to support SLT. Future research can explore how the technology can be leveraged to augment traditional SLT by providing users with an opportunity for home practice. However, there is work to be done around how different types of client groups might be best supported in their use as well as the types of activities that might be most beneficial to be conducted with VATs to benefit the service user.

Traditionally, SLT is delivered on an individual basis, face to face usually in clinical settings, but successful outcomes can depend on practice at home [43]. Home practice supports the carryover of skills from clinic to everyday life and contributes to the maintenance of communication improvement. Technology has been found to have the potential to address some of these issues and promote better self-management practices [16,25]. This can be particularly beneficial for clients living alone or in rural areas, where traveling to therapy appointments might be challenging and is perhaps even more important in the current context of the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdowns. VATs have the potential to improve users' self-management practices by supporting the delivery of home-based therapy programs, with the benefit of immediate feedback from the device [44]. Designing such programs that can be facilitated by the qualities of VAT devices is an interesting area for future research. However, we do not suggest that this is a magical solution. Work in this space also needs to consider the role of the technology alongside timely therapist input so that effective long-term and multifaceted support can be provided to the client within such a technology-assisted service delivery model. In addition, researchers and clinicians should be aware of conditions that will see a decline in speech over time or in conditions such as Parkinson disease, where fluctuations might even be seen within the span of days or hours. These types of clients may find VAT interaction challenging and unpredictable and will need support from professionals to ensure their accessibility and reduce frustration.

Barriers to VAT Use in SLT Practice

Although the outlook toward VAT use was largely positive and several potential benefits were identified, the respondents also identified several barriers to adoption and concerns regarding its use. Many respondents described organizational and infrastructure barriers that could affect technology adoption, for example, the cost of devices; supporting infrastructure, such as internet connectivity; limited access to technology; and funding in their organization. Moreover, data collection and protection policies, such as the GDPR, were a concern for some of the participants. Respondents felt that the commercial VATs had unclear data collection and use policies, which would make them difficult to use in client-related contexts. These concerns are not new when it comes to discussing novel technologies and their integration into health care contexts. There has been a wealth of literature exploring the challenges of technology adoption and uptake by health care professionals [45-47]. Respondents discussed concerns about data storage, confidentiality, and privacy, which are always crucial considerations when using technology in health care contexts

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e29249
```

[32,48]. These are significant concerns to be considered in future work, which would need to explore how commercial VATs (and any new apps or skills to be developed to support clinical care) can be introduced and used in line with user privacy and confidentiality requirements. That said, work is beginning to emerge that is actively exploring the users' perceptions of data and data sharing in relation to commercial devices used for health needs [29]. Transparency, openness, and information about what data are being stored and used and by whom, is enough to alleviate many people's concerns (even if these data are being stored by a large-scale commercial company).

The respondents in our survey who had not used VAT reported multiple reasons for their lack of use. Most respondents (131/181, 72.4%) mentioned a lack of opportunity for use; however, lack of technology awareness and training were other significant reasons that were reported. Most respondents desired basic training about the range of technologies available, their use, potential benefits, and information about applying them in practice. Providing specific application examples in future training may be beneficial, as some respondents wanted information specific to a particular client group, citing examples such as dysarthria, AAC users, and dysfluency. As with any new technology, training before use is essential. Several health care studies have documented this concern [49,50]. Developing structured, co-designed training materials for VAT is essential for practitioner adoption and use. Delivering organization wide technology training may be an optimal solution for this issue. Previous literature has documented the success of delivering technology training with professionals within the space of telehealth [51,52] and virtual reality [53-55]. Future work could focus on developing formal VAT training resources and identifying the best methodologies to deliver this training effectively.

The technological limitations of VAT were another barrier identified by this study. Many respondents discussed how there were existing challenges related to VAT devices' ability to even comprehend attempts produced by users without speech impairments. Failure to detect different accents, unclear speech, low-volume speech, and misinterpreting words were some of the issues respondents felt the technology was inconsistent and temperamental within its functional ability. In light of this issue, respondents felt that their clients with severe speech impairment would be unable to use VAT effectively, leading to negative impacts on confidence and motivation. There is a risk that such users would feel frustrated because of this issue, demotivating them from using such technology in the future. However, we found that respondents who had actually used the technology found high success rates with a variety of client groups, even clients with severe speech impairments. The respondents found workarounds to the technical limitations of the technology and stated how they managed to use VAT and foster motivation for their clients. This disparity between perceived barriers and actual experiences calls for additional research in this domain. It is possible that developing a community where practitioners can exchange their thoughts and experiences may be beneficial for wider VAT adoption. There are also opportunities for conducting research that would help with anticipating problems as well as developing bespoke skills, integrated apps, or new features for

XSL•FO RenderX

VATs that may provide solutions. Our findings suggest that different user groups will have different expectations, capabilities, and impacts of using VAT. As such, there is a direction for future research to focus on exploring how individual clients or client groups with different levels of speech impairment are able or unable to use VAT.

Limitations

The study presented in this paper had several limitations that should be discussed. First, it was conducted exclusively with users based in the United Kingdom. Technological preferences, experiences, and outlooks differ across regions and countries, and the survey does not represent the overall global experiences of SaLTs. Future studies are required to understand the generalizability of our results.

Second, the survey was web-based and self-selective, implying that anyone could potentially provide a response. Naturally, the respondents had basic digital skills and were able to successfully navigate and answer the survey. As such, they may be biased toward the use of such technology and have a positive outlook toward its use. Other SaLTs who might not be technologically adept could have different perspectives and a less favorable outlook toward technology use. In addition, we did not explicitly ask the participants if their experiences were with current users of VAT or if they had introduced the technology to their clients. This information would have provided an additional context about use experiences. Clients already using the technology could have developed certain skills and have different perceptions compared with clients that were introduced to the technology for the first time.

Finally, the sample size estimated to obtain 90% confidence with -5% to +5% margin of error was 289. The number of participants who completed our survey was 230, which was somewhat lower than the estimated value. Time and resource

constraints meant that we were unable to keep the survey open for longer. Offering respondents a financial benefit to participate in the study might have improved the speed of our uptake; however, this was not within the scope of our resources.

Future Work

Our study highlights several clear directions for future research, which have been described in the discussion section. Our perspective is that the primary directions for future research should first focus on developing a focused understanding of VAT use within specific use case scenarios and understanding the best ways to collect and report upon potential clinical benefits that might be seen in these use cases. Second, work is required to develop VAT education and training to increase future uptake and adoption. Further work must be done to identify the optimal route to deliver this education and training to raise awareness of the potential benefits and confidence in use.

Conclusions

VAT has been used by a number of UK-based SaLTs in clinical practice. Wider adoption of the technology is limited by the lack of professional opportunities, training, and understanding. Although other studies have explored the interaction between technology and several client groups, our study presents opportunities and challenges from the perspective of the practitioners. The data show increased engagement, empowerment, and the possibility of achieving therapeutic outcomes in clients with communication impairment. The disparate responses suggest that this area is ripe for the development of research exploring the role of VATs in evidence-based clinical practice, starting with a clear definition of its use potentials and benefits and the development of plans for outcome measurement when using VAT devices to support therapy aims.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to acknowledge the Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists for their support with recruitment and the Monash University Faculty of Information Technology for providing a summer research scholarship to support the later stages of the work.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Speech, language, and swallowing. American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA). URL: <u>https://www.asha.org/public/speech/</u> [accessed 2021-12-13]
- 2. Speech and language therapy. RCSLT. URL: <u>https://www.rcslt.org/speech-and-language-therapy/</u> [accessed 2021-12-13]
- 3. Scope of practice in speech-language pathology. American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA). URL: <u>https://www.asha.org/policy/sp2016-00343/</u> [accessed 2021-12-13]
- 4. rcslt.org. Budget cuts 2014. Bulletin: the official magazine of the royal college of speech & language therapists. 2014 Sep 01(749):1-40 [FREE Full text]
- 5. Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC). American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA). URL: https://www.asha.org/public/speech/disorders/aac/ [accessed 2021-12-13]
- 6. Quick talk. Digital Scribbler. URL: <u>https://digitalscribbler.com/quick-talk-aac/</u> [accessed 2021-12-13]
- 7. Speak up with symbol-based AAC. Assistive Ware. URL: <u>https://www.assistiveware.com/products/proloquo2go</u> [accessed 2021-12-13]

- 8. Touch chat homepage. Touch Chat. URL: <u>https://touchchatapp.com/apps</u> [accessed 2021-12-13]
- 9. Allen M, McGrenere J, Purves B. The field evaluation of a mobile digital image communication application designed for people with aphasia. ACM Trans Access Comput 2008 May;1(1):1-26. [doi: 10.1145/1361203.1361208]
- Kuwabara K, Shimode Y, Miyamoto S. Agent-based remote conversation support for people with aphasia. In: Proceedings of the Agent and Multi-Agent Systems: Technologies and Applications, 4th KES International Symposium, KES-AMSTA 2010. 2010 Presented at: Agent and Multi-Agent Systems: Technologies and Applications, 4th KES International Symposium, KES-AMSTA 2010; Jun 23-25, 2010; Gdynia, Poland. [doi: <u>10.1007/978-3-642-13480-7_39</u>]
- 11. Piper A, Weibel N, Hollan J. Write-n-speak: authoring multimodal digital-paper materials for speech-language therapy. ACM Trans Access Comput 2011 Nov;4(1):1-20. [doi: 10.1145/2039339.2039341]
- 12. Stapleton C, Whiteside PJ, Davies PJ, Mott D, Vick J. Transforming lives through story immersion: innovation of aphasia rehabilitation therapy through storytelling learning landscapes. In: Proceedings of the 2nd ACM International Workshop on Immersive Media Experiences. 2014 Presented at: Proceedings of the 2nd ACM International Workshop on Immersive Media Experiences; Nov 7, 2014; Orlando Florida USA. [doi: 10.1145/2660579.2660590]
- Williams K, Moffatt K, McCall D, Findlater L. Designing conversation cues on a head-worn display to support persons with aphasia. In: Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2015 Presented at: CHI '15: Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; Apr 18 - 23, 2015; Seoul Republic of Korea. [doi: 10.1145/2702123.2702484]
- 14. Lavoie M, Macoir J, Bier N. Effectiveness of technologies in the treatment of post-stroke anomia: a systematic review. J Commun Disord 2017;65:43-53. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jcomdis.2017.01.001</u>] [Medline: <u>28171741</u>]
- Kane S, Linam-Church B, Althoff K, McCall D. What we talk about: designing a context-aware communication tool for people with aphasia. In: Proceedings of the 14th international ACM SIGACCESS conference on Computers and accessibility. 2012 Presented at: Proceedings of the 14th international ACM SIGACCESS conference on Computers and accessibility; Oct 22 - 24, 2012; Boulder Colorado USA. [doi: 10.1145/2384916.2384926]
- 16. McNaney R, Vines J, Roggen D, Balaam M, Zhang P, Poliakov I, et al. Exploring the acceptability of google glass as an everyday assistive device for people with Parkinson's. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2014 Presented at: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; Apr 26 May 1, 2014; Toronto Ontario Canada. [doi: 10.1145/2556288.2557092]
- 17. Siri does more than ever. Even before you ask. Apple. URL: https://www.apple.com/au/siri/ [accessed 2021-12-14]
- 18. Google homepage. Google. URL: <u>https://assistant.google.com/</u> [accessed 2021-12-14]
- 19. Meet Alexa. Amazon. URL: https://www.amazon.com.au/Learn-What-Alexa-Can-Do [accessed 2021-12-14]
- 20. 29 per cent of Brits now own a smart speaker, quadrupling in three years. Mobile Marketing. URL: <u>https://mobilemarketingmagazine.com/uk-smart-speaker-ownership-2020-gfk-techuk</u> [accessed 2021-12-14]
- 21. Coronavirus lockdown is upping voice assistant interaction in the UK: report. VoiceBot. URL: <u>https://voicebot.ai/2020/05/</u> 07/coronavirus-lockdown-is-upping-voice-assistant-interaction-in-the-uk-even-when-it-ends-report/ [accessed 2021-12-14]
- 22. Australia Smart Speaker Consumer Adoption Report 2019. Voicebot. URL: <u>https://voicebot.ai/</u> <u>australia-smart-speaker-consumer-adoption-report-2019/</u> [accessed 2021-12-14]
- 23. Nearly 90 million U.S. adults have smart speakers, adoption now exceeds one-third of consumers. Voicebot. URL: <u>https://voicebot.ai/2020/04/28/nearly-90-million-u-s-adults-have-smart-speakers-adoption-now-exceeds-one-third-of-consumers/</u>[accessed 2021-12-14]
- 24. Voice assistant demographic data young consumers more likely to own smart speakers while over 60 bias toward Alexa and Siri. Voicebot. URL: <u>https://voicebot.ai/2019/06/21/</u> voice-assistant-demographic-data-young-consumers-more-likely-to-own-smart-speakers-while-over-60-bias-toward-alexa-and-siri/ [accessed 2021-12-14]
- 25. McNaney R, Othman M, Richardson D, Dunphy P, Amaral T, Miller N, et al. Speeching: mobile crowdsourced speech assessment to support self-monitoring and management for people with Parkinson's. In: Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2016 Presented at: Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 7 12, 2016; San Jose California USA. [doi: 10.1145/2858036.2858321]
- 26. Kim S. Exploring how older adults use a smart speaker-based voice assistant in their first interactions: qualitative study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Jan 13;9(1):e20427 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20427] [Medline: 33439130]
- 27. Coyne M, Thomas C, Collimore A, Franzese C, Hwang C. Early user centered insights on voice integrated technologies through retrospective analysis. Iproceedings 2017 Sep 22;3(1):e49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/iproc.8576]
- 28. Pradhan A, Mehta K, Findlater L. "Accessibility came by accident": use of voice-controlled intelligent personal assistants by people with disabilities. In: Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2018 Presented at: Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; Apr 21 - 26, 2018; Montreal QC Canada. [doi: 10.1145/3173574.3174033]
- 29. Mcnaney R, Tsekleves E, Synnott J. Future opportunities for IoT to support people with Parkinson's. In: Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2020 Presented at: CHI '20: Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; Apr 25 - 30, 2020; Honolulu HI USA. [doi: 10.1145/3313831.3376871]

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e29249
```

RenderX

- 30. Blair J, Abdullah S. It didn't sound good with my cochlear implants. Proc ACM Interact Mob Wearable Ubiquitous Technol 2020 Dec 17;4(4):1-27. [doi: 10.1145/3432194]
- Derboven J, Huyghe J, de Grooff D. Designing voice interaction for people with physical and speech impairments. In: Proceedings of the NordiCHI 2014: The 8th Nordic Conference on Human-Computer Interaction: Fun, Fast, Foundational. 2014 Presented at: Proceedings of the NordiCHI 2014: The 8th Nordic Conference on Human-Computer Interaction: Fun, Fast, Foundational; Oct 26 - 30, 2014; Helsinki Finland. [doi: 10.1145/2639189.2639252]
- Duffy O, Synnott J, McNaney R, Brito Zambrano P, Kernohan W. Attitudes toward the use of voice-assisted technologies among people with Parkinson disease: findings from a web-based survey. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2021 Mar 11;8(1):e23006 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23006] [Medline: 33704072]
- 33. Ballati F, Corno F, Russis LD. "Hey Siri, do you understand me?": virtual assistants and dysarthria. In: Proceedings of the 7th International Workshop on the Reliability of Intelligent Environments (WoRIE 2018). 2018 Presented at: 7th International Workshop on the Reliability of Intelligent Environments (WoRIE 2018); Jun, 2018; Rome, Italy.
- 34. Essential digital skills framework. GOV.UK. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/</u> essential-digital-skills-framework [accessed 2021-12-14]
- 35. Measure and optimize your CX with customer survey software. Qualtrics. URL: <u>https://www.qualtrics.com/au/</u> <u>customer-experience/surveys/</u> [accessed 2021-12-13]
- 36. A qualititative approach to HCI research. In: Research Methods for Human-Computer Interaction. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press; 2008.
- 37. A technique for the measurement of attitudes. Archives of Psychology. URL: <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1933-01885-001</u> [accessed 2021-12-14]
- 38. The unicorn: the rarity of males in speech-language pathology. ASHA WIRE. 2018. URL: <u>https://pubs.asha.org/doi/10.1044/</u> persp3.SIG17.29 [accessed 2021-12-14]
- Boyd S, Hewlett N. The gender imbalance among speech and language therapists and students. Int J Lang Commun Disord 2001;36 Suppl:167-172. [doi: 10.3109/13682820109177878] [Medline: 11340775]
- 40. Masina F, Orso V, Pluchino P, Dainese G, Volpato S, Nelini C, et al. Investigating the accessibility of voice assistants with impaired users: mixed methods study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Sep 25;22(9):e18431 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18431] [Medline: 32975525]
- 41. Williamson F. 'Alexa, Call My SLP': using smart tech to boost AAC. ASHA WIRE. URL: <u>https://leader.pubs.asha.org/</u> doi/10.1044/leader.FTR1.24052019.44 [accessed 2021-12-14]
- 42. Weng P. Motivate AAC switch practice with smart-home tech. Leader 2020 Mar;25(2):38-40. [doi: 10.1044/leader.hytt.25032020.38]
- 43. Tosh R, Arnott W, Scarinci N. Parent-implemented home therapy programmes for speech and language: a systematic review. Int J Lang Commun Disord 2017 May;52(3):253-269. [doi: 10.1111/1460-6984.12280] [Medline: 27943521]
- 44. Theodoros D, Hill A, Russell T. Clinical and quality of life outcomes of speech treatment for Parkinson's disease delivered to the home via telerehabilitation: a noninferiority randomized controlled trial. Am J Speech Lang Pathol 2016 May 01;25(2):214-232. [doi: 10.1044/2015_AJSLP-15-0005] [Medline: 27145396]
- 45. Gagnon M, Ngangue P, Payne-Gagnon J, Desmartis M. m-Health adoption by healthcare professionals: a systematic review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016 Jan;23(1):212-220 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocv052] [Medline: 26078410]
- 46. Christodoulakis C, Asgarian A, Easterbrook S. Barriers to adoption of information technology in healthcare. In: Proceedings of the 27th Annual International Conference on Computer Science and Software Engineering. 2017 Presented at: Proceedings of the 27th Annual International Conference on Computer Science and Software Engineering; Nov 6 8, 2017; Markham Ontario Canada.
- 47. Whitelaw S, Pellegrini D, Mamas M, Cowie M, Van Spall HG. Barriers and facilitators of the uptake of digital health technology in cardiovascular care: a systematic scoping review. Eur Heart J Digit Health 2021 Mar;2(1):62-74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ehjdh/ztab005] [Medline: 34048508]
- 48. Lustgarten S, Garrison Y, Sinnard M, Flynn A. Digital privacy in mental healthcare: current issues and recommendations for technology use. Curr Opin Psychol 2020 Dec;36:25-31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2020.03.012] [Medline: 32361651]
- Ruiz Morilla MD, Sans M, Casasa A, Giménez N. Implementing technology in healthcare: insights from physicians. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2017 Jun 27;17(1):92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-017-0489-2] [Medline: 28655299]
- 50. Phichitchaisopa N, Naenna T. Factors affecting the adoption of healthcare information technology. EXCLI J 2013;12:413-436 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26417235]
- Edirippulige S, Armfield N. Education and training to support the use of clinical telehealth: a review of the literature. J Telemed Telecare 2016 Jul 08;23(2):273-282. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x16632968]
- 52. Gifford V, Niles B, Rivkin I, Koverola C, Polaha J. Continuing education training focused on the development of behavioral telehealth competencies in behavioral healthcare providers. Rural Remote Health 2012;12:2108 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23240871]

RenderX

- Alinier G, Hunt B, Gordon R, Harwood C. Effectiveness of intermediate-fidelity simulation training technology in undergraduate nursing education. J Adv Nurs 2006 May;54(3):359-369. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.03810.x</u>] [Medline: <u>16629920</u>]
- 54. Wandner L, Stutts LA, Alqudah AF, Craggs JG, Scipio CD, Hirsh AT, et al. Virtual human technology: patient demographics and healthcare training factors in pain observation and treatment recommendations. J Pain Res 2010 Dec 07;3:241-247 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/JPR.S14708] [Medline: 21311717]
- Mantovani F, Castelnuovo G, Gaggioli A, Riva G. Virtual reality training for health-care professionals. Cyberpsychol Behav 2003 Aug;6(4):389-395. [doi: 10.1089/109493103322278772] [Medline: 14511451]

Abbreviations

AAC: augmentative and alternative communication
GDPR: General Data Protection Regulation
NHS: National Health Service
RCSLT: Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists
SaLT: speech and language therapist
SLT: speech and language therapy
VAT: voice-assisted technology

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 31.03.21; peer-reviewed by A Roper, S D'Arcy, S Dick; comments to author 12.05.21; revised version received 31.08.21; accepted 22.11.21; published 05.01.22.

Please cite as:

 Tease Cite as.

 Kulkarni P, Duffy O, Synnott J, Kernohan WG, McNaney R

 Speech and Language Practitioners' Experiences of Commercially Available Voice-Assisted Technology: Web-Based Survey Study

 JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(1):e29249

 URL: https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/1/e29249

 doi:10.2196/29249

 PMID:34989694

©Pranav Kulkarni, Orla Duffy, Jonathan Synnott, W George Kernohan, Roisin McNaney. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 05.01.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

